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5,463,880

Total revenues

88,472,077

-

-

88,472,077
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Cost of integrated contracts

56,713,618

-

-

56,713,618

Cost of products sold

3,815,504

-

-

3,815,504

Gross profit

27,952,955

-

-

27,952,955

Operating expenses:

Selling and marketing expenses

5,980,479

-

-

5,980,479

General and administrative

6,131,460

453,863

-

7,585,323
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Research and development

202,344

-

-

202,344

Loss on disposal of assets

41,217

-

-

41,217

Total operating expenses

12,355,500

453,863

-

12,768,146

Income from operations

15,587,445

(453,863
)

-

15,133,592

Interest expense

(939,106
)

-

-
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(939,106
)
Other income (expenses)

29,062

-

-

29,062

Investment income

643,277

347,871

(332,526
)

(b1)

658,622

Subsidy income

3,205,736

-

-

3,205,736

Income before income taxes
and minority interest

18,526,414

(105,992
)

(303,572
)

18,087,906

Income taxes
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480,786

(4,250
)

-

476,537

Income (loss) before minority interests

18,045,628

(101,742
)

(303,572
)

17,611,370

Minority interest

(2,918,689
)

-

-

(2,918,689
)
Net income (loss)

$
15,126,939

$
(101,742

)
$

(303,572
)

$
14,692,681

Weighted average common shares
outstanding - basic

3,466,438
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23,500,000

(f)

26,966,438

Net income (loss) per share

(0.03
)

0.54

Weighted average common shares
outstanding - diluted

4,096,873

23,500,000

27,596,873

Net income (loss) per share

0.53
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT

Directors and Management Following the Stock Purchase

At the effective time of the stock purchase, the board of directors, executive officers and key employees of HLS will
be as follows:

Name Age Position

Qiao Li 49 Chairperson of the Board
Wang Changli 43 Director and Chief Executive Officer
Sun Dongying 36 Director
Kerry S. Propper 30 Director

The directors will serve for a term of one year, and the employment agreements for Dr. Wang as Chief Executive
Officer and Madame Qiao Li as Chairperson are for a term of three years.

Madame Qiao Li will be the Chairperson of HLS. Madame Qiao has been the Chairperson of Beijing HollySys since
1999. Madame Qiao also currently is the Chairperson of Beijing Good To Great Investment Co., Ltd. Madame Qiao
served as the Vice-President of Beijing Venture Capital Co., Ltd. from 1999 to 2000. Madame Qiao received her
Bachelor’s degree from Capital Normal University and has a Master’s degree in Business Administration from Capital
University of Economics and Business.

Dr. Wang Changli will be a director and Chief Executive Officer of HLS. Dr. Wang has been the Chief Executive
Officer and Vice Chairman of Beijing HollySys Co., Ltd. since 1999. Prior to joining Beijing HollySys Co., Ltd., Dr.
Wang worked for the No. 6 Institute of Electronic Industry Department. Dr. Wang also has been the Vice Chairman of
the Chinese Automation Association since 2003. Dr. Wang received his BSc in Automation from Tianjin University
in 1984 and his PhD in Automation from Lancaster University in 1988.

Mr. Sun Dongying will be a director of HLS. Mr. Sun has been an Executive Partner of Guan Tao Law Firm since
March 2000. Mr. Sun served as the Legal Consultant of the China Machine-Building International Corporation from
June 1994 to February 2000. Mr. Sun received a Bachelor’s degree of Law with a major in International Economic
Law from China University of Political Science and Law in 1994 and an LLM from Chicago-Kent College of Law,
Illinois Institute of Technology in 2004.

Kerry S. Propper will be a continuing director of HLS, the successor to Chardan. He was a founder and has been the
executive vice president and a director of Chardan since its inception in March 2005. Mr. Propper is the chief
executive officer and a director of Chardan South China Acquisition Corporation, a blank check company organized
to locate and consummate a business combination in the PRC. Mr. Propper is also a principal and CEO of Chardan
Capital Markets, LLC, a broker dealer, which he founded with Steven Urbach in February 2003. Mr. Propper has been
the owner and chief executive officer of The Gramercy Group LLC, a New York based broker/dealer, since July 2003.
From February 1999 until March 2003 Mr. Propper was a founder, owner and managing director of Windsor Capital
Advisors, LLC, an investment advisory and investment banking firm located in New York. Mr. Propper also founded
The Private Capital Group LLC, a small private investment firm specializing in loans and convertible preferred debt
and equity offerings for small public companies, in May 2000 and was affiliated with it until December 2003. From
July 1997 until February 1999, Mr. Proper served as a senior trader of Aegis Capital Corp, a broker dealer and
member firm of the NASD. Mr. Propper is also currently serving as a board member of Source Atlantic, Inc., a Boston
based health care technology company.

Meetings and Committees of the Board of Directors of Chardan
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During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, Chardan’s board of directors did not hold any meetings. Although
Chardan does not have any formal policy regarding director attendance at annual stockholder meetings, Chardan
attempts to schedule its annual meetings so that all of its directors can attend. In addition, Chardan expects its
directors to attend all board and committee meetings and to spend the time needed and meet as frequently as necessary
to properly discharge their responsibilities.
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Independence of Directors

In anticipation of being listed on the Nasdaq National Market, HLS will elect to follow the rules of Nasdaq in
determining whether a director is independent. The board of directors of HLS also will consult with the Company’s
counsel to ensure that the board’s determinations are consistent with those rules and all relevant securities and other
laws and regulations regarding the independence of directors. The Nasdaq listing standards define an “independent
director” generally as a person, other than an officer of the company, who does not have a relationship with the
company that would interfere with the director’s exercise of independent judgment. Consistent with these
considerations, the board of directors of HLS will include five independent directors. The other directors are not
independent.

Chardan currently does not have an independent board of directors and is not required to have one.

Audit Committee

In anticipation of being listed on the Nasdaq National Market, HLS will establish an audit committee to be effective at
the consummation of the stock purchase. As required by Nasdaq listing standards, the audit committee will be
comprised of at least three independent directors who are also “financially literate.” The listing standards define
“financially literate” as being able to read and understand fundamental financial statements, including a company’s
balance sheet, income statement and cash flow statement. The Each audit committee member will have an
understanding of generally accepted accounting principles and financial statements, the ability to assess the general
application of such principles in connection with the company’s financial statements, including estimates, accruals and
reserves, experience in analyzing or evaluating financial statements of similar breadth and complexity as the
company’s financial statements, an understanding of internal controls and procedures for financial reporting and an
understanding of audit committee functions.

Audit Committee Financial Expert

The board of directors will identify a director of HLS who will qualify as an “audit committee financial expert” within
the meaning of all applicable rules.

Current Chardan Board of Directors

Because Chardan does not have any “independent” directors, the entire Board of Directors of Chardan has acted as the
Audit Committee.

Independent Auditors ’ Fees

Goldstein Golub Kessler LLP (“GGK”) acts as Chardan’s principal accountant. Through September 30, 2005, GGK had
a continuing relationship with American Express Tax and Business Services Inc. (TBS), from which it leased auditing
staff who were full time, permanent employees of TBS and through which its partners provide non-audit services.
Subsequent to September 30, 2005, this relationship ceased and the firm established a similar relationship with RSM
McGladrey, Inc. (RSM). GGK has no full time employees and therefore, none of the audit services performed were
provided by permanent full-time employees of GGK. GGK manages and supervises the audit and audit staff, and is
exclusively responsible for the opinion rendered in connection with its examination. The following is a summary of
fees paid to GGK and TBS for services rendered.

Audit Fees

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, Chardan paid, or expects to pay, Chardan’s principal accountant
$29,000 for the services they performed in connection with the initial public offering, including the financial
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statements included in the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August
31, 2005, $5,000 in connection with the review of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB, and approximately $15,000
in connection with the December 31, 2005 audit and Form 10-KSB.
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Audit-Related Fees

During 2005, Chardan’s principal accountant did not render assurance and related services reasonably related to the
performance of the audit or review of financial statements.

Tax Fees

During 2005, Chardan did not make any payments for tax services.

All Other Fees

During 2005, there were no fees billed for products and services provided by the principal accountant to Chardan
other than those set forth above.

Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

In accordance with Section 10A(i) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, before the company engages its
independent accountant to render audit or permitted non-audit services, the engagement will be approved by the audit
committee.

Code of Ethics

In anticipation of the stock purchase, the board of directors of HLS will adopt a Code of Ethics that applies to HLS’s
directors, officers and employees as well as those of its subsidiaries. A copy of the form of HLS’s Code of Ethics has
been filed as an annex to this proxy statement. Requests for copies of HLS’s code of ethics should be sent in writing to
Chardan North China Acquisition Corporation, 625 Broadway, Suite 111, San Diego, California 92101, Attention:
Secretary.

Chardan has not yet adopted a formal code of ethics statement because the board of directors evaluated the business of
the company and the number of employees and determined that since the business is largely limited to maintaining its
cash investments while its searches for a target company and consummates an acquisition and the only persons acting
for Chardan are the five directors who are also the officers, general rules of fiduciary duty and federal and state
securities laws are adequate ethical guidelines.

Stock Option Committee Information

Upon consummation of the stock purchase, the board of directors of HLS will establish a compensation committee.
The purpose of the compensation committee will be to administer the company’s equity plans, including authority to
make and modify awards under such plans. Initially, the plan will be the Chardan 2006 Equity Plan, as assumed by
HLS. Since the plan has not yet been approved, the compensation committee has not had any meetings and no options
or other awards have been granted under the plan.

Nominating Committee Information

In anticipation of being listed on the Nasdaq National Market, HLS will form a nominating committee in connection
with the consummation of the stock purchase. The members each will be an independent director under Nasdaq listing
standards. The nominating committee will be responsible for overseeing the selection of persons to be nominated to
serve on HLS’s board of directors. The nominating committee will consider persons identified by its members,
management, stockholders, investment bankers and others. A copy of the form of nominating committee charter is
attached as an annex to this proxy statement.
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Chardan does not have any restrictions on stockholder nominations under its certificate of incorporation or by-laws.
The only restrictions are those applicable generally under Delaware corporate law and the federal proxy rules. Prior to
the consummation of the stock purchase agreement, Chardan has not had a nominating committee or a formal means
by which stockholders can nominate a director for election. Currently the entire board of directors decides on
nominees, on the recommendation of one or more members of the board. None of the members of the board of
directors are “independent.” Currently, the board of directors will consider suggestions from individual stockholders,
subject to evaluation of the person’s merits. Stockholders may communicate nominee suggestions directly to any of the
board members, accompanied by biographical details and a statement of support for the nominees. The suggested
nominee must also provide a statement of consent to being considered for nomination. Although there are no formal
criteria for nominees, the board of directors believes that persons should be actively engaged in business endeavors,
have a financial background, and be familiar with acquisition strategies and money management.
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Because the management and directors of Chardan are the same persons, the board of directors has determined not to
adopt a formal methodology for communications from stockholders on the belief that any communication would be
brought to the boards’ attention by virtue of the co-extensive employment.

Director Compensation

HLS intends to pay its non-employee directors for each board meeting that they attend, reimburse their expenses
incurred in attending meetings and award options to purchase shares of common stock to be issued on election,
exercisable at the market price of the common stock on the date of issuance, vesting immediately and exercisable for
five years. The options will be issued under the stock option plan approved by the board of directors and stockholders
pursuant to this proxy statement and the underlying common stock will be registered for issuance upon exercise. The
amounts of compensation and numbers of shares subject to options have not been determined.

Chardan’s directors do not currently receive any cash compensation for their service as members of the board of
directors.

Executive Compensation

Dr. Wang Changli and Madame Qiao Li will enter into employment agreements with HollySys Holdings, effective as
of the effective time of the Redomestication Merger. Dr. Wang will be employed as the chief executive officer and
Madame Qiao will serve as chairperson. The agreements will provide for an annual salary and a discretionary cash
bonus based on performance of HollySys and other criteria, as the compensation committee determines. The
executives will be entitled to insurance benefits, five weeks vacation, a car and reimbursement of business expenses
and, if necessary, relocation expenses. The agreements will be terminable by HollySys Operating Company for death,
disability and cause. The executive may terminate for good reason, which includes HollySys Operating Company’s
breach, the executive not being a member of the board of directors, and change of control. In the event of termination
for good reason, the executive will receive two years compensation and benefits. The agreements contain provisions
for the protection of confidential information and a three-year-after employment non-competition period within China.
In the purchase agreement, there is an additional non-competition agreement applicable to these persons for the
greater of five years after consummation or two years after employment that includes Hong Kong and Taiwan, in
addition to China.

HollySys’ Executive Officers

The following sets forth summary information concerning the compensation paid by the HollySys Operating
Companies to Dr. Wang and Madame Qiao and during the last three fiscal years.

Annual Compensation

Name Year Salary ($) Bonus ($)
Wang Changli 2005

2004
2003

62,500
62,500
62,500

165,912
228,638
8,551

Qiao Li 2005
2004
2003

0
0
0

0
0
0

Since its formation, neither HollySys Holdings nor any of the HollySys Operating Companies has granted any stock
options or stock appreciation rights, any awards under long-term incentive plans, or any other non-cash compensation.

Edgar Filing: GRILLO ANTHONY - Form 4

Explanation of Responses: 14



126

Edgar Filing: GRILLO ANTHONY - Form 4

Explanation of Responses: 15



Chardan Executive Officers

No executive officer of Chardan has received any cash or non-cash compensation for services rendered to Chardan.
Each executive officer has agreed not to take any compensation prior to the consummation of a business combination.

Commencing August 2, 2005 and ending upon the acquisition of a target business, Chardan has paid and will continue
to pay an administrative services fee totaling $7,500 per month to Chardan Capital, LLC for providing Chardan with
office space and certain office and secretarial services. Other than this $7,500 per month in fees, no compensation of
any kind, including finders and consulting fees, has been or will be paid to any of the Chardan stockholders existing
prior to its initial public offering, or any of their respective affiliates, for services rendered prior to or in connection
with a business combination. However, Chardan stockholders existing prior to its initial public offering have been and
will continue to be reimbursed for any out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with activities on our behalf,
such as identifying potential target businesses and performing due diligence on suitable business combinations.

Executive Compensation Determination

It is the intention of HLS to determine executive compensation by a decision of the majority of the independent
directors, at a meeting at which the chief executive officer will not be present. In the future, the board may establish a
committee. At this time, HLS does not believe a separate committee is necessary because the senior executives of the
company are employed under written compensation agreements and the Stock Purchase Agreement provides for
equity-based incentive compensation, all of which agreements were negotiated by the Chardan board of directors in
arms-length negotiations.

Key Employee Compensation

Chardan Capital LLC, an affiliate of Chardan, and Chardan Capital Markets LLC will provide a variety of ongoing
services to HollySys on a month-to-month basis, terminable at will without penalty, at a monthly cost to HollySys of
$30,000.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Chardan

In March 2005, we issued 1,000,000 shares of our common stock to the individuals set forth below for $25,000 in
cash, at a purchase price of $0.025 per share, as follows:

Name
Number of
Shares Relationship to Us

Li Zhang 120,810
Chief Executive Officer and
Director

Kerry Propper 177,600
Chief Financial Officer,
Secretary and Director

Jiangnan Huang 120,810
Executive Vice President
and Director

Chardan Capital Partners 508,380 Stockholder
SUJG, Inc. 72,400 Stockholder

Effective July 22, 2005, our board of directors authorized a stock dividend of 0.25 shares of common stock for each
outstanding share of common stock, effectively lowering the purchase price to $0.02 per share. These shares will be
held in escrow until August 2008.

Edgar Filing: GRILLO ANTHONY - Form 4

Explanation of Responses: 16



The holders of the majority of these shares will be entitled to make up to two demands that we register these shares
pursuant to a registration rights agreement. The holders of the majority of these shares can elect to exercise these
registration rights at any time commencing three months prior to the date on which these shares of common stock are
to be released from escrow. In addition, these stockholders have certain “piggy-back” registration rights with respect to
registration statements filed subsequent to the date on which these shares of common stock are released from escrow.
Chardan will bear the expenses incurred in connection with the filing of any such registration statements.
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Chardan’s directors and several individuals affiliated with companies they are associated with have entered into letter
agreements with the representative of the underwriters pursuant to which they agreed to purchase up to 1,000,000
warrants at prices not to exceed $0.75 per warrant during the 40-trading day period following separate trading of the
warrants. Chardan has agreed that these warrants shall not be redeemable as long as such warrants continue to be held
by such individuals or their affiliates. Because these individuals may be insiders, or affiliates of insiders, at the time of
the redemption call, their ability to sell securities in the open market will be significantly limited. At such time,
Chardan expects to have policies in place that prohibit insiders from selling its securities except during specific
periods of time. Accordingly, unlike public stockholders who could, if Chardan called the warrants for redemption,
either sell their warrants or exercise such warrants and sell the shares of common stock received upon such exercise
freely in the open market, the insiders would be significantly restricted from selling such securities. Additionally, even
if the insiders could sell their securities, any sale by an insider would require him to file a Form 4 disclosing his sale
and that would have a depressive effect on the price of Chardan’s stock during the redemption period. As a result,
Chardan believes this non-call feature is appropriate.

Chardan Capital, LLC, an affiliate of Dr. Richard D. Propper, Li Zhang and Jiangnan Huang, has agreed that,
commencing on the effective date of this prospectus through the acquisition of a target business, it will make available
to Chardan a small amount of office space and certain office and secretarial services, as we may require from time to
time. Chardan has agreed to pay Chardan Capital, LLC $7,500 per month for these services. Dr. Propper is president,
a manager and 19.8% owner of Chardan Capital, LLC. Each of Li Zhang and Jiangnan Huang is a manager and 16.1%
owner of Chardan Capital, LLC. As a result, they will benefit from the transactions to the extent of their interest in
Chardan Capital, LLC. However, these arrangements are solely for the benefit of Chardan and are not intended to
provide Dr. Propper and Messrs. Zhang and Huang compensation in lieu of a salary. Chardan believes, based on rents
and fees for similar services in the San Diego metropolitan area, that the fee charged by Chardan Capital, LLC is at
least as favorable as Chardan could have obtained from an unaffiliated person. However, as Chardan’s directors may
not be deemed “independent,” Chardan did not have the benefit of disinterested directors approving this transaction.

Kerry Propper advanced to Chardan $20,000 and Chardan Capital Partners advanced to Chardon $60,000 to cover
expenses related to Chardan’s initial public offering. The loans were repaid without interest.

Chardan will reimburse its officers and directors for any reasonable out-of-pocket business expenses incurred by them
in connection with certain activities on Chardan’s behalf, such as identifying and investigating possible target
businesses and business combinations. There is no limit on the amount of out-of-pocket expenses reimbursable by
Chardan, which will be reviewed only by Chardan’s board or a court of competent jurisdiction if such reimbursement
is challenged.

Other than the $7,500 per-month administrative fee and reimbursable out-of-pocket expenses payable to Chardan’s
officers and directors, no compensation or fees of any kind, including finders and consulting fees, will be paid to any
of Chardan’s existing stockholders, officers or directors who owned Chardan’s common stock prior to its initial public
offering, or to any of their respective affiliates, for services rendered to Chardan prior to or with respect to the
business combination.

After completion of the stock purchase, Chardan Capital, LLC, an affiliate of Dr. Propper, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Huang,
and Chardan Capital Markets LLC will provide a variety of ongoing services to HLS at a cost to HLS of $30,000 per
month on a month-to-month basis, terminable by HLS without penalty. The services will be on a non-exclusive basis
and will include advice and help in meeting US public reporting requirements and accounting standards,
Sarbanes-Oxley compliance, corporate structuring and development, stockholder relations, corporate finance and
operational capitalization, transfer agent matters and such other similar services as requested and agreed to by
Chardan Capital, LLC.

Dr. Richard Propper is the father of Mr. Kerry Propper.
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All ongoing and future transactions between Chardan and any of its officers and directors or their respective affiliates,
including loans by its officers and directors, will require prior approval in each instance by a majority of Chardan’s
uninterested “independent” directors (to the extent it has any) or the members of its board who do not have an interest in
the transaction. These directors, if they determine to be necessary or appropriate, will have access, at Chardan’s
expense, to Chardan’s attorneys or independent legal counsel. Chardan will not enter into any such transaction unless
its disinterested “independent” directors (or, if there are no “independent” directors, its disinterested directors) determine
that the terms of such transaction are no less favorable to Chardan than those that would be available to it with respect
to such a transaction, from unaffiliated third parties.
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HollySys

As a public company, HLS, neither directly nor indirectly nor through any subsidiary, will make loans, extend credit,
maintain credit or arrange for the extension of credit or renew an extension of credit in the form of a personal loan to
or for any director or executive officer of the company. This prohibition is in compliance with the provisions of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Moreover, Chardan and HLS have adopted an audit committee charter that requires the
audit committee to review and approve all related party transactions, assure compliance with the company’s code of
ethics, and monitor and discuss with the auditors and outside counsel policies and compliance with applicable
accounting and legal standards and requirements.

BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF SECURITIES

Beneficial Owners of More Than 5% of Chardan Common Stock

Based upon filings made with the Securities and Exchange Commission under Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act on
or before December 31, 2005, Chardan is aware of the following beneficial owners of more than 5% of any class of its
voting securities who are not listed in the table below.

Name and Address of 
Beneficial Owner

Shares of Chardan
Common Stock

Approximate Percentage of
Outstanding Common Stock(1)

Richard D. Propper, M.D. (2) 635,474 9.1%

Jeffrey L. Feinberg (3) 600,000 8.6%

Amaranth Global Equities Master
Fund Limited (4)

535,000 7.6%

Sapling, LLC (5) 502,500 7.2%

Jack Silver (6) 400,000 5.7%

(1)Beneficial ownership has been determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934. Unless otherwise noted, we believe that all persons named in the table have sole voting and investment
power with respect to all shares of our common stock beneficially owned by them. These amounts exclude shares
issuable upon exercise of warrants that are not exercisable and are not expected to be exercisable within 60 days of
December 31, 2005.

(2)The business address of Dr. Propper is 625 Broadway, Suite 111, San Diego, California 92101. It does not include
110,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of warrants, which are not currently exercisable and are
not expected to be exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2005.

(3)The securities reported as held by Mr. Feinberg represent shares of Common Stock held (i) in a separately
managed account managed by Mr. Feinberg and (ii) by JLF Partners I, L.P., JLF Partners II, L.P. and JLF Off
Shore Fund, Ltd. to which JLF Asset Management LLC serves as the management company and sent or investment
manager. Jeffrey L. Feinberg is the managing member of JLF Asset Management, LLC. The business address of
Mr. Feinberg and these entities is 2775 Via de la Valle, Suite 204, Del Mar, California 92014. This information is
derived from a Schedule 13d filed by the above persons with the SEC on August 17, 2005.

(4)Amaranth Advisors LLC is the trading advisor for Amaranth’s global equities master fund limited and has been
granted investment discretion over portfolio investments, including the shares of Chardan held by it. Mr. Nicholas
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M. Maounis is the managing member of Amaranth Advisors LLC and may, by virtue of his position as managing
member, be deemed to have power to direct the vote and disposition of the shares of Chardan. The business
address is 1 American Lane, Greenwich, Connecticut 06831. This information is derived from a Schedule 13G
filed by the above persons with SEC on August 15, 2005.
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(5)Represents shares owned by Sapling, LLC and Fir Tree Recovery Master Fund, L.P. Fir Tree Value Master Fund,
L.P., a Cayman Islands exempted limited partnership is the sole member of Sapling and Fir Tree, Inc. a New York
corporation is the investment manager of both Sapling and Fir Tree Recovery. The business address of these
entities is 535 Fifth Avenue, 31st Floor, New York, New York 10017. The foregoing information is derived from a
Schedule 13G filed by such entities with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 23, 2005.

(6)The business address of Mr. Silver is c/o Sherleigh Associates LLC, 660 Madison Avenue, New York, New York
10021. These shares include (i) 200,000 shares held by Sherleigh Associates, Inc. profit sharing plan, a trust of
which Mr. Silver is the trustee, and 200,000 shares held by Sherleigh Associates, Inc. defined benefit plan. Mr.
Silver has the sole voting and despositve power with respect to all such shares. The foregoing information is
derived from a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on August 18, 2005.

None of the above stockholders has any voting rights that are different from the voting rights of any other
stockholders.

Security Ownership of Officers and Directors of Chardan

The following table sets forth information with respect to the beneficial ownership of Chardan common shares, as of
December 31, 2005 by:

· each director and executive officer; and

· all directors and officers as a group.
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Name(1)

Shares of
Chardan

Common Stock

Approximate
Percentage of
Outstanding
Common
Stock(2)

Richard D. Propper, M.D. 635,474(3)(4) 9.1%
Kerry Propper 312,500(4)(5) 4.5%
Zhang Li 151,013(4) 2.2%
Jiangnan Huang 151,013 2.2%
Directors and officers as a group (four persons) 1,250,000(4) 17.9%

____________________________________

(1)Unless otherwise indicated, the business address of each of the individuals is c/o Chardan, 625 Broadway, Suite
1111, San Diego, CA 92101.

(2)Beneficial ownership and percentage has been determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934.

(3) Represents shares of common stock held by Chardan Capital Partners. A family limited liability company
established for the benefit of Dr. Propper’s family owns approximately 40% of such entity.

(4)Does not include the following number of shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants (which are
not currently exercisable and are not expected to be exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2005): Dr. Richard
Propper - 110,000 shares; Kerry Propper - 72,500 shares; Zhang Li - 37,500 shares; and all directors and officers as
a group - 220,000 shares (which were purchased from the public market).

(5)Includes 90,500 shares of common stock held by SUJG, Inc. Mr. Propper is a director of that entity and controls
the voting and disposition of the Chardan shares held by that entity.

Dr. Richard Propper, Kerry Propper, Jiangnan Huang and Zhang Li are deemed to be our “parents” and “promoters,” as
these terms are defined under the federal securities laws.
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PRICE RANGE OF SECURITIES AND DIVIDENDS

Chardan

The shares of Chardan common stock, warrants and units are currently traded on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board
under the symbols “CNCA,” “CNCAW” and “CNCAU,” respectively. The closing price for each share of common stock,
warrant and unit of Chardan on February 1, 2006, was $6.78, $2.82 and $12.25, respectively. Chardan units
commenced public trading on August 3, 2005 and common stock and warrants commenced public trading on August
31, 2005.

The table below sets forth, for the calendar quarters indicated, the high and low bid prices of the Chardan common
stock, warrants and units as reported on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board. The over-the-counter market quotations
reported below reflect inter-dealer prices, without markup, markdown or commissions and may not represent actual
transactions.

Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board

Chardan
Common Stock

Chardan
Warrants

Chardan
Units

High Low High Low High Low
2005 Third Quarter $ 6.00 $ 5.17 $ 1.15 $ 0.70 $ 7.50 $ 6.15
2005 Fourth Quarter $ 5.75 $ 5.15 $ 1.86 $ 1.01 $ 9.30 $ 7.20
2006 First Quarter
(through March 24, 2006) $ 12.50 $ 5.74 $ 7.00 $ 1.65 $ 9.10 $ 26.25

Holders of Chardan common stock, warrants and units should obtain current market quotations for their securities.
The market price of Chardan common stock, warrants and units could vary at any time before the stock purchase.

In connection with the stock purchase, HLS intends to apply for the quotation of the combined company’s common
stock, warrants and units on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “HLS,” “HLSSW” and “HLSSU,” respectively.
If the securities are not listed on the Nasdaq, they will continue to be traded on the over-the-counter bulletin board.
Currently there is no trading market for any of the securities of HLS, and there can be no assurance that a trading
market will develop.

Holders

As of February 13, 2005, there was one holder of record of the units, six holders of record of the common stock and
one holder of record of the warrants. Chardan believes the beneficial holders of the units, common stock and warrants
to be in excess of 400 persons each. Immediately after the acquisition of HollySys, there will be an additional six
record shareholders who acquired shares in the acquisition. It is anticipated that the number of holders of HLS
common stock after the Redomestication Merger will be the same as the number of holders of Chardan common
stock.

Dividends

Chardan has not paid any dividends on its common stock to date and do not intend to pay dividends prior to the
completion of a business combination.
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The payment of dividends by HLS in the future will be contingent upon revenues and earnings, if any, capital
requirements and general financial condition if HollySys subsequent to completion of a business combination. The
payment of any dividends subsequent to a business combination will be within the discretion of the then board of
directors. It is the present intention of the board of directors to retain all earnings, if any, for use in the business
operations and, accordingly, the board does not anticipate declaring any dividends in the foreseeable future.
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SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE

After the Redomestication Merger and consummation of the acquisition of HollySys, there will be 30,500,000 shares
of common stock outstanding. Of that amount, 7,000,000 shares will be registered and freely tradable without
securities law restriction (with 1,250,000 of those shares being held in escrow until August 2008). Additionally, any of
such shares held by “affiliates,” as that term is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act, which generally includes
officers, directors or 10% stockholders will also be restricted from public sale as “restricted stock.” The
23,500,000 shares of common stock being issued in connection with the acquisition of HollySys will be “restricted
stock” and do not have any registration rights. In addition, there are outstanding the 11,500,000 warrants issued in the
initial public offering, each to purchase one share of common stock that will be freely tradable after the
Redomestication Merger. The common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants, will be tradable, provided that
there is a registration statement in effect at the time of their exercise. In addition, in connection with the initial public
offering, we issued a unit purchase option to the representative of the underwriters which is exercisable for
250,000 units, comprised of 250,000 shares of common stock and 500,000 warrants, each warrant to purchase one
share of common stock. Such securities underlying the representative’s unit purchase option and underlying securities
have registration rights and may be sold pursuant to Rule 144. Therefore, there are an aggregate of 12,250,000 shares
of common stock that may be issued in the future upon exercise of outstanding warrants and options.

In general, under Rule 144, a person who has owned restricted shares of common stock beneficially for at least one
year is entitled to sell, within any three-month period, a number of shares that does not exceed the greater of the then
average preceding four weekly trading volume or 1% of the total number of outstanding shares of common stock.
Sales under Rule 144 are also subject to manner of sale provisions, notice requirements and the availability of current
public information about the company. A person who has not been one of our affiliates for at least the three months
immediately preceding the sale and who has beneficially owned shares of common stock for at least two years is
entitled to sell the shares under Rule 144 without regard to the limitations described above.

Before the Redomestication Merger there was no market for the securities of HLS, and no prediction can be made
about the effect that market sales of the common stock of HLS or the availability for sale of the common stock of HLS
will have on the market price of the common stock. It is anticipated that the market should be similar to that of
Chardan because the Redomestication Merger will largely be substituting one security for another on as equal terms as
is possible. Nevertheless, sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market could adversely
affect the market price for our securities and could impair our future ability to raise capital through the sale of
common stock or securities linked to the common stock.

DESCRIPTION OF THE COMBINED COMPANY’S

SECURITIES FOLLOWING THE STOCK PURCHASE

The following description of the material terms of the capital stock and warrants of HLS following the stock purchase
includes a summary of specified provisions of the Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association of HLS
that will be in effect upon completion of the stock purchase and the merger. This description is subject to the relevant
provisions of the Corporation Law of the British Virgin Islands and is qualified by reference to HLS’s Memorandum of
Association and Articles of Association, copies of which are attached to this proxy statement/prospectus and are
incorporated in this proxy statement/prospectus by reference.

General

HLS has no authorized share capital, but it will be authorized to issue 101,000,000 shares of all classes of capital
stock, of which 100,000,000 will be ordinary shares, no par value and 1,000,000 will be preference shares of, no par
value. The capital of HLS will be stated in United States dollars.
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Ordinary Shares

The holders of the combined company’s ordinary shares are entitled to one vote for each share on all matters submitted
to a vote of stockholders and do not have cumulative voting rights. Subject to the preferences and rights, if any,
applicable to the shares of preference stock, the holders of the ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends if and
when declared by the board of directors. Subject to the prior rights of the holders, if any, of the preference shares, the
holders of the ordinary shares are entitled to share ratably in any distribution of the assets of the combined company
upon liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, after satisfaction of all debts and other liabilities.

Preference Stock

Shares of preference stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series and the board of directors of HLS,
without approval of the stockholders, is authorized to designate series of preference stock and to fix the rights,
privileges, restrictions and conditions to be attached to each such series of shares of preference stock. The issuance of
shares of preference stock, while providing flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate
purposes, could, among other things, adversely affect the voting power of holders of the combined company’s shares
of common stock.
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As of the date of this proxy statement/prospectus, there are no outstanding shares of preference stock of any series.

Anti-takeover Effect of Unissued Shares of Capital Stock

Common Stock. After the stock purchase and Redomestication Merger, HLS will have outstanding approximately
30,500,000 shares of common stock, assuming that none of the public stockholders elects to exercise the conversion
rights. The remaining shares of authorized and unissued common stock will be available for future issuance without
additional stockholder approval. While the additional shares are not designed to deter or prevent a change of control,
under some circumstances the combined company could use the additional shares to create voting impediments or to
frustrate persons seeking to effect a takeover or otherwise gain control by, for example, issuing those shares in private
placements to purchasers who might side with the combined company’s board of directors in opposing a hostile
takeover bid.

Preference Stock. The memorandum and articles will grant the board of directors the authority, without any further
vote or action by the combined company’s stockholders, to issue preference stock in one or more series and to fix the
number of shares constituting any such series and the preferences, limitations and relative rights, including dividend
rights, dividend rate, voting rights, terms of redemption, redemption price or prices, conversion rights and liquidation
preferences of the shares constituting any series. The existence of authorized but unissued preference stock could
reduce the combined company’s attractiveness as a target for an unsolicited takeover bid since the combined company
could, for example, issue shares of preference stock to parties who might oppose such a takeover bid or shares that
contain terms the potential acquirer may find unattractive. This may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change
in control, may discourage bids for the common stock at a premium over the market price of the common stock, and
may adversely affect the market price of, and the voting and other rights of the holders of, common stock.

Warrants

As of December 31, 2005, there were warrants outstanding to purchase 11,500,000 shares of Common Stock. Each
warrant entitles the registered holder to purchase one share of our common stock at a price of $5.00 per share, subject
to adjustment as discussed below, at any time commencing on the later of:

· the completion of the stock purchase; or

· August 2, 2006.

The warrants will expire at 5:00 p.m., New York City time on August 2, 2009. Chardan may call the warrants for
redemption.

· in whole and not in part;

· at a price of $.01 per warrant at any time after the warrants become exercisable;

· upon not less than 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption to each warrantholder; and

·if, and only if, the reported last sale price of the common stock equals or exceeds $8.50 per share, for any 20 trading
days within a 30 trading day period ending on the third business day prior to the notice of redemption to
warrantholders.

The warrants have been issued in registered form under a warrant agreement between Continental Stock Transfer &
Trust Company, as warrant agent, and Chardan.
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The exercise price and number of shares of common stock issuable on exercise of the warrants may be adjusted in
certain circumstances, including in the event of a stock dividend, recapitalization, reorganization, stock purchase or
consolidation of the company. However, the warrants will not be adjusted for issuances of common stock at a price
below their respective exercise prices.
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The warrants may be exercised upon surrender of the warrant certificate on or prior to the expiration date at the offices
of the warrant agent, with the exercise form on the reverse side of the warrant certificate completed and executed as
indicated, accompanied by full payment of the exercise price, by certified check payable to us, for the number of
warrants being exercised. The warrantholders do not have the rights or privileges of holders of common stock and any
voting rights until they exercise their warrants and receive common stock. After the issuance of shares of common
stock upon exercise of the warrants, each holder will be entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all
matters to be voted on by stockholders.

The warrants may be deprived of any value and the market for the warrants may be limited if the prospectus relating
to the common stock issuable upon the exercise of the warrants is not current or if the common stock is not qualified
or exempt from qualification in the jurisdictions in which the holders of the warrants reside. No fractional shares will
be issued upon exercise of the warrants. However, if a warrantholder exercises all warrants then owned of record by
him, Chardan will pay to the warrantholder, in lieu of the issuance of any fractional share which is otherwise issuable
to the warrantholder, an amount for such fractional share in cash based on the market value of the common stock on
the last trading day prior to the exercise date.

Purchase Option

Chardan has issued to the representative of the underwriters of its initial public offering an option to purchase up to a
total of 250,000 units at a per-unit price of $7.50, commencing on the later of the consummation of the stock purchase
or August 2, 2006. The option expires on August 2, 2010. The units issuable upon exercise of this option are the same
as the publicly traded units, consisting of one share of common stock and two warrants, except that the warrants are
exercisable at $6.65. The option contains demand and piggy-back registration rights for period of five and seven
years, respectively, and the combined company will bear the expenses of the registration of the securities for the
holders of the option. The exercise price and number of units are subject to adjustment in certain circumstances,
including a stock dividend, recapitalization reorganization, merger or consolidation.

Registration Rights Agreement

Chardan has entered into a registration rights agreement providing for the registration of the shares of common stock
issued prior to the initial public offering and the shares included in the purchase option. The warrants, to be
exercisable, must also continue to have the common stock underlying the warrants registered on an effective
registration statement.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for the shares of Chardan common stock, warrants and units is Continental Stock
Transfer & Trust Company, 17 Battery Place, New York, New York 10004, (212) 509-4000.
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STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS

If the stock purchase is not consummated, the Chardan 2006 annual meeting of stockholders will be held on or about
____________, 2006 unless the date is changed by the board of directors. If you are a stockholder and you want to
include a proposal in the proxy statement for the year 2006 annual meeting, you need to provide it to us by no later
than ____________, 2006. You should direct any proposals to our secretary at Chardan’s principal office in San Diego,
CA. If you want to present a matter of business to be considered at the year 2006 annual meeting, under Chardan
by-laws you must give timely notice of the matter, in writing, to our secretary. To be timely, the notice has to be given
by ________________.

LEGAL MATTERS

Maples & Calder, Road Town, Tortola, British Virgin Islands, have passed upon the validity of the securities issued in
connection with the Redomestication Merger and certain other legal matters related to this joint proxy
statement/prospectus.

Guantao Law Firm, Beijing, PRC, counsel to the HollySys Parties and HollySys Operating Companies has opined as
to the validity and enforceability of the consignment agreements of the HollySys Parties with respect to Beijing
HollySys. Reference to their opinion has been included in this joint proxy statement/prospectus and given upon their
authority as experts in the law of the PRC. A copy of their opinion is filed as an exhibit to the Registration Statement
of which this joint proxy/prospectus forms a part.

DLA Piper Rudnick Gray Cary US LLP, San Diego, California, has passed upon the tax matters relating to the
Redomestication Merger as set forth in this joint proxy/prospectus. A copy of their opinion is filed as an exhibit to the
Registration Statement of which this joint proxy/prospectus forms a part.

EXPERTS

The financial statements of HollySys Holdings for the years ended June 30, 2003, 2004 and 2005 included in this joint
proxy statement/prospectus and in the registration statement of which this joint proxy/prospectus forms a part, have
been audited by BDO Reanda, an independent registered public accounting firm, to the extent and for the periods set
forth in their report appearing elsewhere herein and in the registration statement of which this joint proxy
statement/prospectus forms a part, and are included in reliance upon such report given upon the authority of said firm
as experts in auditing and accounting.

The financial statements of Chardan at December 31, 2005 and for the period from March 10, 2005 (inception) to
December 31, 2005, included in this joint proxy statement/prospectus and in the registration statement have been
audited by Goldstein Golub Kessler LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, to the extent set forth in
their report appearing elsewhere in this joint proxy statement/prospectus and in the registration statement and are
included herein in reliance upon the authority of Goldstein Golub Kessler LLP as experts in accounting and auditing.

DELIVERY OF DOCUMENTS TO STOCKHOLDERS

Pursuant to the rules of the SEC, HLS and services that it employs to deliver communications to its stockholders are
permitted to deliver to two or more stockholders sharing the same address a single copy of each of HLS’s annual report
to stockholders and HLS’s proxy statement. Upon written or oral request, HLS will deliver a separate copy of the
annual report to stockholder and/or proxy statement to any stockholder at a shared address to which a single copy of
each document was delivered and who wishes to receive separate copies of such documents in the future. Stockholders
receiving multiple copies of such documents may likewise request that HLS deliver single copies of such documents
in the future. Stockholders may notify HLS of their requests by calling or writing Lori Johnson at its principal
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executive offices at HLS c/o Chardan North China Acquisition Corporation, 625 Broadway, Suite 1111, San Diego,
California 92101. In addition, HLS will make available free of change through an Internet website its annual report,
quarterly reports, 8-K reports and other SEC filings.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

Chardan files reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission as
required by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. You may read and copy reports, proxy statements and
other information filed by Chardan with the Securities and Exchange Commission at the Securities and Exchange
Commission public reference room located at Judiciary Plaza, 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Room 1024, Washington, D.C.
20549. You may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the Securities and
Exchange Commission at 1-800-SEC-0330. You may also obtain copies of the materials described above at prescribed
rates by writing to the Securities and Exchange Commission, Public Reference Section, 450 Fifth Street, N.W.,
Washington, D.C. 20549. You may also access information on Chardan at the Securities and Exchange Commission
web site at: http://www.sec.gov.
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After the stock purchase, if the securities of HLS are listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market, unless you notify HLS of
your desire not to receive these reports, the combined company will furnish to you all periodic reports that it files with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, including audited annual consolidated financial statements and unaudited
quarterly consolidated financial statements, as well as proxy statements and related materials for annual and special
meetings of stockholders.

Information and statements contained in this proxy statement/prospectus, or any annex to this proxy
statement/prospectus incorporated by reference in this proxy statement/prospectus, are qualified in all respects by
reference to the copy of the relevant contract or other annex filed as an exhibit to this proxy statement/prospectus or
incorporated in this proxy statement/prospectus by reference.

All information contained in this proxy statement/prospectus or incorporated in this proxy statement/prospectus by
reference relating to Chardan has been supplied by Chardan, and all such information relating to the HollySys Parties
has been supplied by the HollySys Parties. Information provided by either of us does not constitute any representation,
estimate or projection of the other.

If you would like additional copies of this proxy statement/prospectus, or if you have questions about the stock
purchase, you should contact:

Lori Johnson
c/o Chardan North China Acquisition Corporation
625 Broadway, Suite 1111
San Diego, CA 92101
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[Outside Back Cover of Prospectus]

Until [__________________25 days after effective date], all dealers that effect transactions in these securities,
whether or not participating in this offering, may be required to deliver a prospectus. This is in addition to the dealers'
obligation to deliver a prospectus when acting as underwriters and with respect to their unsold allotments or
subscriptions.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors
Chardan North China Acquisition Corp.

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Chardan North China Acquisition Corporation (a corporation in
the development stage) as of December 31, 2005, and the related statements of operations, stockholders' equity and
cash flows for the period from March 10, 2005 (inception) to December 31, 2005. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Chardan North China Acquisition Corporation as of December 31, 2005, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for the period from March 10, 2005 (inception) to December 31, 2005 in conformity with United States
generally accepted accounting principles.

GOLDSTEIN GOLUB KESSLER LLP
New York, New York

March 15, 2006

FI-1
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Chardan North China Acquisition Corporation
(A Development Stage Company)

Balance Sheet

December 31, 2005

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 856,380
Investments held in trust 30,260,861
Deferred tax asset 177,370
Prepaid expenses and other 58,503

Total Assets $ 31,353,114

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 224,498
Income taxes payable 173,120
Deferred interest 86,395
Total current liabilities 484,013

Commitments

Common stock subject to possible conversion 1,149,425
shares at conversion value 5,964,017

Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $.0001 par value, 1,000,000 shares
authorized, none issued -

Common stock, $.0001 par value: 20,000,000 shares
authorized, 7,000,000 shares issued and outstanding
(includes 1,149,425 shares subject to possible
conversion) 700

Additional paid-in capital 25,006,126
Accumulated deficit (101,742)
Total stockholders' equity 24,905,084

Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity $ 31,353,114

See the accompanying notes to the financial statements
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Chardan North China Acquisition Corporation
(A Development Stage Company)

Statement of Operations

From
March 10, 2005
(Inception)
Through

December 31, 2005
Costs and Expenses
Admin and office support 37,500
Consulting 66,700
Insurance 29,167
Professional fees 127,957
State franchise tax 23,775
Travel 147,091
Other operating costs 21,673

Total costs and expenses 453,863

Operating loss (453,863)

Other income:
Interest income 347,871

Net loss before income tax provision (105,992)

Income tax benefit 4,250

Net loss $ (101,742)

Loss per share - basic and diluted (0.03)
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic and diluted 4,020,202

See the accompanying notes to the financial statements
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Chardan North China Acquisition Corporation
(A Development Stage Company)

Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity

Additional Stockholders'
Common Paid - In Accumulated Equity

Shares Amount Capital (Deficit) (Deficit)
Issuance of common shares
to initial shareholders on
March 10, 2005 1,250,000 $ 125 $ 24,875 $ - $ 25,000
at $0.02 per share
Sale of 5,750,000 units, net
of underwriters' discount
and offering expenses 5,750,000 575 30,945,168 - 30,945,743
(includes 1,149,425 shares
subject to possible
conversion) -
Proceeds subject to possible
conversion of 1,149,425
shares - - (5,964,017) - (5,964,017)
Proceeds from issuance of
an underwriter's option - - 100 - 100
Loss for the period ended
December 31, 2005 - - - (101,742) (101,742)

Balance at December 31,
2005 7,000,000 $ 700 $ 25,006,126 $ (101,742) $ 24,905,084

See the accomanying notes to the financial statements
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Chardan North China Acquisition Corporation
(A Development Stage Company)

Statement of Cash Flows

From
March 10, 2005
(Inception)
Through

December 31, 2005
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net loss $ (101,742)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in
operating activities:

Amortization of discounts and interest earned on securities
held in trust (425,861)
Changes in operating Assets and Liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (48,333)
Deferred tax asset (177,370)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 224,498
Income taxes payable 173,120
Deferred interest 86,395
Net cash used by operating activities (269,293)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchases of investments held in trust (29,835,000)
Net cash used by investing activities (29,835,000)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 34,525,000
Proceeds from issuance of option 100
Payment of costs associated with public offering (3,554,257)
Advance to affiliate (10,170)
Net cash provided by financing activities 30,960,673

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 856,380
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period -
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period $ 856,380

 See the accomanying notes to the financial statements
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CHARDAN NORTH CHINA ACQUISITION CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SUMMARY OF ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business and Organization - Chardan North China Acquisition Corp. (“Chardan North”) was incorporated in Delaware
on March 10, 2005 as a blank check company whose objective is to acquire an operating business that has its primary
operating facilities in the People Republic of China in any city or province north of the YangtzeRiver.

Effective July 14, 2005, the Company's Board of Directors and Initial Stockholders authorized an amendment to the
Company's Certificate of Incorporation to change the Company's name from Chardan China Acquisition Corp. II to
Chardan North China Acquisition Corporation.

In August 2005, Chardan North commenced its efforts to locate a company with which to effect a business
combination. After signing a definitive agreement for the acquisition of a target business, such transaction will be
submitted for stockholder approval. In the event that stockholders owning 20% or more of the outstanding stock
excluding, for this purpose, those persons who were stockholders prior to the Offering, vote against the Business
Combination and exercise their conversion rights described below, the Business Combination will not be
consummated. All of the Company's stockholders prior to the Initial Public Offering, including all of the officers and
directors of the Company ("Initial Stockholders"), have agreed to vote their 1,250,000 founding shares of common
stock in accordance with the vote of the majority in interest of all other stockholders of the Company ("Public
Stockholders") with respect to the Business Combination. After consummation of the Business Combination, all of
these voting safeguards will no longer be applicable. With respect to a Business Combination which is approved and
consummated, any Public Stockholder who voted against the Business Combination may demand that the Company
convert his or her shares. The per share conversion price will equal the amount in the Trust Fund as of the record date
for determination of stockholders entitled to vote on the Business Combination divided by the number of shares of
common stock held by Public Stockholders at the consummation of the Offering. Accordingly, Public Stockholders
holding 19.99% of the aggregate number of shares owned by all Public Stockholders may seek conversion of their
shares in the event of a Business Combination.

Such Public Stockholders are entitled to receive their per share interest in the Trust Fund computed without regard to
the shares held by Initial Stockholders. Accordingly, a portion of the net proceeds from the offering (19.99% of the
amount originally held in the Trust Fund) has been classified as common stock subject to possible conversion in the
accompanying balance sheet and 19.99% of the related interest earned on the investments held in the Trust Fund has
been recorded as deferred interest.

Cash and Cash Equivalents -- The Company considers all highly liquid debt securities purchased with original or
remaining maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. The carrying value of cash equivalents
approximates fair value.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments - The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, investments held in trust,
accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair market value because of the short maturity of those
instruments.

Credit Risk - It is the Company’s practice to place its cash equivalents in high quality money market securities or
certificate of deposit accounts with one major banking institution. Certain amounts of such funds are not insured by
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. However, the Company considers its credit risk associated with cash and
cash equivalents to be minimal.
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CHARDAN NORTH CHINA ACQUISITION CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Investments Held in Trust - Investments held in trust are invested in United States government securities with a
maturity of 180 days or less which are accounted for as a trading security and recorded at market value which
approximates amortized cost. The excess of market value over cost, exclusive of the deferred interest described below,
is included in interest income in the accompanying Statement of Operations.

Deferred Interest - Deferred interest consists of 19.99% of the interest earned on the investments held in trust.

Income Taxes - The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes as required by SFAS
No. 109 “Accounting for Income Taxes”. SFAS No. 109 requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for
the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the tax basis of
certain assets and liabilities. A valuation allowance is established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the
amount expected to be realized. Statutory taxes not based on income are included in state franchise tax in the
statement of operations.

Income (Loss) Per Common Share - The Company computed basic and diluted earnings per share amounts for
December 31, 2005 pursuant to SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per Share.” Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) are computed by
dividing the net income (loss) by the weighted average common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS
reflects the additional dilution for all potentially dilutive securities such as stock warrants and options. The effect of
the 11,500,000 outstanding warrants, issued in connection with the initial public offering described in Note 5 has not
been considered in the diluted EPS since the warrants are contingently exercisable. The effect of the 25,000 units
included in the underwriters purchase option, as described in Note 5, along with the warrants underlying such units,
has not been considered in the diluted EPS calculation since the effect would be antidilutive.

Recent Authoritative Pronouncements 

Share-Based Payment

In December 2004, the FASB issued a revision of SFAS 123 (“SFAS 123(R)”) that will require compensation costs
related to share-based payment transactions to be recognized in the statement of operations. With limited exceptions,
the amount of compensation cost will be measured based on the grant-date fair value of the equity or liability
instruments issued. In addition, liability awards will be re-measured each reporting period. Compensation cost will be
recognized over the period that an employee provides service in exchange for the award. SFAS 123(R) replaces SFAS
123 and is effective January 1, 2006. Based on the number of shares and awards outstanding as of December 31, 2005
(and without giving effect to any awards which may be granted in the fiscal year ending December 31, 2006), we
expect that the adoption of SFAS 123(R) will have no material impact to the financial statements.

The Company does not believe that any other recently issued but not yet effective accounting standards will have a
material effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.
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CHARDAN NORTH CHINA ACQUISITION CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Commencing on August 2, 2005 and ending upon the acquisition of a target business, the Company incurs an
administrative fee of $7,500 per month from Chardan Capital, LLC, a company managed and partially owned by the
Company's Chairman of the Board. The fee includes the provision of office space and certain office and secretarial
services. The statement of operations for the period ended December 31, 2005 includes $37,500 of such fees.

In April 2005, two of the Company's stockholders advanced an aggregate of $80,000 to the Company, on a
non-interest bearing basis, for payment of offering expenses on the Company's behalf. These loans were repaid
following the initial public offering from the proceeds of the Offering.

In May 2005 the Company made a non-interest bearing advance of $10,170 to an affiliate, which is included in
prepaid expenses and other current assets on the accompanying balance sheet. This amount is due on demand, and is
expected to be repaid in the first quarter of 2006.

3.  INCOME TAXES

Components of income taxes are as follows:

Current
Federal $ 134,731
State 38,389
Total Current 173,120

Less deferred
income taxes (177,370)

Total income
taxes $ (4,250)

The Deferred tax asset consists of the following:

Deferred
interest income 36,328
Deferred
operating costs 141,042
Deferred
transaction fees 37,238

214,608
Valuation
allowance (37,238)

$ 177,130

The valuation allowance releases the deferred tax asset for transaction costs incurred in connection with the proposed
transaction described in Note 7.
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The effective income tax differs from the statutory rate of 34% principally due to the increase in the valuation
allowance.
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CHARDAN NORTH CHINA ACQUISITION CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. COMMITMENTS

In September 2005, the Company entered into an agreement with a consulting firm to assist in the search to identify
prospective target businesses for the Business Combination. As part of the agreement, the consulting firm is to receive
$200,000, including $133,300 upon consummation of the Business Combination, and agreed to perform due diligence
on such prospective target businesses as well as assist in structuring and consummating the business combination. The
statements of operations for the period ended December 31, 2005 include $66,700 relating to this agreement.

5. COMMON STOCK, COMMON STOCK PURCHASE WARRANTS AND OPTIONS

On August 10, 2005, the Company sold 5,000,000 units ("Units") in the initial public offering, and on August 17,
2005, the Company consummated the closing of an additional 750,000 units that were subject to the over-allotment
option (the “Offering”). Gross proceeds from the initial public offering were $34,500,000. The Company paid a total of
$3,035,000 in underwriting discounts and commissions, and approximately $519,257 was paid for costs and expenses
related to the offering. After deducting the underwriting discounts and commissions and the offering expenses, the
total net proceeds to the Company from the offering was approximately $30,945,843, of which $29,835,000 was
deposited into in an interest bearing trust account until the earlier of the consummation of a business combination or
the liquidation of the Company. The Company's Certificate of Incorporation provides for mandatory liquidation of the
Company, without stockholder approval, in the event that the Company does not consummate a Business Combination
prior to February 10, 2007, or August 10, 2007 if certain extension criteria have been satisfied. In the event of
liquidation, it is likely that the per share value of the residual assets remaining available for distribution (including
Trust Fund assets) will be less than the initial public offering price per share in the Offering due to costs related to the
Offering and since no value would be attributed to the Warrants contained in the Units sold.

Each Unit consisted of one share of the Company's common stock, $.0001 par value, and two Redeemable Common
Stock Purchase Warrants ("Warrants"). Each Warrant entitles the holder to purchase from the Company one share of
common stock at an exercise price of $5.00 commencing the later of the completion of a Business Combination or one
year from the effective date of the Offering and expiring four years from the effective date of the Offering. The
Warrants will be redeemable, at the Company's option, at a price of $.01 per Warrant upon 30 days' notice after the
Warrants become exercisable, only in the event that the last sale price of the common stock is at least $8.50 per share
for any 20 trading days within a 30 trading day period ending on the third day prior to the date on which notice of
redemption is given.

In connection with this Offering, the Company issued an option, for $100, to the representative of the underwriters to
purchase 250,000 Units at an exercise price of $7.50 per Unit. The Company accounted for the fair value of the
option, inclusive of the receipt of the $100 cash payment, as an expense of the public offering resulting in a charge
directly to stockholders' equity. The Company estimated that the fair value of this option is approximately $550,000
($2.20 per Unit) using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair value of the option granted to the
Representative is estimated as of the date of grant using the following assumptions: (1) expected volatility of 44.5%,
based on the volatilities of similar entities who have effected a business combination, (2) risk-free interest rate of
3.8% and (3) expected life of 5 years. The option may be exercised for cash or on a "cashless" basis, at the holder's
option, such that the holder may use the appreciated value of the option (the difference between the exercise prices of
the option and the underlying warrants and the market price of the units and underlying securities) to exercise the
option without the payment of any cash. In addition, the warrants underlying such Units are exercisable at $6.65 per
share.
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CHARDAN NORTH CHINA ACQUISITION CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. STOCK DIVIDEND

Effective July 22, 2005, the Company's Board of Directors authorized a stock dividend of 0.25 shares of common
stock for each outstanding share of common stock. All references in the accompanying financial statements to the
number of shares of common stock have been retroactively restated to reflect this transaction.

7. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS - UNAUDITED

On February 2, 2006, the Company entered into a definitive stock purchase agreement pursuant to which it will
acquire a controlling interest in Beijing HollySys Company, Limited and Hangzhou HollySys Automation, Limited
(collectively referred to as "HollySys"). Upon completion of the transaction, Chardan North will own 74.11% and
89.64%, respectively, of the two companies. If approved by the stockholders of Chardan North, the transaction is
expected to close in the second quarter of 2006. At closing, Chardan North will change its name to HLS Systems
International, Limited ("HLS" or the "Company").

Under the terms of the acquisition, Chardan North will acquire from participating shareholders their equity interests in
HollySys, by acquiring Gifted Time Holdings, Ltd., a British Virgin Islands corporation that holds all of those
interests. The Gifted Time interests in HollySys will be exchanged for 23,500,000 shares of common stock of Chardan
North equal to 77% of the total issued and outstanding common stock of the post-transaction company, and a cash
consideration of $30,000,000. A variable portion of the cash consideration will be deferred, ranging from $3,000,000
to $7,000,000, depending on the number of shares that Chardan North shareholders redeem, if any, in the process of
approving the transaction. The deferred cash compensation will either be paid at the rate of 50% of positive cash flow
generated by the Company post-acquisition based on audited financial statements or upon the receipt of $60,000,000
in equity investment, whether from the exercise of issued and outstanding warrants or other sources.

As additional consideration, participating parties will be entitled to receive, on an all or none basis each year, an
additional 2,000,000 shares for each of the next four fiscal years beginning with the year ending June 30, 2007 if
HollySys achieves the following operating after-tax profits:

FY
Ending
June 30

After-Tax
Profit

2007 $ 23,000,000
2008 $ 32,000,000
2009 $ 43,000,000
2010 $ 61,000,000
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GIFTED TIME HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2003, 2004 AND 2005

AND SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005
(Information for the Six Months Ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 is Unaudited)

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Gifted Time Holdings Limited

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Gifted Time Holdings Limited (the “Company”) as
of June 30, 2004 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended June 30, 2005. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements and schedule are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have,
nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included
consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Gifted Time Holdings Limited., as of June 30, 2004 and 2005 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
each of the years in the three-year period ended June 30, 2005 in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

BDO Reanda

Beijing, PRC
November 22, 2005
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GIFTED TIME HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2003, 2004 AND 2005

AND SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005
(Information for the Six Months Ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 is Unaudited)

June 30, December 31,
2004 2005 2005

(Unaudited)
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,292,741 $ 9,234,139 $ 12,930,747
Contract performance deposit in banks 965,793 955,432 1,983,469
Term deposit 100,000 704,120 285,869
Notes receivable 2,416,451 - -
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful
accounts $1,113,084, $1,461,645 and $1,566,959 30,503,349 49,543,821 55,000,568
Other receivables, net of allowance for doubtful
accounts $107,400, $139,924 and $137,864 1,443,420 2,498,811 3,472,105
Advances to suppliers 5,163,108 7,035,178 6,714,660
Inventories 9,622,261 8,448,166 7,423,660
Prepaid consulting fee - 58,902 32,527
Total current assets 57,507,123 78,478,569 87,843,605
Property, plant and equipment, net 9,078,407 13,904,262 17,495,754
Long term investments 3,420,491 3,681,267 5,311,819
Total assets $ 70,006,021 $ 96,064,098 $ 110,651,178

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Short-term bank loans $ 6,282,773 $ 8,699,329 $ 9,541,275
Short-term bank loan from related parties 1,812,338 2,416,480 2,478,253
Current portion of long-term loans 2,416,451 1,208,240
Accounts payable 10,590,315 17,364,691 19,050,811
Deferred revenue 11,922,811 10,787,462 8,671,297
Dividend payable - 333,894 -
Accrued payroll and related expense 2,527,046 3,740,483 5,460,746
Income tax payable 1,239,799 269,067 246,608
Warranty liabilities 881,052 1,594,215 1,515,957
Other tax payables 4,956,040 6,481,446 4,842,888
Accrued liabilities 2,763,923 2,651,059 4,988,458
Amounts due to related parties 313,003 456,766 1,463,463
Deferred tax liabilities 17,543 78,754 61,689
Total current liabilities 45,723,094 56,081,886 58,321,445
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term loans 5,195,370 6,645,321 6,815,197
Total liabilities 50,918,464 62,727,207 65,136,642
Minority interest 4,425,419 6,334,435 8,705,593
Stockholders’ equity:
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Common stock, par value $1 per share,50,000 shares
authorized, 50,000 shares issued and outstanding 50,000 50,000 50,000
Additional paid-in capital 9,523,345 11,935,060 11,950,516
Appropriated earnings 1,211,043 3,296,008 3,296,008
Retained earnings 3,875,334 11,721,091 20,715,881
Cumulative translation adjustments  2,416 297 796,538
Total stockholder’s equity 14,662,138 27,002,456 36,808,943
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 70,006,021 $ 96,064,098 $ 110,651,178

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

FII-3

Edgar Filing: GRILLO ANTHONY - Form 4

Explanation of Responses: 52



GIFTED TIME HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2003, 2004 AND 2005

AND SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005
(Information for the Six Months Ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 is Unaudited)

Years Ended June 30, December 31,
2003 2004 2005 2004 2005

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Revenues:
Integrated contract revenue $ 32,927,629 $ 51,224,340 $ 75,027,422 $ 38,935,801 $ 46,916,576
Products sales 3,057,979 1,849,916 4,545,410 1,596,980 2,515,450

Total revenues 35,985,608 53,074,256 79,572,832 40,532,781 49,432,026

Cost of integrated contracts 24,347,692 37,569,353 52,164,176 27,399,787 31,949,229
Cost of products sold 1,532,781 338,167 2,518,835 182,027 1,478,696

Gross profit 10,105,135 15,166,736 24,889,821 12,950,967 16,004,101

Operating expenses:
Selling 2,995,307 4,521,884 5,646,565 3,049,084 3,382,998
General and administrative 2,613,109 2,678,262 5,136,383 2,794,272 3,789,349
Research and development 346,243 383,059 202,344 - -
Impairment loss 621,893 139,937 - - -
Loss on disposal of assets 13,020 11,963 29,511 2,806 14,512

Total operating expenses 6,589,572 7,735,105 11,014,803 5,846,162 7,186,859

Income from operations 3,515,563 7,431,631 13,875,018 7,104,805 8,817,242

Other income (expense), net 20,839 31,792 194,547 75,639 (89,846)
Interest expense, net (903,744) (832,110) (555,796) (197,069) (580,379)
Investment income (loss) 246,764 90,492 664,889 565,835 544,223
Subsidy income 634,612 2,782 2,292,880 1,824,172 2,737,028

Income before income taxes 3,514,034 6,724,587 16,471,538 9,373,382 11,428,268

Income taxes expenses 636,816 947,768 401,468 169,717 249,035

Income before minority interest 2,877,218 5,776,819 16,070,070 9,203,665 11,179,233

Minority interest 650,084 1,041,543 2,366,549 1,632,303 2,184,443

Net income $ 2,227,134 $ 4,735,276 $ 13,703,521 $ 7,571,362 $ 8,994,790

Other comprehensive income
(loss):
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Translation adjustments (310) 1,212 (2,119) 270 796,241

Comprehensive income $ 2,226,824 $ 4,736,488 $ 13,701,402 $ 7,571,632 $ 9,791,031

See accompanying notes to financial statement
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GIFTED TIME HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2003, 2004 AND 2005

AND SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005
(Information for the Six Months Ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 is Unaudited)

Additional  Accumulated
Common Paid-in Appropriated Retained  Comprehensive

Stock Capital Earnings Earnings
 Income
(Loss) Total

Balance at July 1, 2002 $ 50,000 $ 8,920,012 $ 527,153 $ (2,403,186)$ 1,514 $ 7,095,493

Forgiveness of accounts
payable - 3,032 - - - 3,032
Net income for the year - - - 2,227,134 - 2,227,134
Translation adjustments - - - - (310) (310)
Balance at June 30, 2003 50,000 8,923,044 527,153 (176,052) 1,204 9,325,349

Capital infused - 600,000 - - - 600,000
Forgiveness of accounts
payable - 301 - - - 301
Net income for the year - - - 4,735,276 - 4,735,276
Appropriation - - 683,890 (683,890) - -
Translation adjustments - - - - 1,212 1,212
Balance at June 30, 2004 50,000 9,523,345 1,211,043 3,875,334 2,416 14,662,138

Donation received - 11,715 - - - 11,715
Net income for the year - - - 13,703,521 - 13,703,521
Appropriation - - 2,084,965 (2,084,965) - -
Dividends paid - - - (1,372,799) - (1,372,799)
Converted into capital - 2,400,000 - (2,400,000) - -
Translation adjustments - - - - (2,119) (2,119)
Balance at June 30, 2005 50,000 11,935,060 3,296,008 11,721,091 297 27,002,456

Forgiveness of accounts
payable - 9,924 - - - 9,924
Donation received - 5,532 - - - 5,532
Net income for the period
(unaudited) - - - 8,994,790 - 8,994,790
Translation adjustments
(unaudited) -　 -　 -　 -　 796,241 796,241
Balance at December 31,
2005 (unaudited) $ 50,000 $ 11,950,516 $ 3,296,008 $ 20,715,881 $ 796,538 $ 36,808,943

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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GIFTED TIME HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2003, 2004 AND 2005

AND SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005
(Information for the Six Months Ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 is Unaudited)

Years Ended June 30,
Six Months Ended
December 31,

2003 2004 2005 2004 2005
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Cash flows from operating
activities:
Net income $ 2,227,134 $ 4,735,276 $ 13,703,521 $ 7,571,362 $ 8,994,790
Adjustments to reconcile net
income to net cash provided
by (used in) operating
activities:
Minority interests 650,084 1,041,543 2,366,549 1,632,303 2,184,443
Depreciation and amortization 687,793 921,204 820,863 603,074 651,442
Allowance for doubtful
accounts 270,015 364,034 381,085 44,474 103,254
Provision for inventories - - - - 420,299
Impairment loss 621,893 139,937 - - -
Loss on disposal of fixed
assets 13,020 11,963 29,511 2,806 14,512
Income from equity investment (246,764) (90,492) (664,889) (565,835) (544,223)
Deferred income tax assets 2,779 60,313 61,211 - (17,065)

Changes in operating assets
and liabilities:
Accounts receivables (5,052,151) (8,339,720) (19,389,033) (8,701,413) (5,371,127)
Inventories (687,317) (3,596,096) 1,174,095 821,347 573,282
Advance to suppliers (982,208) (2,783,687) (1,807,680) 189,006 293,454
Other receivables (119,209) (531,053) (958,797) 97,065 (948,706)
Deposits and other assets (561,133) (242,852) (54,029) (145,369) (988,429)
Advance from customers 705,267 6,383,686 (1,135,349) 952,944 (2,056,544)
Accounts payable 1,582,486 5,487,989 6,711,573 (307,911) 1,699,511
Accruals and other payable 787,018 3,936,289 3,339,142 1,166,157 2,315,380
Tax payable 568,258 702,573 (970,732) (147,880) (22,459)

Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities 466,965 8,200,907 3,607,041 3,212,130 7,301,814

Cash flows from investing
activities:
Purchase of fixed assets (1,631,077) (1,912,101) (5,686,494) (2,955,846) (4,143,125)
Acquisition cost, net of cash
acquired (687,363) - - - -

(269,408) (2,288,874) 1,812,331 1,812,331 407,377
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Disposal (Purchase) of
short-term investments
Addition to long-term
investments (16,747) (142,574) (225,368) - (1,288,692)
Proceeds from disposing assets 98,269 1,766 358,443 264,111 350,943
Dividends received from
long-term investments - 44,650 20,165 - -
Interest received from
short-term investments - 41,831 148,837 148,837 -

Net cash used in investing
activities (2,506,326) (4,255,302) (3,572,086) (730,567) (4,673,497)

Cash flows from financing
activities:
Capital infused - 600,000 - - -
Proceeds from (Repayments
to) short-term loans (2,053,785) 1,691,516 3,020,600 (4,108,016) 888,276
Proceeds from long-term bank
loans 4,832,435 - 6,645,321 4,832,961 -
Repayments to long term loans (1,993,380) (2,053,984) (6,403,581) (3,987,193) (1,007,478)
Due to related parties 23,806 263,669 143,763 118,561 1,006,697
Donation received - - 2,892 2,892 -
Dividend paid - - (1,508,125) - (333,894)

Net cash provided by financing
activities 809,076 501,201 1,900,870 (3,140,795) 553,601

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes 956 (2,955) 5,573 488 514,690

Net increase (decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents (1,229,329) 4,443,851 1,941,398 (658,744) 3,696,608

Cash and cash equivalents,
beginning of period 4,078,219 2,848,890 7,292,741 7,292,741 9,234,139

Cash and cash equivalents, end
of period $ 2,848,890 $ 7,292,741 $ 9,234,139 $ 6,633,997 $ 12,930,747

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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GIFTED TIME HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2003, 2004 AND 2005

AND SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005
(Information for the Six Months Ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 is Unaudited)

NOTE 1 ─ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS BACKGROUND

Gifted Time Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was established under the law of British Virgin Island on September
21, 2005 for the purpose to hold investment in the following entities:

·  Beijing HollySys Co., Ltd. (74.11%); and
·  Hangzhou HollySys Automation Co., Ltd. (60% as Beijing HollySys Co., Ltd. holds the remaining 40% interest in
Hangzhou HollySys Automation Co., Ltd.)

Under a reorganization agreement entered on September 20, 2005, the owners accounting for 74.11% interest in
Beijing HollySys and the two owners accounting for 60% interest in Hangzhou HollySys transferred their respective
interest in the above two entities to the Company in exchange for 68.137% and 31.863% interest of the Company,
essentially based on the book value of net assets as of June 30, 2005 transferred by the both parties into the Company.
Consequently, the Company has combined 74.11% net assets of Beijing HollySys and 60% net assets of Hangzhou
HollySys as the total equity interest of the Company as of June 30, 2005.

In accordance with paragraph 11 in SFAS No. 141 and Appendix D, paragraph D14 in SFAS No. 141, this
reorganization transaction was accounted for under carry-over basis as there was a voting together agreement among
the owners of 74.11% interest in Beijing HollySys and a voting together agreement between the two owners of 60%
interest in Hangzhou HollySys. Furthermore, these two executed voting together agreements have given the voting
control to the same individual, who is the founder of Beijing HollySys. Therefore, there is a controls group which has
voting control over both entities.

As a result of exchanging the ownership between the Company and the above two parties, both Beijing HollySys and
Hangzhou HollySys became subsidiaries of the Company and the Company became the reporting entity for financial
reporting purpose. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements of the above two entities became the historical
financial statements of the Company. Prior to June 30, 2005 there were no operating activities in the Company.

Beijing HollySys Co., Ltd. (thereafter HollySys) was established on September 25, 1996 under the laws of People’s
Republic of China with a registered capital of RMB15 million (equivalent of approximately $1.8 million based on the
exchange rate on September 30, 1996) and a 30-year operation life. A Chinese citizen (who is the founder of
HollySys, thereafter “the founder”) infused cash of RMB5 million (equivalent approximately $602,228) and a
state-owned company named Beijing Huake Hi-Tech Co., Ltd. contributed physical assets valued at RMB10 million
(equivalent approximately $1,204,457), which was based on a valuation report rendered by a third-party valuation
service provider.

On March 2, 1998, HollySys increased its registered capital by receiving RMB5 million (equivalent approximately
$603,916), of which RMB4.1 million (equivalent approximately $495,211) was from another Chinese citizen and the
remaining RMB900,000 (equivalent approximately $108,705) was from the founder. Consequently, the state-owned
company accounted for only 50% interest in HollySys.
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GIFTED TIME HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2003, 2004 AND 2005

AND SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005
(Information for the Six Months Ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 is Unaudited)

NOTE 1 ─ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS BACKGROUND (Continued)

On December 25, 1998, the owners of HollySys and three state-owned companies namely Beijing Science and
Technology Venture Co., Ltd., Beijing State-Owned Assets Management Co., Ltd., and Zhongguancun Hi-Tech
Industry Promotion Center entered into a sponsor agreement to convert HollySys into a share-issuing company which
is going to be listed on one of Stock Exchanges in China. During the process of applying for being a listing company,
HollySys received cash infusion of approximately RMB51.78 million (equivalent approximately $6.25 million) from
three state-owned companies. Of the total RMB51.78 million cash infusion, RBM30 million (equivalent
approximately $3.62 million, accounting for 30% interest) from Beijing Science and Technology Venture Co., Ltd.;
RMB20 million (equivalent approximately $2.42 million, accounting for 20% interest) from Beijing State-Owned
Assets Management Co., Ltd.; and the remaining RMB1,777,676 (equivalent approximately $214,734, accounting for
approximately 1.78% interest) from Zhongguancun Hi-Tech Industry Promotion Center.

By infusing cash of approximately RMB51.78 million, three new investors accounted for approximately 51.78 %
interest in HollySys whereas the three original owners, Huake, the founder and another Chinese citizen, accounted for
approximately 24.11%, 14.23%, and 9.88% interest in HollySys. Due to the facts that there was a long waiting list for
approval from China Security Regulatory Commission (CSRC) and that certain business opportunities were no longer
in existence in 1999 and 2000, HollySys ceased its effort to become a listing company in China in 2000.

On January 16, 2004 through the merger and acquisition auction market under Chinese government regulation,
Beijing Science and Technology Venture sold its 30% interest in HollySys to a Chinese citizen who represents two
individual investors in China.

On July 13, 2005 through the merger and acquisition auction market regulated by Chinese government, Beijing
State-Owned Assets Management sold its 20% interest in HollySys to Jinqiaotong Industry Development Co., Ltd.,
which is a privately owned investment company in China and joined in the voting together agreement with the owners
of the 54.11% interest in Beijing HollySys.

During the period from 1999 to 2001 HollySys used the newly infused cash to expand its business scope through
investing in several investee companies that those investee companies have been conducting similar or relevant
businesses except the 5% interest in Zhongjijing Consulting in which the Company is only a passive investor. These
long-term investments were accounted for under either equity method or cost method.

On May 15, 2002, the Board of Directors of HollySys decided to acquire 40% interest in Beijing Haotong Science and
Technology Development Co., Ltd. (thereafter Haotong) which is a privately owned company doing business focused
on railway signal automated control with a 20-year operation life from October 26, 2000 to October 25, 2020, 32%
interest from a private investment company and 8% from an individual investor. The acquisition price was RMB5.72
million (equivalent approximately $691,000) and the acquisition transaction was closed on July 1, 2002. On
December 13, 2002, the Board of HollySys approved the decision to increase HollySys’ interest holding from 40% to
70% for business development consideration and the incremental purchase price was RMB3 million (equivalent
$362,000 based on the exchange rate on December 31, 2002) to purchase additional 30% interest from two individual
investors. The acquisition was closed on December 31, 2002, resulting in an accumulated goodwill of approximately
$449,592. After this acquisition, HollySys consolidated the financial statements of Haotong into its financial
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statements. On June 30, 2003, HollySys determined that the goodwill was impaired based on the estimated cash flow
to be generated by Haotong in the future at that date.
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GIFTED TIME HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2003, 2004 AND 2005

AND SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005
(Information for the Six Months Ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 is Unaudited)

NOTE 1 ─ ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS BACKGROUND (Continued)

On June 3, 2003 the Board of Directors of HollySys decided to expand its presence in Southern China through setting
up a new subsidiary to expand its industrial automation business. The Board found that the proper location was the
capital city of Zhejiang Province, Hangzhou, because the local city government offered very attractive land usage
right and income tax incentive program for HollySys investment decision. On September 24, 2003, a new entity
named Hangzhou HollySys Co., Ltd. was set up with a total registered capital of $5 million and a 50-year operation
life. On November 20, 2003, Hangzhou HollySys received capital of $1 million, of which HollySys accounted for
$400,000, Jingboyuan Automation Co., Ltd., a Chinese company which is related to the founder and another Chinese
investor, accounted for $300,000, and OSCAF Limited, a Cayman Islands based company which is related to one
member of management in HollySys, accounted for the remaining $300,000. On April 16, 2004, Jingboyuan
transferred its 30% interest in Hangzhou HollySys to Team Spirit Industrial Limited, a British Virgin Islands based
company which also is a related party to the other Chinese investor. On March 16, 2005, Hangzhou HollySys declared
dividends distribution of approximately $4.05 million to the above three owners in proportion to their respective
interest holding. In turn, the three owners used proceeds of $4 million from dividends received to send back to
Hangzhou HollySys in order to fulfill the requirement to contribute the total registered capital up to $5 million on
April 14, 2005, which was substantiated by a capital verification report rendered by a CPA firm registered in China.
Based on the concept of substance over form, the dividends distributed and capital of $2.4 million received belonging
to two 60% interest owners in Hangzhou HollySys were deemed non-cash transaction for financial reporting purpose.

HollySys has conducted its business focusing on industrial automation systems which are used in many industries
including power generating, electric grid, computer controlled manufacturing, chemistry, cement, petrochemical, glass
manufacturing, pharmaceutical, etc. and integrated controlling systems including monitoring systems, signal
distributing systems and other controlling systems mainly used in city railway transportation.

NOTE 2 ─ SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation and Base of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. All
significant inter-company transactions and balances are eliminated during the process of consolidation. Investments in
investee companies in which the Company does not have a controlling interest (generally interest holding by the
Company from 20% up to 50%), or for which control is expected to be temporary, are accounted for using the equity
method. The Company’s shares of earnings (losses) of these investee companies are included in the accompanying
consolidated statement of income.
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”).

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
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GIFTED TIME HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2003, 2004 AND 2005

AND SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005
(Information for the Six Months Ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 is Unaudited)

NOTE 2 ─ SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign Currency Translations and Transactions

The Renminbi (“RMB”), the national currency of PRC, is the primary currency of the economic environment in which
the operations of the Company are conducted. The Company uses the United States dollar (“U.S. dollars”) for financial
reporting purposes.

The Company translates assets and liabilities into U.S. dollars using the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance
sheet date, and the consolidated statement of income is translated at average rates during the reporting period.
Adjustments resulting from the translation of financial statements from RMB into U.S. dollars are recorded in
stockholders' equity as part of accumulated comprehensive loss - translation adjustments. Gains or losses resulting
from transactions in currencies other than RMB are reflected in income for the reporting period.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues generated from designing, building, and delivering customized integrated industrial automation systems and
providing relevant solutions are recognized over the contact terms based on the percentage of completion method. The
contracts for designing, building, and delivering customized integrated industrial automation systems are legally
enforceable binding agreements between the Company and customers. Performance of these contracts often will
extend over long periods, and the Company’s right to receive payments depends on its performance in accordance with
these contractual agreements. In accordance with AICPA’s SOP 81-1, “Accounting for Construction Contracts and
Certain Production-Type Contracts,” revenue recognition is based on an estimate of the income earned to date, less
income recognized in earlier periods. Estimates of the degree of completion are based on the costs incurred to date
comparing to the expected total costs for the contracts. Revisions in the estimated profits are made in the period in
which the circumstances requiring the revision become known. Provisions, if any, are made currently for anticipated
loss on the uncompleted contracts. Revenue in excess of billings on the contracts is recorded as unbilled receivables
and included in accounts receivable. Billings in excess of revenues recognized on the contracts are recorded as
deferred revenue until the above revenue recognition criteria are met. Billings are rendered based on agreed
milestones included in the contracts with customers.

Revenue generated from sales of electronic equipments are recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement
exists, delivery of the products has occurred, customer acceptance has been obtained, which means the significant
risks and rewards of the ownership have been transferred to the customer, the price is fixed or determinable and
collectibility is reasonably assured.

Inventories

Inventories are composed of raw materials and low value consumables, work in progress, and finished goods.
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or the market based on weighted average method. The work-in-progress
represents the costs of projects which have been initiated in accordance with specific contracts and have not
completed yet.
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GIFTED TIME HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2003, 2004 AND 2005

AND SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005
(Information for the Six Months Ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 is Unaudited)

NOTE 2 ─ SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Accounts Receivable, Other Receivable and Concentration of Credit Risk

During the normal course of business, the Company extends unsecured credit to its customers. The credit terms of
receivable range in general from 90 to 120 days in line with the terms specified in the contracts. The Company does
not require collateral from its customers. The Company maintains its cash accounts at credit worthy financial
institutions. The components of accounts receivable were as follows:

June 30, December 31,
2004 2005 2005

(Unaudited)
Billed accounts receivable $ 15,733,934 $ 26,884,479 $ 27,829,718
Unbilled account receivable 15,882,499 24,120,987 28,737,809

$ 31,616,433 $ 51,005,466 $ 56,567,527

The Company regularly evaluates and monitors the creditworthiness of each customer on a case-by-case basis. At the
end of each period, allowance for doubtful accounts of billed accounts receivable has been accrued in accordance with
age analysis method.

The Company includes any accounts balances that are determined to be uncollectible, in the allowance for doubtful
accounts. After all attempts to collect a receivable have failed, the receivable is written off against the allowance.
Based on the information available to management, the Company believes that its allowance for doubtful accounts as
of June 30, 2003, 2004 and 2005 were adequate, respectively. However, actual write-off might exceed the recorded
allowance.

The following table presents allowance activities in accounts receivable.

June 30, December 31,
2004 2005 2005

(Unaudited)
Beginning balance $ 799,977 $ 1,113,084 $ 1,461,645
Additions charged to expense 313,107 460,926 217,920
Recovery - (112,365) (112,606)

Ending balance $ 1,113,084 $ 1,461,645 $ 1,566,959

Other receivables include deposits required by the contract bidding service providers for every contract the Company
has bided for. Contract bidding service providers will deduct a portion of deposit as service fees if the Company wins
a contract and the remaining balance will be returned to the Company after the bidding process completes. If the
Company does not win a contract, the deposit will be returned in full amount to the Company after the bidding process
completes. Other receivables also include shipping freight paid on behalf of customers which was not presented on
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invoices issued by the Company for revenue recognition purpose. The Company assesses relevant collection
possibility on a regular basis and provides corresponding allowance for doubtful accounts.
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GIFTED TIME HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2003, 2004 AND 2005

AND SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005
(Information for the Six Months Ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 is Unaudited)

NOTE 2 ─ SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The following table presents allowance activities in other receivables.

June 30, December 31,
2004 2005 2005

(Unaudited)
Beginning balance $ 56,473 $ 107,400 $ 139,924
Additions charged to expense 50,927 32,524 -
Recovery - - (2,060)

Ending balance $ 107,400 $ 139,924 $ 137,864

Property and Equipment

Properties and equipment are recorded at cost and are stated net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation expense is
determined using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Land use right 49 years
Buildings 30 years
Machinery 5 years
Software 5 years
Vehicles and other equipment 5 years

Maintenance and repairs are charged directly to expense as incurred, whereas betterment and renewals are generally
capitalized in their respective property accounts. When an item is retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and
applicable accumulated depreciation are removed and the resulting gain or loss is recognized and reflected as an item
before operating income (loss).

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company adopts the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS No.144”). SFAS No.144 requires that long-lived assets be
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset
may not be recoverable through the estimated undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual
disposition of the assets. Whenever any such impairment exists, an impairment loss will be recognized for the amount
by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value. There was impairment of long-lived assets of $621,893 (including
impairment loss of $449,592 related to the goodwill resulting from purchasing 70% interest in Haotong and
impairment loss of $172,301 related to one investee company under either equity method), $139,937 (impairment loss
of $45,700 and $94,237, respectively, related to the long-term investments in two investee companies), and $0 for the
years ended June 30, 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively. There was no impairment loss of long-lived assets in the six
months ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively.
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GIFTED TIME HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2003, 2004 AND 2005

AND SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005
(Information for the Six Months Ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 is Unaudited)

NOTE 2 ─ SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Long-Term Investments

The Company accounted for its long-term investments under either equity method or cost method in accordance with
equity interest holding percentage.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amount of cash, accounts receivable, other receivables, advance to vendor, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities are reasonable estimates of their fair value because of the short maturity of these items. The fair value of
amount due to related parties and stockholders are reasonable estimates of their fair value as the amount will be
collected and paid off in a period less than one year.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising from consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of subsidiary or associate at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is not
amortized and is tested for impairment at least annually.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109,
“Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS No. 109”). SFAS No. 109 requires an entity to recognize deferred tax liabilities
and assets. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequence attributable to the
difference between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rate expected to apply to taxable income in the
years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets
and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that included the enactment date.

HollySys is registered in a high-tech zone located in Beijing and has been deemed as a high-tech company by Beijing
Commission of Science and Technology. According to the preferential regulations specified by State Council,
HollySys had entitled to be subject to a favorable income tax rate at 15% comparing to a statutory income tax rate of
33% (30% for the central government and 3% for the local government) under the current tax laws of PRC. Under the
favorable 15% of corporate income tax rate, HollySys had received a 100% exemption of income tax for three years
(from October 1, 1996 to September 30, 1999) and a 50% exemption of corporate income tax for three years (from
October 1, 1999 to September 30, 2002). Effective October 1, 2002 HollySys has been subject to a corporate income
tax rate at 15%.

Beijing HollySys Haotong (Haotong) is registered in a high-tech zone located Beijing and has been deemed as a
high-tech company by Beijing Commission of Science and Technology. According to the preferential regulations
specified by State Council, Haotong had entitled to be subject to a favorable income tax rate at 15%. Under the
favorable 15% of corporate income tax rate Haotong received a 100% exemption of income tax for three years from
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January 1, 2001 to December 31, 2003 and a 50% exemption of income tax for three years from January 1, 2004 to
December 31, 2006.
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GIFTED TIME HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2003, 2004 AND 2005

AND SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005
(Information for the Six Months Ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 is Unaudited)

NOTE 2 ─ SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Hangzhou HollySys is registered as foreign investment enterprise conducting production function. Under the
provisional regulations, Hangzhou HollySys has entitled to receive 6% reduction from 30% income tax rate belonging
to the central government and 0.6% from 3% income tax belonging to local government. Accordingly, the applicable
income tax should be 26.4%. In accordance with the foreign investment enterprise income tax law, Hangzhou
HollySys has entitled to receive a 100% exemption of income tax for two years and a 50% exemption of income tax
for the next three years since the first year Hangzhou HollySys has generated a taxable income on a continuing basis.
During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2004 and 2005, Hangzhou HollySys was still under 100% exemption status.

Value Added Tax

All of subsidiaries of the Company are subject to value added tax (VAT) imposed by PRC government on its domestic
product sales. The output VAT is charged to customers who purchase goods from the Company and the input VAT is
paid when the Company purchases goods from its vendors. VAT rate is 17%, in general, depending on the types of
product purchased and sold. The input VAT can be offset against the output VAT. VAT payable or receivable balance
presented on the Company’s balance sheets represents either the input VAT less than or larger than the output VAT.
The debit balance represents a credit against future collection of output VAT instead of a receivable.

Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Gross research and development expense for new product
development and improvements of existing products by the Company incurred for the fiscal years ended June 30,
2003, 2004 and 2005 were $1,245,231, $1,947,538 and $1,714,809, respectively. The research and development
expense for the six months ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 were $542,189 and $877,373. After offsetting against
the government subsidies, which were specified for supporting research and development effort via value added tax
refund, the net research and development expenses for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2003, 2004 and 2005 were
$346,243, $383,059 and $202,344, respectively. After offsetting against the government subsidies, the research and
development expense for the six months ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 were $0 and $0.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ materially from those
estimates.

Appropriations to Statutory Reserve

Under the corporate law and relevant regulations in China, all of subsidiaries of the Company located in China are
required to appropriate a portion of its retained earnings to statutory reserve. All subsidiaries are required to
appropriate 10% of its annual after-tax income each year to statutory reserve until the statutory reserve balance
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reaches 50% of the registered capital. In general, the statutory reserve shall not be used for dividend distribution
purpose.
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GIFTED TIME HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2003, 2004 AND 2005

AND SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005
(Information for the Six Months Ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 is Unaudited)

NOTE 2 ─ SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income”
(“SFAS No. 130”), issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”). SFAS No. 130 establishes standards
for reporting and presentation of comprehensive income (loss) and its components in a full set of general-purpose
financial statements. The Company has chosen to report comprehensive income (loss) in the statements of income and
comprehensive income. Comprehensive income (loss) is comprised of net income and all changes to stockholders’
equity except those due to investments by owners and distributions to owners.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Accounting Standards No. 151, “Inventory Costs, A Amendment of
ARB No. 43, Chapter 4” (SFAS No. 151). SFAS No. 151 eliminates the “so abnormal” criterion in ARB No. 43
“Inventory Pricing.” SFAS No. 151 no longer permits a company to capitalize inventory costs on their balance sheets
when the production defect rate varies significantly from the expected rate. SFAS No. 151 reduces the differences
between U.S. and international accounting standards. SFAS No. 151 is effective for inventory costs incurred during
annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company does not believe that this pronouncement will have a
material effect on the Company’s financial position and net income.

In December 2004, the FASB issued the Statement of Financial Account Standards No. 153, “Exchange of
Nonmonetary Assets, An Amendment of APB Opinion No. 29” (SFAS No. 153). SFAS No 153 addresses the
measurement of exchanges of nonmonetary assets. SFAS No. 153 eliminates the exception from fair value
measurement for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets in paragraph 21(b) of APB Opinion No. 29,
Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions, and replaces it with an exception for exchanges that do not have
commercial substance. SFAS No. 153 specifies that a nonmonetary exchange has commercial substance if the future
cash flows of the entity are expected to change significantly as a result of the exchange.

The provisions of SFAS No. 153 shall be effective for nonmonetary asset exchanges occurring in fiscal periods
beginning after June 15, 2005. Earlier application is permitted for nonmonetary asset exchanges occurring in fiscal
periods beginning after the date this Statement is issued. The provisions of this Statement shall be applied
prospectively. The Company does not believe that this pronouncement will have a material effect on the Company’s
financial position and net income.

In May 2005, the FASB issued Statement No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, a replacement of APB
Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes, and Statement No. 3, Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial
Statements.” (SFAS No. 154). SFAS No. 154 changes the requirements for the accounting for, and reporting of, a
change in accounting principle. Previously, most voluntary changes in accounting principles were required to be
recognized by way of a cumulative effect adjustment within net income during the period of the change. SFAS
No. 154 generally requires retrospective application to the prior period financial statements of voluntary changes in
accounting principles. SFAS No. 154 is effective for accounting changes made in fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2005. However, SFAS No. 154 does not change the transition provisions of any existing
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GIFTED TIME HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2003, 2004 AND 2005

AND SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005
(Information for the Six Months Ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 is Unaudited)

NOTE 2 ─ SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

accounting pronouncements. The Company does not believe that the adoption of SFAS No. 154 will have a material
effect on its results of operations or financial condition.

NOTE 3 ─ INVENTORIES

 June 30 December 31,
 2004 2005 2005

(Unaudited)
Raw materials $ 2,414,098 $ 2,799,849 $ 3,137,741
Work in progress 3,059,501 943,574 1,098,326
Finished goods 4,136,110 4,690,852 3,593,375
Low value consumables 12,552 13,891 14,517
Provision (420,299)

$ 9,622,261 $ 8,448,166 $ 7,423,660

NOTE 4 ─ PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

A summary of property and equipment at cost is as follows:

June 30, December 31,
2004 2005 2005

(Unaudited)
Land use right $ 697,594 $ 697,603 $ 715,435
Buildings 5,190,563 5,190,628 12,712,377
Machinery 1,253,417 1,432,699 1,786,587
Electronic equipment 1,603,374 1,927,300 2,187,760
Software 282,256 303,908 387,094
Motor vehicles 394,838 469,939 615,097
Office furniture 222,522 217,162 153,691
Other equipment 146,386 175,848 174,377
Construction in progress 1,368,305 6,190,432 1,810,283

11,159,255 16,605,519 20,542,701

Accumulated depreciation (2,080,848) (2,701,257) (3,046,947)

$ 9,078,407 $ 13,904,262 $ 17,495,754

The depreciation and amortization for the years ended June 30, 2003, 2004 and 2005 was $687,793, $921,204 and
$820,863, respectively. Depreciation and amortization for the six months ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 were
$603,074, and $651,442, respectively.
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GIFTED TIME HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2003, 2004 AND 2005

AND SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005
(Information for the Six Months Ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 is Unaudited)

NOTE 5 ─ LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

The investments in the following several limited liability companies were accounted for under either equity method or
cost method. Regarding investment in HollySys Zhonghao, the Company accounted for it under equity method even
though its interest holding was more than 50% as the investee company has been winding down its business since
early fiscal 2003 and the assets to be consolidated would be minimal. It is management’s expectation that it will be
dissolved in the near future. The following information summarized the long-term investments at June 30, 2004 and
2005 and December 31, 2005.

June 30, 2004 Interest Held

 Long-term
Investment
At Cost

Equity in
Investee
Company

 Advance to
Investee
Company Subtotal

Equity Method
HollySys Information Technology 40%$ 1,744,395 $ (30,638) $ 74,563 $ 1,788,320
HollySys Electric Machinery 40% 639,893 203,444 - 843,337
New Huake Electric Tech 37.5% 181,234 (11,943) - 169,291
HollySys Zhonghao Automation
Engineering 89.11% 39,459 84,711 - 124,170

Subtotal 2,604,981 245,574 74,563 2,925,118

Cost Method
HollySys Communication Equipment 11% 132,905 - - 132,905
Zhongjijing Investment Consulting 5% 362,468 - - 362,468

Total $ 3,100,354 $ 245,574 $ 74,563 $ 3,420,491

June 30, 2005 Interest Held

 Long-term
Investment
At Cost

Equity in
Investee
Company

Advance to
Investee
Company Subtotal

Equity Method
HollySys Information Technology 40%$ 1,771,222 $ 4,721 $ 203,271 $ 1,979,214
HollySys Electric Machinery 40% 639,901 318,991 48,330 1,007,222
New Huake Electric Tech 37.5% 181,236 9,390 48,330 238,956
HollySys Zhonghao Automation
Engineering 89.11% 32,614 60,789 - 93,403

Subtotal 2,624,973 393,891 299,931 3,318,795

Cost Method
Zhongjijing Investment Consulting 5% 362,472 - - 362,472

Total $ 2,987,445 $ 393,891 $ 299,931 $ 3,681,267

During fiscal 2005, HollySys disposed one of its investments listed above and accounted for under cost method and
received proceeds approximately $144,986 with a disposal gain of approximately $12,100. On March 26, 2005,
HollySys received cash of 187, 209 from the liquidation committee of Beijing Dongfang Jinhe Environmental
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Technology Co., Ltd., where HollySys accounted for 30% interest and investment was fully reserved at June 30, 2002.
The proceeds were recorded as part of investment income for fiscal 2005.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2003, 2004 AND 2005

AND SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005
(Information for the Six Months Ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 is Unaudited)

NOTE 5 ─ LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS (Continued)

December 31, 2005 Interest Held

 Long-term
Investment
at Cost

Equity in
Investee
Company

Advance to
Investee
Company Subtotal

 (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Equity Method
HollySys Information Technology 40%$ 1,830,245 $ 98,815 $ - $ 1,929,060
HollySys Electric Machinery 40% 656,259 617,805 49,565 1,323,629
New Huake Electric Tech 37.5% 185,869 40,207 49,565 275,641
HollySys Zhonghao Automation
Engineering 89.11% 111,522 3,892 - 115,414
Beijing Techenergy Co., Ltd. 50% 1,239,127 - 7,647 1,239,127

Subtotal $ 4,023,022 $ 760,719 $ 106,777 $ 4,890,518

Cost Method
Zhongjijing Investment Consulting 5% 371,738 - - 371,738
Beijing HollySys Equipment
Technology Co., Ltd. 20% 49,563 - - 49,563

Total $ 4,444,323 $ 760,719 $ 106,777 $ 5,311,819

NOTE 6 ─ WARRANTY LIABILITY

June 30,  December 31,
2004  2005  2005

 (Unaudited)
Beginning balance $ 492,275 $ 881,052 $ 1,594,215
Expense accrued 710,549 1,708,767 983,606
Expense incurred (321,772) (995,604) (1,061,864)

Ending balance $ 881,052 $ 1,594,215 $ 1,515,957
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GIFTED TIME HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2003, 2004 AND 2005

AND SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005
(Information for the Six Months Ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 is Unaudited)

NOTE 7 ─ SHORT-TERM BANK LOANS

At June 30, 2004 and 2005, the Company’s short-term bank borrowings consisted of revolving bank loans of
$6,282,773 (of which approximately $6,041,128 located in HollySys and the remaining balance located in Haotong)
and $8,699,329 (of which $6,041,201 located in HollySys, $2,416,480 located in Hangzhou HollySys and the
remaining balance located in Haotong) from several banks, respectively. At December 31, 2005, the Company’s
short-term bank loan borrowing was $12,019,528, of which $4,956,506 located in HollySys, $7,063,022 located in
Hangzhou HollySys. All these short-term bank loans (maturing from six months to one year) had fixed interest rates
with interest rates ranging from 5.22% to 5.76% per annum. However, when these short-term bank loans were
renewed, the interest rates were subject to change based on the notice from the People’s Bank of China, the central
bank of China. Most of the short-term bank loans were guaranteed by the Company related parties and third parties
and one bank loan of $2,416,480 at June 30, 2005 and $2,478,253 at December 31, 2005 in Hangzhou HollySys was
collateralized by its plant and property. The proceeds from these short-term bank loans were used for working capital
financing purpose.

At June 30, 2004 and 2005, there was a bank loan of $1,812,338 and $2,416,480 payable to a commercial bank which
served as a trustee appointed by a related party (that is an investee company named HollySys Information Technology
in which HollySys holds 40% interest). At December 31, 2005, the outstanding balance was $2,478,253. This loan had
interest rate of 5.31%, 5.76%, and 5.76% at June 30, 2004 and 2005 and at December 31, 2005, which is the same
market rate charged by that commercial bank for the loans lent with similar terms.
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GIFTED TIME HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2003, 2004 AND 2005

AND SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005
(Information for the Six Months Ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 is Unaudited)

NOTE 8 ─ LONG-TERM LOANS

June 30, December 31,
2004 2005 2005

(Unaudited)
RMB-denominated loan (RMB24 million) from
Industry and Commercial Bank of China, maturing on
December 26, 2005, bearing interest at 5.58% per
annum, guaranteed by China Electronic Information
Industry Group Co., Ltd. $ 2,416,451 $ 1,208,240 $ -

RMB-denominated loan (RMB20 million) from
Minsheng Bank of China, maturing on May 10, 2005,
bearing interest at 5.49% per annum, guaranteed by
Beijing International Trust and Investment Co., Ltd. 2,416,451 - -

RMB-denominated loan (RMB40 million) from
Beijing Bank, maturing on November 8, 2005, bearing
interest at 5.49% per annum, guaranteed by: Beijing
Zhongguancun Science Technology Guaranty Co.,
Ltd. And HollySys pledged its accounts receivable to
Zhongguancun Science Technology Guaranty Co.,
Ltd. As collateral. 2,778,919 - -

RMB-denominated loan (RMB40 million) from
Beijing Bank, maturing on July 15, 2007, bearing
interest at 5.49% per annum, guaranteed by Beijing
Zhongguancun Science Technology Guaranty Co.,
Ltd. - 1,812,360 1,858,690

RMB-denominated loan (RMB40 million) from
CITIC Trust & Investment Co., Ltd., maturing January
21, 2007, bearing interest at 7.002% per annum,
guaranteed by Beijing Zhongguancun Science
Technology Guaranty Co., Ltd. and HollySys pledged
a portion of its property located in Beijing to
Zhongguancun Science Technology Guaranty Co.,
Ltd. As collateral. - 4,832,961 4,956,507

Current portion (2,416,451) (1,208,240) -

$ 5,195,370 $ 6,645,321 $ 6,815,197
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GIFTED TIME HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2003, 2004 AND 2005

AND SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005
(Information for the Six Months Ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 is Unaudited)

NOTE 9 ─ INCOME TAXES

The income generated by the Company before income taxes in years ended at 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively, were
as follows:

Years Ended June 30,
2003 2004 2005

HollySys 3,940,553 3,920,001 4,186,152
Beijing HollySys Haotong (426,519) (48,749) 310,763
Hangzhou HollySys - 2,853,335 11,974,623

Total $ 3,514,034 $ 6,724,587 $ 16,471,538

The income tax provision was as follows:
Years Ended June 30,

2003 2004 2005
Income taxes:
Current $ 634,037 $ 887,455 $ 340,257
Deferred 2,779 60,313 61,211

$ 636,816 $ 947,768 $ 401,468

The difference between the effective income tax rate and the expected statutory rate was as follows:

Years Ended June 30,
2003 2004 2005

Statutory rate 33.0% 33.0% 33.0%
Income tax rate reduction (13.8) (14.9) (24.1)
Permanent difference (1.2) (4.1) (6.9)

Effective income tax rate 18.0% 14.0% 2.0%

The temporary differences that have given rise to the deferred tax liabilities consist of the following:

June 30,  December 31,
2004  2005  2005

 (Unaudited)
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 177,058 $ 211,481 $ 229,735
Inventory provision - - 25,218
Deferred revenue 359,937 216,211 447,400
Unamortized goodwill 57,327 50,583 51,876
Unamortized deferred expenses 19,177 12,785 13,112
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Warranty liabilities 91,199 92,310 155,670
Inventory cost adjustment 18,610 16,005 16,414
Unbilled accounts receivable (740,851) (678,129) (1,001,114)

Net deferred tax liabilities $ (17,543) $ (78,754) $ (61,689)
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AND SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005
(Information for the Six Months Ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 is Unaudited)

NOTE 10 ─ RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related Party Relationships

Name of Related Parties
Relationship with the

Company
HollySys Zhonghao Automation Engineering Technology Co., Ltd. (a China based
entity)

89.11% owned
by HollySys

HollySys information Technology Co., Ltd. (a China based entity)
40% owned by
HollySys

New Huake Electronic Technology Co., Ltd. (a China based entity)
37.5% owned by
HollySys

Shenzhen HollySys Automation Engineering Co., Ltd. (a China based entity with a
full reverse for impairment)

52% owned by
HollySys

Beijing Techenergy Co., Ltd.
50ûowned by
HollySys

HollySys Electric Tech Co., Ltd (a China based entity)
40% owned by
HollySys

HollySys Equipment Technology Co., Ltd. (a China based entity)
20% owned by
HollySys

Zhongjijing Investment & Consulting Co., Ltd. (a China based entity)
5% owned by
HollySys

Sixth Institute of Information Industry
One of owners in
HollySys

Shanghai Jinqiaotong Industrial Development Co., Ltd. (a China based entity)
One of owners in
HollySys

Leasing from Related Parties

HollySys entered into a lease agreement with HollySys Information Technology to lease office space. The lease
agreement is renewable on an annual basis. The basic rental price has ranged from RMB1.4 or RMB1.5 per square per
day during the past five years. The total rental per year depends on the total square meters leased. The total rental
expense for the years ended June 30, 2003, 2004 and 2005 was $107,178, $115,688, and $56,503, respectively. The
rental expense for the six months ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 was $28,251 and $22,736, respectively.

The Company’s management believed that the collection of due from related parties were reasonably assured and
accordingly, no provision had been made for these balances of due from related parties.

Due to Related Parties

June 30 December 31,
2004 2005 2005

(Unaudited)
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Hangzhou HollySys System Engineering Co., Ltd. $ 53,603 $ 80,862 $ -
HollySys Zhonghao Automation Engineering
Technology Co., Ltd. 138,879 200,767 210,243
Sixth Institute of Information Industry 108,439 163,055 138,006
Shenzhen HollySys Automation Engineering Co., Ltd. 12,082 12,082 -
Shanghai Jinqiaotong Industrial Development Co.,
Ltd. - - 1,115,214

$ 313,003 $ 456,766 $ 1,463,463

FII-22

Edgar Filing: GRILLO ANTHONY - Form 4

Explanation of Responses: 86



GIFTED TIME HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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AND SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005
(Information for the Six Months Ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 is Unaudited)

NOTE 10 ─ RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Shenzhen HollySys Automation Engineering Co., Ltd. is under the process of liquidation in accordance with Chinese
laws. The draft liquidation report is under way. Hangzhou HollySys Systems Engineering Co., Ltd. is under the
process of liquidation. The estimated date for liquidation report will be June 30, 2006. HollySys has been collecting
all accounts receivable on behalf of HollySys Zhonghao as the investee company did not have any employees since
early 2004 and its liquidation application is under the process after all collection work has been done. All the above
amounts due to relate parties are due on demand.

During the six months ended December 31, 2005, one of investors in HollySys intended to acquire additional 20%
interest in Hangzhou HollySys for a consideration of RMB35.7 million and made an advance of RMB9 million
(equivalent of approximately $1.12 million) to HollySys. However, this transaction did not consummate during the
six-month period as the investor was unable to come up with adequate cash for the remaining balance of
consideration. The advance would be returned to the investor in the first quarter of calendar year 2006.

NOTE 11 ─ EQUITY TRASNACTIONS

On November 20, 2003, two foreign investors infused their capital of $300,000 each, totaling $600,000, into
Hangzhou HollySys to account for 60% interest together.

During fiscal 2005, one of investee companies, HollySys Electric Machinery, received donation of approximately
$30,772 in which HollySys accounted for 40% interest. Accordingly, HollySys recorded additional capital $12,309
and treated it as a non-cash transaction for cash flow statement purpose. Because only 74.11% interest of HollySys
was transferred into the Company, therefore, there was $9,123 recognized as addition to additional paid-in capital in
fiscal 2005 for the Company reporting purpose.

Also during fiscal 2005, Hangzhou HollySys received cash donation of $2,892 of which the owners of 60% interest in
Hangzhou claimed for $1,753 and the owners of 74.11% interest in HollySys claimed for $857, totaling $2,592. As
long as their interest transferred to the Company, $2,592 was accounted for part of additional paid-in capital.

During the six months ended December 31, 2005, Hangzhou HollySys received two computers from one vendor as a
donation totaling $6,171. Of the $6,171, the owners of 60% interest in Hangzhou HollySys claimed for $3,702 and
accounted it for additional paid-in capital. In the meantime, being 40% owner in Hangzhou HollySys, the owners of
74.11% interest in Beijing HollySys also claimed for $1,830 and accounted it for additional paid-in capital. As long as
their interest transferred to the Company, the total of $5,532 was accounted for part of additional paid-in capital.

FII-23

Edgar Filing: GRILLO ANTHONY - Form 4

Explanation of Responses: 87



GIFTED TIME HOLDINGS LIMITED
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AND SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005
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NOTE 12 ─ GOVERNMENT SUBSIDIES

The local government in Beijing and Hangzhou provided subsidies sourcing from value added tax collected to
encourage Beijing HollySys’, Haotong’s and Hangzhou HollySys’ research and development effort and other subsidies
to Beijing HollySys for enterprise development purpose. Especially, in the early fiscal 2005 the local government in
Beijing provided specified subsidies to offset interest expenses to encourage Beijing HollySys's research and
development effort. All subsidies were accounted for based on the hard evidence that the respective entity should be
entitled to receive these subsidies or that cash has been received. Subsidies recognized for supporting research and
development effort was first offset against the relevant entity’s research and development expense. The remaining
balance of specified subsidies, if any, together with other subsidies, was recognized as other income in accordance
with internationally prevailing practice. Government subsidies recognized by the respective entity were summarized
as follows:

Years Ended June 30,   December 31,
2003 2004 2005 2004 2005

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Subsidies received: $ 1,115,584 $ 1,398,360 $ 1,662,261 $ 1,535,400 $  1,255,008
R & D expenses
offset (480,972) (1,395,578) (67,262) (118,491) (395,544)

HollySys Interest expenses
offset - - (241,648) (241,648) -
Subsidies income 634,612 2,782 1,353,351 1,175,261 859,464

Hangzhou Subsidies received: - 115,914 1,825,287 1,035,299  2,339,694

 HollySys R & D expensesoffset - (115,914) (885,758) (386,388) (481,828)
Subsidies income - - 939,529 648,911 1,857,856

Subsidies received: - 52,993 62,082 37,310 19,708

Haotong R & D expenses
offset - (52,993) (62,082) (37,310) -
Subsidies income - - - - 19,708

Subsidies received: 1,115,584 1,567,267 3,549,630 2,608,009 3,614,400

Total R & D expenses
offset (480,972) (1,564,485) (1,015,102) (542,189) (877,372)
Interest expenses
offset - - (241,648) (241,648) -
Subsidies income 634,612 2,782 2,292,880 1,824,172 2,737,028

NOTE 13 ─ SUPPLEMENTORY INFORMATION ABOUT CASH FLOWS

Cash Paid Years Ended June 30,
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Six Months Ended December
31,

2003 2004 2005 2004 2005
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Interest $ 921,672 $ 867,621 $ 991,880 $ 263,113 $ 930,302
Income tax 65,768 184,976 1,311,003 304,565 274,444

$ 987,440 $ 1,052,597 $ 2,302,883 $ 567,678 $ 1,204,746
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NOTE 13 ─ SUPPLEMENTORY INFORMATION ABOUT CASH FLOWS (Continued)

Non-cash transactions Years Ended June 30,
Six Months Ended
December 31,

2003 2004 2005 2004 2005
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Additional paid-in capital $ 3,032 $ 301 $ 9,123 - $ 9,924
Minority interest $ 1,059 $ 105 $ 3,186 - $ 3,467
Accounts payable $ (4,091) $ (406) $ - $ (13,391)
Long-term investment - - $ 12,309 - -
Paid-in capital - - $ 2,400,000 - -
Retained earning - - $ (2,400,000) - -
Additional paid-in capital - - - - $ 5,532
Minority interest $ 639
Electronic equipment - - - - $ 6,171
NOTE 14 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 2, 2006, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement with Chardan North China Acquisition
Corporation ("CNCAC") pursuant to which CNCAC will acquire 100% interest of Gifted Time Holdings Limited.

For the acquisition, CNCAC will form its own wholly-owned subsidiary under the laws of the British Virgin Islands,
under the name HLS Systems International Limited ("HLS"). At the time of the closing, CNCAC will merge with and
into HLS for the purpose of redomestication out of the United States to secure future tax benefits. This
redomestication merger will be achieved by a one-for-one exchange of all the outstanding common stock of CNCAC
for common stock of HLS and the assumption of all the rights and obligations of CNCAC by HLS, including
assumption of the outstanding warrants of CNCAC on the same terms as they currently exist. Concurrent with the
redomestication merger, HLS will acquire all the common stock of HollySys Holdings by the issuance of shares and
payment of cash consideration as described below, making it a wholly owned subsidiary of HLS.

The current management of the Company will continue to run the operations in China. Dr. Wang Changli, the founder
of HollySys and CEO of the Company, will be CEO of HLS.

The board of directors of HLS will initially consist of nine persons, of whom three members will be designated by
HollySys stockholders, one member will be designated by the board of directors of CNCAC and five members will be
independent directors. Madam Qiao Li, the current Chairperson of Beijing HollySys, will become the Chairperson of
HLS, and Dr. Wang will be one of the initial directors. Kerry S. Propper, a current director and executive officer of
CNCAC, also will become a director of HLS. At least five of the other six members of the HLS board of directors will
satisfy the independence requirements of Nasdaq. Consideration will be given in selection of directors to meeting the
requirements of Sarbanes-Oxley and Nasdaq listing requirements.
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NOTE 14 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Continued)

The consideration of acquiring 100% interest of the Company will be cash of $30 million and 23,500,000 shares of
HLS’ common stock. Of the $30 million cash consideration, up to $27 million will be payable at closing. In the event
that some of CNCAC’s shareholders exercise their redemption rights, but not enough to result in disapproval of the
transaction, the amount to be paid at closing might fall to as low as $23 million. The balance between the $30 million
owed and the amount actually paid at closing will be paid out on the basis of 50% of positive cash flow of HLS, with
respect to any fiscal year following the closing, based on HLS’ US GAAP audited financial statement, or in the event
that HLS raises not less than $60 million in equity through either the exercise of the warrants or by any other means.
The 23.5 million shares of HLS will represent not less than 77% of total outstanding shares. If all of the existing
shareholders of Chardan North China Acquisition exercise their warrants and no shareholder redeems his or her shares
into cash, then the 23.5 million shares to be issued to the shareholders of HollySys Holdings will represent no less
than 54.9% of the outstanding shares of HLS.

As additional purchase price, the shareholder of the Company and their designees will be issued, on an all or none
basis per year, an aggregate of 8,000,000 shares of common stock of HLS (2,000,000 each year), if on a consolidated
basis, HLS has after-tax profits in the following amounts for the indicated 12-month periods ending June 30:

Year
ending
June 30,
After
Tax
Profit
2007 $ 23,000,000
2008 $ 32,000,000
2009 $ 43,000,000
2010 $ 61,000,000

Whether or not HLS has hit the after-tax profit target in any year will be determined by the Company's audit based on
US GAAP, adjusted to exclude after-tax operating profits from any subsequent acquisition for securities that have a
dilutive effect and any charge to earnings that results from the issuance of such shares for a prior year.

The transaction is expected to be consummated before the end of fiscal 2006 of the Company, provided the
stockholders of CNCAC approve this contemplated transaction.
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PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 20. Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Section 132 of the BVI Business Companies Act (“BCA”) generally provides for indemnification and permits a
company to obtain insurance. The Memorandum of Association of the Registrant follows the statute. The Registrant
intends to obtain director and officer insurance at the consummation of the acquisition of the HollySys companies.

The following is a statement of Section 132 of the BCA, as amended by Section 67 of the BCA Amendment Act:

Indemnification.

(1) Subject to subsection (2) and its memorandum or articles, a company may indemnify against all expenses,
including legal fees, and against all judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement and reasonably incurred in
connection with legal, administrative or investigative proceedings any person who

(a) is or was a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed proceedings, whether
civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, by reason of the fact that the person is or was a director of the
company; or

(b) is or was, at the request of the company, serving as a director of, or in any other capacity is or was acting for,
another body corporate or a partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise.

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply to a person referred to in that subsection unless the person acted honestly and in
good faith and in what he believed to be in the best interests of the company and, in the case of criminal proceedings,
the person had no reasonable cause to believe that his conduct was unlawful.

(2A) For the purposes of subsection (2), a director acts in the best interests of the company if he acts in the best
interests of:

(a) the company's holding company; or

(b) a shareholder or shareholders of the company;

in either case, in the circumstances specified in section 120(2), (3) or (4), as the case may be;

(3) The termination of any proceedings by any judgment, order, settlement, conviction or the entering of a nolle
prosequi does not, by itself, create a presumption that the person did not act honestly and in good faith and with a
view to the best interests of the company or that the person had reasonable cause to believe that his conduct was
unlawful.

(3A) Expenses, including legal fees, incurred by a director in defending any legal, administrative or investigative
proceedings may be paid by the company in advance of the final disposition of such proceedings upon receipt of an
undertaking by or on behalf of the director to repay the amount if it shall ultimately be determined that the director is
not entitled to be indemnified by the company in accordance with subsection (1).

(3B) Expenses, including legal fees, incurred by a former director in defending any legal, administrative or
investigative proceedings may be paid by the company in advance of the final disposition of such proceedings upon
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receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the former director to repay the amount if it shall ultimately be determined
that the former director is not entitled to be indemnified by the company in accordance with subsection (1) and upon
such other terms and conditions, if any, as the company deems appropriate.

(3C) The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by, or granted pursuant to, this section is not
exclusive of any other rights to which the person seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses may be entitled
under any agreement, resolution of members, resolution of disinterested directors or otherwise, both as to acting in the
person's official capacity and as to acting in another capacity while serving as a director of the company; and
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(4) If a person referred to in subsection (1) has been successful in defense of any proceedings referred to in subsection
(1), the person is entitled to be indemnified against all expenses, including legal fees, and against all judgments, fines
and amounts paid in settlement and reasonably incurred by the person in connection with the proceedings.

(5) A company shall not indemnify a person in breach of subsection (2) and, any indemnity given in breach of that
section is void and of no effect.

The following is a statement of Section 133 of the BCA, as amended by Section 68 of the BCA Amendment Act:

Insurance.

A company may purchase and maintain insurance in relation to any person, who is or was a director of the company,
or who at the request of the company is or was serving as a director of, or in any other capacity is or was acting for,
another body corporate or a partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against any liability asserted against
the person and incurred by the person in that capacity, whether or not the company has or would have had the power
to indemnify the person against the liability under section 132.
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Item 21. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Exhibit  Description

2.1 Stock Purchase Agreement (Included in Annex A of the proxy statement/prospectus)(1)

2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger between Chardan North China Acquisition Corporation and Registrant

3.1 Memorandum of Association of Registrant (Included in Annex B of the proxy statement/prospectus)

3.2 Articles of Association of Registrant (Included in Annex C of the proxy statement/prospectus)

4.1Form of Unit Purchase Option (Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement 333-125016, Exhibit 4.4)

4.2Form of Warrant Agreement between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company and Chardan North China
Acquisition Corp. (Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement 333-125016, Exhibit 4.5)

5.1 Opinion of Maples &Calder*

8.1 Tax Opinion of DLA Piper Rudnick Gray Cary US LLP

10.1Chardan North China Acquisition Corporation 2006 Equity Plan (Included in Annex D of the proxy
statement/prospectus)

10.2 Form of Stock Consignment Agreement

10.3 Form of Employment Agreement

10.4Registration Rights Agreement (Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement 333-125016, Exhibit
10.11)

10.5 Opinion re Consignment Agreements of Guantao Law Firm

23.1 Consent of Goldstein Golub Kessler LLP

23.2 Consent of BDO Reanda Certified Public Accountants Ltd.

23.3 Consent of Maples & Calder (included in Exhibit 5.1)

23.4 Consent of Guantao Law Firm (included in Exhibit 10.5)

23.5 Consent of DLA Piper Rudnick Gray Cary US LLP (included in Exhibit 8.1)

(1)As required by paragraph (b)(2) of Item 601 of Regulation S-K, this exhibit does not contain schedules and similar
attachments to this exhibit. The registrant will furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted schedules to the
Commission upon request.

* To be filed by amendment.
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Item 22. Undertakings

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:

(1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post effective amendment to this registration
statement:

(i) To include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933;

(ii) To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the
most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental
change in the information set forth in the registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or
decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was
registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in
the form of prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume
and price represent no more than 20 percent change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the
"Calculation of Registration Fee" table in the effective registration statement.

(iii) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the
registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement.

(2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post effective
amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the
offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

(3) To remove from registration by means of a post effective amendment any of the securities being registered which
remain unsold at the termination of the offering.

(4) To file a post-effective amendment to the registration statement to include any financial statements required by
Item 8.A of Form 20-F at the start of any delayed offering or throughout a continuous offering.

(5) That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser:

(i) If the registrant is relying on Rule 430B:

(A) Each prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424 (b) (3) shall be deemed to be part of the registration
statement as of the date the filed prospectus was deemed part of and included in the registration statement; and

(B) Each prospectus required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2), (b)(5), or (b)(7) as part of a registration statement
in reliance on Rule 430B relating to an offering made pursuant to Rule 415(a)(l)(i), (vii), or (x) for the purpose of
providing the information required by section 10(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 shall be deemed to be part of and
included in the registration statement as of the earlier of the date such form of prospectus is first used after
effectiveness or the date of the first contract of sale of securities in the offering described in the prospectus. As
provided in Rule 430B, for liability purposes of the issuer and any person that is at that date an underwriter, such date
shall, be deemed to be a new effective date of the registration statement relating to the securities in the registration
statement to which that prospectus relates, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the
initial bona fide offering thereof. Provided, however, that no statement made in a registration statement or prospectus
that is part of the registration; statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference into
the registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of
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contract of sale prior to such effective date, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration
statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to
such effective date; or

(ii) If the registrant is subject to Rule 430C, each prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424 (b) as part of a registration
statement relating to an offering, other than registration statements relying on Rule 430B or other than prospectuses
filed in reliance on Rule 430A, shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration statement as of the date it
is first used after effectiveness. Provided, however, that no statement made in a registration statement or prospectus
that is part of the registration statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference into
the registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of
contract of sale prior to such first use, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration statement
or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such date
of first use.
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(6) That, for the purpose of determining liability of the registrant under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser in
the initial distribution of the securities:

The undersigned registrant undertakes that in a primary offering of securities of the undersigned registrant pursuant to
this registration statement, regardless of the underwriting method used to sell the securities to the purchaser, if the
securities are offered or sold to such purchaser by means of any of the following communications, the undersigned
registrant will be a seller to the purchaser and will be considered to offer or sell such securities to such purchaser:

(i) Any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of the undersigned registrant relating to the offering required to be filed
pursuant to Rule 424;

(ii) Any free writing prospectus relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant or used
or referred to by the undersigned registrant;

(iii) The portion of any other free writing prospectus relating to the offering containing material information about the
undersigned registrant or its securities provided by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant; and

(iv) Any other communication that is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned registrant to the purchaser.

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes as follows: that prior to any public reoffering of the securities registered
hereunder through use of a prospectus which is a part of this registration statement, by any person or party who is
deemed to be an underwriter within the meaning of Rule 145(c), the issuer undertakes that such reoffering prospectus
will contain the information called for by the applicable registration form with respect to reofferings by persons who
may be deemed underwriters, in addition to the information called for by the other items of the applicable form.

The registrant undertakes that every prospectus: (1) that is filed pursuant to the immediately preceding paragraph, or
(2) that purports to meet the requirements of Section 10(a)(3) of the Act and is used in connection with an offering of
securities subject to Rule 415, will be filed as a part of an amendment to the registration statement and will not be
used until such amendment is effective, and that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of
1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities
offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering
thereof.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors,
officers and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has
been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public
policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against
such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or
controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such
director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in
the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate
jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Act and will be
governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to respond to requests for information that is incorporated by reference
into the prospectus pursuant to Item 4, 10(b), 11, or 13 of this Form, within one business day of receipt of such
request, and to send the incorporated documents by first class mail or other equally prompt means. This includes
information contained in documents filed subsequent to the effective date of the registration statement through the
date of responding to the request.
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The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to supply by means of a post-effective amendment all information
concerning a transaction, and the company being acquired involved therein, that was not the subject of and included in
the registration statement when it became effective.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized in the City of San Diego, State of California on
March 29, 2006.

HLS SYSTEMS INTERNATIONAL, LTD

By:  /s/ Li Zhang

Li Zhang
Chief Executive Officer 

Pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title(s) Date

Richard D. Propper Chairman of the Board March 29, 2006

Li Zhang Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

March 29, 2006

Kerry S. Propper Chief Financial Officer, Secretary and
Director
(Principal Accounting Officer)

March 29, 2006

Jiangnan Huang Executive Vice President and Director March 29, 2006
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                  CHARDAN NORTH CHINA ACQUISITION CORPORATION,
         SHANGHAI JINQIAOTONG INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT CO., WANG CHANGLI,
                   CHENG WUSI, LOU AN, TEAM SPIRIT INDUSTRIAL
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                      ------------------------------------
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                            STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

      This STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT, is entered into as of February 2, 2006,
among CHARDAN NORTH CHINA ACQUISITION CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation
("CNCAC"), SHANGHAI JINQIAOTONG INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT CO., a Chinese
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corporation, WANG CHANGLI, an individual, CHENG WUSI, an individual, LOU AN, an
individual, TEAM SPIRIT INDUSTRIAL LIMITED, a British Virgin Islands
corporation, and OSCAF INTERNATIONAL CO., a Cayman Islands corporation, with
respect to the following facts:

      Capitalized terms used herein that are not otherwise defined shall have
the meanings ascribed to them in Article XII hereof.

      WHEREAS, Beijing HollySys Co., Ltd., a company incorporated in PRC with
limited liability ("BJ HLS"), and Hangzhou HollySys Automation Co., Ltd., a
company incorporated in PRC with limited liability ("HZ HLS") (and collectively
with BJHLS, "HollySys"), on their own behalf and through Beijing HollySys
Haotong Science & Technology Development Co., Ltd. ("HollySys Subsidiary"), owns
and operates in the Peoples Republic of China ("PRC") the Business; and

      WHEREAS, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, BJ HLS and
HZ HLS, directly own the percentage interests set forth on Exhibit A of the
shares of capital stock of the HollySys Subsidiary ("HollySys Subsidiary
Stock"), and through such ownership have full right and title to benefit from
the long term investments in HollySys Subsidiary; and

      WHEREAS, the HollySys Stockholders listed on Exhibit B hereto ("HollySys
Stockholders") are (or will be at Closing) the ultimate and beneficial owners
(through various BVI companies set up by the HollySys Stockholders) of 100% of
the outstanding capital stock of Gifted Time Holdings Limited, a holding company
to be formed as a British Virgin Islands corporation ("HollySys Holdings"). The
HollySys Stockholders in the context of this Agreement will respectively refer
to the HollySys Stockholders and/or their BVI companies, as the case may be; and

      WHEREAS, the HollySys Stockholders are the direct and beneficial owners of
74.11% of the outstanding capital stock of BJ HLS (including by means of nominee
arrangements, trust, stock power or similar arrangements) and 60% of the
outstanding capital stock of HZ HLS respectively (together all stock and other
rights or arrangements are referred to as the "HollySys Stock"); and

                                      A-1

      WHEREAS, prior to the Closing, Team Spirit Industrial Limited and OSCAF
International Limited will transfer the ownership interests they hold in HZ HLS
to HollySys Holdings, and the rest of HollySys Stockholders will consign all the
equity interests (including but not limited to the voting rights, property
rights, preemptive rights and any other stockholders' rights derived from the
ownership of the shares in HollySys) they hold in BJ HLS to HollySys Holdings;
and

      WHEREAS, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, CNCAC at
the Closing, shall acquire by an issuance of capital stock and payment of cash,
all of the HollySys Holdings Stock and the actual control over the HollySys
Stock consigned by certain of the HollySys Stockholders to HollySys Holdings as
set forth in Section 2.3(b), plus the right to acquire all of the HollySys
shares owned by Wang Changli (collectively, the "HollySys Holdings Stock
Purchase"); and

      WHEREAS, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, CNCAC will
form a wholly owned subsidiary pursuant to the corporate laws of the British
Virgin Islands ("Chardan Sub") and simultaneously with the Closing hereunder
consummate a plan of merger ("Plan of Merger") pursuant to which CNCAC will be
merged with and into Chardan Sub (the "Chardan Merger"); and

      WHEREAS, after the Closing, each of HollySys Stockholders who participated
in the HollySys Holdings Stock Purchase by a consignment and HollySys Holdings
shall use their best efforts to complete the acquisition of the ownership of

Edgar Filing: GRILLO ANTHONY - Form 4

Explanation of Responses: 106



HollySys Stock by HollySys Holdings from such HollySys Stockholders ("HollySys
Stocks Acquisition") as soon as possible;

      WHEREAS, since the business of BJ HLS and HZ HLS has grown rapidly in the
last few years (with revenues more than doubling from the fiscal year ended June
30, 2003 to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2005, and with net income increasing
by more than six times during the same period) and in recognition of the various
opportunities for significant growth ahead, the parties believe that the payment
of the earnout specified in Section 1.3 is a fair means of adjusting the
purchase price payable to the HollySys Stockholders in the event that the future
operating results of BJ HLS and HJ HLS demonstrate that the value of the
business acquired was greater than the payments set forth in Section 0 below;
and

      WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of CNCAC has determined that it is
advisable and in the best interests of the stockholders of CNCAC for CNCAC to
enter into this Stock Purchase Agreement and to consummate the transactions
contemplated herein; and

      WHEREAS, each of the HollySys Stockholders has determined that it is
advisable and in the best interests of such person to enter into this Stock
Purchase Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated herein.

      NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the following
covenants, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

                                    ARTICLE I
                           THE HOLLYSYS STOCK PURCHASE

      1.1 PURCHASE AND SALE. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions
hereof, at the Closing, the HollySys Stockholders shall sell, transfer, assign
and convey to Chardan Sub, and Chardan Sub shall purchase from the HollySys
Stockholders, all of the right, title and interest of the HollySys Stockholders
in and to the HollySys Holdings Stock as more fully set forth on Exhibit B.
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      1.2 PURCHASE PRICE.

            (a) Subject to adjustment as hereinafter set forth, the aggregate
purchase price ("Purchase Price") to be paid by Chardan Sub to the HollySys
Stockholders or their respective designees for the HollySys Holdings Stock shall
be the following:

                  (i) $30,000,000 as set forth in Section 0 below and as subject
to adjustment as provided for therein;

                  (ii) certificates representing, in the aggregate, 23,500,000
shares of Chardan Sub's ordinary shares, par value $0.0001 per share ("Chardan
Sub Stock"), which will represent no less than 77% of the total outstanding
equity capital of Chardan Sub following the Chardan Merger, to be delivered to
the HollySys Stockholders and their designees; it being understood that in the
event that no stockholders of CNCAC exercise their rights of redemption and all
outstanding warrants of CNCAC are exercised (but assuming no other issuance of
stock by Chardan Sub) then the Chardan Sub Stock issued to the HollySys
Stockholders will represent no less than 54.9% of the outstanding equity capital
of Chardan Sub following the Chardan Merger.

                  (iii) any additional shares issuable by Chardan Sub as set
forth in Section 0 below on the basis of the After-Tax-Profit of Chardan Sub as
provided for therein.
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            (b) Payments.

                  (i) Initial Payment. At the Closing, the sum of $30,000,000
minus the Remaining Payment (such difference, the "Initial Payment"), will be
paid by wire transfer of immediately available United States dollars to the
HollySys Stockholders or their designees as specified in a written notice given
to CNCAC, no later than two business days prior to the Closing, for the purpose
of the acquisition of the HollySys Holdings Stock and the related consignments.

                  (ii) Remaining Payment. The Remaining Payment shall equal the
sum of (i) $3,000,000, plus (ii) two-thirds of the amount by which the funds in
the CNCAC trust account (following the exercise of any redemption rights by the
stockholders of CNCAC) is less than $30,000,000. (For example: (a) if the amount
of such trust account after all redemptions is $24,000,000, then the Remaining
Payment shall equal $7,000,000 ($3,000,000 plus 2/3 of $6,000,000); (b) if the
amount in the trust account after all redemptions is $27,000,000, then the
Remaining Payment shall equal $5,000,000 ($3,000,000 plus 2/3 of $3,000,000);
(c) and if the amount in the trust account after all redemptions is at least
$30,000,000, then the Remaining Payment shall equal $3,000,000 ($3,000,000 plus
$0)). In the event that any of the following events occurs any time after the
Closing, CNCAC and Chardan Sub shall promptly pay the Remaining Payment or any
part of the Remaining Payment then available to the HollySys Stockholders or
their designees by wire transfer:

                        (A) If Chardan Sub receives at least $60,000,000 in
gross proceeds in additional financing as a result of (1) the call of CNCAC's
presently outstanding warrants (which such warrants will be assumed by Chardan
Sub at the Closing), (2) Chardan Sub's successful completion of a secondary
offering, or (3) the private investment into Chardan Sub by a strategic
investor.
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                        (B) If HollySys Holdings generates a net positive cash
flow in any fiscal year beginning with the fiscal year ending June 30, 2006, the
HollySys Stockholders shall be entitled to receive 50% of the net positive cash
flow until a total of the Remaining Payment has been received.

      In the event that any of the events (A) or (B) occurs, the total sum of
the unpaid balance of the Remaining Payments shall be paid by Chardan Sub. In
the event of any partial payment of the Remaining Payment, any subsequent
payments shall be limited by the unpaid balance of the Remaining Payment.

            (c) Allocation. All payments of the Initial Payment and the
Remaining Payment shall be made in proportion as requested by the HollySys
Stockholders as set forth on Exhibit C.

      1.3 EARN-OUT AGREEMENT. So long as Chardan Sub, following the Closing, on
a consolidated basis, achieves or exceeds the After-Tax Profits (as defined
below) targets calculated for the period of July 1 to the succeeding June 30,
ending on June 30 in each of 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010 as set forth below the
HollySys Stockholders (or their designees) shall receive the number of shares of
Chardan Sub Stock set forth in Schedule 1.3. The payment of these additional
shares is not contingent upon the continued employment or other relationships of
any HollySys Stockholder with any entity. Such additional shares shall be issued
within 90 days after June 30. The value of shares payable under Section 0 shall
also be available for indemnification pursuant to Section 0.

                  AFTER TAX PROFIT TARGETS FOR 12 MONTHS ENDING
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--------------------------------------------------------------------------------
JUNE 30, 2007          JUNE 30, 2008          JUNE 30, 2009        JUNE 30, 2010
 $23,000,000            $32,000,000            $43,000,000          $61,000,000

After Tax Profit shall be computed using the generally accepted accounting
principles that were used for purpose of preparing the 2005 Financial Statements
of HollySys; provided, however, that the computation shall exclude (i) any
after-tax profits from any acquisition by Chardan Sub or its subsidiaries that
involved the issuance of securities that has a dilutive effect on the holders of
common stock of Chardan Sub, and (ii) any expenses related to the issue of the
aforesaid shares by Chardan Sub under this Section 1.3.

                                   ARTICLE II
                                   THE CLOSING

      2.1 THE CLOSING. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement,
the consummation of the HollySys Holdings Stock Purchase and the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement shall take place at a closing ("Closing") to be
held at 10:00 a.m., local time, on the fourth business day after the date on
which the last of the conditions to Closing set forth in Article IX is
fulfilled, at the offices of DLA Piper Rudnick Gray Cary US LLP, 4365 Executive
Drive Suite 1100, San Diego, CA 92121, or at such other time, date or place as
the Parties may agree upon in writing. The date on which the Closing occurs is
referred to herein as the "Closing Date."
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      2.2 DELIVERIES.

            (a) HollySys Stockholders. At the Closing, each HollySys Stockholder
will (i) assign and transfer to Chardan Sub all of such HollySys Stockholder's
right, title and interest in and to his, her or its respective portion of the
HollySys Holdings Stock by delivering to Chardan Sub the certificates
representing such HollySys Holdings Stock, duly endorsed for transfer and free
and clear of all liens and (ii) deliver to Chardan Sub the certificates,
opinions and other agreements contemplated by Article IX hereof and the other
provisions of this Agreement.

            (b) Chardan Sub. At the Closing, Chardan Sub shall deliver to the
HollySys Stockholders (i) the cash and shares of Chardan Sub Stock representing
the Purchase Price to which each of the HollySys Stockholders is entitled
pursuant to Section 0, and (ii) the certificates, opinions and other agreements
and instruments contemplated by Article IX hereof and the other provisions of
this Agreement.

      2.3 ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS. At the Closing, the following agreements will
have been executed and delivered (collectively, the "Transaction Documents"),
the effectiveness of each of which is subject to the Closing:

            (a) a Merger Agreement between CNCAC and Chardan Sub in a form to be
attached as Exhibit D hereto, to become effective immediately after the closing;
and

            (b) the Stock Consignment Agreements in the forms attached hereto as
Exhibit E between HollySys Holdings and Shanghai Jinqiaotong Industrial
Development Co., Wang Changli, Cheng Wusi and Lou An.

      2.4 FURTHER ASSURANCES. Subject to the terms and conditions of this
Agreement, at any time or from time to time after the Closing, each of the
Parties hereto shall execute and deliver such other documents and instruments,
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provide such materials and information and take such other actions as may
reasonably be necessary, proper or advisable, to the extent permitted by law, to
fulfill its obligations under this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents
to which it is a party.

                                   ARTICLE III
                         REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
           RELATING TO THE HOLLYSYS STOCKHOLDERS AND HOLLYSYS HOLDINGS

      The HollySys Stockholders, jointly and severally, represent and warrant to
CNCAC and Chardan Sub as follows:
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      3.1 THE HOLLYSYS STOCK.

            (a) Ownership. The HollySys Stockholders are the registered and
beneficial owners of the shares of BJ HLS and HZ HLS in the amounts set forth in
Schedule 3.1(a), free and clear of all Liens, except as set forth in Schedule
3.1(a), which shares constitute 74.11% and 60% of the outstanding shares of
capital stock of BJ HLS and HZ HLS, respectively. BJ HLS owns 40% of the
outstanding shares of capital stock of HZ HLS. At the Closing, the HollySys
Stockholders will be the registered and beneficial owners of the shares of
HollySys Holdings Stock in the amounts set forth in Schedule 3.1(a), free and
clear of all Liens, except as set forth in Schedule 3.1(a), which shares will
constitute all of the outstanding shares of capital stock of HollySys Holdings.
At the Closing, the HollySys Stockholders (other than Team Spirit Industrial
Limited and OSCAF International Co.) shall consign all the equity interests and
preemptive rights derived from the HollySys Stock, with Team Spirit Industrial
Limited and OSCAF International Co. having transferred to HollySys Holdings
prior to Closing all of the outstanding shares of capital stock of HZ HLS that
such entities own. There are no options, warrants or other contractual rights
outstanding which give any Person the right to acquire shares of BJ HLS or HZ
HLS owned by the HollySys Stockholders, whether or not such rights are presently
exercisable. There are no disputes, arbitrations or litigation proceedings with
respect to the common stock and outstanding warrants, options and other rights
relating to the capital stock of HollySys Holdings.

            (b) Capitalization. The authorized capital stock of BJ HLS and HZ
HLS is set forth in Schedule 3.1(b). All of the outstanding shares of BJ HLS and
HZ HLS Stock are (and all of the outstanding shares of HollySys Holdings will
be) validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable. There are no options,
warrants or other contractual rights outstanding which give any Person the right
to require the issuance of any capital stock of BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys
Holdings, whether or not such rights are presently exercisable.

      3.2 ORGANIZATION OF HOLLYSYS HOLDINGS. HollySys Holdings is or will be an
international business company duly organized, validly existing and in good
standing under the law of the British Virgin Islands. HollySys Holdings is duly
qualified to do business as an independent corporation and is in good standing
in each of the jurisdictions in the respective property owned, leased or
operated by it or the nature of the business which it conducts requires
qualification (which jurisdictions are listed in Schedule 3.2), or if not so
qualified, such failure or failures, singly or in the aggregate, would not have
a material adverse effect on the Business, assets, operations, financial
condition, liquidity or prospects of HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS and HZ HLS or the
HollySys Subsidiary, separately and as a whole ("HollySys Material Adverse
Effect"). HollySys Holdings has all requisite power and authority to own, lease
and operate its properties and to carry on its business as now being conducted
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and as presently contemplated to be conducted.

      3.3 AUTHORITY AND CORPORATE ACTION; NO CONFLICT.

            (a) Each of the HollySys Stockholders has all necessary power and
authority to enter into this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to
which it is a party and to consummate the HollySys Holdings Stock Purchase and
other transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. All action, corporate and
otherwise, necessary to be taken by HollySys Holdings and the HollySys
Stockholders to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this
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Agreement, the Transaction Documents and all other agreements and instruments
delivered by HollySys Holdings and the HollySys Stockholders in connection with
the HollySys Holdings Stock Purchase has been duly and validly taken. This
Agreement and the Transaction Documents to which HollySys Holdings and each
HollySys Stockholder is a party has been duly executed and delivered by HollySys
Holdings and each HollySys Stockholder and constitutes the valid, binding, and
enforceable obligation of HollySys and each HollySys Stockholder, enforceable in
accordance with its terms, except (i) as enforceability may be limited by
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, fraudulent
transfer or similar laws of general application now or hereafter in effect
affecting the rights and remedies of creditors and by general principles of
equity (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in a proceeding at law or in
equity) and (ii) as enforceability of any indemnification provision may be
limited by federal and state securities laws and public policy of the United
States, BVI and PRC.

            (b) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement or any of
the other Transaction Documents contemplated hereby by HollySys Holdings or each
HollySys Stockholder nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby or thereby will (i) except as set forth in Schedule 3.3(b), conflict
with, result in a breach or violation of or constitute (or with notice of lapse
of time or both constitute) a default under, (A) the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of HollySys Holdings, (B) the charter documents of HollySys
Holdings, or (C) any law, statute, regulation, order, judgment or decree or any
instrument, contract or other agreement to which HollySys Holdings or a HollySys
Stockholder is a party or by which it (or any of its properties or assets) is
subject or bound; (ii) result in the creation of, or give any party the right to
create, any lien, charge, option, security interest or other encumbrance upon
the assets of HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS or a HollySys Stockholder; (iii)
terminate or modify, or give any third party the right to terminate or modify,
the provisions or terms of any contract to which HollySys Holdings or a HollySys
Stockholder is a party; or (iv) result in any suspension, revocation,
impairment, forfeiture or nonrenewal of any permit, license, qualification,
authorization or approval applicable to HollySys Holdings or a HollySys
Stockholder.

      3.4 CONSENTS AND APPROVALS. Other than as set forth on Schedule 3.4, the
execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents by each
HollySys Stockholder does not, and the performance of this Agreement and the
Transaction Documents by HollySys Holdings or them will not, require any
consent, approval, authorization or other action by, or filing with or
notification to, any Governmental Authority, except where failure to obtain such
consents, approvals, authorizations or actions, or to make such filings or
notifications, would not prevent it from performing any of its material
obligations under this Agreement and the Transaction Documents and would not
have a HollySys Material Adverse Effect.
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      3.5 LICENSES, PERMITS, ETC. To the best of the knowledge of each HollySys
Stockholder, HollySys Holdings possesses or will possess prior to the Closing
all Permits necessary, in all material respects, to own and hold its interests
in the Business , which necessary Permits are described or are as set forth on
Schedule 3.5 hereto. True, complete and correct copies of Permits issued to
HollySys Holdings have previously been delivered to CNCAC. To the best of the
knowledge of each HollySys Stockholder, HollySys Holdings is not in default in
any material respect under any of such Permits and no event has occurred and no
condition exists which, with the giving of notice, the passage of time, or both,
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would constitute a default thereunder. Neither the execution and delivery of
this Agreement, the Transaction Documents or any of the other documents
contemplated hereby nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby
or thereby nor, to the best of the knowledge of each HollySys Stockholder,
compliance by HollySys Holdings with any of the provisions hereof or thereof
will result in any suspension, revocation, impairment, forfeiture or nonrenewal
of any Permit applicable to the Business.

      3.6 TAXES, TAX RETURNS AND AUDITS. Except as specifically set forth in
Schedule 3.6, (i) HollySys Holdings has filed on a timely basis (taking into
account any extensions received from the relevant taxing authorities) all
returns and reports pertaining to all Taxes that are or were required to be
filed by HollySys Holdings with the appropriate taxing authorities in all
jurisdictions in which such returns and reports are or were required to be
filed, and all such returns and reports are true, correct and complete in all
material respects, (ii) all Taxes that are due from or may be asserted against
HollySys Holdings (including deferred Taxes) in respect of or attributable to
all periods ending on or before the Closing Date have been or will be fully
paid, deposited or adequately provided for on the books and financial statements
of HollySys Holdings or are being contested in good faith by appropriate
proceedings, (iii) no issues have been raised (or are currently pending) by any
taxing authority in connection with any of the returns and reports referred to
in clause (i) which might be determined adversely to HollySys Holdings, which
could have a HollySys Material Adverse Effect, (iv) HollySys Holdings has not
given or requested to give waivers or extensions of any statute of limitations
with respect to the payment of Taxes, and (v) no tax liens which have not been
satisfied or discharged by payment or concession by the relevant taxing
authority.

      3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH LAW. The business of HollySys Holdings has been
conducted, and is now being conducted and will be conducted prior to Closing, in
compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws. HollySys Holdings
and their respective officers, directors and employees (i) are not, and during
the periods of existence of HollySys Holdings, were not, in violation of, or not
in compliance with, in any material respect any such applicable Laws with
respect to the conduct of the businesses of HollySys Holdings; and (ii) have not
received any notice from any Governmental Authority, and to the best of the
knowledge of the HollySys Stockholders, none is threatened, alleging that
HollySys Holdings has violated, or not complied with, any applicable Laws.

      3.8 LITIGATION. There are no actions, suits, arbitrations or other
proceedings pending or, to the best of the knowledge of the HollySys
Stockholders, threatened against HollySys Holdings at law or in equity before
any Governmental Authority. Neither HollySys Holdings, nor any of its properties
is subject to any order, judgment, injunction or decree.

      3.9 RECORDS. The books of account, minute books, stock certificate books
and stock transfer ledgers of HollySys Holdings are complete and correct in all

Edgar Filing: GRILLO ANTHONY - Form 4

Explanation of Responses: 112



material respects, and there have been no material transactions involving
HollySys Holdings which are required to be set forth therein and which have not
been so set forth.

      3.10 BROKERS. No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any
brokerage, finder's or other fee or commission in connection with the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by or
on behalf of HollySys Holdings or any HollySys Stockholder.
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      3.11 DISCLOSURE. No representation or warranty by HollySys Holdings or any
HollySys Stockholder contained in this Agreement and no information contained in
any Schedule or other instrument furnished or to be furnished to CNCAC pursuant
to this Agreement or in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby
contains or will contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omits or
will omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements
contained therein not misleading.

      3.12 ACQUISITION OF CHARDAN SUB STOCK.

            (a) Acquisition Entirely for Own Account. The Chardan Sub Stock to
be acquired by each HollySys Stockholder (or their respective designees) will be
acquired for investment for such HollySys Stockholder's or such designee's own
account and not with a view to the resale or distribution of any part thereof.

            (b) Disclosure of Information. Each HollySys Stockholder
acknowledges that all of the SEC Reports (defined in Section 0) were fully
available to it, and each HollySys Stockholder has reviewed and understands such
reports. Each HollySys Stockholder acknowledges that it has received all the
information that it has requested relating to CNCAC, the acquisition of the
Chardan Sub Stock and the Chardan Merger. Each HollySys Stockholder further
represents that it has had an opportunity to ask questions and receive answers
from CNCAC regarding the terms and conditions of its acquisition of the Chardan
Sub Stock and the Chardan Merger.

            (c) Accredited Investor. Each HollySys Stockholder is an "accredited
investor" within the meaning of Rule 501 of Regulation D under the Securities
Act.

            (d) Restricted Securities. Each HollySys Stockholder understands
that it and its designees (if any) will acquire constitutes "restricted
securities" from Chardan Sub under the United States federal securities laws and
that under such laws and applicable regulations such securities may only be sold
in the United States pursuant to an effective registration statement or an
available exemption from registration. Each HollySys Stockholder understands
that the currently available exemption from registration under Rule 144 requires
the securities to be held for one year before they can be sold in the United
States.

            (e) Legends. It is understood that the certificates evidencing the
Chardan Sub Stock shall bear the following legend:

             "THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAVE NOT
             BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS
             AMENDED (THE "ACT"). THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED HEREBY
             MAY NOT BE SOLD, TRANSFERRED, OR OTHERWISE DISPOSED OF
             IN THE ABSENCE OF AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT
             UNDER THE ACT OR AN OPINION OF COUNSEL, REASONABLY
             ACCEPTABLE TO COUNSEL FOR THE COMPANY, TO THE EFFECT
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             THAT THE PROPOSED SALE, TRANSFER, OR DISPOSITION MAY BE
             EFFECTUATED WITHOUT REGISTRATION UNDER THE ACT."
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      3.13 SURVIVAL OF REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. The representations and
warranties of HollySys Holdings and each HollySys Stockholder set forth in
ARTICLE III of this Agreement shall survive the Closing for a period of four
years, except that the representations and warranties set forth in Sections 0,
0, 0, 3.4, 3.7, 0 and 0 shall survive without limitation as to time and the
representations and warranties set forth in Section 06 shall survive until the
expiration of the statute of limitations with respect to each respective Tax.

                                   ARTICLE IV
                    REPRESENTATION AND WARRANTIES RELATING TO
                     BJ HLS, HZ HLS AND HOLLYSYS SUBSIDIARY

      The HollySys Stockholders, jointly and severally, represent and warrant to
CNCAC and Chardan Sub as of the Closing, as follows:

      4.1 THE HOLLYSYS SUBSIDIARY STOCK.

            (a) Ownership. BJ HLS controls 70% of the shares of the HollySys
Subsidiary, free and clear of all Liens. Except as indicated in the preceding
sentence, there are no consignment, operational contracts and/or equity transfer
arrangements, options, warrants or other contractual rights (oral or written),
trusts or other arrangements of any nature which give any Person (other than
HollySys or HollySys Holdings) the right to acquire or control any capital stock
of HollySys Subsidiary, whether or not such rights are presently exercisable.
Except as indicated in the preceding sentence, there are no operational
contracts and/or equity transfer arrangements, options, warrants or other
contractual rights (oral or written), trusts or other arrangements of any nature
which give any Person (other than HollySys or HollySys Holdings) the right to
any asset, income, dividend, distribution, property interest or direct or
beneficial interest in any, or from any, of HollySys Subsidiary.

            (b) Capitalization. The authorized capital stock of HollySys
Subsidiary is set forth on Exhibit A. All of the outstanding shares of capital
stock of HollySys Subsidiary are validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.

      4.2 ORGANIZATION OF BJ HLS, HZ HLS AND HOLLYSYS SUBSIDIARY. Each of BJ
HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary is a corporate entity duly organized,
validly existing and in good standing under the law of its jurisdiction of
incorporation as set forth on Schedule 4.2. Each of BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys
Subsidiary is duly qualified to do business in the jurisdictions in which the
property owned, leased or operated by such entity or the nature of the business
which it conducts requires qualification (which jurisdictions are listed in
Schedule 4.2), or if not so qualified, such failure or failures, in the
aggregate, would not have a HollySys Material Adverse Effect. Neither BJ HLS, HZ
HLS nor HollySys Subsidiary owns, directly or indirectly, any capital stock or
any other securities of any issuer or any equity interest in any other entity
and is not a party to any agreement to acquire any such securities or interest,
except as set forth on Schedule 4.2. Each of BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys
Subsidiary has all requisite power and authority to own, lease and operate its
properties and to carry on its respective business as now being conducted and as
presently contemplated to be conducted.
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      4.3 NO CONFLICT. Neither the execution nor delivery of this Agreement or
any of the Transaction Documents or any of the other documents contemplated
thereby nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby will (i)
except as set forth in Schedule 4.3, conflict with, result in a breach or
violation of or constitute (or with notice of lapse of time or both constitute)
a default under, (A) the charter documents of BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys
Subsidiary or (B) any law, statute, regulation, order, judgment or decree or any
instrument, contract or other agreement to which BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys
Subsidiary is a party or by which any of them (or any of the properties or
assets of BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary) is subject or bound; (ii)
result in the creation of, or give any party the right to create, any lien,
charge, option, security interest or other encumbrance upon the assets of BJ
HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary; (iii) terminate or modify, or give any third
party the right to terminate or modify, the provisions or terms of any contract
to which BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary is a party, or (iv) result in any
suspension, revocation, impairment, forfeiture or nonrenewal of any permit,
license, qualification, authorization or approval applicable to BJ HLS, HZ HLS
or HollySys Subsidiary.

      4.4 CONSENTS AND APPROVALS. Except as listed and described on Schedule
4.4, the execution and delivery of the Transaction Documents by the HollySys
Stockholders do not, and the performance of the Transaction Documents by each of
them will not, require any consent, approval, authorization or other action by,
or filing with or notification to, any Governmental Authority, except where
failure to obtain such consents, approvals, authorizations or actions, or to
make such filings or notifications, would not prevent any of them from
performing any of their material obligations under the Transaction Documents and
would not cause a HollySys Material Adverse Effect.

      4.5 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. Prior to the execution of this Agreement,
HollySys has delivered to CNCAC consolidated balance sheets as at June 30, 2003,
2004 and 2005, and related consolidated statements of income and source and
application of funds for the three years ended June 30, 2005, audited by
HollySys's Accountants, and the notes, comments, schedules, and supplemental
data therein (collectively, the "2005 Financial Statements") and an interim
consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2005, and related consolidated
statements of income and source and application of funds for the three months
then ended, reviewed by HollySys's accountants (collectively, the "September
Financial Statements"). The 2005 Financial Statements and September Financial
Statements will be prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP reconciled to US GAAP or
prepared in accordance with US GAAP throughout the periods indicated and fairly
present the consolidated financial condition of HollySys at their respective
dates and the consolidated results of the operations of HollySys for the periods
covered thereby in accordance with PRC GAAP reconciled to US GAAP or in
accordance with US GAAP. The 2005 Financial Statements and September Financial
Statements are included in Schedule 4.5 of this Agreement.

      4.6 NO UNDISCLOSED LIABILITIES. Neither BJ HLS, HZ HLS nor HollySys
Subsidiary has any liabilities, whether known or unknown, absolute, accrued,
contingent or otherwise, except (a) as and to the extent reflected or reserved
against on the September Financial Statements, (b) those since September 30,
2005, incurred in the ordinary course of business and consistent with prior
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practice, (c) liabilities which individually are less than $200,000, or (d)
liabilities disclosed (or exempt from disclosure) pursuant to sections 4.9,
4.12, 4.14, 4.16, or 4.24. The September Financial Statements and Schedule 4.6
together contain an accurate and complete list and description and all
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liabilities of BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary whether or not reflected
or reserved against on the September Financial Statements which individually
exceeds US $200,000 or, if related liabilities, exceed $200,000 (or the
equivalent of US $200,000).

      4.7 REAL PROPERTY. The September Financial Statements and Schedule 4.7
together contain an accurate and complete list and description of all real
estate owned by BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary as well as any other real
estate that is in the possession of or leased by BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys
Subsidiary and the improvements (including buildings and other structures)
located on such real estate (collectively, the "Real Property"), and lists and
accurately describes any leases under which any such Real Property is possessed
(the "Real Estate Leases"). Neither BJ HLS, HZ HLS nor HollySys Subsidiary is in
default under any of the Real Estate Leases, and neither BJ HLS, HZ HLS nor
HollySys Subsidiary is aware of any default by any of the lessors thereunder.

      4.8 CERTAIN PERSONAL PROPERTY. The September Financial Statements and
Schedule 4.8 together contain an accurate and complete list and description of
the material fixed assets of BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary specifying
the location of all material items of tangible personal property of BJ HLS, HZ
HLS and HollySys Subsidiary that were included in its respective September
Financial Statements.

      4.9 NON-REAL ESTATE LEASES. The September Financial Statements and
Schedule 4.9 together contain an accurate and complete list and description of
all assets and property (other than Real Property and Real Estate Leases) that
are used as of the date of this Agreement in the operation of the Business and
that are possessed by BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary under an existing
lease. All of such leases are referred to herein as the "Non-Real Estate
Leases." Neither BJ HLS, HZ HLS nor HollySys Subsidiary is in default under any
of the Non-Real Estate Leases, and Neither BJ HLS, HZ HLS nor HollySys
Subsidiary is aware of any default by any of the lessors hereunder.

      4.10 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE. The accounts receivable of HollySys, both (i) as
reflected on the September Financial Statements, and (ii) created after
September 30, 2005, are bona fide accounts receivable, created in the ordinary
course of business and subject to historical rates of uncollected liabilities,
as reserved against on the HollySys financial statements, are good and
collectible within periods of time normally prevailing in the industry at the
aggregate recorded amounts thereof.

      4.11 INVENTORY. The inventory of HollySys and HollySys Subsidiary consists
of items of quality and quantity useable or saleable in the ordinary course of
business at regular sales prices, subject to (a) changes in price levels as a
result of economic and market conditions and (b) reserves reflected in the
respective September Financial Statements for spoiled and discontinued items.

      4.12 CONTRACTS, OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS. Except as set forth in the
September Financial Statements and on Schedule 4.12 together, other than the
Real Estate Leases and the Non-Real Estate Leases, neither BJ HLS, HZ HLS nor
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HollySys Subsidiary has any existing contract, obligation or commitment (written
or oral) of any nature (other than obligations involving payments of less than
$500,000 individually), including without limitation the following:

            (a) Employment, bonus, severance or consulting agreements,
retirement, stock bonus, stock option, or similar plans;
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            (b) Loans or other agreements, notes, indentures or instruments
relating to or evidencing indebtedness for borrowed money or mortgaging,
pledging or granting or creating a lien or security interest or other
encumbrance on any of the assets of BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary or any
agreement or instrument evidencing any guaranty by BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys
Subsidiary of payment or performance by any other Person;

            (c) Agreements of any kind relating to employment matters such as
labor agreements or agreements providing for benefits under any plan;

            (d) Any contract or series of contracts with the same Person for the
furnishing or purchase of equipment, goods or services, except for purchase and
sales orders in the ordinary course of business;

            (e) Any joint venture contract or arrangement or other agreement
involving a sharing of profits or expenses to which BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys
Subsidiary is a party or by which it is bound;

            (f) Agreements which limit the freedom of BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys
Subsidiary to compete in any line of business or in any geographic area or with
any Person;

            (g) Agreements providing for disposition of the assets, businesses
or a direct or indirect ownership interest in BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys
Subsidiary;

            (h) Any contract, commitment or arrangement not made in the ordinary
course of business of BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary; or

            (i) Agreements with any Governmental Authority.

Except as set forth on Schedule 4.12, each Contract to which BJ HLS, HZ HLS or
HollySys Subsidiary is a party is a valid and binding obligation of such party
and, to the best of the knowledge of BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys Subsidiary and the
HollySys Stockholders, is enforceable in accordance with its terms (except as
the enforceability thereof may be limited by any applicable bankruptcy,
insolvency or other laws affecting creditors' rights generally or by general
principles of equity, regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in
equity or at law), and is in full force and effect (except for any Contracts
which by their terms expire after the date hereof or are terminated after the
date hereof in accordance with the terms thereof, provided, however, that
neither BJ HLS, HZ HLS nor HollySys Subsidiary will terminate any Contract after
the date hereof without the prior written consent of CNCAC, which consent shall
not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), and neither BJ HLS, HZ HLS nor
HollySys Subsidiary has breached any material provision of, nor is in default in
any material respect under the terms of any of the Contracts.
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      4.13 LICENSES, PERMITS, ETC. Schedule 4.13 contains an accurate and
complete list and description of all material Permits used in or necessary for
the ownership and operation of the Business, and true, complete and accurate
copies of all Permits previously have been delivered to CNCAC. BJ HLS, HZ HLS
and HollySys Subsidiary possesses all Permits necessary, in all material
respects, to own and operate its portion of the Business. All such Permits are
in full force and effect and BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary and the
officers, directors and employees of BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary have
complied and BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary will comply, and BJ HLS, HZ
HLS and HollySys Subsidiary shall cause its respective officers, directors and
employees to comply, in all material respects with all terms of such Permits and

Edgar Filing: GRILLO ANTHONY - Form 4

Explanation of Responses: 117



will take any and all actions necessary to ensure that all such Permits remain
in full force and effect and that the terms of such Permits are not violated
through the Closing Date. Neither BJ HLS, HZ HLS nor HollySys Subsidiary is in
default in any material respect under any of such Permits and no event has
occurred and no condition exists which, with the giving of notice, the passage
of time, or both, would constitute a default thereunder. Neither the execution
and delivery of this Agreement, the Transaction Documents or any of the other
documents contemplated hereby nor the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby or thereby nor compliance by BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys
Subsidiary with any of the provisions hereof or thereof will result in any
suspension, revocation, impairment, forfeiture or nonrenewal of any Permit
applicable to the Business. True, complete and correct copies of Permits issued
to BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary have previously delivered to CNCAC.

      4.14 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS.

            (a) Intellectual Property. Schedule 4.14(a) contains an accurate and
complete list and description of all Intellectual Property used by BJ HLS, HZ
HLS and HollySys Subsidiary in connection with the Business, specifying as to
each (i) the nature of such right, (ii) the ownership thereof, (iii) the
Governmental Authority that has issued or recorded a registration or certificate
or similar document with respect thereto or with which an application for such a
registration, certificate or similar document is pending and (iv) any applicable
registration, certificate or application number.

            (b) Other Intellectual Property Rights. Schedule 4.14(b) includes an
accurate and complete list and description of all material inventions and trade
secrets that BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary has formally documented and
that are owned, used, controlled, authorized for use or held by, or licensed to,
BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary that relate to or are necessary to the
Business, including as conducted at or prior to Closing or as proposed to be
conducted by BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary, together with a designation
of the ownership thereof.

            (c) Software. Schedule 4.14(c) includes an accurate and complete
list and description of all Software used by BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys
Subsidiary in connection with the Business, including as conducted at or prior
to Closing or as proposed to be conducted by BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys
Subsidiary, together with a designation of ownership.
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            (d) Out-Bound Licenses. Schedule 4.14(d) includes an accurate and
complete list and description of all licenses, sublicenses, and other Contracts
pursuant to which (i) any Person is authorized to use any Intellectual Property
rights used in connection with the Business or (ii) any right of BJ HLS, HZ HLS
or HollySys Subsidiary in, or such entity's use of, any Intellectual Property
right used in connection with the Business is otherwise materially affected.

            (e) In-Bound Licenses. Schedule 4.14(e) includes an accurate and
complete list and description of all licenses, sublicenses, and other Contracts
pursuant to which BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary is authorized to use,
or can be authorized to use (through, for example, the grant of a sublicense),
any Intellectual Property owned by any other Person (including any rights
enjoyed by BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary by reason of its relationship
with one of its affiliates) in connection with the Business.

            (f) Ownership. As of the date hereof, BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys
Subsidiary owns, and at the Closing Date, will own all right, title and interest
in and to all Intellectual Property rights used in connection with the Business,
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and those Intellectual Property rights were developed and created solely by
employees of such entity acting within the scope of their employment or by third
parties (all of which employees and third parties have validly and irrevocably
assigned all of their rights therein to such entity) and BJ HLS, HZ HLS and
HollySys Subsidiary is duly and validly licensed to use all other Intellectual
Property used in connection with the Business, free and clear of royalties
(except as otherwise set forth in Schedule 4.14(g)). Neither BJ HLS, HZ HLS nor
HollySys Subsidiary has assigned or transferred ownership of, agreed to so
assign or transfer ownership of, or granted any exclusive license of or
exclusive right to use, any Intellectual Property used in connection with the
Business.

            (g) Royalties. Except for licenses listed and accurately and
completely described on the September Financial Statements or Schedule 4.14(g)
as royalty-bearing, there are (and will be upon Closing) no royalties,
honoraria, fees, or other payments payable by BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys
Subsidiary to any Person by reason of the ownership, use, license, sale, or
disposition of any Intellectual Property used in connection with the Business.

            (h) Infringement. The Intellectual Property used in connection with
the Business by BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary does not infringe or
misappropriate any Intellectual Property rights of any Person under the laws of
any jurisdiction.

No notice, claim or other communication (in writing or otherwise) has been
received from any Person: (A) asserting any ownership interest in any material
Intellectual Property used in connection with the Business; (B) asserting any
actual, alleged, possible or potential infringement, misappropriation or
unauthorized use or disclosure of any Intellectual Property used in connection
with the Business, defamation of any Person, or violation of any other right of
any Person (including any right to privacy or publicity) by BJ HLS, HZ HLS or
HollySys Subsidiary or relating to the Intellectual Property used in connection
with the Business; or (C) suggesting or inviting BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys
Subsidiary to take a license or otherwise obtain the right to use any
Intellectual Property in connection with the Business. To the best of its
knowledge, no Person is infringing, misappropriating, using or disclosing in an
unauthorized manner any Intellectual Property used in connection with the
Business owned by, exclusively licensed to, held by or for the benefit of, or
otherwise controlled by BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary.
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            (i) Proceedings. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.14(i), there are
no current or, to the best of its knowledge, threatened Proceedings (including
but not limited to any interference, reexamination, cancellation, or opposition
proceedings) arising out of a right or claimed right of any person before any
Governmental Authority anywhere in the world related to any Intellectual
Property used in connection with the Business owned by, exclusively licensed to,
held by or for the benefit of, or otherwise controlled by BJ HLS, HZ HLS or
HollySys Subsidiary.

      4.15 TITLE TO AND CONDITION OF ASSETS.

            (a) BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary has good and marketable
title to all the properties and assets owned by it. Except as set forth in the
September Financial Statements and Schedule 4.15 together, none of such
properties and assets is subject to any Lien, option to purchase or lease,
easement, restriction, covenant, condition or imperfection of title or adverse
claim of any nature whatsoever, direct or indirect, whether accrued, absolute,
contingent or otherwise.
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            (b) To the best knowledge of BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary,
except as set forth in Schedule 4.15, all buildings, structures, improvements,
fixtures, facilities, equipment, all components of all buildings, structures and
other improvements included within the Real Property, including but not limited
to the roofs and structural elements thereof and the heating, ventilation, air
conditioning, plumbing, electrical, mechanical, sewer, waste water, storm water,
paving and parking equipment, systems and facilities included therein conform in
all material respects to all applicable Laws of every Governmental Authority
having jurisdiction over any of the Real Property, and every instrumentality or
agency thereof. There are no unsatisfied requests for any repairs, restorations
or improvements to the Real Property from any Person, including without
limitation any Governmental Authority, except such requests of employees as have
been denied in the exercise of prudent business and operational practices. There
are no outstanding contracts made by BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary for
any improvements to the Real Property which have not been fully paid for. No
person, other than BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary, owns any equipment or
other tangible assets or properties situated on the Real Property or necessary
to the operation of the Business, except for leased items disclosed in Schedule
4.9 hereto.

            (c) The use and operation of the Real Property is in full compliance
in all material respects with all Laws, covenants, conditions, restrictions,
easements, disposition agreements and similar matters affecting the Real
Property and, effective as of the Closing, BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys
Subsidiary shall have the right under all Laws to continue the use and operation
of the Real Property in the conduct of the Business. Neither BJ HLS, HZ HLS nor
HollySys Subsidiary has received any notice of any violation (or claimed
violation) of or investigation regarding any Laws.

            (d) To the best knowledge of BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary,
none of the buildings, structures and other improvements located on the Real
Property, the appurtenances thereto or the equipment therein or the operation or
maintenance thereof violates any restrictive covenant or encroaches on any
property owned by others or any easement, right of way or other encumbrance or
restriction affecting or burdening such Real Property in any manner which would
have a HollySys Material Adverse Effect on the condition (financial or
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otherwise), assets, operations or results of operations of BJ HLS, HZ HLS or
HollySys Subsidiary, nor does any building or structure of any third party
encroach upon the Real Property or any easement or right of way benefiting the
Real Property. To the best knowledge of BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary,
the Real Property and its continued use, occupancy and operation as used,
occupied and operated in the conduct of the Business does not constitute a
nonconforming use under any Law.

            (e) Neither BJ HLS, HZ HLS nor HollySys Subsidiary has received
written notice of, or otherwise had knowledge of, any condemnation, fire,
health, safety, building, environmental, hazardous substances, pollution
control, zoning or other land use regulatory proceedings, either instituted or
planned to be instituted, which would have an effect on the ownership, use and
operation of any portion of the Real Property for its intended purpose or the
value of any material portion of the Real Property, nor has BJ HLS, HZ HLS or
HollySys Subsidiary received written notice of any special assessment
proceedings affecting any of the Real Property.

            (f) To the best knowledge of BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary,
all water, sewer, gas, electric, telephone and drainage facilities, and all
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other utilities required by any applicable law are installed to the property
lines of the Real Property, are connected pursuant to valid permits to municipal
or public utility services or proper drainage facilities to permit full
compliance with the requirement of all Laws. To the best knowledge of BJ HLS, HZ
HLS and HollySys Subsidiary, no fact or condition exists which could result in
the termination or reduction of the current access from the Real Property to
existing roads or to sewer or other utility services presently serving the Real
Property.

            (g) All Permits, certificates, easements and rights of way,
including proof of dedication, required from all governmental entities having
jurisdiction over the Real Property for the use and operation of the Real
Property in the conduct of the Business and to ensure vehicular and pedestrian
ingress to and egress from the Real Property have been obtained.

            (h) Neither BJ HLS, HZ HLS nor HollySys Subsidiary has received
written notice and has any knowledge of any pending or threatened condemnation
proceeding affecting the Real Property or any part thereof or of any sale or
other disposition of the Real Property or any part thereof in lieu of
condemnation.

            (i) No portion of the Real Property has suffered any material damage
by fire or other casualty which has not heretofore been completely repaired and
restored to its original condition.

            (j) There are no encroachments or other facts or conditions
affecting the Real Property that would be revealed by an accurate survey thereof
which would, individually or in the aggregate, interfere in any material respect
with the use, occupancy or operation thereof as used, occupied and operated in
the conduct of the Business.

      4.16 TAXES, TAX RETURNS AND AUDITS. Except as specifically set forth in
the September Financial Statements or Schedule 4.16, (i) BJ HLS, HZ HLS and
HollySys Subsidiary has filed on a timely basis (taking into account any
extensions received from the relevant taxing authorities) all returns and
reports pertaining to all Taxes that are or were required to be filed by BJ HLS,
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HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary with the appropriate taxing authorities in all
jurisdictions in which such returns and reports are or were required to be
filed, and all such returns and reports are true, correct and complete in all
material respects, (ii) all Taxes that are due from or may be asserted against
BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary (including deferred Taxes) in respect of
or attributable to all periods ending on or before the Closing Date have been or
will be fully paid, deposited or adequately provided for on the books and
financial statements of BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary or are being
contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, (iii) no issues have been
raised (or are currently pending) by any taxing authority in connection with any
of the returns and reports referred to in clause (a) which might be determined
adversely to BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary and which could have a
HollySys Material adverse effect, (iv) Neither BJ HLS, HZ HLS nor HollySys
Subsidiary has given or requested to give waivers or extensions of any statute
of limitations with respect to the payment of Taxes and (e) no tax liens which
have not been satisfied or discharged by payment or concession by the relevant
taxing authority or as to which sufficient reserves have not been established on
the books and financial statements of BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary are
in force as of the date hereof. Schedule 4.16 sets forth all accurate and
complete list of each taxing authority to which BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys
Subsidiary are required or may be required to file notices, returns or payments,
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with a brief description of the tax or exemption applicable to BJ HLS, HZ HLS
and HollySys Subsidiary.

      4.17 ABSENCE OF CERTAIN CHANGES. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.17 or
agreed by CNCAC in advance and incurred in ordinary business in compliance with
past practice, neither BJ HLS, HZ HLS nor HollySys Subsidiary has, since
September 30, 2005:

            (a) issued, delivered or agreed to issue or deliver any stock, bonds
or other corporate securities (whether authorized and unissued or held in the
treasury), or granted or agreed to grant any options (including employee stock
options), warrants or other rights for the issue thereof;

            (b) borrowed or agreed to borrow any funds exceeding $1,000,000 (or
other currency equivalent) except current bank borrowings not in excess of the
amount thereof shown on the September Financial Statements;

            (c) incurred any obligation or liability, absolute, accrued,
contingent or otherwise, whether due or to become due exceeding $1,000,000 (or
other currency equivalent), except current liabilities for trade obligations
incurred in the ordinary course of business and consistent with prior practice;

            (d) discharged or satisfied any encumbrance exceeding $1,000,000 (or
other currency equivalent) other than those then required to be discharged or
satisfied, or paid any obligation or liability other than current liabilities
shown on the 2005 Financial Statements and liabilities incurred since June 30,
2005 in the ordinary course of business and consistent with prior practice;

            (e) sold, transferred, leased to others or otherwise disposed of any
assets exceeding $1,000,000 (or other currency equivalent), except for
inventories sold in the ordinary course of business and assets no longer used or
useful in the conduct of its business, or canceled or compromised any debt or
claim, or waived or released any right of substantial value;
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            (f) received any notice of termination of any Contract, Lease or
other agreement, or suffered any damage, destruction or loss exceeding
$1,000,000 (or other currency equivalent) (whether or not covered by insurance)
which, in any case or in the aggregate, has had, or might reasonably be expected
to have, a HollySys Material Adverse Effect;

            (g) had any material change in its relations with its employees or
agents, clients or insurance carriers which has had or might reasonably be
expected to have a HollySys Material Adverse Effect;

            (h) transferred or granted any rights under, or entered into any
settlement regarding the breach or infringement of, any Intellectual Property or
modified any existing rights with respect thereto;

            (i) declared or made, or agreed to declare or make, any payment of
dividends or distributions of any assets of any kind whatsoever to any
shareholder of BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary or any affiliate of any
shareholder of BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary, or purchased or redeemed,
or agreed to purchase or redeem, any of its capital stock, or made or agreed to
make any payment to any shareholder of BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary or
any affiliate of any shareholder of any BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary,
whether on account of debt, management fees or otherwise;

            (j) suffered any other material adverse effect in its assets,
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liabilities, financial condition, results of operations or business; or

            (k) entered into any agreement or made any commitment to take any of
the types of action described in any of the foregoing clauses (other than
clauses (f), (g) or (j)).

      4.18 EMPLOYEE PLANS; LABOR MATTERS. The 2005 Financial Statements and
Schedule 4.18 together contain an accurate and complete list and description of
all employee benefits, including without limitation pension, medical insurance,
work related injury insurance, birth and nursery insurance, unemployment
insurance and educational benefits, which BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary
are obligated to pay, including amounts and recipients of such payments. Except
as disclosed in the September Financial Statements or Schedule 4.18, BJ HLS, HZ
HLS and HollySys Subsidiary has complied with all applicable Laws relating to
employment benefits, including, without limitation, pension, medical insurance,
work-related injury insurance, birth and nursery insurance, unemployment
insurance and educational benefits. All contributions or payments required to be
made by BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary with respect to employee benefits
have been made on or before their due dates. Except as disclosed in the 2005
Financial Statements or Schedule 4.18, all such contributions and payments
required to be made by any employees of HollySys Subsidiary with respect to the
employee benefits have been fully deducted and paid to the relevant Governmental
Authorities on or before their due dates, and no such deductions have been
challenged or disallowed by any Governmental Authority or any employee of BJ
HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary.

      4.19 COMPLIANCE WITH LAW. The Business has been conducted, and is now
being conducted, by BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary in compliance in all
material respects with all applicable Laws. Neither BJ HLS, HZ HLS nor HollySys
Subsidiary and no officers, directors and employees of BJ HLS, HZ HLS or
HollySys Subsidiary (i) is, and during the past five years was, in violation of,

                                     A-19

or not in compliance with, in any material respect all such applicable Laws with
respect to the conduct of the Business; and (ii) has received any notice from
any Governmental Authority, and to the best of its knowledge, no Action is
threatened which alleges that BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary has
violated, or not complied with, any of the above.

      4.20 NO ILLEGAL OR IMPROPER TRANSACTIONS. Neither BJ HLS, HZ HLS nor
HollySys Subsidiary nor any other officer, director, employee, agent or
affiliate of BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary has offered, paid or agreed
to pay to any Person or entity (including any governmental official) or
solicited, received or agreed to receive from any such Person or entity,
directly or indirectly, in any manner which is in violation of any applicable
policy of BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary, ordinance, regulation or law,
any money or anything of value for the purpose or with the intent of (i)
obtaining or maintaining business for BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary,
(ii) facilitating the purchase or sale of any product or service, or (iii)
avoiding the imposition of any fine or penalty.

      4.21 RELATED TRANSACTIONS. Except as set forth in the 2005 Financial
Statements or Schedule 4.21, and except for compensation to employees for
services rendered, neither BJ HLS, HZ HLS nor HollySys Subsidiary and no other
current or former director, officer, employee or shareholder or any associate
(as defined in the rules promulgated under the Exchange Act) of BJ HLS, HZ HLS
or HollySys Subsidiary is presently, or during the last three fiscal years has
been, (a) a party to any transaction with any BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys
Subsidiary (including, but not limited to, any Contract providing for the
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furnishing of services by, or rental of real or personal property from, or
otherwise requiring payments to, any such director, officer, employee or
shareholder or such associate), or (b) the direct or indirect owner of an
interest in any corporation, firm, association or business organization which is
a present (or potential) competitor, supplier or customer of BJ HLS, HZ HLS or
HollySys Subsidiary nor does any such Person receive income from any source
other than BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary which relates to the business
of, or should properly accrue to, BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary.

      4.22 RECORDS. The books of account, minute books, stock certificate books
and stock transfer ledgers of BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary are
complete and correct in all material respects, and there have been no material
transactions involving BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary which are required
to be set forth therein and which have not been so set forth.

      4.23 INSURANCE. Schedule 4.23 sets forth a complete list and complete and
accurate description of all insurance policies maintained by BJ HLS, HZ HLS and
HollySys Subsidiary which are in force as of the date hereof and the amounts of
coverage thereunder. During the past three years, neither BJ HLS, HZ HLS nor
HollySys Subsidiary has been refused insurance in connection with the Business,
nor has any claim in excess of $10,000 been made in respect of any such
agreements or policies, except as set forth in Schedule 4.23 hereto. Such
insurance is adequate to protect BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary and its
financial condition against the risks involved in the conduct of the Business.

      4.24 LITIGATION. Except as set forth in Schedule 4.24, there are no
Actions by any Governmental Authority or Person by or against BJ HLS, HZ HLS or
HollySys Subsidiary, nor to the best of its knowledge, any threatened Action by
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any Governmental Authority or Person against BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys
Subsidiary. Neither BJ HLS, HZ HLS nor HollySys Subsidiary or any of their
respective property is subject to any Action by a Governmental Authority or
Person which would cause a HollySys Material Adverse Effect.

      4.25 SETTLED LITIGATION. Schedule 4.25 sets forth a description of all
threatened, withdrawn, settled or litigated claims against BJ HLS, HZ HLS or
HollySys Subsidiary during the last three years.

      4.26 BROKERS. No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any
brokerage, finder's or other fee or commission in connection with the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by or
on behalf of HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys Subsidiary or any
HollySys Stockholder.

      4.27 AFFILIATES. BJ HLS owns the following interests: (i) 37.5% of New
Huake Electronics Technology Co., Ltd.; (ii) 40% of HollySys Electric Tech. Co.,
Ltd.; (iii) 40% of HollySys information Technology Co., Ltd., (iv) 89.11% of
Beijing HollySys Zhonghao Automation Engineering Technology Co., Ltd.; (v)
16.96% of Beijing HollySys Hengye Science & Technology Co., Ltd.; (vi) 72% of
Shenzhen HollySys Automation Engineering Co., Ltd.; (vii) 5% of Zhongjijing
Investment & Consulting Co., Ltd.; (viii) 20% of HollySys Equipment Technology
Co., Ltd. and (ix) 50% of Beijing Tech-Energy Co. (collectively, the
"Affiliates"). There are no contracts between any Affiliate and either BJ HLS
and HZ HLS that would require disclosure under Section 0 or licenses of
Intellectual Property Rights to an Affiliate by either BJ HLS, HZ HLS or the
HollySys Subsidiary that would require disclosure under Section 0.

      4.28 DISCLOSURE. No representation or warranty by BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys
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Subsidiary or each HollySys Stockholder contained in this Agreement and no
information contained in any Schedule or other instrument furnished or to be
furnished to CNCAC pursuant to this Agreement or in connection with the
transactions contemplated hereby contains or will contain any untrue statement
of a material fact or omits or will omit to state a material fact necessary in
order to make the statements contained therein not misleading.

      4.29 SURVIVAL OF REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. The representations and
warranties of BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys Subsidiary and each HollySys Stockholder
set forth in ARTICLE IV of this Agreement shall survive the Closing for a period
of four years, except that the representations and warranties set forth in
Sections 0, 0 and 0 shall survive without limitation as to time and the
representations and warranties set forth in Section 0 shall survive until the
expiration of the statute of limitations with respect to each respective Tax.

                                    ARTICLE V
                     REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF CNCAC

      CNCAC represents and warrants to HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS and
each HollySys Stockholder as follows, and after Chardan Sub has been set up by
CNCAC, the representations and warranties set forth in Section 5.2(c), 5.3, 5.4,
5.6, 5.9, 5.10, 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14, 5.15, 5.16 apply to Chardan Sub:
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      5.1 ORGANIZATION. CNCAC is, and Chardan Sub will be, a corporation duly
organized, validly existing and in good standing under the law of Delaware and
BVI, respectively.

      5.2 CAPITALIZATION.

            (a) Capitalization.

                  (i) The authorized capital stock of CNCAC includes 20,000,000
shares of common stock and 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock of which
7,000,000 shares of common stock are issued and outstanding and no shares of
preferred stock are issued and outstanding. There are warrants outstanding to
purchase up to 11,500,000 shares of common stock at a current exercise price of
$5.00 per share (the number and price subject to adjustment), expiring August 2,
2009 and an option to purchase 250,000 units exercisable at $7.50 per unit, with
each unit being comprised of one share of common stock and two warrants, with
each such warrant issuable upon exercise of a unit being exercisable for one
share at $6.65. Except as set forth in this Section 5.2, there are no other
options, warrants or rights (other than as contemplated by this Agreement) to
acquire any capital stock of CNCAC.

                  (ii) As of the Closing, the authorized capital stock of
Chardan Sub will include 50,000,000 shares of common stock and 1,000,000 shares
of preferred stock, of which 100 shares of common stock will be issued and
outstanding held by CNCAC and no shares of preferred stock will be issued and
outstanding. As of the Closing, there will be no options, warrants or rights
(other than as contemplated by this Agreement) to acquire any capital stock of
Chardan Sub.

                  (iii) Upon the merger of CNCAC with and into Chardan Sub, for
the purpose of re-domestication into the BVI, (i) each outstanding share of
CNCAC will be converted into one share of Chardan Sub, and the existing 100
shares of Chardan Sub Stock issued and outstanding will be extinguished as a
contribution to capital, and (ii) there will be assumed the obligation to issue
shares of common stock upon exercise of the currently outstanding CNCAC warrants
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and options.

                  (iv) Upon the acquisition of HollySys Holdings as contemplated
by this Agreement, there will be issued the shares of CNCAC as set forth
elsewhere in this Agreement.

            (b) Ownership. CNCAC will be the registered and sole beneficial
owner of all the currently issued and outstanding shares of Chardan Sub Stock,
aggregating 100 shares.

            (c) Disputes. There are no disputes, arbitrations or litigation
proceedings involving CNCAC with respect to the common stock and outstanding
warrants, options and other rights relating to the capital stock of CNCAC.

            (d) Issuances. Except for the issuance of common stock, warrants and
options as set forth in the SEC Reports of Chardan and the Registration
Statement on Form S-1, SEC Registration Statement No. 333-125016, there have not
been any issuances of capital securities or options, warrants or rights to
acquire the capital securities of CNCAC.
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      5.3 AUTHORITY AND CORPORATE ACTION; NO CONFLICT.

            (a) CNCAC has all necessary corporate power and authority to enter
this Agreement and, subject to the requirement to obtain stockholder approval,
to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. Except for the actions
required to redomesticate CNCAC in the British Virgin Islands, all board of
directors action necessary to be taken by CNCAC to authorize the execution,
delivery and performance of this Agreement, the Transaction Documents and all
other agreements delivered in connection with this transaction has been duly and
validly taken. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by CNCAC and
constitutes the valid, binding, and enforceable obligation of CNCAC, enforceable
in accordance with its terms, except (i) as enforceability may be limited by
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, fraudulent
transfer or similar laws of general application now or hereafter in effect
affecting the rights and remedies of creditors and by general principles of
equity (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in a proceeding at law or in
equity), (ii) as enforceability of any indemnification provision may be limited
by federal and state securities laws and public policy and (iii) as
enforceability may be limited by the absence of stockholder approval.

            (b) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement or any of
the other documents contemplated hereby by CNCAC nor (assuming receipt of
stockholder approval) the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby
or thereby will (i) conflict with, result in a breach or violation of or
constitute (or with notice of lapse of time or both constitute) a default under,
(A) the Certificate of Incorporation or By-Laws of CNCAC or (B) any law,
statute, regulation, order, judgment or decree or any instrument contract or
other agreement to which CNCAC is a party or by which CNCAC (or any of the
properties or assets of CNCAC) is subject or bound; (ii) result in the creation
of, or give any party the right to create, any lien, charge, option, security
interest or other encumbrance upon the assets of CNCAC; (iii) terminate or
modify, or give any third party the right to terminate or modify, the provisions
or terms of any contract to which CNCAC is a party; or (iv) result in any
suspension, revocation, impairment, forfeiture or nonrenewal of any permit,
license, qualification, authorization or approval applicable to CNCAC.

      5.4 CONSENTS AND APPROVALS. Other than the requirement to obtain
stockholder approval and satisfy the redomestication and merger requirements of

Edgar Filing: GRILLO ANTHONY - Form 4

Explanation of Responses: 126



Delaware and the British Virgin Islands, the execution and delivery of this
Agreement and the Transaction Documents by CNCAC does not, and the performance
of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents by each will not, require any
consent, approval, authorization or other action by, or filing with or
notification to, any Governmental Authority, except where failure to obtain such
consents, approvals, authorizations or actions, or to make such filings or
notifications, would not prevent it from performing any of its material
obligations under this Agreement and the Transaction Documents.

      5.5 VALID ISSUANCE OF CHARDAN SUB STOCK. The shares of Chardan Sub Stock
to be issued to the HollySys Stockholders will be duly and validly authorized
and, when issued and delivered in accordance with the terms hereof for the
consideration provided for herein, will be validly issued and will constitute
legally binding obligations of Chardan Sub in accordance with their terms and
will have been issued in compliance with all applicable federal and state
securities laws.
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      5.6 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

            (a) The audited consolidated financial statements and the unaudited
consolidated financial statements of CNCAC included in CNCAC's Quarterly Report
on Form 10-QSB for the quarter ended September 30, 2005 fairly present in
conformity with GAAP applied on a consistent basis the financial position and
assets and liabilities of CNCAC as of the dates thereof and CNCAC's results of
operations and cash flows for the periods then ended (subject, in the case of
any unaudited interim financial statement, to normal, recurring year-end
adjustments which were not or are not expected to be material in amount). The
balance sheet of CNCAC as of September 30, 2005 that is included in such
financial statements is referred to herein as "CNCAC's Balance Sheet."

            (b) Attached hereto as Schedule 5.6(b) is an unaudited, unreviewed
balance sheet of CNCAC prepared by management of CNCAC as of a date within seven
days prior to the date of this Agreement, prepared in accordance with GAAP,
applied on a consistent basis with prior practice of CNCAC.

      5.7 SEC REPORTS.

            (a) CNCAC has delivered to HollySys or has made available by
publicly available filing, (i) CNCAC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB for the
quarter ended September 30, 2005 (ii) CNCAC's prospectus, dated August 2, 2005,
relating to its initial public offering of securities, and (iii) all other
reports filed by CNCAC under the Exchange Act (all of such materials, together
with any amendments thereto and documents incorporated by reference therein, are
referred to herein as the "SEC Reports").

            (b) As of its filing date or, if applicable, its effective date,
each SEC Report complied in all material respects with the requirements of the
Laws applicable to CNCAC for such SEC Report, including the Securities Act and
the Exchange Act.

            (c) Each SEC Report as of its filing date and the prospectus
referred to in clause (iii) of Section 00, as of its effective date, did not
contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material
fact necessary in order to make the statements made therein, in the light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. CNCAC has filed all
reports under the Exchange Act that were required to be filed as of the date
hereof and will have filed all such reports required to have been filed through
the Closing Date and has otherwise materially complied with all requirements of
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the Securities Act and the Exchange Act.

      5.8 TRUST FUND. As of the date hereof and at the Closing Date, CNCAC has
and will have no less than $30,000,000 invested in Government Securities in a
trust account with Lehman Brothers, administered by Continental Stock Transfer
Trust Company, less such amounts, if any, as CNCAC is required to pay to
stockholders who elect to have their shares redeemed in accordance with the
provisions of CNCAC's Certificate of Incorporation.

      5.9 NO UNDISCLOSED LIABILITIES. CNCAC does not have any liabilities, debts
or cash contingencies, pledges in any form, obligations, undertakings or
arrangements, whether known or unknown, absolute, accrued, contingent or
otherwise, except (a) as and to the extent reflected or reserved against on
CNCAC's Balance Sheet; and (b) those incurred since September 30, 2005 in the
ordinary course of business and consistent with prior practice.
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      5.10 ABSENCE OF CERTAIN CHANGES. Except as contemplated by this Agreement
and those incurred in ordinary business consistent with past practice, CNCAC has
not, since September 30, 2005:

            (a) issued, delivered or agreed to issue or deliver any stock, bonds
or other corporate securities (whether authorized and unissued or held in the
treasury), or granted or agreed to grant any options (including employee stock
options), warrants or other rights for the issue thereof;

            (b) been removed from trading on the OTC-BB because of a breach or
violation of any applicable laws, or received notice by any security supervisory
agencies warning or punishing CNCAC due to a violation of exchange market rules
or receive notice of termination or suspension in trading on the OTC-BB, except
for suspensions for trading in normal situations;

            (c) borrowed or agreed to borrow any funds exceeding $200,000,
except current bank borrowings not in excess of the amount thereof shown on the
Balance Sheet;

            (d) incurred any obligation or liability, absolute, accrued,
contingent or otherwise, whether due or to become due exceeding $200,000, except
current liabilities for trade obligations incurred in the ordinary course of
business and consistent with prior practice;

            (e) discharged or satisfied any encumbrance exceeding $200,000 other
than those then required to be discharged or satisfied, or paid any obligation
or liability other than current liabilities shown on the Balance Sheet and
liabilities incurred since September 30, 2005 in the ordinary course of business
and consistent with prior practice;

            (f) sold, transferred, leased to others or otherwise disposed of any
assets exceeding $100,000, except for inventories sold in the ordinary course of
business and assets no longer used or useful in the conduct of its business, or
canceled or compromised any debt or claim, or waived or released any right of
substantial value;

            (g) received any notice of termination of any Contract, Lease or
other agreement, or suffered any damage, destruction or loss exceeding $100,000
(whether or not covered by insurance) which, in any case or in the aggregate,
has had, or might reasonably be expected to have, a material adverse effect on
the business or financial condition of CNCAC ("CNCAC Material Adverse Effect");
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            (h) had any material change in its relations with its employees or
agents, clients or insurance carriers which has had or might reasonably be
expected to have a CNCAC Material Adverse Effect;

            (i) suffered any other serious material adverse effect in its
assets, liabilities, financial condition, results of operations or business; or
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            (j) entered into any agreement or made any commitment to take any of
the types of action described in any of the foregoing clauses (other than
clauses (f), (g) or (i)).

      5.11 COMPLIANCE WITH LAW. The business of CNCAC has been conducted, and is
now being conducted, in compliance in all material respects with all applicable
Laws. CNCAC and its officers, directors and employees (i) are not, and during
the periods of CNCAC's existence were not, in violation of, or not in compliance
with, in any material respect all such applicable Laws with respect to the
conduct of the businesses of CNCAC; and (ii) have not received any notice from
any Governmental Authority, and to the best of the knowledge of CNCAC none is
threatened, alleging that CNCAC has violated, or not complied with, any of the
above.

      5.12 LITIGATION. There are no actions, suits, arbitrations or other
proceedings pending or, to the best of the knowledge of CNCAC, threatened
against CNCAC at law or in equity before any Governmental Authority. Neither
CNCAC nor any of their property is subject to any order, judgment, injunction or
decree that would have a material adverse effect on the business or financial
condition of CNCAC.

      5.13 BROKERS. No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any
brokerage, finder's or other fee or commission in connection with the
transaction contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on
behalf of CNCAC.

      5.14 SURVIVAL OF REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. The representations and
warranties of CNCAC set forth in this Agreement shall survive the Closing for a
period of four years, except that the representations in Section 0 shall survive
without limitation as to time.

      5.15 RECORDS. The books of account, minute books, stock certificate books
and stock transfer ledgers of CNCAC are complete and correct in all material
respects, and there have been no material transactions involving CNCAC which are
required to be set forth therein and which have not been so set forth.

      5.16 DISCLOSURE. No representation or warranty by CNCAC contained in this
Agreement and no information contained in any Schedule or other instrument
furnished or to be furnished to BJ HLS, HZ HLS or the HollySys Stockholders
pursuant to this Agreement or in connection with the transactions contemplated
hereby contains or will contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omits
or will omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements
contained therein not misleading.

                                   ARTICLE VI
                COVENANTS REGARDING HOLLYSYS, HOLLYSYS SUBSIDIARY
                          AND THE HOLLYSYS STOCKHOLDERS

      6.1 CONDUCT OF THE BUSINESS. Each HollySys Stockholder covenants and
agrees that, from the date hereof through the Closing Date, except as otherwise
set forth in this Agreement or with the prior written consent of CNCAC, they
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shall, and shall use their best efforts to cause HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ
HLS and HollySys Subsidiary to:
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            (a) conduct the Business only in the ordinary course and in a manner
consistent with the current practice of the Business, except as required to
reorganize for the purpose of satisfying Section 6.14 hereof, to preserve
substantially intact the business organization of BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys
Subsidiary, to keep available the services of the current employees of BJ HLS,
HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary, to preserve the current relationships of BJ HLS,
HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary with customers and other persons with which BJ
HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary has significant business relations and to
comply with all Laws;

            (b) except as required to reorganize for the purpose of satisfying
Section 6.14 hereof, not pledge, sell, transfer, dispose or otherwise encumber
or grant any rights or interests to others of any kind with respect to all or
any part of the stock of HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS, or HollySys
Subsidiary, or enter into any discussions or negotiations with any other party
to do so;

            (c) not pledge, sell, lease, transfer, dispose of or otherwise
encumber any property or assets of BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary, other
than consistent with past practices and in the ordinary course of business of BJ
HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary or enter into any discussions or
negotiations with any other party to do so;

            (d) except as required to reorganize for the purpose of satisfying
Section 6.14 hereof, not issue any shares of capital stock of HollySys Holdings,
BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary or any other class of securities, whether
debt (other than debt incurred in the ordinary course of business and consistent
with past practice) or equity, of HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys
Subsidiary or any options therefor or any securities convertible into or
exchangeable for capital stock of HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys
Subsidiary or enter into any agreements in respect of the ownership or control
of such capital stock;

            (e) not declare any dividend or make any distribution in cash,
securities or otherwise on the outstanding shares of capital stock of HollySys
Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary or directly or indirectly
redeem, purchase or in any other manner whatsoever advance, transfer (other than
in payment for goods received or services rendered in the ordinary course of
business), or distribute to any of their affiliates or otherwise withdraw cash
or cash equivalents in any manner inconsistent with established cash management
practices, except to pay existing indebtedness of BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys
Subsidiary;

            (f) not make, agree to make or announce any general wage or salary
increase or enter into any employment contract or, unless provided for on or
before the date of this Agreement, increase the compensation payable or to
become payable to any officer or employee of BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys
Subsidiary or adopt or increase the benefits of any bonus, insurance, pension or
other employee benefit plan, payment or arrangement, except for those increases,
consistent with past practices, normally occurring as the result of regularly
scheduled salary reviews and increases, and except for increases directly or
indirectly required as a result of changes in applicable law or regulations;

            (g) not to amend the Memorandum and Articles of Association (or
other organizational documents) of HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys
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Subsidiary;
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            (h) except as required to reorganize for the purpose of satisfying
Section 6.14, not to merge or consolidate with, or acquire all or substantially
all the assets of, or otherwise acquire any business operations of, any Person;

            (i) not to make any payments outside the ordinary course of
business; and

            (j) not make any capital expenditures, except in accordance with
prudent business and operational practices consistent with prior practice.

      6.2 ACCESS TO INFORMATION. Between the date of this Agreement and the
Closing Date, the HollySys Stockholders will, and will use their best efforts to
cause BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary to, (i) permit CNCAC and its
Representatives reasonable access to all of the books, records, reports and
other related materials, offices and other facilities and properties of BJ HLS,
HZ HLS, HollySys Subsidiary and the Business; (ii) permit CNCAC and its
Representatives to make such inspections thereof as CNCAC may reasonably
request; and (iii) furnish CNCAC and its Representatives with such financial and
operating data (including without limitation the work papers of HollySys's
Accountants) and other information with respect to HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ
HLS and HollySys Subsidiary and the Business as CNCAC may from time to time
reasonably request.

      6.3 INSURANCE. Through the Closing Date, the HollySys Stockholders shall
use their best efforts to cause BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary to
maintain insurance policies providing insurance coverage for the Business and
the assets of BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary of the kinds, in the
amounts and against the risks as are commercially reasonable for the businesses
and risks covered.

      6.4 PROTECTION OF CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION; NON-COMPETITION.

            (a) Confidential Information. Each HollySys Stockholder acknowledges
that:

                  (i) As a result of their stock ownership of and employment by
BJ HLS, HZ HLS HollySys Subsidiary, they have obtained secret and confidential
information concerning the Business including, without limitation, financial
information, trade secrets and "know-how," customers, and certain methodologies
("Confidential Information").

                  (ii) BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary will suffer
substantial damage which will be difficult to compute if they should divulge
Confidential Information or enter a business competitive with that of BJ HLS, HZ
HLS or HollySys Subsidiary.

                  (iii) The provisions of this Section are reasonable and
necessary for the protection of the Business.

            (b) Maintain Confidentiality. Each HollySys Stockholder agrees to
not at any time after the date hereof divulge to any person or entity any
Confidential Information obtained or learned as a result of stock ownership of
BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary and employment by BJ HLS, HZ HLS or
HollySys Subsidiary except (i) with the express written consent of CNCAC on or
before the Closing Date and of Chardan Sub's Board of Directors thereafter; (ii)
to the extent that any such information is in the public domain other than as a
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result of a breach of any obligations hereunder; or (iii) where required to be
disclosed by court order, subpoena or other government process. If any HollySys
Stockholder shall be required to make disclosure pursuant to the provisions of
clause (iii) of the preceding sentence, it will promptly, but in no event more
than 72 hours after learning of such subpoena, court order, or other government
process, notify, by personal delivery or by electronic means, confirmed by mail,
BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary and, at the expense of BJ HLS, HZ HLS or
HollySys Subsidiary, shall: (i) take all reasonably necessary steps required by
BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary to defend against the enforcement of such
subpoena, court order or other government process, and (ii) permit BJ HLS, HZ
HLS or HollySys Subsidiary to intervene and participate with counsel of its
choice in any proceeding relating to the enforcement thereof.

            (c) Records. At the Closing, each HollySys Stockholder will promptly
deliver to BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary all original memoranda, notes,
records, reports, manuals, formula and other documents relating to the Business
and all property associated therewith, which they then possess or have under
their control; provided, however, that they shall be entitled to retain copies
of such documents reasonably necessary to document their financial relationship
with BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary.

            (d) Non-Compete. During the Non-Competition Period, no HollySys
Stockholder, without the prior written permission of HollySys Holdings, shall,
anywhere in the PRC, Hong Kong and Taiwan, directly or indirectly, (i) enter
into the employ of or render any services to any person, firm or corporation
engaged in any business which is a "Competitive Business" (as defined below);
(ii) engage in any Competitive Business for his own account; (iii) become
associated with or interested in any Competitive Business as an individual,
partner, shareholder, creditor, director, officer, principal, agent, employee,
trustee, consultant, advisor or in any other relationship or capacity; (iv)
employ or retain, or have or cause any other person or entity to employ or
retain, any person who was employed or retained by BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys
Subsidiary or any other HollySys Stockholder in the six-month period prior to
the date that all relationships of such person terminates with BJ HLS, HZ HLS,
HollySys Subsidiary or other HollySys Stockholder; or (v) solicit, interfere
with, or endeavor to entice away from BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys Subsidiary or any
HollySys Stockholder, for the benefit of a Competitive Business, any of its
customers or other persons with whom BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys Subsidiary or any
HollySys Stockholder has a business relationship. However, nothing in this
Agreement shall preclude them from investing their personal assets in the
securities of any corporation or other business entity which is engaged in a
Competitive Business if such securities are traded on a national stock exchange
or in the over-the-counter market and if such investment does not result in
their beneficially owning, at any time, more than 1% of the publicly-traded
equity securities of such Competitive Business.

            (e) Injunctive Relief. If any HollySys Stockholder breaches, or
threatens to breach, any of the provisions of Sections 00, 0 or 0, BJ HLS, HZ
HLS and HollySys Subsidiary shall have the right and remedy to have the
provisions of this Section 0 specifically enforced by any Governmental
Authority, it being acknowledged and agreed by each HollySys Stockholder that
any such breach or threatened breach will cause irreparable injury to BJ HLS, HZ
HLS and HollySys Subsidiary and that money damages will not provide an adequate
remedy.

            (f) Modification of Scope. If any provision of Sections 00, 0 or 0
is held to be unenforceable because of the scope, duration or area of its
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applicability, the Governmental Authority making such determination shall have
the power to modify such scope, duration, or area, or all of them, and such
provision or provisions shall then be applicable in such modified form.
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            (g) Competitive Business. As used in this Agreement,

                  (i) "Competitive Business" means any business which operates
in any aspect of the Business; and

                  (ii) "Non-Competition Period" means the period beginning on
the Closing Date and ending on the later of five years from the Closing Date or
two years after the date all relationships between the HollySys Stockholder and
BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary have been terminated, including
relationships as a consultant or employee.

      6.5 POST-CLOSING ASSURANCES. From time to time after the Closing, at
CNCAC's request, the HollySys Stockholders will, and will use their best efforts
to cause BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary to, take such other actions and
execute and deliver such other documents, certifications and further assurances
as CNCAC may reasonably require in order to manage and operate BJ HLS, HZ HLS
and HollySys Subsidiary and the Business, including but not limited to executing
such certificates as may be reasonably requested by CNCAC's Accountants in
connection with any audit of the financial statements of BJ HLS, HZ HLS and
HollySys Subsidiary for any period through the Closing Date.

      6.6 NO OTHER NEGOTIATIONS. Until the earlier of the Closing or the
termination of this Agreement, the HollySys Stockholders agree that they will
not, and will use their best efforts to cause HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS
and HollySys Subsidiary not to, (a) solicit, encourage, directly or indirectly,
any inquiries, discussions or proposals for, (b) continue, propose or enter into
any negotiations or discussions looking toward, or (c) enter into any agreement
or understanding providing for any acquisition of any capital stock of HollySys
Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys Subsidiary or of any part of their respective
assets or the Business (in whole or in part), nor shall any HollySys
Stockholder, HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary provide
any information to any Person for the purpose of evaluating or determining
whether to make or pursue any such inquiries or proposals with respect to any
such acquisition. Each HollySys Stockholder shall immediately notify CNCAC of
any such inquiries or proposals or requests for information for such purpose.

      6.7 NO SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS. No HollySys Stockholder nor any of their
affiliates, directly or indirectly, shall engage in any transactions involving
the securities of CNCAC prior to the time of the making of a public announcement
of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The HollySys Stockholders
shall use their best efforts to require each of the officers, directors,
employees, agents and Representatives of HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS and
HollySys Subsidiary to comply with the foregoing requirement.

      6.8 FULFILLMENT OF CONDITIONS. The HollySys Stockholders shall use their
best efforts to fulfill, and to cause HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS and
HollySys Subsidiary to fulfill, the conditions specified in Article IX to the
extent that the fulfillment of such conditions is within their control. The
foregoing obligation includes (a) the execution and delivery of documents
necessary or desirable to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and
(b) taking or refraining from such actions as may be necessary to fulfill such
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conditions (including using their best efforts to conduct the Business in such
manner that on the Closing Date the representations and warranties of each
HollySys Stockholder contained herein shall be accurate as though then made,
except as contemplated by the terms hereof).

      6.9 DISCLOSURE OF CERTAIN MATTERS. From the date hereof through the
Closing Date, each HollySys Stockholder shall give CNCAC prompt written notice
of any event or development that occurs that (a) had it existed or been known on
the date hereof would have been required to be disclosed under this Agreement,
(b) would cause any of the representations and warranties of each HollySys
Stockholder contained herein to be inaccurate or otherwise misleading, (c) gives
the HollySys Stockholder any reason to believe that any of the conditions set
forth in Article IX will not be satisfied, (d) is of a nature that is or may be
materially adverse to the operations, prospects or condition (financial or
otherwise) of BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary or (e) would require any
amendment or supplement to the Proxy Statement.

      6.10 REGULATORY AND OTHER AUTHORIZATIONS; NOTICES AND CONSENTS.

            (a) The HollySys Stockholders shall use, and shall use their best
efforts to cause HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary to
use, their commercially reasonable efforts to obtain all authorizations,
consents, orders and approvals of all Governmental Authorities and officials
that may be or become necessary for their execution and delivery of, and the
performance of their obligations pursuant to, this Agreement and the Transaction
Documents and will cooperate fully with CNCAC in promptly seeking to obtain all
such authorizations, consents, orders and approvals.

            (b) The HollySys Stockholders shall give, and shall use their best
efforts to cause HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary to
give, promptly such notices to third parties and use its or their best efforts
to obtain such third party consents and estoppel certificates as CNCAC may in
its reasonable discretion deem necessary or desirable in connection with the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

            (c) CNCAC shall cooperate and use all reasonable efforts to assist
HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys Subsidiary and each HollySys
Stockholder in giving such notices and obtaining such consents and estoppel
certificates; provided, however, that CNCAC shall have no obligation to give any
guarantee or other consideration of any nature in connection with any such
notice, consent or estoppel certificate or to consent to any change in the terms
of any agreement or arrangement which CNCAC in its sole discretion may deem
adverse to the interests of CNCAC, HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys
Subsidiary or the Business.

      6.11 USE OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY. Each HollySys Stockholder acknowledges
that from and after the Closing, all the Intellectual Property of any kind
related to or used in connection with the Business shall be owned by BJ HLS, HZ
HLS or HollySys Subsidiary, that no HollySys Stockholder nor any of their
affiliates shall have any rights in the Intellectual Property and that no
HollySys Stockholder nor any of their affiliates will contest the ownership or
validity of any rights of Chardan Sub, HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS or
HollySys Subsidiary in or to the Intellectual Property.
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      6.12 RELATED TAX. Each HollySys Stockholder covenants and agrees to pay
any tax and duties assessed on the part of such HollySys Stockholder in
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connection with, or as a result of the issuance of the Chardan Sub Stock and
other consideration received pursuant to this Agreement required by any
Governmental Authority.

      6.13 HOLLYSYS ACQUISITION. The HollySys Stockholders shall do, and shall
use their best efforts to cause HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys
Subsidiary to do, all things necessary in order to effectuate and consummate the
HollySys Holdings Stock Purchase.

      6.14 HOLLYSYS HOLDINGS. The HollySys Stockholders shall use their best
efforts to complete the restructuring related to the formation and ownership of
HollySys Holdings. The HollySys Stockholders shall use their best efforts to
have HollySys Holdings obtain any required approval from its stockholders for
the HollySys Holdings Stock Purchase.

      6.15 HOLLYSYS PROXY INFORMATION. As a condition to CNCAC calling and
holding the Stockholder Meeting (as hereinafter defined), the HollySys
Stockholders will furnish, and shall use their best efforts to cause HollySys
Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary to furnish, to CNCAC such
information as is reasonably required by CNCAC for the preparation of the Proxy
Statement (as hereinafter defined) in accordance with the requirements of the
Commission (as hereinafter defined), including full and accurate descriptions of
the Business, material agreements affecting the Business, BJ HLS, HZ HLS and
HollySys Subsidiary and the reorganization of BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys
Subsidiary, the HollySys Stockholders and the audited consolidated financial
statements of HollySys and HollySys Subsidiary for each of the three years ended
June 30, 2005, which financial statements will include a balance sheet,
statement of operations and statement of cash flows, prepared in accordance with
either PRC GAAP reconciled to US GAAP or entirely in US GAAP, together with
footnotes and interim consolidated quarterly financial statements for the
quarter ended September 30, 2005, as required by the rules and regulations of
the Commission for combination proxy statement disclosure (collectively,
"HollySys Proxy Information"). The HollySys Proxy Information will not contain
any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary in order to make the statements in the HollySys Proxy Information not
misleading.

      6.16 INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION. From the date of this Agreement until
the Closing, the HollySys Stockholders shall use their best efforts to cause BJ
HLS and HZ HLS to provide to CNCAC a copy of (i) the monthly internal management
report of financial information concerning BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys
Subsidiary on an individual and consolidated basis, and (ii) a monthly pro forma
balance sheet and income statement on an individual and consolidated basis for
BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary. The above interim financial information
shall be delivered to CNCAC within twenty-five (25) days after each monthly
anniversary of the date of this Agreement. BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys
Subsidiary will prepare the above financial information in good faith in
accordance with PRC GAAP.
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                                   ARTICLE VII
                               COVENANTS OF CNCAC

      7.1 CONDUCT OF THE BUSINESS. CNCAC covenants and agrees that, from the
date hereof through the Closing Date, except (i) in the context of an
unsolicited, bona fide written proposal for a superior transaction or
consummation of a superior transaction, (ii) as otherwise set forth in this
Agreement or (iii) with the prior written consent of the HollySys Stockholders,
it shall:
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            (a) conduct its business only in the ordinary course and in a manner
consistent with the current practice of their business, except as required to
reorganize for the purpose of redomestication, to preserve substantially intact
the business organization of each CNCAC and Chardan Sub (when established), to
preserve the current relationships of CNCAC and Chardan Sub with customers and
other persons with which they have has significant business relations and to
comply with all Laws;

            (b) except as required to reorganize for the purpose of
redomestication, not pledge, sell, transfer, dispose or otherwise encumber or
grant any rights or interests to others of any kind with respect to all or any
part of the capital securities of CNCAC or Chardan Sub (when established);

            (c) except as required to reorganize for the purpose of
redomestication, not pledge, sell, lease, transfer, dispose of or otherwise
encumber any property or assets of CNCAC and Chardan Sub (when established),
other than consistent with past practices and in the ordinary course of business
of CNCAC and Chardan Sub (when established);

            (d) except as required to reorganize for the purpose of
redomestication, not issue any shares of capital stock of CNCAC and Chardan Sub
(when established) or any other class of securities, whether debt (other than
debt incurred in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past
practice) or equity, of CNCAC and Chardan Sub (when established) or any options
therefor or any securities convertible into or exchangeable for capital stock of
CNCAC and Chardan Sub (when established) or enter into any agreements in respect
of the ownership or control of such capital stock;

            (e) not declare any dividend or make any distribution in cash,
securities or otherwise on the outstanding shares of capital stock of CNCAC and
Chardan Sub (when established) or directly or indirectly redeem, purchase or in
any other manner whatsoever advance, transfer (other than in payment for goods
received or services rendered in the ordinary course of business), or distribute
to any of their affiliates or otherwise withdraw cash or cash equivalents in any
manner inconsistent with established cash management practices, except to pay
existing indebtedness of CNCAC and Chardan Sub (when established);
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            (f) not make, agree to make or announce any general wage or salary
increase or enter into any employment contract or, unless provided for on or
before the date of this Agreement, increase the compensation payable or to
become payable to any officer or employee of CNCAC and Chardan Sub (when
established) or adopt or increase the benefits of any bonus, insurance, pension
or other employee benefit plan, payment or arrangement, except for those
increases, consistent with past practices, normally occurring as the result of
regularly scheduled salary reviews and increases, and except for increases
directly or indirectly required as a result of changes in applicable law or
regulations;

            (g) except as required to reorganize for the purpose of
redomestication, not to amend the Certificate of Incorporation or By-laws or
Memorandum and Articles of Association (or other organizational documents) of
CNCAC and Chardan Sub (when established);

            (h) except as required to reorganize for the purpose of
redomestication, not to merge or consolidate with, or acquire all or
substantially all the assets of, or otherwise acquire any business operations
of, any Person;
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            (i) not to make any payments outside the ordinary course of
business; and

            (j) not make any capital expenditures, except in accordance with
prudent business and operational practices consistent with prior practice.

      7.2 STOCKHOLDER MEETING. CNCAC shall cause a meeting of its stockholders
(the "Stockholder Meeting") to be duly called and held as soon as reasonably
practicable for the purpose of voting on the adoption of this Agreement as
required by CNCAC's Certificate of Incorporation. The directors of CNCAC shall
recommend to its stockholders that they vote in favor of the adoption of such
matter. In connection with such meeting, CNCAC (a) will file with the Securities
and Exchange Commission ("Commission") as promptly as practicable a proxy
statement/prospectus meeting the requirements of the Exchange Act ("Proxy
Statement") and all other proxy materials for such meeting, (b) upon receipt of
approval from the Commission, will mail to its stockholders the Proxy Statement
and other proxy materials, (c) will use its best efforts to obtain the necessary
approvals by its stockholders of this Agreement and the transactions
contemplated hereby, and (d) will otherwise comply with all legal requirements
applicable to such meeting. As a condition to the filing and distribution to the
CNCAC stockholders of the Proxy Statement, CNCAC will have received the HollySys
Proxy Information. The Proxy Statement will also seek stockholder approval for
adoption of the option plan contemplated by Section 8.9.

      7.3 FULFILLMENT OF CONDITIONS. From the date hereof to the Closing Date,
CNCAC shall use its best efforts to fulfill the conditions specified in Article
IX to the extent that the fulfillment of such conditions is within its control.
The foregoing obligation includes (a) the execution and delivery of documents
necessary or desirable to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, and
(b) taking or refraining from such actions as may be necessary to fulfill such
conditions (including conducting the business of CNCAC in such manner that on
the Closing Date the representations and warranties of CNCAC contained herein
shall be accurate as though then made).
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      7.4 DISCLOSURE OF CERTAIN MATTERS. From the date hereof through the
Closing Date, CNCAC shall give the HollySys Stockholders prompt written notice
of any event or development that occurs that (a) had it existed or been known on
the date hereof would have been required to be disclosed under this Agreement,
(b) would cause any of the representations and warranties of CNCAC contained
herein to be inaccurate or otherwise misleading, (c) gives CNCAC any reason to
believe that any of the conditions set forth in Article IX will not be
satisfied, (d) is of a nature that is or may be materially adverse to the
operations, prospects or condition (financial or otherwise) of CNCAC, or (e)
would require any amendment or supplement to the Proxy Statement.

      7.5 CHARDAN SUB INCORPORATION. CNCAC will cause Chardan Sub to be
incorporated and duly organized, to adopt the Plan of Merger, to effectuate the
Chardan Merger, to issue the Chardan Sub Stock and to do all other things as are
necessary for it to do as a constituent corporation to the Chardan Merger. The
covenants as set forth in Section 7.3, 7.4 shall apply to Chardan Sub after it
has been formed.

      7.6 POST-CLOSING ASSURANCES. CNCAC and Chardan Sub from time to time after
the Closing, at the request of HollySys Holdings or the HollySys Stockholders
will take such other actions and execute and deliver such other documents,
certifications and further assurances as HollySys Holdings or HollySys
Stockholders may reasonably require in order to manage and operate CNCAC and
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Chardan Sub and the Business, including but not limited to executing such
certificates as may be reasonably requested by HollySys Holdings or HollySys
Stockholders' Accountants in connection with any audit of the financial
statements of CNCAC and Chardan Sub for any period through the Closing Date.

      7.7 REGULATORY AND OTHER AUTHORIZATIONS; NOTICES AND CONSENTS.

            (a) CNCAC and Chardan Sub (when established) shall use their
commercially reasonable efforts to obtain all authorizations, consents, orders
and approvals of all Governmental Authorities and officials that may be or
become necessary for their execution and delivery of, and the performance of
their obligations pursuant to, this Agreement and the Transaction Documents and
will cooperate fully with HollySys Holdings or HollySys Stockholders in promptly
seeking to obtain all such authorizations, consents, orders and approvals.

            (b) CNCAC and Chardan Sub (when established) shall give promptly
such notices to third parties and use its or their best efforts to obtain such
third party consents and estoppel certificates as HollySys Holdings or HollySys
Stockholders may in their reasonable discretion deem necessary or desirable in
connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

      7.8 BOOKS AND RECORDS.

            (a) On and after the Closing Date, CNCAC will cause Chardan Sub
(when established) to permit the HollySys Stockholders and their
Representatives, during normal business hours, to have access to and to examine
and make copies of all books and records of HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS
and HollySys Subsidiary which are delivered to CNCAC pursuant to this Agreement
and which relate to the Business, BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary or to
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events occurring prior to the Closing Date or to transactions or events
occurring subsequent to the Closing Date which arise out of transactions or
events occurring prior to the Closing Date to the extent reasonably necessary to
the HollySys Stockholders in connection with preparation of any Tax returns, Tax
audits, government or regulatory investigations, lawsuits or any other matter in
which the HollySys Stockholders are a party to the proceeding or in which they
have a reasonable business interest.

            (b) CNCAC will cause Chardan Sub to preserve and keep all books and
records with respect to HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys Subsidiary
and the Business for a period of at least seven years from the Closing Date.
After such seven year period, before Chardan Sub (when established) shall
dispose of any such books and records, at least 90 days' prior written notice to
such effect shall be given by Chardan Sub to the HollySys Stockholders and the
HollySys Stockholders shall be given an opportunity, at their cost and expense,
to remove and retain all or any part of such books or records as they may
select.

      7.9 NASDAQ LISTING. After making the initial filing of the Proxy Statement
with the Commission, CNCAC shall apply to have the shares of Chardan Sub listed
in the Nasdaq National Market following the Closing.

                                  ARTICLE VIII
                       ADDITIONAL COVENANTS OF THE PARTIES

      8.1 OTHER INFORMATION. If in order to properly prepare documents required
to be filed with any Governmental Authority or financial statements of HollySys,
it is necessary that either Party be furnished with additional information
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relating to HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary or the
Business, and such information is in the possession of the other Party, such
Party agrees to use its best efforts to furnish such information in a timely
manner to such other Party, at the cost and expense of the Party being furnished
such information.

      8.2 MAIL RECEIVED AFTER CLOSING.

            (a) If Chardan Sub, HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys
Subsidiary receives after the Closing any mail or other communications addressed
to any HollySys Stockholder, such entity may open such mail or other
communications and deal with the contents thereof in its discretion to the
extent that such mail or other communications and the contents thereof relate to
HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary. Chardan Sub will
deliver promptly or cause to be delivered to the HollySys Stockholders all other
mail addressed to them and the contents thereof which does not relate to
HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys Subsidiary or the Business.

            (b) If any HollySys Stockholder receives after the Closing Date mail
or other communications addressed to them which relate to HollySys Holdings, BJ
HLS, HZ HLS or HollySys Subsidiary, they shall promptly deliver or cause to be
delivered all such mail and the contents thereof to Chardan Sub and HollySys
Holdings.
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      8.3 FURTHER ACTION. Each of the Parties shall execute such documents and
other papers and take such further actions as may be reasonably required or
desirable to carry out the provisions hereof and the transactions contemplated
hereby. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions hereof, each of the Parties
shall use its best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do,
or cause to be done, all other things necessary, proper or advisable to
consummate and make effective as promptly as practicable the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.

      8.4 SCHEDULES. The Parties shall have the obligation to supplement or
amend the Schedules being delivered concurrently with the execution of this
Agreement and annexed hereto with respect to any matter hereafter arising or
discovered which, if existing or known at the date of this Agreement, would have
been required to be set forth or described in the Schedules. The obligations of
the Parties to amend or supplement the Schedules being delivered herewith shall
terminate on the Closing Date. Notwithstanding any such amendment or
supplementation, for purposes of Section 0, the representations and warranties
of the Parties shall be made with reference to the Schedules as they exist at
the time of execution of this Agreement.

      8.5 EXECUTION OF AGREEMENTS. On or before the Closing Date, CNCAC,
HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys Subsidiary and each HollySys
Stockholder shall execute and deliver each Transaction Document which it is a
party to.

      8.6 CONFIDENTIALITY. BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys Subsidiary and each HollySys
Stockholder, on the one hand, and CNCAC and, on and after the Closing Date,
Chardan Sub, on the other hand, shall hold and shall cause their respective
Representatives to hold in strict confidence, unless compelled to disclose by
judicial or administrative process or by other requirements of law, all
documents and information concerning the other Party furnished it by such other
Party or its Representatives in connection with the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement (except to the extent that such information can be shown to have
been (a) previously known by the Party to which it was furnished, (b) in the
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public domain through no fault of such Party or (c) later lawfully acquired from
other sources, which source is not the agent of the other Party, by the Party to
which it was furnished), and each Party shall not release or disclose such
information to any other person, except its Representatives in connection with
this Agreement. Each Party shall be deemed to have satisfied its obligations to
hold confidential information concerning or supplied by the other Party if it
exercises the same care as it takes to preserve confidentiality for its own
similar information.

      8.7 PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENTS. From the date of this Agreement until Closing or
termination, CNCAC, HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys Subsidiary and
each HollySys Stockholder shall cooperate in good faith to jointly prepare all
press releases and public announcements pertaining to this Agreement and the
transactions governed by it, and none of the foregoing shall issue or otherwise
make any public announcement or communication pertaining to this Agreement or
the transaction without the prior consent of CNCAC (in the case of HollySys
Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys Subsidiary and each HollySys Stockholder) or
HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS and the HollySys Stockholders (in the case of
CNCAC), except as required by any legal requirement or by the rules and
regulations of, or pursuant to any agreement of a stock exchange or trading
system. Each party will not unreasonably withhold approval from the others with
respect to any press release or public announcement. If any party determines
with the advice of counsel that it is required to make this Agreement and the
terms of the transaction public or otherwise issue a press release or make
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public disclosure with respect thereto, it shall at a reasonable time before
making any public disclosure, consult with the other party regarding such
disclosure, seek such confidential treatment for such terms or portions of this
Agreement or the transaction as may be reasonably requested by the other party
and disclose only such information as is legally compelled to be disclosed. This
provision will not apply to communications by any party to its counsel,
accountants and other professional advisors.

      8.8 BOARD OF CHARDAN SUB. The board of directors of Chardan Sub after the
Closing will initially consist of 9 persons, with three members designated by
the HollySys Stockholders, one member designated by the Board of CNCAC, and five
directors satisfying the independence requirements of Nasdaq. In addition, the
membership of the board of directors will comply with the requirements in
Article X hereof for the existence of the Independent Committee.

      8.9 STOCK OPTION POOL. CNCAC will submit to its stockholders for approval,
as part of the Proxy Statement, a proposed equity compensation plan that would
permit the granting of stock options, shares of restricted stock and other
awards to all qualified persons (including, but not limited to, management,
directors and employees). The pool of shares initially available for this plan
will equal 10% of the total shares of Chardan Sub expected to be outstanding
immediately after the Closing.

      8.10 HOLLYSYS STOCK ACQUISITION. Each HollySys Stockholder who
participates in the HollySys Holdings Stock Purchase by consignment shall use
his or her best efforts to complete the acquisition of the ownership of the
HollySys Stock by HollySys Holdings from such HollySys Stockholder as soon as
such acquisition is permitted by applicable law and regulations.

                                   ARTICLE IX
                              CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

      9.1 CONDITIONS TO EACH PARTY'S OBLIGATIONS. The respective obligations of
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each Party to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall
be subject to the fulfillment, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the
following conditions.

            (a) Approval by CNCAC's Stockholders. This Agreement and the
transactions contemplated hereby shall have been approved by a
majority-in-interest of the common stockholders of CNCAC in accordance with
CNCAC's Certificate of Incorporation and the aggregate number of shares of
CNCAC's Common Stock held by stockholders of CNCAC (other than the Initial
Stockholders) who exercise their right to convert the shares of common stock of
CNCAC owned by them into cash in accordance with CNCAC's Certificate of
Incorporation shall not constitute 20% or more of the number of shares of
CNCAC's Common Stock outstanding as of the date of this Agreement and owned by
Persons other than the Initial Stockholders.

            (b) Litigation. No order, stay, judgment or decree shall have been
issued by any Governmental Authority preventing, restraining or prohibiting in
whole or in part, the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or
instrumental to the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, and no
action or proceeding by any governmental authority shall be pending or
threatened (including by suggestion through investigation) by any person, firm,
corporation, entity or Governmental Authority, which questions, or seeks to
enjoin, modify, amend or prohibit (a) the reorganization of BJ HLS, HZ HLS and
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HollySys Subsidiary, (b) the ownership of BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys Holdings, and
HollySys Subsidiary, (c) the purchase and sale and issuance of the Chardan Sub
Stock, (d) the Plan of Merger, (e) the Chardan Merger, (f) the Stockholders
Meeting and use of the Proxy Statement by CNCAC, or (g) the conduct in any
material respect of the Business as a whole or any material portion of the
Business conducted or to be conducted by BJ HLS, HZ HLS, or HollySys Subsidiary
or the (direct, indirect or beneficial) ownership of BJ HLS or HZ HLS by the
HollySys Stockholders.

            (c) Transaction Documents. Each of the Transaction Documents shall
have been executed and delivered to each Party.

            (d) Auditor Confirmation. CNCAC and the HollySys Stockholders shall
have received written confirmation from the Company Accountants that any
payments pursuant to Section 0 would be treated for accounting purposes as an
adjustment to the purchase price of the acquired business and not as a
compensation expense.

      9.2 CONDITIONS TO OBLIGATIONS OF HOLLYSYS, HOLLYSYS SUBSIDIARY AND THE
HOLLYSYS STOCKHOLDERS. The obligations of HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS,
HollySys Subsidiary and each HollySys Stockholder to consummate the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement shall be subject to the fulfillment, at or prior
to the Closing, of each of the following conditions:

            (a) Deliveries. Chardan Sub shall have delivered the Chardan Sub
Stock and made the payments specified in Section 0 and the HollySys Stockholders
shall have received confirmations of the payment of the cash portion thereof and
such other documents, certificates and instruments as may be reasonably
requested by the HollySys Stockholders.

            (b) Representations and Warranties; Covenants. Without
supplementation after the date of this Agreement, the representations and
warranties of CNCAC contained in this Agreement shall be with respect to those
representations and warranties qualified by any materiality standard, true and
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correct as of the Closing, and with respect to all the other representations and
warranties, true and correct in all material respects as of the Closing, with
the same force and effect as if made as of the Closing, and all the covenants
contained in this Agreement to be materially complied with by CNCAC on or before
the Closing shall have been materially complied with, and CNCAC shall have
delivered a certificate signed by a duly authorized officer thereof to such
effect.

            (c) Legal Opinion. HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS and the
HollySys Stockholders shall have received from DLA Piper Rudnick Gray Cary US
LLP, counsel to CNCAC, a legal opinion addressed to HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS,
HZ HLS, and the HollySys Stockholders and dated the Closing Date.

            (d) Chardan Sub. Chardan Sub will be an existing company under the
laws of the British Virgin Islands with the name HLS Systems International Ltd.
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            (e) Consents. CNCAC and Chardan Sub shall have obtained and
delivered to HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS and the HollySys Stockholders
copies of consents of all third parties, as appropriately required for the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

            (f) Performance of Agreements. All covenants, agreements and
obligations required by the terms of this Agreement to be performed by CNCAC at
or prior to the Closing shall have been duly and properly performed or fulfilled
in all material respects.

            (g) No Adverse Changes. At the Closing, there shall have been no
material adverse change in the assets, liabilities or financial condition of
CNCAC and Chardan Sub from that shown in the CNCAC Balance Sheet and related
statements of income. Between the date of this Agreement and the Closing Date,
there shall not have occurred an event which, in the reasonable opinion of
HollySys Holdings, would have had a material adverse effect on the operations,
financial condition or prospects of CNCAC and Chardan Sub.

            (h) Supplemental Disclosure. If CNCAC or Chardan Sub shall have
supplemented or amended any schedule pursuant to their obligations set forth in
Section 0 in any material respect, the HollySys Stockholders shall give notice
to CNCAC that as a result of information provided to the HollySys Stockholders
in connection with any or all of such amendments or supplements, the HollySys
Stockholders have determined to proceed with the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby.

            (i) Necessary Proceedings. All proceedings, corporate or otherwise,
to be taken by CNCAC and Chardan Sub in connection with the consummation of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall have been duly and validly
taken, and copies of all documents, resolutions and certificates incident
thereto, duly certified by CNCAC and Chardan Sub, as appropriate, as of the
Closing, shall have been delivered to HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS and the
HollySys Stockholders.

            (j) Trustee Notice. CNCAC (or Chardan Sub), simultaneously with the
Closing, will deliver to the trustee of the trust account of CNCAC (or Chardan
Sub) instructions to disburse the funds therein to the HollySys stockholders,
pursuant to the terms of Section 0, (or their designees) and to CNCAC.

            (k) Resignations. Effective as of the Closing, the directors and
officers of CNCAC who are not continuing as directors and officers of CNCAC (or
as the case may be, Chardan Sub) will have resigned and agreed that they have no
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claim for employment compensation in any form from CNCAC.

            (l) Employment Agreement. BJ HLS and HZ HLS shall have entered into
the employment agreements provided for in Section 9.3.

      9.3 CONDITIONS TO OBLIGATIONS OF CNCAC. The obligations of CNCAC to
consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be subject to
the fulfillment, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following
conditions:
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            (a) Deliveries. The HollySys Stockholders shall have delivered the
HollySys Holdings Stock and the Stock Consignment Agreements listed on Schedule
9.3(a) confirmations of receipt of payments specified in Section 0, and Chardan
Sub shall have received the same and such other documents, certificates and
instruments as may be reasonably requested by CNCAC and the Chardan Sub;

            (b) Representations and Warranties; Covenants. Without
supplementation after the date of this Agreement, the representations and
warranties of each HollySys Stockholder contained in this Agreement shall be
with respect to those representations and warranties qualified by any
materiality standard, true and correct in all respects as of the Closing, and
with respect to all the other representations and warranties, true and correct
in all material respects as of the Closing, with the same force and effect as if
made as of the Closing, and all the covenants contained in this Agreement to be
complied with by HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys Subsidiary and each
HollySys Stockholder on or before the Closing shall have been materially
complied with, and CNCAC shall have received a certificate of each HollySys
Stockholder to such effect;

            (c) Legal Opinion. CNCAC shall have received from Guan Tao Law Firm
counsel for BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys Holdings, HollySys Subsidiary and the
HollySys Stockholders, a legal opinion addressed to CNCAC, dated the Closing
Date;

            (d) Consents. HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys Subsidiary
and each HollySys Stockholder shall have obtained and delivered to CNCAC
consents of all third parties required by the Contracts and Permits set forth in
Schedule 9.3(d);

            (e) Regulatory Approvals. Any Governmental Authority whose approval
or consent is required each shall have unconditionally approved of the
transactions of HollySys Holdings Stock Purchase contemplated by this Agreement
and CNCAC shall have received written confirmation thereof;

            (f) Performance of Agreements. All covenants, agreements and
obligations required by the terms of this Agreement to be performed by HollySys
Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys Subsidiary and each HollySys Stockholder at
or prior to the Closing shall have been duly and properly performed or fulfilled
in all material respects;

            (g) No Adverse Change. At the Closing, there shall have been no
material adverse change in the assets, liabilities, financial condition or
prospects of HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys Subsidiary or the
Business from that shown or reflected in the September Financial Statements and
as described in the Proxy Statement. Between the date of this Agreement and the
Closing Date, there shall not have occurred an event which, in the reasonable
opinion of CNCAC, would have a HollySys Material Adverse Effect;
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            (h) Supplemental Disclosure. If HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS,
HollySys Subsidiary or any HollySys Stockholder shall have supplemented or
amended any Schedule pursuant to their obligations set forth in Section 0 in any
material respect, CNCAC shall provide notice to HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ
HLS and the HollySys Stockholders that, as a result of information provided to
CNCAC in connection with any or all of such amendments or supplements, CNCAC has
determined to proceed with the consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby; and
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            (i) Necessary Proceedings. All proceedings, corporate or otherwise,
to be taken by HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys Subsidiary and each
HollySys Stockholder in connection with the consummation of the transactions of
HollySys Holdings Stock Purchase contemplated by this Agreement shall have been
duly and validly taken, and copies of all documents, resolutions and
certificates incident thereto, duly certified by HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ
HLS, HollySys Subsidiary and each HollySys Stockholder, as appropriate, as of
the Closing, shall have been delivered to CNCAC.

            (j) HollySys Proxy Information. The HollySys Proxy Information, at
the time of distribution of the Proxy Statement and at Closing, will accurately
reflect the Business, HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys Subsidiary,
and the HollySys Stockholders, and the HollySys Proxy Information will not
contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary in order to make the statements in the HollySys Proxy Information not
misleading.

            (k) Employment Agreement. Each of Dr. Wang Changli and Ms. Qiao Li
shall have entered into an employment agreement with BJ HLS in the form of
Exhibit F.

                                    ARTICLE X
                                 INDEMNIFICATION

      10.1 INDEMNIFICATION BY HOLLYSYS STOCKHOLDERS. Subject to the limitations
set forth in Section 0, each of the HollySys Stockholders shall indemnify and
hold harmless CNCAC (or Chardan Sub after the Closing) from and against, and
shall reimburse CNCAC (or Chardan Sub after the Closing) for, any Damages which
may be sustained, suffered or incurred by them, whether as a result of any Third
Party Claim or otherwise, and which arise from or in connection with or are
attributable to the breach of any of the representations or warranties or
covenants of HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys Subsidiary or the
HollySys Stockholders contained in this Agreement. Indemnification pursuant to
this Section 0 shall be the sole remedy of CNCAC (or Chardan Sub after the
Closing) with respect to any breach of the representations and warranties or
covenants of HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys Subsidiary or any
HollySys Stockholder contained in this Agreement. This indemnity shall survive
the Closing for a period of four years after the Closing Date with respect to
Claims arising under the foregoing clause (i) other than Claims arising as a
result of a breach of the representations and warranties in Sections 0, 0, 0, 0,
0, 0, 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3, as to which it shall survive without limitation as to
time, and (ii) Claims arising as a result of a breach of the representations and
warranties in Sections 3.6, 0, 0 and 0, as to which it shall survive for a
period of six months after the expiration of the statute of limitations. Each
HollySys Stockholder shall give prompt written notice to CNCAC (or Chardan Sub
after the Closing) of any Third Party Claims or other facts and circumstances
known to them which may entitle CNCAC (or Chardan Sub after the Closing) to
indemnification under this Section 0.
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      10.2 INDEMNIFICATION BY CNCAC. Subject to the limitations set forth in
Section 0, CNCAC (and Chardan Sub after the Closing) shall indemnify and hold
harmless each HollySys Stockholder from and against, and shall reimburse each
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HollySys Stockholder for, any Damages which may be sustained, suffered or
incurred by such HollySys Stockholder, whether as a result of Third Party Claims
or otherwise, and which arise or result from or in connection with or are
attributable to the breach of any of CNCAC's representations or warranties or
covenants contained in this Agreement. The indemnity in the foregoing clause (a)
shall survive the Closing for a period of four years after the Closing Date.
CNCAC (or Chardan Sub after the Closing) shall give each HollySys Stockholder
prompt written notice of any Third Party Claims or other facts and circumstances
known to it which may entitle them to indemnification under this Section 0.

      10.3 NOTICE, ETC. A Party required to make an indemnification payment
pursuant to this Agreement ("Indemnifying Party") shall have no liability with
respect to Third Party Claims or otherwise with respect to any covenant,
representation, warranty, agreement, undertaking or obligation under this
Agreement unless the Party entitled to receive such indemnification payment
("Indemnified Party") gives notice to the Indemnifying Party specifying (i) the
covenant, representation or warranty, agreement, undertaking or obligation
contained herein which it asserts has been breached, (ii) in reasonable detail,
the nature and dollar amount (or estimate, if the magnitude of the Claim cannot
be precisely determined at that time) of any Claim the Indemnified Party may
have against the Indemnifying Party by reason thereof under this Agreement, and
(iii) whether or not the Claim is a Third Party Claim. With respect to Third
Party Claims, an Indemnified Party (i) shall give the Indemnifying Party prompt
notice of any Third Party Claim, (ii) prior to taking any action with respect to
such Third Party Claim, shall consult with the Indemnifying Party as to the
procedure to be followed in defending, settling, or compromising the Third Party
Claim, (iii) shall not consent to any settlement or compromise of the Third
Party Claim without the written consent of the Indemnifying Party (which consent
shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), and (iv) shall permit the
Indemnifying Party, if it so elects, to assume the exclusive defense of such
Third Party Claim (including, except as provided in the penultimate sentence of
this Section, the compromise or settlement thereof) at its own cost and expense.
If the Indemnifying Party shall elect to assume the exclusive defense of any
Third Party Claim pursuant to this Agreement, it shall notify the Indemnified
Party in writing of such election, and the Indemnifying Party shall not be
liable hereunder for any fees or expenses of the Indemnified Party's counsel
relating to such Third Party Claim after the date of delivery to the Indemnified
Party of such notice of election. The Indemnifying Party will not compromise or
settle any such Third Party Claim without the written consent of the Indemnified
Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed) if the
relief provided is other than monetary damages or such relief would have a
material adverse effect on the Indemnified Party. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
if the Indemnifying Party elects to assume the defense with respect to any Third
Party Claim, the Indemnifying Party shall have the right to compromise or settle
for solely monetary damages such Third Party Claim, provided such settlement
will not result in or have a material adverse effect on the Indemnified Party.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Party which defends any Third Party Claim
shall, to the extent required by any insurance policies of the Indemnified
Party, share or give control thereof to any insurer with respect to such Claim.

      10.4 LIMITATIONS.

            (a) No HollySys Stockholder shall be required to indemnify CNCAC
under Section 0 unless the aggregate of all amounts for which indemnity would
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otherwise be due against them exceeds $250,000, but then the HollySys
Stockholders will be liable for the full amount of Damages.
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            (b) CNCAC (or Chardan Sub after Closing) shall not be required to
indemnify any HollySys Stockholder under Section 0 unless the aggregate of all
amounts for which indemnity would otherwise be due against it exceeds $250,000,
but then CNCAC (or Chardan Sub after Closing) will be liable for the full amount
of Damages.

            (c) If a Third Party Claim subject to indemnification by any
HollySys Stockholder is brought against HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS or
HollySys Subsidiary and HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS and/or HollySys
Subsidiary prevails in the defense thereof, such HollySys Stockholder shall not
be required to indemnify CNCAC (or Chardan Sub after Closing) with respect to
the costs of such defense, including attorneys' fees.

      10.5 ADJUSTMENT TO PURCHASE PRICE; SETOFF. Any indemnification payments
made pursuant to Sections 0 and 0 shall be deemed to be an adjustment to the
Purchase Price. To the extent that any HollySys Stockholder is obligated to
indemnify CNCAC or the Chardan Sub after Closing under the provisions of the
Article X for Damages reduced to a monetary amount, CNCAC or Chardan Sub after
Closing shall have the right to adjust any amount due and owing or to be due and
owing under any agreement with the HollySys Stockholder (or its designee),
whether under this Agreement or any other agreement between the HollySys
Stockholder and any of CNCAC's or Chardan Sub's affiliates, subsidiaries or
controlled persons or entities (including shares issuable pursuant to Section
1.3). To the extent that CNCAC or Chardan Sub is obligated to indemnify any
HollySys Stockholders after Closing under the provisions of this Article X for
Damages reduced to a monetary amount, such HollySys Stockholders after Closing
shall have the right to decrease any amount due and owing or to be due and owing
under any agreement with CNCAC or Chardan Sub, whether under this Agreement or
any other agreement between the HollySys Stockholder and any of CNCAC's or
Chardan Sub's affiliates, subsidiaries or controlled persons or entities.

      10.6 CLAIMS ON BEHALF OR IN RIGHT OF CNCAC AND CHARDAN SUB. Pursuant to
the provisions of this Article X, if any Claim for indemnification is to be
brought against the HollySys Stockholders on behalf of or by right of CNCAC, (or
Chardan Sub after Closing) such claims will be determined by the Independent
Committee of the Board of Directors. Any settlement of a Claim for
indemnification brought on behalf of or by right of CNCAC (or Chardan Sub after
Closing) shall be determined and approved by the Independent Committee of the
Board of Directors. The Independent Committee of the Board of Directors of CNCAC
(or Chardan Sub after the Closing) will consist of at least two persons which
mutually agreed by HollySys Stockholders and CNCAC, none of which are officers
or employees of CNCAC (or Chardan Sub after the Closing) or any of their
operating subsidiary companies or are direct or beneficial owners of 5% or more
of the voting capital stock of CNCAC (or Chardan Sub after the Closing). For a
period of not less than four years after Closing or until final resolution of
Claims under this Section X brought by or by right of CNCAC (or Chardan Sub
after Closing) the Board of Directors of CNCAC (or Chardan Sub after Closing)
will maintain a sufficient number of directors such that it will be able to
maintain the Independent Committee.
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                                   ARTICLE XI
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                           TERMINATION AND ABANDONMENT

      11.1 METHODS OF TERMINATION. The transactions contemplated herein may be
terminated and/or abandoned at any time but not later than the Closing:

            (a) by mutual written consent of CNCAC and HollySys Stockholders;

            (b) by CNCAC, if HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys
Subsidiary or any HollySys Stockholder amends or supplements any BJ HLS, HZ HLS,
HollySys Subsidiary or HollySys Stockholder schedule hereto in accordance with
Section 0 hereof and such amendment or supplement reflects a material adverse
change in the condition (financial or other), operations or prospects of
HollySys or HollySys Subsidiary or the Business, as a whole or in part, after
the date hereof, or (2) by the HollySys Stockholders, if CNCAC amends or
supplements any CNCAC Schedule hereto in accordance with Section 0 hereof and
such amendment or supplement reflects a material adverse change in the condition
(financial or other) or operations of CNCAC.

            (c) by either CNCAC or the HollySys Stockholders, if the Closing has
not occurred by June 30, 2006 (or such other date as may be extended from time
to time by written agreement of CNCAC and HollySys Stockholders); provided,
however, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 0 shall
not be available to any Party that is then in breach of any of its covenants,
representations or warranties in this Agreement;

            (d) by the HollySys Stockholders, (i) if CNCAC shall have breached
any of its covenants in Articles VII or VIII hereof in any material respect or
(ii) if the representations and warranties of CNCAC contained in this Agreement
shall not be true and correct in all material respects, at the time made, or
(iii) if such representations and warranties shall not be true and correct at
and as of the Closing Date as though such representations and warranties were
made again at and as of the Closing Date, except to the extent that such
representations are made herein as of a specific date prior to the Closing Date,
and in any such event, if such breach is subject to cure, CNCAC has not cured
such breach within 10 Business Days of notice from the HollySys Stockholders of
an intent to terminate;

            (e) by CNCAC, (i) if HollySys Holdings, BJ HLS, HZ HLS, HollySys
Subsidiary or any HollySys Stockholder shall have breached any of the covenants
in Articles VI or VIII hereof in any material respect or (ii) if the
representations and warranties of any HollySys Stockholder contained in this
Agreement shall not be true and correct in all material respects, at the time
made, or (iii) if such representations and warranties shall not be true and
correct at and as of the Closing Date as though such representations and
warranties were made again at and as of the Closing Date, except to the extent
that such representations are made herein as of a specific date prior to the
Closing Date, and in any such event, if such breach is subject to cure, the
HollySys Stockholder have not cured such breach within 10 Business Days of
CNCAC's notice of an intent to terminate;
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            (f) by CNCAC if the Board of Directors of CNCAC shall have
determined in good faith, based upon the advice of outside legal counsel, that
failure to terminate this Agreement is reasonably likely to result in the Board
of Directors breaching its fiduciary duties to stockholders under applicable law
by reason of the pendency of an unsolicited, bona fide written proposal for a
superior transaction;

            (g) by either CNCAC or the HollySys Stockholders, if, at CNCAC's
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Stockholder Meeting (including any adjournments thereof), this Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereby shall fail to be approved and adopted by the
affirmative vote of the holders of CNCAC's common stock required under its
Certificate of Incorporation, or 20% or more of the number of shares of CNCAC's
common stock outstanding as of the date of the record date of the stockholders
meeting held by Persons other than the Initial Stockholders exercise their
rights to convert the shares of CNCAC's common stock held by them into cash in
accordance with CNCAC's Certificate of Incorporation.

      11.2 EFFECT OF TERMINATION.

            (a) In the event of termination and abandonment by CNCAC or by
HollySys, or both, pursuant to Section 0 hereof, written notice thereof shall
forthwith be given to the other Party, and except as set forth in this Section
0, all further obligations of the Parties shall terminate, no Party shall have
any right against the other Party hereto, and each Party shall bear its own
costs and expenses.

            (b) Consequence of Termination. If the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement are terminated and/or abandoned as provided herein:

                  (i) each Party hereto will return all documents, work papers
and other material (and all copies thereof) of the other Party relating to the
transactions contemplated hereby, whether so obtained before or after the
execution hereof, to the Party furnishing the same; and

                  (ii) all confidential information received by either Party
hereto with respect to the business of the other Party, or in the case of the
HollySys Stockholders, of BJ HLS, HZ HLS and HollySys Subsidiary, hereto shall
be treated in accordance with Section 0 hereof, which shall survive such
termination or abandonment.

      11.3 NO CLAIM AGAINST TRUST FUND. It is understood by HollySys Holdings,
BJ HLS, HZ HLS and the HollySys Stockholders that in the event of breach of this
Agreement or any of the Transactional Documents by CNCAC and Chardan Sub, that
they have no right to any amount held in the trust fund referred to in Section 0
and they will not make any claim against CNCAC and Chardan Sub that would
adversely affect the business, operations or prospects of CNCAC and Chardan Sub
or the amount of the funds held in the trust fund referred to in Section 0.
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                                   ARTICLE XII
                                   DEFINITIONS

      12.1 CERTAIN DEFINED TERMS. As used in this Agreement, the following terms
shall have the following meanings:

      "Actions" means any claim, action, suit, litigation, arbitration, inquiry,
proceeding or investigation by or pending before any Governmental Authority.

      "Business" means the combined and several operations and proposed combined
and several operations of BJ HLS, HZ HLS, the HollySys Subsidiary and their
respective affiliates, contract parties and nominees (or beneficial owners) in
the field of industrial automation and control systems.

      "Business Day" means a day of the year on which banks are not required or
authorized to be closed in the City of New York.

      "Claim" means any claim, demand, suit, proceeding or action.
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      "Company's Accountants" means BDO Seidman, LLP.

      "Contracts" mean any contract, agreement, arrangement, plan, lease,
license or similar instrument.

      "Copyrights" shall mean all copyrights, including rights in and to works
of authorship and all other rights corresponding thereto throughout the world,
whether published or unpublished, including rights to prepare, reproduce,
perform, display and distribute copyrighted works and copies, compilations and
derivative works thereof.

      "Damages" means the dollar amount of any loss, damage, expense or
liability, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees and
disbursements incurred by an Indemnified Party in any action or proceeding
between the Indemnified Party and the Indemnifying Party or between the
Indemnified Party and a third party, which is determined (as provided in Article
X) to have been sustained, suffered or incurred by a Party or the Company and to
have arisen from or in connection with an event or state of facts which is
subject to indemnification under this Agreement; the amount of Damages shall be
the amount finally determined by a court of competent jurisdiction or
appropriate governmental administrative agency (after the exhaustion of all
appeals) or the amount agreed to upon settlement in accordance with the terms of
this Agreement, if a Third Party Claim, or by the Parties, if a Direct Claim.

      "Direct Claim" means any claim other than a Third Party Claim.

      "Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

      "GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles, consistently
applied in the United States.

      "Government Securities" means any Treasury Bill issued by the United
States having a maturity of one hundred and eighty days or less.
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      "Governmental Authority" means any PRC or non-PRC national, supranational,
state, provincial, local or similar government, governmental, regulatory or
administrative authority, agency or commission or any court, tribunal or
judicial or arbitral body.

      "Governmental Order" means any order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree,
stipulation, determination or award entered by or with any Governmental
Authority.

      "Intellectual Property" means any intellectual property rights, including,
without limitations, Patents, Copyrights, service marks, moral rights, Trade
Secrets, Trademarks, designs and Technology, together with (a) all registrations
and applications for registration therefore and (b) all rights to any of the
foregoing (including (i) all rights received under any license or other
arrangement with respect to the foregoing, (ii) all rights or causes of action
for infringement or misappropriation (past, present or future) of any of the
foregoing, (iii) all rights to apply fore or register any of the foregoing),
(iv) domain names and URL's of or relating to the Acquired Assets and variations
of the domain names and URL's, (vi) Contracts which related to any of the
foregoing, including invention assignment, intellectual property assignment,
confidentiality, and non-competition agreements, and (vii) goodwill of any of
the foregoing.
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      "Initial Stockholders" means all of the shares of common stock of CNCAC
issued and outstanding prior to August 2, 2005 held by various Persons.

      "Laws" means all statutes, rules, regulations, ordinances, orders, writs,
injunctions, judgments, decrees, awards and restrictions, including, without
limitation, applicable statutes, rules, regulations, orders and restrictions
relating to zoning, land use, safety, health, environment, hazardous substances,
pollution controls, employment and employment practices and access by the
handicapped.

      "Lien" means any lien, claim, contingent interest, security interest,
charge, restriction or encumbrance.

      "Party" means CNCAC, Chardan Sub , on the one hand, and BJ HLS, HZ HLS,
each HollySys Subsidiary and each HollySys Stockholder, on the other hand
(collectively, "Parties").

      "Patents" means all United States and foreign patents and utility models
and applications therefore and all reissues, divisions, re-examinations,
renewals, extensions, provisionals, continuations and continuations-in-part
thereof, and equivalent or similar rights anywhere in the world in inventions
and discoveries.

      "Permits" means all governmental registrations, licenses, permits,
authorizations and approvals.

      "Person" means an individual, partnership, corporation, joint venture,
unincorporated organization, cooperative or a governmental entity or agency
thereof.

      "PRC GAAP" means PRC Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises in
effect from time to time applied consistently throughout the periods involved.

      "Release" means any spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting,
emptying, discharging, injecting, escaping, leaching, dumping or disposing into
the environment.
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      "Representatives" of either Party means such Party's employees,
accountants, auditors, actuaries, counsel, financial advisors, bankers,
investment bankers and consultants.

      "Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

      "Software" means all software, in object, human-readable or source code,
whether previously completed or now under development, including programs,
applications, databases, data files, coding and other software, components or
elements thereof, programmer annotations, and all versions, upgrades, updates,
enhancements and error corrections of all of the foregoing.

      "Stockholder Meeting" has the meaning specified in Section 0.

      "Tax" or "Taxes" means all income, gross receipts, sales, stock transfer,
excise, bulk transfer, use, employment, social security, franchise, profits,
property or other taxes, tariffs, imposts, fees, stamp taxes and duties,
assessments, levies or other charges of any kind whatsoever (whether payable
directly or by withholding), together with any interest and any penalties,
additions to tax or additional amounts imposed by any government or taxing
authority with respect thereto.
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      "Technology" means any know-how, confidential or proprietary information,
name, data, discovery, formulae, idea, method, process, procedure, other
invention, record of invention, model, research, Software, technique,
technology, test information, market survey, website, or information or material
of a like nature, whether patentable or unpatentable and whether or not reduced
to practice.

      "Third Party Claim" means a Claim by a person, firm, corporation or
government entity other than a party hereto or any affiliate of such party.

      "Trade Secrets" means all trade secrets under applicable law and other
rights in know-how and confidential or proprietary information, processing,
manufacturing or marketing information, including new developments, inventions,
processes, ideas or other proprietary information that provides advantages over
competitors who do not know or use it and documentation thereof (including
related papers, blueprints, drawings, chemical compositions, formulae, diaries,
notebooks, specifications, designs, methods of manufacture and data processing
software and compilations of information) and all claims and rights related
thereto.

      "Trademarks" means any and all United States and foreign trademarks,
service marks, logos, trade names, corporate names, trade dress, Internet domain
names and addresses, and all goodwill associated therewith throughout the world.

                                  ARTICLE XIII
                               GENERAL PROVISIONS

      13.1 EXPENSES. Except as otherwise provided herein, all costs and
expenses, including, without limitation, fees and disbursements of
Representatives, incurred in connection with the preparation of this Agreement
and the transactions contemplated hereby shall be paid by the Party incurring
such costs and expenses, whether or not the Closing shall have occurred.
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      13.2 NOTICES. All notices and other communications given or made pursuant
hereto shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given or made
as of the date delivered or mailed if delivered personally or by nationally
recognized courier or mailed by registered mail (postage prepaid, return receipt
requested) or by telecopy to the Parties at the following addresses (or at such
other address for a Party as shall be specified by like notice, except that
notices of changes of address shall be effective upon receipt):

            (a) If to the HollySys Stockholders:

                    Beijing HollySys Company, Ltd.
                    Attn:  Dr. Wang Changli
                    19 Jiancaicheng Middle Road, Xisangi
                    Haidon District
                    Beijing, China  100096
                    Facsimile No.:  86 10 829 23985

                    with a copy to:

                    GuanTao Law Firm
                    Attn:  Mr. Sun Dongying
                    6/F, Tower B, Tong Tai Plaza
                    No. 33 Finance Street
                    Xicheng District
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                    Beijing 10032

            (b) If to CNCAC or the CNCAC Initial Stockholders:

                    Chardan North China Acquisition Corporation
                    625 Broadway, Suite 1111
                    San Diego, California 92101
                    Attention:  Dr. Richard D. Propper
                    Facsimile No.: (619) 795-9639

                    with a copy to:

                    DLA Piper Rudnick Gray Cary US LLP
                    4365 Executive Drive, Suite 1100
                    San Diego, CA  92121
                    Attention:  Douglas J. Rein
                    Facsimile No.: 858-677-1401

      13.3 AMENDMENT. This Agreement may not be amended or modified except by an
instrument in writing signed by the Parties.

      13.4 WAIVER. At any time prior to the Closing, either Party may (a) extend
the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the
other Party, (b) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties
contained herein or in any document delivered pursuant hereto and (c) waive
compliance with any of the agreements or conditions contained herein. Any such
extension or waiver shall be valid only if set forth in an instrument in writing
signed by the Party to be bound thereby.
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      13.5 HEADINGS. The headings contained in this Agreement are for reference
purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of
this Agreement.

      13.6 SEVERABILITY. If any term or other provision of this Agreement is
invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced by any rule of law or public
policy, all other conditions and provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless
remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance of
the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in any manner adverse to
any Party. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid,
illegal or incapable of being enforced, the Parties shall negotiate in good
faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the
Parties as closely as possible in an acceptable manner to the end that
transactions contemplated hereby are fulfilled to the extent possible.

      13.7 ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement and the Schedules and Exhibits
hereto constitute the entire agreement and supersede all prior agreements and
undertakings, both written and oral, between BJ HLS, HZ HLS, any HollySys
Subsidiary, any HollySys Stockholder and CNCAC with respect to the subject
matter hereof and, except as otherwise expressly provided herein, are not
intended to confer upon any other person any rights or remedies hereunder.

      13.8 BENEFIT. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding
upon the successors and assigns of the Parties.

      13.9 GOVERNING LAW. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in
accordance with, the law of the State of Delaware.

      13.10 COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in one or more
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counterparts, and by the different Parties in separate counterparts, each of
which when executed shall be deemed to be an original but all of which when
taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement.

      13.11 APPROVAL OF CONTEMPORANEOUS TRANSACTIONS. By execution of this
Agreement, the HollySys Stockholders also approve the Chardan Merger and the
adoption of the proposed equity compensation plan contemplated by Section 8.9.

                            (SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE)
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      IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be executed
as of the date first written above.

CHARDAN NORTH CHINA ACQUISITION
CORPORATION                                    LOU AN

By:______________________________              By:______________________________
Name:                                          Name:
Title:

SHANGHAI JINQIAOTONG INDUSTRIAL
DEVELOPMENT CO.                                TEAM SPIRIT INDUSTRIAL LIMITED

By:______________________________              By:______________________________
Name:                                          Name:
Title:

WANG CHANGLI                                   OSCAF INTERNATIONAL CO.

By:______________________________              By:______________________________
Name:                                          Name:

CHENG WUSI

By:______________________________
Name:
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                                                                         Annex B

                     TERRITORY OF THE BRITISH VIRGIN ISLANDS

                      THE BVI BUSINESS COMPANIES ACT, 2004

                                   (the "Act")
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                            MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATION

                                       OF

                         HLS SYSTEMS INTERNATIONAL, LTD.

                                     B-1

1     NAME

      The name of the Company is HLS Systems International, Ltd.

2     COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES

      The Company is a company  limited by shares.  The liability of each member
      is limited to the amount from time to time unpaid on such member's shares.

3     REGISTERED OFFICE

      The first registered  office of the Company will be situated at the office
      of the registered agent which is at P.O. Box 173, Kingston Chambers,  Road
      Town, Tortola, British Virgin Islands or such other place as the directors
      or  members  may  from  time to  time  decide,  being  the  office  of the
      registered agent.

4     REGISTERED AGENT

      The first  registered  agent of the  Company  will be Maples  Finance  BVI
      Limited of P.O. Box 173, Kingston Chambers,  Road Town,  Tortola,  British
      Virgin Islands or such other  registered agent as the directors or members
      may decide from time to time.

                                      B-2

5     GENERAL OBJECTS AND POWERS

      Subject  to  Regulation  6 below the  objects  for which  the  Company  is
      established  are  unrestricted  and the Company  shall have full power and
      authority  to carry out any  object  not  prohibited  by the BVI  Business
      Companies  Act,  2004 or as the same may be revised from time to time,  or
      any other law of the British Virgin Islands.

6     LIMITATIONS ON THE COMPANY'S BUSINESS

      For the purposes of section 9(4) of the Act the Company has no power to:

      (a)   carry on banking or trust business,  unless it is licensed under the
            Banks and Trust Companies Act, 1990;

      (b)   carry on  business  as an  insurance  or as a  reinsurance  company,
            insurance agent or insurance broker,  unless it is licensed under an
            enactment authorising it to carry on that business;
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      (c)   carry on the  business of company  management  unless it is licensed
            under the Companies Management Act, 1990;

      (d)   carry on the  business of  providing  the  registered  office or the
            registered  agent for companies  incorporated  in the British Virgin
            Islands; or

      (e)   carry on the  business  as a mutual  fund,  mutual  fund  manager or
            mutual fund  administrator  unless it is  licensed  under the Mutual
            Funds Act, 1996.

7     AUTHORISED SHARES

      (a)   The  Company is  authorised  to issue one  hundred  and one  million
            shares of two classes as follows:-

            (i)   one hundred million shares in one series of US$0.001 par value
                  each ("Ordinary Shares"); and

            (ii)  one million  preference  shares in one series of US$0.001  par
                  value each ("Preferred Shares").

      (b)   The shares in the  Company  shall be issued in the  currency  of the
            United States of America.

      (c)   Each Ordinary Share in the Company confers on the holder:

            (i)   the  right  to one vote at a  meeting  of the  members  of the
                  Company or on any resolution of the members of the Company;

            (ii)  the  right  to an  equal  share  in any  dividend  paid by the
                  Company in accordance with the Act; and

                                      B-3

            (iii) the right to an equal share in the distribution of the surplus
                  assets of the Company.

      (d)   Preferred Shares

            (i)   The rights, privileges,  restrictions and conditions attaching
                  to the Preferred  Shares shall be those  provided  pursuant to
                  the Act as modified or negated by the directors of the Company
                  on the issuance of the Preferred Shares.

            (ii)  The Board of Directors of the Company is  authorised,  subject
                  to  limitations  prescribed by law and the  provisions of this
                  Clause 7, to amend the Company's  Memorandum of Association to
                  provide  for  the  creation  from  time to time of one or more
                  series  of  Preferred  Shares  or  classes  of  shares  having
                  preferred rights,  and pursuant to such amendment to establish
                  the number of shares and  series to be  included  in each such
                  class,   and  to  fix  the   designation,   relative   rights,
                  preferences,  qualifications  and limitations of the shares of
                  each such class.  The authority of the Board of Directors with
                  respect to each class  shall  include,  but not be limited to,
                  determination of the following:

            (a)   the number of shares and  series  constituting  that class and
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                  the distinctive designation of that class;

            (b)   the  distribution  rate on the shares of that  class,  whether
                  distributions shall be cumulative, and, if so, from which date
                  or dates,  and whether they shall be payable in preference to,
                  or in another  relation to, the  distributions  payable on any
                  other class or classes of shares;

            (c)   whether  that class shall have voting  rights,  in addition to
                  the voting  rights  provided by law,  and, if so, the terms of
                  such voting rights;

            (d)   whether   that  class  shall  have   conversion   or  exchange
                  priviledges,  and,  if so,  the terms and  conditions  of such
                  conversion or exchange,  including provision for adjustment of
                  the conversion or exchange rate in such events as the Board of
                  Directors shall determine;

            (e)   whether or not the shares of that class  shall be  redeemable,
                  and,  if so,  the terms  and  conditions  of such  redemption,
                  including  the manner of selecting  shares for  redemption  if
                  less than all  shares  are to be  redeemed,  the date or dates
                  upon or after which they shall be  redeemable,  and the amount
                  per share payable in case of redemption, which amount may vary
                  under different conditions and at different redemption dates;
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            (f)   whether  that  class  shall be  entitled  to the  benefit of a
                  sinking  fund to be applied to the purchase or  redemption  of
                  shares of that  class,  and,  if so, the terms and  amounts of
                  such sinking fund;

            (g)   the  right  of the  shares  of that  class to the  benefit  of
                  conditions and restrictions  upon the creation of indebtedness
                  of the  Company  or any  subsidiary,  upon  the  issue  of any
                  additional shares  (including  additional shares of such class
                  of any other  class) and upon the payment of  dividends or the
                  making of other distribution on, and the purchase,  redemption
                  or other  acquisition  by the Company or any subsidiary of any
                  outstanding shares of the Company;

            (h)   the  right of the  shares  of that  class in the  event of any
                  voluntary or involuntary  liquidation,  dissolution or winding
                  up  of  the  Company  and  whether  such  rights  shall  be in
                  preference  to, or in  another  relation  to,  the  comparable
                  rights of any other class or classes of shares; and

            (i)   any other relative,  participating,  optional or other special
                  rights,  qualifications,  limitations or  restrictions of that
                  class.

8     REGISTERED SHARES ONLY

      Shares in the  Company  may only be issued as  registered  shares  and the
      Company is not  authorised to issue bearer shares.  Registered  shares may
      not be exchanged for bearer shares or converted to bearer shares.

9     AMENDMENTS
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      Subject to the  provisions  of the Act, the Company shall by resolution of
      the  directors  or  members  have the power to amend or modify  any of the
      conditions contained in this Memorandum of Association.
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We, Maples Finance BVI Limited of P.O. Box 173,  Kingston  Chambers,  Road Town,
Tortola,  British  Virgin  Islands in our capacity as  registered  agent for the
Company hereby apply to the Registrar for the  incorporation of the Company this
6th day of February 2006.

Incorporator

--------------------------------
Clinton Hempel
Authorised Signatory
Maples Finance BVI Limited
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                                                                         Annex C

                     TERRITORY OF THE BRITISH VIRGIN ISLANDS

                      THE BVI BUSINESS COMPANIES ACT, 2004

                             ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

                                       OF

                         HLS SYSTEMS INTERNATIONAL, LTD.

      INTERPRETATION

1     References in these Articles of Association  ("Articles") to the Act shall
      mean the BVI Business  Companies Act,  2004. The following  Articles shall
      constitute  the  Articles of the  Company.  In these  Articles,  words and
      expressions  defined in the Act shall have the same  meaning  and,  unless
      otherwise  required by the context,  the singular shall include the plural
      and vice versa,  the  masculine  shall include the feminine and the neuter
      and  references  to  persons  shall  include  corporations  and all  legal
      entities capable of having a legal existence.

      SHARES

2     Every  person  whose name is  entered  as a member in the share  register,
      being the holder of registered shares,  shall without payment, be entitled
      to a  certificate  signed by a director  or under the  common  seal of the
      Company  with or without the  signature  of any director or officer of the
      Company  specifying  the share or shares  held and the par value  thereof,
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      provided  that in respect of shares held jointly by several  persons,  the
      Company shall not be bound to issue more than one certificate and delivery
      of a  certificate  for a share to one of several  joint  holders  shall be
      sufficient delivery to all.

3     If a  certificate  is worn out or lost it may be renewed on  production of
      the worn out  certificate,  or on satisfactory  proof of its loss together
      with such  indemnity as the directors may reasonably  require.  Any member
      receiving a share certificate shall indemnify and hold the Company and its
      officers harmless from any loss or liability which it or they may incur by
      reason of wrongful or fraudulent use or representation  made by any person
      by virtue of the possession of such a certificate.

                                      C-1

      SHARES AND VARIATION OF RIGHTS

4     Subject to the  provisions  of the  Memorandum  of  Association  and these
      Articles,  the unissued shares of the Company (whether forming part of the
      original or any increased  authorised  shares) shall be at the disposal of
      the  directors  who may offer,  allot,  grant  options  over or  otherwise
      dispose of them to such persons at such times and for such  consideration,
      being not less than the par value of the  shares  being  disposed  of, and
      upon such terms and conditions as the directors may determine,  and in the
      absence  of fraud the  decision  of the  directors  as to the value of the
      consideration  received  by  the  Company  in  respect  of  the  issue  is
      conclusive unless a question of law is involved.

5     Without  prejudice  to any  special  rights  previously  conferred  on the
      holders  of any  existing  shares  or class of  shares,  any  share in the
      Company  may be issued  with such  preferred,  deferred  or other  special
      rights or such  restrictions,  whether  in regard to  dividend,  voting or
      otherwise as the directors may from time to time determine.

6     Subject to the provisions of the Act in this regard,  shares may be issued
      on the terms that they are redeemable,  or at the option of the Company be
      liable to be redeemed  on such terms and in such  manner as the  directors
      before or at the time of the issue of such shares may determine.

7     Shares in the Company may be issued for money, services rendered, personal
      property,  an estate in real property,  a promissory note or other binding
      obligation  to  contribute  money or  property or any  combination  of the
      foregoing as shall be determined by a resolution of directors.

8     A share  issued by the Company  upon  conversion  of, or in exchange  for,
      another share or a debt obligation or other security in the Company, shall
      be treated  for all  purposes as having been issued for money equal to the
      consideration  received or deemed to have been  received by the Company in
      respect of the other share, debt obligation or security.

9     The Company may issue  fractions of a share and a  fractional  share shall
      have  the  same   corresponding   fractional   liabilities,   limitations,
      preferences,  privileges,  qualifications,  restrictions, rights and other
      attributes of a whole share of the same class or series of shares.

10    The directors may redeem any share issued by the Company at a premium.
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11    If at any time the Company is  authorised to issue shares of more than one
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      class the rights attached to any class (unless  otherwise  provided by the
      terms  of issue of the  shares  of that  class)  may,  whether  or not the
      Company is being  wound up, be varied  with the  consent in writing of the
      holders of a majority  of the issued  shares of that class and the holders
      of a majority of the issued  shares of any other class of shares which may
      be affected by such variation.

12    The rights  conferred  upon the holders of the shares of any class  issued
      with  preferred  or other  rights shall not,  unless  otherwise  expressly
      provided by the terms of issue of the shares of that  class,  be deemed to
      be varied by the  creation or issue of further  shares  ranking pari passu
      therewith.

13    Except as  required  by the Act,  no  person  shall be  recognised  by the
      Company as holding any share upon any trust,  and the Company shall not be
      bound by or be compelled in any way to recognise  (even when having notice
      thereof)  any  equitable,  contingent,  future or partial  interest in any
      share or any  interest  in any  fractional  part of a share or  (except as
      provided by these  Articles or by the Act) any other  rights in respect of
      any  share  except  any  absolute  right to the  entirety  thereof  by the
      registered holder.

      TRANSFER OF SHARES

14    Subject to any limitations in the Memorandum of Association, shares in the
      Company shall be transferred by a written instrument of transfer signed by
      the transferor and containing the name and address of the transferee.  The
      instrument  of  transfer  shall  also  be  signed  by  the  transferee  if
      registration  as a holder of the shares imposes a liability to the Company
      on the transferee.  The instrument of transfer of a registered share shall
      be sent to the Company for registration.

15    Subject to the  Memorandum of  Association,  these Articles and to Section
      54(5) of the Act,  the  Company  shall,  on  receipt of an  instrument  of
      transfer, enter the name of the transferee of the share in the register of
      members unless the directors  resolve to refuse or delay the  registration
      of the transfer for reasons that shall be specified in the resolution.

      TRANSMISSION OF SHARES

16    Subject to Sections 52(2) and 53 of the Act, the executor or administrator
      of a deceased member, the guardian of an incompetent member or the trustee
      of a bankrupt member shall be the only person recognised by the Company as
      having any title to his  share,  save that and only in the event of death,
      incompetence  or  bankruptcy  of any member or members of the Company as a
      consequence  of which the Company no longer has any  directors or members,
      then upon the production of any documentation which is reasonable evidence
      of the applicant being entitled to:

                                      C-3

      (a)   a grant of probate of the  deceased's  will,  or grant of letters of
            administration  of the deceased's  estate,  or  confirmation  of the
            appointment as executor or administrator  (as the case may be), of a
            deceased member's estate; or

      (b)   the appointment of a guardian of an incompetent member; or

      (c)   the appointment as trustee of a bankrupt member; or

      (d)   upon production of any other reasonable  evidence of the applicant's
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            beneficial ownership of, or entitlement to the shares,

      to the Company's  registered  agent in the British Virgin Islands together
      with (if so requested  by the  registered  agent) a notarised  copy of the
      share  certificate(s) of the deceased,  incompetent or bankrupt member, an
      indemnity in favour of the registered  agent and appropriate  legal advice
      in  respect  of  any  document  issued  by  a  foreign  court,   then  the
      administrator,  executor,  guardian or trustee in bankruptcy  (as the case
      may be) notwithstanding  that their name has not been entered in the share
      register  of the  Company,  may by written  resolution  of the  applicant,
      endorsed with written  approval by the  registered  agent,  be appointed a
      director of the Company or entered in the share  register as the legal and
      or beneficial owner of the shares.

17    The production to the Company of any document which is reasonable evidence
      of:

      (a)   a  grant  of   probate   of  the  will,   or  grant  of  letters  of
            administration  of the estate, or confirmation of the appointment as
            executor, of a deceased member; or

      (b)   the appointment of a guardian of an incompetent member; or

      (c)   the trustee of a bankrupt member; or

      (d)   the applicant's legal and or beneficial ownership of the shares,

      shall be accepted by the Company even if the deceased,  incompetent member
      or bankrupt member is domiciled  outside the British Virgin Islands if the
      document is issued by a foreign court which had competent  jurisdiction in
      the  matter.  For the  purposes of  establishing  whether or not a foreign
      court had competent jurisdiction in such a matter the directors may obtain
      appropriate  legal advice.  The directors may also require an indemnity to
      be  given  by  the  executor,   administrator,   guardian  or  trustee  in
      bankruptcy.
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18    Any person  becoming  entitled by operation of law or otherwise to a share
      or shares in consequence of the death,  incompetence  or bankruptcy of any
      member may be registered as a member upon such evidence  being produced as
      may  reasonably be required by the  directors.  An application by any such
      person to be registered as a member shall for all purposes be deemed to be
      a transfer of shares of the deceased,  incompetent or bankrupt  member and
      the directors shall treat it as such.

19    Any person who has become  entitled to a share or shares in consequence of
      the death,  incompetence or bankruptcy of any member may, instead of being
      registered himself, request in writing that some person to be named by him
      be registered  as the  transferee of such share or shares and such request
      shall likewise be treated as if it were a transfer.

20    What  amounts  to  incompetence  on the part of a person is a matter to be
      determined by the court having regard to all the relevant evidence and the
      circumstances of the case.

      ACQUISITION OF OWN SHARES

21    Subject to the provisions of the Act in this regard, the directors may, on
      behalf of the Company  purchase,  redeem or  otherwise  acquire any of the
      Company's  own shares for such  consideration  as they  consider  fit, and
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      either  cancel or hold such shares as treasury  shares.  The directors may
      dispose of any shares held as treasury shares on such terms and conditions
      as they  may from  time to time  determine.  Shares  may be  purchased  or
      otherwise acquired in exchange for newly issued shares in the Company.

22    No  purchase,  redemption  or other  acquisition  of shares  shall be made
      unless  the  directors  determine  that  immediately  after the  purchase,
      redemption or other  acquisition the Company will be able to pay its debts
      as they fall due and the value of the assets of the  Company  exceeds  its
      liabilities.

23    Shares that the Company purchases,  redeems or otherwise acquires pursuant
      to the preceding  Regulation  may be cancelled or held as treasury  shares
      except to the extent  that such  shares are in excess of 80 percent of the
      issued  shares of the  Company in which case they shall be  cancelled  but
      they shall be available for reissue.

24    Subject to the provisions to the contrary in;
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      (a)   the Memorandum of Association or these Articles;

      (b)   the  designations,   powers,  preferences,  rights,  qualifications,
            limitations and restrictions with which the shares were issued; or

      (c)   the subscription agreement for the issue of the shares;

      the Company may not purchase,  redeem or otherwise  acquire its own shares
      without the consent of members whose shares are to be purchased,  redeemed
      or otherwise acquired.

      MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

25    Any  action  required  or  permitted  to be taken by the  members  must be
      effected at a duly called meeting (as described in Regulations  28, 29 and
      30) of the members entitled to vote on such action and may not be effected
      by written resolution.

26    The directors  may convene  meetings of the members of the Company at such
      times and in such manner and places as the directors consider necessary or
      desirable,  and they shall convene such a meeting upon the written request
      of members  entitled to exercise at least fifty (50) percent of the voting
      rights in respect of the matter for which the meeting is requested.

27    An annual  meeting of members for election of directors and for such other
      business as may come  before the  meeting  shall be held each year at such
      date and time as may be determined by the directors.

28    Seven (7) days notice at the least  specifying the place,  the day and the
      hour of the  meeting and general  nature of the  business to be  conducted
      shall be given in the manner  hereinafter  mentioned to such persons whose
      names on the date the  notice  is given  appear  as  members  in the share
      register of the Company and are entitled to vote at the meeting.

29    The  directors may fix the record date for  determining  those shares that
      are entitled to vote at the meeting.

30    Notwithstanding  Article 28, a meeting of members held in contravention of
      the  requirement to give notice is valid if members  holding a ninety (90)
      percent majority of:
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      (a)   the total voting  rights on all the matters to be  considered at the
            meeting; or

                                      C-6

      (b)   the  votes of each  class or  series of  shares  where  members  are
            entitled  to vote  thereon  as a class or  series  together  with an
            absolute majority of the remaining votes,

      have waived notice of the meeting and, for this purpose, the presence of a
      member in person or by proxy at the meeting  shall be deemed to constitute
      waiver on his part.

31    The inadvertent  failure of the directors to give notice of a meeting to a
      member or the fact that a member has not  received  the notice,  shall not
      invalidate the meeting.

32    A member  shall be deemed to be  present  at a meeting  of  members  if he
      participates  by  telephone  or other  electronic  means  and all  members
      participating in the meeting are able to hear each other.

33    The following shall apply in respect of joint ownership of shares:

      (a)   if two or more  persons  hold  shares  jointly  each of them  may be
            present in person or by proxy at a meeting of members  and may speak
            as a member;

      (b)   if only one of the joint  owners is present in person or by proxy he
            may vote on behalf of all joint owners; and

      (c)   if two or more of the joint owners are present in person or by proxy
            they must vote as one.

      PROCEEDINGS AT MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

34    No business  shall be transacted at any meeting unless a quorum of members
      is present at the time when the meeting proceeds to business.  Save as set
      out in  Regulation  35 a quorum  shall  consist  of the  holder or holders
      present in person or by proxy  entitled  to  exercise  at least fifty (50)
      percent  of the  voting  rights of the  shares of each  class or series of
      shares  entitled  to  vote as a  class  or  series  thereon  and the  same
      proportion of the votes of the remaining shares entitled to vote thereon.

35    If, within two hours from the time appointed for the meeting,  a quorum is
      not present,  the meeting,  if convened upon the  requisition  of members,
      shall be dissolved; in any other case it shall stand adjourned to the next
      business day at the same time and place or to such other time and place as
      the directors  may  determine,  and if at the adjourned  meeting there are
      present  within one hour from the time appointed for the meeting in person
      or by proxy not less  than one  third of the  votes of the  shares or each
      class or  series  of  shares  entitled  to vote on the  resolutions  to be
      considered  by the meeting,  those  present  shall  constitue a quorum but
      other wise the meeting shall be dissolved.
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36    At every meeting the members  present shall choose someone of their number
      to be the chairman (the "Chairman"). If the members are unable to choose a
      Chairman for any reason,  then the person representing the greatest number
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      of voting shares present at the meeting shall preside as Chairman  failing
      which the oldest  individual  member present at the meeting or failing any
      member personally  attending the meeting, the proxy present at the meeting
      representing the oldest member of the Company, shall take the chair.

37    At any meeting of members,  only such business shall be conducted as shall
      have been brought before such meeting:

      (a)   by or at the direction of the Chairman of the Board of Directors (as
            defined in Regulation 84); or

      (b)   by any member who is a holder of record at the time of the giving of
            the notice  provided for in Regulation 28 who is entitled to vote at
            the  meeting  and  who  complies  with  the  procedures  set  out in
            Regulation 43.

38    The Chairman  may,  with the consent of the  meeting,  adjourn any meeting
      from time to time,  and from  place to  place,  but no  business  shall be
      transacted  at  any  adjourned   meeting  other  than  the  business  left
      unfinished at the meeting from which the adjournment took place.

39    At any  meeting  a  resolution  put to the  vote of the  meeting  shall be
      decided on a show of hands by a simple  majority  unless a poll is (before
      or on the declaration of the result of the show of hands) demanded:

      (a)   by the Chairman; or

      (b)   by any  member  present in person or by proxy and  holding  not less
            than one tenth of the total voting  shares issued by the Company and
            having the right to vote at the meeting.

40    Unless  a poll  be so  demanded,  a  declaration  by the  Chairman  that a
      resolution  has,  on a show of hands  been  carried,  and an entry to that
      effect  in the book  containing  the  minutes  of the  proceedings  of the
      Company,  shall be sufficient  evidence of the fact,  without proof of the
      number or  proportion  of the votes  recorded in favour of or against such
      resolution.

                                      C-8

41    If a poll is duly  demanded  it  shall  be  taken  in such  manner  as the
      Chairman  directs,  and the  result of the poll  shall be deemed to be the
      resolution of the meeting at which the poll was demanded. The demand for a
      poll may be withdrawn.

42    In the case of an equality of votes,  whether on a show of hands,  or on a
      poll,  the Chairman of the meeting at which the show of hands takes place,
      or at which the poll is demanded, shall be entitled to a second or casting
      vote.

43    For business to be properly  brought to the annual meeting of members by a
      member,  the member must have given timely written notice thereof,  either
      by personal delivery or by prepaid registered post to the secretary of the
      Company  (the  "Secretary")  at the  principal  executive  offices  of the
      Company. To be timely, a member's notice must be received at the principal
      executive offices of the Company, not less than 120 days in advance of the
      first  anniversary  of the  date  that  the  Company's  (or the  Company's
      predecessor's)  proxy statement was sent to members in connection with the
      previous  year's  annual  meeting  of  members,  except  that if no annual
      meeting was held in the previous year or the date of the annual meeting is
      more than 30  calendar  days  earlier  than the date of the  prior  year's
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      annual meeting, notice by a member to be timely must be received not later
      than the close of business on the tenth day following the day on which the
      date of the annual meeting is publicly announced  (including by disclosure
      in a press release or in a document filed with the Securities and Exchange
      Commission).  For the purposes of this Article 43, any  adjournment(s)  or
      postponement(s) of the original meeting whereby the meeting will reconvene
      within 30 days from original date shall be deemed, for purposes of notice,
      to be a  continuation  of the  original  meeting  and no  business  may be
      brought  before any  reconvened  meeting unless such timely notice of such
      business was given to the Secretary for the meeting as original scheduled.
      A member's  notice to the  Secretary  shall set out as to each matter that
      the member wishes to be brought before the meeting of members:

      (i)   a brief description of the business desired to be brought before the
            meeting;

      (ii)  the  name  and  address  of  record  of the  member  proposing  such
            business;

      (iii) the class and number of shares of the Company which are beneficially
            owned by such member;

      (iv)  any material interest of such member in such business; and

      (v)   if the member intends to solicit proxies in support of such member's
            proposal, a representation to that effect.
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44    Notwithstanding  the  aforegoing,   nothing  in  Regulation  43  shall  be
      interpreted or construed to require the inclusion of information about any
      such proposal in any proxy statement  distributed by, at the direction of,
      or on behalf  of,  the  directors.  The  chairman  of a meeting of members
      shall, if the facts so warrant,  determine and declare to the meeting that
      business was not properly  brought  before the meeting in accordance  with
      the  provisions of this  Regulation 44 and, if he should so determine,  he
      shall so declare to the meeting and any such business not properly brought
      before  the  meeting  shall  not  be  transacted.   However,   the  notice
      requirements  set out in  Regulation  43 shall be  deemed  satisfied  by a
      member if the member has notified the Company of his  intention to present
      a proposal at a meeting of members  and such  member's  proposal  has been
      included  in a proxy  statement  that  has  been  distributed  by,  at the
      direction of, or on behalf of, the  directors to solicit  proxies for such
      meeting; provided that, if such member does not appear or send a qualified
      representative,  as determined by the chairman of the meeting,  to present
      such proposal at such meeting,  the Company need not present such proposal
      for a vote at such meeting notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such
      vote may have been received by the Company.

      VOTES OF MEMBERS

45    At any  meeting of  members  whether on a show of hands or on a poll every
      holder of a voting share present in person or by proxy shall have one vote
      for every voting share of which he is the holder.

46    Subject to the Memorandum of Association or these Articles, an action that
      may be taken by members of the Company at a meeting of members may also be
      taken by a  resolution  of  members  consented  to in writing or by telex,
      telegram,  cable or other written  electronic  communication,  without the
      need for any notice.
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47    If a committee is appointed  for any member who is of unsound  mind,  that
      member may vote by such committee.

48    .

49    Any person other than an  individual  which is a member of the Company may
      by resolution  of its directors or other  governing  body  authorise  such
      person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at any meeting of the
      Company  or of any class of  members  of the  Company,  and the  person so
      authorised  shall be entitled to exercise the same powers on behalf of the
      person which he  represents  as that person  could  exercise if it were an
      individual member of the Company.
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50    Votes may be given either personally or by proxy.

51    The instrument appointing a proxy shall be produced at the place appointed
      for the  meeting  before  the time for  holding  the  meeting at which the
      person named in such instrument proposes to vote.

52    Subject to Article 53 below, an instrument  appointing a proxy shall be in
      such  form  as the  Chairman  of the  meeting  shall  accept  as  properly
      evidencing the wishes of the member appointing the proxy.

53    The  instrument  appointing a proxy shall be in writing  under the hand of
      the  appointer or in electronic  form signed by the  appointer  unless the
      appointer is a corporation or other form of legal entity other than one or
      more  individuals  holding  as joint  owner in which  case the  instrument
      appointing  a proxy  shall be in writing  under the hand of an  individual
      duly  authorised by such  corporation or legal entity to execute the same.
      The Chairman of any meeting at which a vote is cast by proxy so authorised
      may call for a notarially  certified copy of such authority which shall be
      produced within seven days of being so requested failing which the vote or
      votes cast by such proxy shall be disregarded.

54    Directors  of the Company may attend and speak with members of the Company
      and at any  separate  meeting  of the  holders  of any  class or series of
      shares in the Company.

55    No  business  of the Company  shall be  conducted  at a meeting of members
      except in accordance with the provisions of these Regulations 34 to 55.

      CORPORATIONS ACTING BY REPRESENTATIVES AT MEETINGS

56    Any  corporation or other form of corporate legal entity which is a member
      of the Company may by resolution of its directors or other  governing body
      authorise such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at any
      meeting of the  members or any class of  members of the  Company,  and the
      person so  authorised  shall be entitled  to  exercise  the same powers on
      behalf of the corporation  which he represents as that  corporation  could
      exercise if it were an individual member of the Company.

            (A)   DIRECTORS

57    Subject to any subsequent amendment to change the number of directors, the
      number of the  directors  shall be not less than one or more than fifteen.
      Subject  to  the  requirements  of  the  Memorandum  of  Association,  the
      directors may by a resolution of  directors,  amend this  Regulation 57 to
      change the number of directors.
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58    Subject to Regulation 57 to change the number of directors, the continuing
      directors may act,  notwithstanding  any casual  vacancy in their body, so
      long as there  remain in office  not less than the  prescribed  minimum of
      directors  duly  qualified  to act,  but if the  number  falls  below  the
      prescribed  minimum,  the remaining directors shall not act except for the
      purpose of filling such vacancy.

59    The first director or directors shall be appointed by the registered agent
      of the  Company.  Thereafter,  the  directors  shall be  appointed  by the
      members or the  directors  for such terms as the members or directors  may
      determine  and may be  removed  by a  resolution  of the  majority  of the
      members of the Company, being for the purposes of this Regulation 59 only,
      an  affirmative  vote  of the  holders  of 66 2/3  percent  or more of the
      outstanding  votes  of  the  shares  entitled  to  vote  thereon  or  by a
      resolution of directors .

60    Notwithstanding  the  provisions  of Section 114 of the Act, each director
      holds office until his successor  takes office or until his earlier death,
      resignation or removal by the members as per Regulation 59 or a resolution
      passed by the majority of the remaining directors.

61    A vacancy  in the board of  directors  may be  filled by a  resolution  of
      members or a resolution passed by the majority of the remaining directors.

62    A director shall not require a share qualification, but nevertheless shall
      be  entitled  to attend and speak at any meeting of the members and at any
      separate  meeting of the holders of any class of shares in the Company.  A
      director must be an individual.

63    A director,  by writing under his hand deposited at the registered  office
      of the Company,  may from time to time appoint another director or another
      person to be his alternate.  Every such alternate  shall be entitled to be
      given  notice of  meetings  of the  directors  and to attend and vote as a
      director at any such meeting at which the director  appointing  him is not
      personally  present and generally at such meeting to have and exercise all
      the powers, rights, duties and authorities of the director appointing him.
      Every such  alternate  shall be deemed to be an officer of the Company and
      shall not be  deemed to be an agent of the  director  appointing  him.  If
      undue  delay or  difficulty  would be  occasioned  by  giving  notice to a
      director of a  resolution  of which his  approval is sought in  accordance
      with  Article  92 his  alternate  (if any)  shall be  entitled  to signify
      approval of the same on behalf of that director.  The  remuneration  of an
      alternate shall be payable out of the remuneration payable to the director
      appointing  him, and shall  consist of such portion of the last  mentioned
      remuneration  as shall be agreed  between such  alternate and the director
      appointing  him. A director  by writing  under his hand  deposited  at the
      registered office of the Company may at any time revoke the appointment of
      an alternate  appointed  by him. If a director  shall die or cease to hold
      the office of director,  the  appointment of his alternate shall thereupon
      cease and terminate.
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64    The  directors  may, by  resolution,  fix the  emolument  of  directors in
      respect of services  rendered  or to be  rendered  in any  capacity to the
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      Company.  The directors may also be paid such travelling,  hotel and other
      expenses  properly  incurred  by  them in  attending  and  returning  from
      meetings of the  directors,  or any committee of the directors or meetings
      of the members, or in connection with the business of the Company as shall
      be approved by resolution of the directors.

65    Any director who, by request,  goes or resides  abroad for any purposes of
      the Company, or who performs services which in the opinion of the Board go
      beyond  the  ordinary  duties  of a  director,  may  be  paid  such  extra
      remuneration  (whether  by way of  salary,  commission,  participation  in
      profits or otherwise) as shall be approved by resolution of the directors.

66    The Company may pay to a director who at the request of the Company  holds
      any office  (including  a  directorship)  in, or renders  services to, any
      company in which the Company may be interested, such remuneration (whether
      by way of salary,  commission,  participation  in profits or otherwise) in
      respect of such office or services as shall be approved by  resolution  of
      the directors.

67    (a) Nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors shall be
      made only at a meeting of members and only:

            (i)   by or at the direction of the directors; or

            (ii)  by a member entitled to vote for the election of directors who
                  complies with the notice procedures set out below.

      (b)   Such  nominations,  other than those made by or at the  direction of
            the directors, shall be made pursuant to timely notice in writing to
            the Secretary.  To be timely,  a member's notice must be received at
            the  principal  executive  offices of the  Company not less than 120
            days in  advance  of the  first  anniversary  of the  date  that the
            Company's (or the Company's  predecessor's) proxy statement was sent
            to members in connection  with the previous year's annual meeting of
            members,  except that if no annual  meeting was held in the previous
            year or the date of the annual meeting is more than 30 calendar days
            earlier than the date of the prior year's annual meeting,  notice by
            a member to be timely must be  received  not later than the close of
            business on the tenth day following the day on which the date of the
            annual meeting is publicly  announced  (including by disclosure in a
            press  release  or in a  document  filed  with  the  Securities  and
            Exchange  Commission)..  For the purposes of this Regulation 67, any
            adjournment  or  postponement  of the original  meeting  whereby the
            meeting will  reconvene  within 30 days from the original date shall
            be deemed for the  purposes of this notice to be a  continuation  of
            the original meeting and no nominations by a member of persons to be
            elected  directors of the Company may be made at any such reconvened
            meeting unless pursuant to a notice which was timely for the meeting
            on the date original scheduled. Each such notice shall set out
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            (i)   the name and  address of the  member  who  intends to make the
                  nomination and of the persons to be nominated.

            (ii)  a  representation  that the  member  is a holder  of record of
                  shares in the  Company  entitled  to vote at such  meeting and
                  that he intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting
                  to nominate the persons specified in the notice;

            (iii) a description of all  arrangements or  understandings  between
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                  the member and each nominee and any other person  (naming such
                  person)  pursuant to which the  nominations  are to be made by
                  the member.

            (iv)  such other information regarding each nominee proposed by such
                  member as would have been  required  to be included in a proxy
                  statement  filed  pursuant  to the proxy  rules of the  United
                  States  Securities and Exchange  Commission,  had each nominee
                  been nominated, or intended to be nominated, by the directors;

            (v)   the  consent of each  nominee  to serve as a  director  of the
                  Company if so elected; and

            (vi)  if the member  intends  to solicit  proxies in support of such
                  member's nominees, a representation to that effect.

68    The office of director shall be vacated if the director:

      (a)   is removed from office by resolution of members; or

      (b)   is  removed  from  office  by  resolution  of the  directors  of the
            Company;

      (c)   becomes  disqualified  to act as a director under Section 111 of the
            Act;
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      (d)   absent from  meetings of the directors  for six  consecutive  months
            without leave of the board of directors, provided that the directors
            shall have power to grant any  director  leave of absence for any or
            an indefinite period;

      (e)   if he dies; or

      (f)   if he becomes of unsound mind.

69    (a) A director  may hold any other  office or position of profit under the
      Company  (except  that of  auditor)  in  conjunction  with his  office  of
      director,  and may act in a  professional  capacity to the Company on such
      terms as to remuneration and otherwise as the directors shall arrange.

      (b)   A director  may be or become a director or officer of, or  otherwise
            be  interested in any company  promoted by the Company,  or in which
            the Company may be interested,  as a member or otherwise and no such
            director shall be accountable for any remuneration or other benefits
            received by him as director or officer or from his  interest in such
            other  company.  The  directors  may also exercise the voting powers
            conferred  by the shares in any other  company  held or owned by the
            Company in such manner in all respects as they think fit,  including
            the exercise  thereof in favour of any resolutions  appointing them,
            or of their number,  directors or officers of such other company, or
            voting or providing for the payment of remuneration to the directors
            or officers of such other company.  A director may vote in favour of
            the  exercise  of  such  voting  rights  in  the  manner   aforesaid
            notwithstanding that he may be, or be about to become, a director or
            officer of such other  company,  and as such in any other manner is,
            or may be,  interested  in the exercise of such voting rights in the
            manner aforesaid.

      (c)   No director  shall be  disqualified  by his office from  contracting
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            with the Company  either as a vendor,  purchaser or  otherwise,  nor
            shall any such contract or arrangement  entered into by or on behalf
            of the Company in which any director  shall be in any way interested
            be  voided,  nor  shall  any  director  so  contracting  or being so
            interested  be liable  to  account  to the  Company  for any  profit
            realised  by any such  contract  or  arrangement,  by reason of such
            director   holding  that  office  or  by  reason  of  the  fiduciary
            relationship   thereby   established,   provided  the  procedure  in
            Regulation 69 (d) below is followed.

      (d)   A director of the Company shall, immediately after becoming aware of
            the fact that he is interested  in a transaction  entered into or to
            be entered into by the Company,  disclose such interest to the board
            of directors.
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      (e)   A director of the Company is not required to comply with  Regulation
            69 (d) above if:

            (i)   the  transaction  or  proposed   transaction  is  between  the
                  director and the Company; and

            (ii)  the transaction or proposed transaction is or is to be entered
                  into in the ordinary  course of the Company's  business and on
                  usual terms and conditions.

      (f)   For the  purposes of  Regulation  69(d) above,  a disclosure  to the
            board to the effect that a director is a member,  director,  officer
            or  trustee of another  named  company or other  person and is to be
            regarded as interested in any transaction  which may, after the date
            of the entry or  disclosure,  be entered  into with that  company or
            person,  is a sufficient  disclosure of interest in relation to that
            transaction.

      (g)   Subject to Section  125(1) of the Act,  the failure by a director to
            comply  with  Regulation  69(d) does not affect  the  validity  of a
            transaction entered into by the director or the Company.

      OFFICERS

70    The  directors of the Company may, by  resolution  of  directors,  appoint
      officers of the Company at such times as shall be considered  necessary or
      expedient,  and such officers may consist of a President, one or more Vice
      Presidents, a Secretary, and a Treasurer and/or such other officers as may
      from time to time be deemed  desirable.  The officers  shall  perform such
      duties as shall be prescribed at the time of their appointment  subject to
      any  modifications  in such duties as may be  prescribed  by the directors
      thereafter,  but in the absence of any  specific  allocation  of duties it
      shall be the  responsibility  of the  President  to manage  the day to day
      affairs of the Company,  the Vice  Presidents to act in order of seniority
      in the absence of the  President,  but otherwise to perform such duties as
      may be delegated to them by the  President,  the Secretary to maintain the
      registers,  minute books and records (other than financial records) of the
      Company and to ensure compliance with all procedural  requirements imposed
      on the Company by applicable  law, and the Treasurer to be responsible for
      the financial affairs of the Company.

71    Any person may hold more than one office and no officer need be a director
      or  member of the  Company.  The  officers  shall  remain in office  until

Edgar Filing: GRILLO ANTHONY - Form 4

Explanation of Responses: 169



      removed  from  office by the  directors,  whether  or not a  successor  is
      appointed.
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72    Any  officer  who is a body  corporate  may  appoint  any  person its duly
      authorised  representative  for  the  purpose  of  representing  it and of
      transacting any of the business of the officers.

            (B)   MANAGING DIRECTORS

73    The directors may from time to time and by resolution of directors appoint
      one or more of their  number to be a managing  director or joint  managing
      director  and may,  subject to any  contract  between  him or them and the
      Company,  from time to time terminate his or their appointment and appoint
      another or others in his or their place or places.

74    A director  appointed in terms of the  provisions  of Regulation 75 to the
      office of managing director of the Company may be paid, in addition to the
      remuneration  payable in terms of  Regulation  66, such  remuneration  not
      exceeding a  reasonable  maximum in each year in respect of such office as
      may be determined by a disinterested quorum of the directors.

75    The directors  may from time to time, by resolution of directors,  entrust
      and confer upon a managing  director for the time being such of the powers
      and  authorities  vested in them as they think fit,  save that no managing
      director  shall have any power or  authority  with  respect to the matters
      requiring a resolution of directors under the Act.

      POWERS OF DIRECTORS

76    The business of the Company  shall be managed by the directors who may pay
      all expenses incurred  preliminary to and in connection with the formation
      and  registration of the Company,  and may exercise all such powers of the
      Company  necessary  for managing and for directing  and  supervising,  the
      business  and  affairs  of the  Company  as are not by the Act or by these
      Articles required to be exercised by the members subject to any delegation
      of such powers as may be authorised by these Articles and permitted by the
      Act and to such  requirements  as may be  prescribed  by resolution of the
      members,  but no  requirement  made by  resolution  of the  members  shall
      prevail  if  it  be  inconsistent  with  these  Articles  nor  shall  such
      requirement  invalidate  any prior act of the  directors  which would have
      been valid if such requirement had not been made.

77    The board of  directors  may  entrust to and confer  upon any  director or
      officer any of the powers exercisable by it upon such terms and conditions
      and with such restrictions as it thinks fit, and either collaterally with,
      or to the exclusion of, its own powers,  and may from time to time revoke,
      withdraw,  alter  or  vary  all or  any of  such  powers.  Subject  to the
      provisions  of Section 110 of the Act, the  directors  may delegate any of
      their powers to  committees  consisting of such member or members of their
      body as they think fit. Any  committees so formed shall in the exercise of
      powers so delegated  conform to any regulations  that may be imposed on it
      by the directors or the provisions of the Act.
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78    The  directors  may from  time to time by power of  attorney  appoint  any
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      company, firm or person or body of persons to be the attorney or attorneys
      of the Company for such  purposes  and with such powers,  authorities  and
      discretions (not exceeding those vested in or exercisable by the directors
      under these  Articles) and for such period and subject to such  conditions
      as the directors think fit.

79    Any  director  who is a body  corporate  may  appoint  any person its duly
      authorised  representative  for the purpose of representing it at meetings
      of the directors and of transacting any of the business of the directors.

80    All  cheques,  promissory  notes,  drafts,  bills of  exchange  and  other
      negotiable  instruments  and all  receipts for monies paid to the Company,
      shall be signed,  drawn,  accepted,  endorsed or otherwise executed as the
      case may be, in such  manner as the  directors  shall from time to time by
      resolution determine.

81    The  directors  may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow money
      and to  mortgage  or  charge  its  undertakings  and  property,  to  issue
      debentures,  debenture  stock  and  other  securities  whenever  money  is
      borrowed or as  security  for any debt,  liability  or  obligation  of the
      Company or of any third party.

82    The  continuing  directors  may act  notwithstanding  any vacancy in their
      body, save that if the number of directors shall have been fixed at two or
      more  persons and by reason of vacancies  having  occurred in the board of
      directors  there  shall  be only  one  continuing  director,  he  shall be
      authorised  to act  alone  only  for the  purpose  of  appointing  another
      director.

      PROCEEDINGS OF DIRECTORS

83    The meetings of the board of directors and any committee  thereof shall be
      held at such place or places as the directors shall decide.

84    The  directors  may  elect a  chairman  (the  "Chairman  of the  Board  of
      Directors")  of their  meeting and determine the period for which he is to
      hold office. If no such Chairman of the Board of Directors is elected,  or
      if at any meeting the Chairman of the Board of Directors is not present at
      the time  appointed  for holding the meeting,  the  directors  present may
      choose one of their  number to be Chairman of the Board of  Directors  for
      the meeting. If the directors are unable to choose a Chairman of the Board
      of  Directors,  for any reason,  then the oldest  director  present at the
      meeting shall preside as the Chairman of the Board of Directors.
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85    The directors may meet together for the dispatch of business,  adjourn and
      otherwise  regulate their meetings as they think fit. Questions arising at
      any  meeting  shall be  decided  by a  majority  of  votes.  In case of an
      equality  in votes the  Chairman  shall have a second or casting  vote.  A
      director may at any time summon a meeting of the directors. If the Company
      shall have only one director,  the  provisions  hereinafter  contained for
      meetings of the  directors  shall not apply but such sole  director  shall
      have full power to represent and act for the Company in all matters and in
      lieu of minutes of a meeting  shall  record in writing  and sign a note of
      memorandum of all matters  requiring a resolution of the  directors.  Such
      note or memorandum shall constitute sufficient evidence of such resolution
      for all purposes.

86    A director shall be given not less than three (3) days notice of a meeting
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      of the directors.

87    Notwithstanding   Regulation   88,  a  meeting   of   directors   held  in
      contravention  of Regulation  884 is valid if a majority of the directors,
      entitled to vote at the  meeting,  have waived the notice of the  meeting;
      and, for this purpose,  the presence of a director at the meeting shall be
      deemed to constitute waiver on his part.

88    The inadvertent failure to give notice of a meeting to a director,  or the
      fact that a director has not received the notice shall not  invalidate the
      meeting.

89    A meeting of the directors is duly  constituted for all purposes if at the
      commencement  of the meeting  there are present in person or by  alternate
      not less than  one-half of the total number of directors  unless there are
      only 2 directors in which case the quorum shall be 2.

90    If within half an hour from the time appointed for the meeting a quorum is
      not present, the meeting shall be dissolved.

91    Any one or more members of the board of directors or any committee thereof
      may  participate  in a meeting of such board of  directors or committee by
      means  of a  conference  telephone  or  similar  communications  equipment
      allowing  all persons  participating  in the meeting to hear each other at
      the same time.  Participating by such means shall  constitute  presence in
      person at a meeting.

92    A resolution  approved by a majority of the  directors  for the time being
      entitled to receive notice of a meeting of the directors or of a committee
      of the directors  and taking the form of one or more  documents in writing
      or by telefax or other  written or  electronic  communication  shall be as
      valid and effectual as if it had been passed at a meeting of the directors
      or of such  committee  duly  convened  and held,  without the need for any
      notice.
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      COMMITTEES

93    The  directors  may, by  resolution  of  directors,  designate one or more
      committees, each consisting of one or more directors.

94    Each  committee  of  directors  has such  powers  and  authorities  of the
      directors, including the power and authority to affix the Seal, as are set
      forth in the resolution of directors  establishing  the committee,  except
      that no committee  has any power or authority to amend the  Memorandum  of
      Association  or  these  Articles,   to  appoint  directors  or  fix  their
      emoluments or to appoint officers or agents of the Company.

95    The meeting and proceedings of each committee of directors consisting of 2
      or more directors shall be governed  mutatis mutandis by the provisions of
      these Articles  regulating the proceedings of directors so far as the same
      are not superseded by any provisions in the  resolution  establishing  the
      committee.

            (ii)  INDEMNITY

96    Subject to the  provisions of the Act, the Company may  indemnify  against
      all expenses,  including legal fees, and against all judgments,  fines and
      amounts paid in settlement  and  reasonably  incurred in  connection  with
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      legal, administrative or investigative proceedings any person who:

      (a)   is or  was a  party  or is  threatened  to be  made a  party  to any
            threatened,   pending  or  completed  proceedings,   whether  civil,
            criminal,  administrative  or  investigative,  by reason of the fact
            that the person is or was a director of the Company; or

      (b)   is or was, at the request of the Company,  serving as a director of,
            or in any other capacity is or was acting for,  another company or a
            partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise.

      (b)   CONFLICT OF INTERESTS
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97    No  agreement  or  transaction  between the Company and one or more of its
      directors or any person in which any director has a financial  interest or
      to whom any  director  is related,  including  as a director of that other
      person,  is void or  voidable  for this reason only or by reason only that
      the  director is present at the meeting of  directors or at the meeting of
      the committee of directors  that approves the agreement or  transaction or
      that the vote or consent of the  director is counted  for that  purpose if
      the material  facts of the interest of each  director in the  agreement or
      transaction  and his interest in or relationship to any other party to the
      agreement or  transaction  are disclosed in good faith or are known by the
      other directors.

98    A director who has an interest in any particular business to be considered
      at a meeting of  directors  or  members  may be counted  for  purposes  of
      determining whether the meeting is duly constituted.

      SEAL

99    The  directors  shall  provide for the safe custody of the common seal (if
      any) of the Company. The common seal when affixed to any instrument except
      as provided in  Regulation  2, shall be witnessed by a director or officer
      of the Company or any other person so authorised  from time to time by the
      directors.  The  directors  may provide for a facsimile of the common seal
      and approve the signature of any director or  authorised  person which may
      be  reproduced by printing or other means on any  instrument  and it shall
      have the same force and validity as if the common seal has been affixed to
      such instrument and the same had been signed as hereinbefore described.

      (c)   DISTRIBUTIONS

100   Subject to the  provisions  of the Act, the directors of a Company may, by
      resolution,  authorise a distribution  by the Company at a time, and of an
      amount,  and to any  members  they  think  fit if they are  satisfied,  on
      reasonable  grounds,   that  the  Company  will,   immediately  after  the
      distribution, satisfy the solvency test as stipulated in Section 56 of the
      Act.

101   Subject to the rights of the holders of shares  entitled to special rights
      as  to  distributions,  all  distributions  shall  be  declared  and  paid
      according to the par value of the shares in issue,  excluding those shares
      which  are  held  by  the  Company  as  Treasury  Shares  at the  date  of
      declaration of the distribution.

102   The directors may, before recommending any distribution,  set aside out of
      the profits of the Company  such sums as they think proper as a reserve or
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      reserves  which  shall,  at their  discretion,  either be  employed in the
      business  of  the  Company  or be  invested  in  such  investments  as the
      directors may from time to time think fit.
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103   If several  persons are  registered as joint holders of any share,  any of
      them may give  effectual  receipt  for any  distribution  or other  monies
      payable on or in respect of the share.

104   Notice of any  distribution  that may have been declared shall be given to
      each  member  in  manner  hereinafter   mentioned  and  all  distributions
      unclaimed  for three years after having been  declared may be forfeited by
      the directors for the benefit of the Company.

105   No   distribution   shall  bear  interest   against  the  Company  and  no
      distribution  shall be paid on  treasury  shares or shares held by another
      company of which the Company holds, directly or indirectly,  shares having
      more than 50 percent of the vote in electing directors.

106   A share issued as a  distribution  by the Company shall be treated for all
      purposes as having  been  issued for money  equal to the  surplus  that is
      transferred to capital upon the issue of the share.

      (d)   COMPANY RECORDS

107   The Company shall keep records that:

      (a)   are sufficient to show and explain the Company's transactions; and

      (b)   will, at any time,  enable the financial  position of the Company to
            be determined with reasonable accuracy.

108   The Company shall keep:

      (a)   minutes of all meetings of:

            (i)   directors,

            (ii)  members,

            (iii) committees of directors, and

            (iv)  committees of members;
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      (b)   copies of all resolutions consented to by:

            (i)   directors,

            (ii)  members,

            (iii) committees of directors, and

            (iv)  committees of members;

      (c)   an  imprint  of the  common  seal at the  registered  office  of the
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            Company.

109   The  Company  shall  keep  the  following  records  at the  office  of its
      registered  agent or at such other place or places,  within or outside the
      British Virgin Islands, as the directors may determine:

      (a)   minutes of  meetings  and  resolutions  of members and of classes of
            members maintained in accordance with Regulation 110 ; and

      (b)   minutes of meetings and  resolutions  of directors and committees of
            directors maintained in accordance with Regulation 110 .

110   The  Company  shall  keep the  following  documents  at the  office of its
      registered agent:

      (a)   the Memorandum of Association and Articles of the Company;

      (b)   the register of members maintained in accordance with Regulation 115
            or a copy of the register of members;

      (c)   the register of directors  maintained in accordance  with Regulation
            115 or a copy of the register of directors;

      (d)   copies of all  notices and other  documents  filed by the Company in
            the previous ten years; and
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      (e)   a copy of the  register of charges  kept by the Company  pursuant to
            Section 162(1) of the Act.

111   (a) Where the  Company  keeps a copy of the  register  of  members  or the
          register of directors at the office of its registered agent, it shall

            (i)   within  15 days of any  change  in the  register,  notify  the
                  registered agent, in writing, of the change; and

            (ii)  provide  the  registered  agent  with a written  record of the
                  physical  address of the place or places at which the original
                  register of members or the  original  register of directors is
                  kept.

      (b)   Where the place at which the  original  register  of  members or the
            original register of directors is changed, the Company shall provide
            the registered  agent with the physical  address of the new location
            of the records within 14 days of the change of location.

112   The Company  shall keep a register to be known as a register of  directors
      containing the names and addresses of the persons who are directors of the
      Company,  the date on which  each  person  whose  name is  entered  in the
      register was  appointed  as a director of the  Company,  the date on which
      each person  named as a director  ceased to be a director of the  Company,
      and such other information as may be prescribed.

113   The Company  shall  maintain an accurate and complete  register of members
      showing the full names and  addresses  of all persons  holding  registered
      shares in the Company,  the number of each class and series of  registered
      shares held by such person,  the date on which the name of each member was
      entered in the  register  of members and where  applicable,  the date such
      person ceased to hold any registered shares in the Company.
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114   The  records,  documents  and  registers  required by Articles  107 to 113
      inclusive shall be open to the inspection of the directors at all times.

115   The directors shall from time to time determine whether and to what extent
      and at what  times and  places  and under  what  conditions  the  records,
      documents and registers of the Company or any of them shall be open to the
      inspection  of members  not being  directors,  and no member  (not being a
      director)  shall have any right of  inspecting  any records,  documents or
      registers of the Company  except as conferred by the Act or  authorised by
      resolution of the directors.
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            (i)   AUDIT

116   The members may by  resolution  call for the accounts of the Company to be
      examined by an auditor.

117   The  directors  may be  resolution  determine  the audit  committee  to be
      appointed by them at such remuneration as may from time to time be agreed,
      to be solely  responsible  for selecting the  independent  accountants  to
      audit the Company's financial records.

118   The Company may by resolution of members call for the directors to prepare
      periodically a profit and loss account and a balance sheet. The profit and
      loss  account  and  balance  sheet  shall  be  drawn  up  so  as  to  give
      respectively  a true and fair view of the profit  and loss of the  Company
      for the financial  period and a true and fair view of the state of affairs
      of the Company as at the end of the financial period.

119   The  auditor  may be a member of the  company  but no  director or officer
      shall be eligible during his continuance in office.

120   Every  auditor of the Company shall have a right of access at all times to
      the books of  accounts  of the  Company,  and shall be entitled to require
      from the officers of the Company such  information and  explanations as he
      thinks necessary for the performance of his duties.

121   The report of the auditor  shall be annexed to the accounts  upon which he
      reports,  and the auditor  shall be entitled to receive  notice of, and to
      attend, any meeting at which the Company's audited Profit and Loss Account
      and Balance Sheet is to be presented.

            (ii)  NOTICES

122   Any  notice,  information  or written  statement  required  to be given to
      members  shall be served by mail  addressed  to each member at the address
      shown in the share register.

123   All notices directed to be given to the members shall, with respect to any
      registered  shares to which  persons  are  jointly  entitled,  be given to
      whichever of such persons is named first in the share register, and notice
      so given shall be sufficient notice to all the holders of such shares.
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124   Any notice,  if served by post, shall be deemed to have been served within
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      five days of posting,  and in proving such service it shall be  sufficient
      to prove that the letter containing the notice was properly  addressed and
      mailed with the postage prepaid.

            (iii) PENSION AND SUPERANNUATION FUND

125   The directors may establish and maintain or procure the  establishment and
      maintenance   of  any   non-contributory   or   contributory   pension  or
      superannuation funds for the benefit of, and give or procure the giving of
      donations,  gratuities,  pensions, allowances or emoluments to any persons
      who are or were at any time in the employment or service of the Company or
      any  company  which is a  subsidiary  of the  Company  or is  allied to or
      associated  with the  Company or with any such  subsidiary,  or who are or
      were at any time directors or officers of the Company or of any such other
      company as aforesaid or who hold or held any salaried employment or office
      in the Company or such other company,  or any persons in whose welfare the
      Company or any such  other  company  as  aforesaid  is, or has been at any
      time, interested, and to the wives, widows, families and dependents of any
      such  persons,  and make  payments  for or towards the  insurance  of such
      persons as aforesaid, and may do any of the matters aforesaid either alone
      or in  conjunction  with any such other company as  aforesaid.  A director
      holding any such  employment or office shall be entitled to participate in
      and retain  for his own  benefit  any such  donation,  gratuity,  pension,
      allowance or emolument.

            (iv)  WINDING UP

126   The Company may be voluntarily  liquidated under Part XII of the Act if it
      has no liabilities  and it is able to pay its debts as they become due. If
      the Company shall be wound up, the  liquidator  may, in accordance  with a
      resolution of members, divide amongst the members in specie or in kind the
      whole or any part of the assets of the Company (whether they shall consist
      of  property  of the same kind or not) and may for such  purpose  set such
      value as he deems fair upon any such  property to be divided as  aforesaid
      and may determine  how such  division  shall be carried out as between the
      members or different classes of members. The liquidator may vest the whole
      or any part of such assets in trustees  upon such trust for the benefit of
      the  contributors as the liquidator shall think fit, but so that no member
      shall be compelled to accept any shares or other securities  whereon there
      is any liability.

      AMENDMENT TO ARTICLES

127   The Company may alter or modify the conditions contained in these Articles
      as  originally  drafted or as amended from time to time by a resolution of
      the directors or the members.
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      CONTINUATION

128   The  Company  may by  resolution  of  members  or by a  resolution  passed
      unanimously  by  all  directors  of  the  Company  continue  as a  company
      incorporated  under the laws of a jurisdiction  outside the British Virgin
      Islands in the manner provided under those laws.

We, Maples Finance BVI Limited of P.O. Box 173,  Kingston  Chambers,  Road Town,
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Tortola,  British  Virgin  Islands in our capacity as  registered  agent for the
Company hereby apply to the Registrar for the  incorporation of the Company this
6th day of February 2006.

Incorporator

-------------------------------------
Clinton Hempel
Authorised Signatory
Maples Finance BVI Limited
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                   CHARDAN NORTH CHINA ACQUISITION CORPORATION
                                 2006 STOCK PLAN

      1.    ESTABLISHMENT, PURPOSE AND TERM OF PLAN.

            1.1 ESTABLISHMENT. The Chardan North China Acquisition 2006 Stock
Plan (the "PLAN") is hereby adopted ______________, 2006 subject to approval by
the stockholders of the Company (the date of such approval, the "Effective
Date").

            1.2   PURPOSE. The purpose of the Plan is to advance the interests
of the Participating Company Group and its stockholders by providing an
incentive to attract and retain the best qualified personnel to perform services
for the Participating Company Group, by motivating such persons to contribute to
the growth and profitability of the Participating Company Group, by aligning
their interests with interests of the Company's stockholders, and by rewarding
such persons for their services by tying a significant portion of their total
compensation package to the success of the Company. The Plan seeks to achieve
this purpose by providing for Awards in the form of Options, Stock Appreciation
Rights, Restricted Stock Awards, Performance Shares, Performance Units,
Restricted Stock Units, Deferred Compensation Awards and other Stock-Based
Awards as described below.
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            1.3   TERM OF PLAN. The Plan shall continue in effect until the
earlier of its termination by the Board or the date on which all of the shares
of Stock available for issuance under the Plan have been issued and all
restrictions on such shares under the terms of the Plan and the agreements
evidencing Awards granted under the Plan have lapsed. However, Awards shall not
be granted later than ten (10) years from the Effective Date. The Company
intends that the Plan comply with Section 409A of the Code (including any
amendments to or replacements of such section), and the Plan shall be so
construed.

      2.    DEFINITIONS AND CONSTRUCTION.

            2.1   DEFINITIONS. Whenever used herein, the following terms shall
have their respective meanings set forth below:

                  (a)   "AFFILIATE" means (i) an entity, other than a Parent
Corporation, that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediary
entities, controls the Company or (ii) an entity, other than a Subsidiary
Corporation, that is controlled by the Company directly, or indirectly through
one or more intermediary entities. For this purpose, the term "control"
(including the term "controlled by") means the possession, direct or indirect,
of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of
the relevant entity, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by
contract or otherwise; or shall have such other meaning assigned such term for
the purposes of registration on Form S-8 under the Securities Act.
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                  (b)   "AWARD" means any Option, SAR, Restricted Stock Award,
Performance Share, Performance Unit, Restricted Stock Unit or Deferred
Compensation Award or other Stock-Based Award granted under the Plan.

                  (c)   "AWARD AGREEMENT" means a written agreement between the
Company and a Participant setting forth the terms, conditions and restrictions
of the Award granted to the Participant.

                  (d)   "BOARD" means the Board of Directors of the Company.

                  (e)   "CHANGE IN CONTROL" means, unless such term or an
equivalent term is otherwise defined with respect to an Award by the
Participant's Award Agreement or by a written contract of employment or service,
the occurrence of any of the following:

                        (i)   any "person" (as such term is used in Sections
13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act), other than (1) a trustee or other
fiduciary holding securities of the Company under an employee benefit plan of a
Participating Company or (2) a corporation owned directly or indirectly by the
stockholders of the Company in substantially the same proportions as their
ownership of the stock of the Company, becomes the "beneficial owner" (as
defined in Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act), directly or
indirectly, of securities of the Company representing fifty percent (50%) or
more of (i) the total Fair Market Value of the stock of the Company or (ii) the
total combined voting power of the Company's then-outstanding securities
entitled to vote generally in the election of directors; or

                        (ii)  an Ownership Change Event or series of related
Ownership Change Events (collectively, a "TRANSACTION") in which the
stockholders of the Company immediately before the Transaction do not retain
immediately after the Transaction direct or indirect beneficial ownership of
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more than fifty percent (50%) of the total combined voting power of the
outstanding voting securities of the Company or, in the case of an Ownership
Change Event described in Section 2.1(y)(i), the entity to which the assets of
the Company were transferred (the "TRANSFEREE"), as the case may be; or

                        (iii) a liquidation or dissolution of the Company.

For purposes of the preceding sentence, indirect beneficial ownership shall
include, without limitation, an interest resulting from ownership of the voting
securities of one or more corporations or other business entities which own the
Company or the Transferee, as the case may be, either directly or through one or
more subsidiary corporations or other business entities. The Committee shall
have the right to determine whether multiple sales or exchanges of the voting
securities of the Company or multiple Ownership Change Events are related, and
its determination shall be final, binding and conclusive.

                  (f)   "CODE" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, and any applicable regulations promulgated thereunder.
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                  (g)   "COMMITTEE" means the Compensation Committee or other
committee of the Board duly appointed to administer the Plan and having such
powers as shall be specified by the Board. If no committee of the Board has been
appointed to administer the Plan, the Board shall exercise all of the powers of
the Committee granted herein, and, in any event, the Board may in its discretion
exercise any or all of such powers. The Committee shall have the exclusive
authority to administer the Plan and shall have all of the powers granted
herein, including, without limitation, the power to amend or terminate the Plan
at any time, subject to the terms of the Plan and any applicable limitations
imposed by law.

                  (h)   "COMPANY" means Chardan North China Acquisition
Corporation, a Delaware corporation, or any Successor.

                  (i)   "CONSULTANT" means a person engaged to provide
consulting or advisory services (other than as an Employee or a member of the
Board) to a Participating Company.

                  (j)   "DEFERRED COMPENSATION AWARD" means an award of Stock
Units granted to a Participant pursuant to Section 11 of the Plan.

                  (k)   "DIRECTOR" means a member of the Board or of the board
of directors of any Participating Company.

                  (l)   "DISABILITY" means the permanent and total disability of
the Participant, within the meaning of Section 22(e)(3) of the Code.

                  (m)   "DIVIDEND EQUIVALENT" means a credit, made at the
discretion of the Committee or as otherwise provided by the Plan, to the account
of a Participant in an amount equal to the cash dividends paid on one share of
Stock for each share of Stock represented by an Award held by such Participant.

                  (n)   "EMPLOYEE" means any person treated as an employee
(including an Officer or a member of the Board who is also treated as an
employee) in the records of a Participating Company and, with respect to any
Incentive Stock Option granted to such person, who is an employee for purposes
of Section 422 of the Code; provided, however, that neither service as a member
of the Board nor payment of a director's fee shall be sufficient to constitute
employment for purposes of the Plan. The Company shall determine in good faith
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and in the exercise of its discretion whether an individual has become or has
ceased to be an Employee and the effective date of such individual's employment
or termination of employment, as the case may be. For purposes of an
individual's rights, if any, under the Plan as of the time of the Company's
determination, all such determinations by the Company shall be final, binding
and conclusive, notwithstanding that the Company or any court of law or
governmental agency subsequently makes a contrary determination.

                                      D-3

                  (o)   "EXCHANGE ACT" means the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended.

                  (p)   "FAIR MARKET VALUE" means, as of any date, the value of
a share of Stock or other property as determined by the Committee, in its
discretion, or by the Company, in its discretion, if such determination is
expressly allocated to the Company herein, subject to the following:

                        (i)   Except as otherwise determined by the Committee,
if, on such date, the Stock is listed on a national or regional securities
exchange or market system, the Fair Market Value of a share of Stock shall be
the closing price of a share of Stock as quoted on such national or regional
securities exchange or market system constituting the primary market for the
Stock on the last trading day prior to the day of determination, as reported in
The Wall Street Journal or such other source as the Company deems reliable.

                        (ii)  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee may,
in its discretion, determine the Fair Market Value on the basis of the closing,
high, low or average sale price of a share of Stock or the actual sale price of
a share of Stock received by a Participant, on such date, the preceding trading
day, the next succeeding trading day or an average determined over a period of
trading days. The Committee may vary its method of determination of the Fair
Market Value as provided in this Section for different purposes under the Plan.

                        (iii) If, on such date, the Stock is not listed on a
national or regional securities exchange or market system, the Fair Market Value
of a share of Stock shall be as determined by the Committee in good faith
without regard to any restriction other than a restriction which, by its terms,
will never lapse.

                  (q)   "INCENTIVE STOCK OPTION" means an Option intended to be
(as set forth in the Award Agreement) and which qualifies as an incentive stock
option within the meaning of Section 422(b) of the Code.

                  (r)   "INSIDER" means an Officer, a Director or any other
person whose transactions in Stock are subject to Section 16 of the Exchange
Act.

                  (s)   "NON-CONTROL AFFILIATE" means any entity in which any
Participating Company has an ownership interest and which the Committee shall
designate as a Non-Control Affiliate.

                  (t)   "NONEMPLOYEE DIRECTOR" means a Director who is not an
Employee.

                  (u)   "NONSTATUTORY STOCK OPTION" means an Option not intended
to be (as set forth in the Award Agreement) an incentive stock option within the
meaning of Section 422(b) of the Code.
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                  (v)   "OFFICER" means any person designated by the Board as an
officer of the Company.

                  (w)   "OPTION" means the right to purchase Stock at a stated
price for a specified period of time granted to a Participant pursuant to
Section 0 of the Plan. An Option may be either an Incentive Stock Option or a
Nonstatutory Stock Option.

                  (x)   "OPTION EXPIRATION DATE" means the date of expiration of
the Option's term as set forth in the Award Agreement.

                  (y)   An "OWNERSHIP CHANGE EVENT" shall be deemed to have
occurred if any of the following occurs with respect to the Company: (i) the
direct or indirect sale or exchange in a single or series of related
transactions by the stockholders of the Company of more than fifty percent (50%)
of the voting stock of the Company; (ii) a merger or consolidation in which the
Company is a party; (iii) the sale, exchange, or transfer of all or
substantially all, as determined by the Board in its discretion, of the assets
of the Company; or (iv) a liquidation or dissolution of the Company.

                  (z)   "PARENT CORPORATION" means any present or future "parent
corporation" of the Company, as defined in Section 424(e) of the Code.

                  (aa)  "PARTICIPANT" means any eligible person who has been
granted one or more Awards.

                  (bb)  "PARTICIPATING COMPANY" means the Company or any Parent
Corporation, Subsidiary Corporation or Affiliate.

                  (cc)  "PARTICIPATING COMPANY GROUP" means, at any point in
time, all entities collectively which are then Participating Companies.

                  (dd)  "PERFORMANCE AWARD" means an Award of Performance Shares
or Performance Units.

                  (ee)  "PERFORMANCE AWARD FORMULA" means, for any Performance
Award, a formula or table established by the Committee pursuant to Section 9.3
of the Plan which provides the basis for computing the value of a Performance
Award at one or more threshold levels of attainment of the applicable
Performance Goal(s) measured as of the end of the applicable Performance Period.

                  (ff)  "PERFORMANCE GOAL" means a performance goal established
by the Committee pursuant to Section 9.3 of the Plan.
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                  (gg)  "PERFORMANCE PERIOD" means a period established by the
Committee pursuant to Section 9.3 of the Plan at the end of which one or more
Performance Goals are to be measured.

                  (hh)  "PERFORMANCE SHARE" means a bookkeeping entry
representing a right granted to a Participant pursuant to Section 9 of the Plan
to receive a payment equal to the value of a Performance Share, as determined by
the Committee, based on performance.

                  (ii)  "PERFORMANCE UNIT" means a bookkeeping entry
representing a right granted to a Participant pursuant to Section 9 of the Plan
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to receive a payment equal to the value of a Performance Unit, as determined by
the Committee, based upon performance.

                  (jj)  "RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD" means an Award of Restricted
Stock.

                  (kk)  "RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT" or "STOCK UNIT" means a
bookkeeping entry representing a right granted to a Participant pursuant to
Section 10 or Section 11 of the Plan, respectively, to receive a share of Stock
on a date determined in accordance with the provisions of Section 10 or Section
11, as applicable, and the Participant's Award Agreement.

                  (ll)  "RESTRICTION PERIOD" means the period established in
accordance with Section 8.4 of the Plan during which shares subject to a
Restricted Stock Award are subject to Vesting Conditions.

                  (mm)  "RULE 16B-3" means Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act, as
amended from time to time, or any successor rule or regulation.

                  (nn)  "SAR" or "STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHT" means a bookkeeping
entry representing, for each share of Stock subject to such SAR, a right granted
to a Participant pursuant to Section 0 of the Plan to receive payment in any
combination of shares of Stock or cash of an amount equal to the excess, if any,
of the Fair Market Value of a share of Stock on the date of exercise of the SAR
over the exercise price.

                  (oo)  "SECTION 162(M)" means Section 162(m) of the Code.

                  (pp)  "SECURITIES ACT" means the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended.

                  (qq)  "SERVICE" means a Participant's employment or service
with the Participating Company Group, whether in the capacity of an Employee, a
Director or a Consultant. Unless otherwise provided by the Committee, a
Participant's Service shall not be deemed to have terminated merely because of a
change in the capacity in which the Participant renders such Service or a change
in the Participating Company for which the Participant renders such Service,
provided that there is no interruption or termination of the Participant's
Service. Furthermore, a Participant's Service shall not be deemed to have
terminated if the Participant takes any military leave, sick leave, or other
bona fide leave of absence approved by the Company. However, if any such leave
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taken by a Participant exceeds ninety (90) days, then on the ninety-first (91st)
day following the commencement of such leave the Participant's Service shall be
deemed to have terminated, unless the Participant's right to return to Service
is guaranteed by statute or contract. Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless
otherwise designated by the Company or required by law, a leave of absence shall
not be treated as Service for purposes of determining vesting under the
Participant's Award Agreement. A Participant's Service shall be deemed to have
terminated either upon an actual termination of Service or upon the entity for
which the Participant performs Service ceasing to be a Participating Company.
Subject to the foregoing, the Company, in its discretion, shall determine
whether the Participant's Service has terminated and the effective date of such
termination.

                  (rr)  "STOCK" means the common stock of the Company, as
adjusted from time to time in accordance with Section 0 of the Plan.
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                  (ss)  "STOCK-BASED AWARDS" means any award that is valued in
whole or in part by reference to, or is otherwise based on, the Stock, including
dividends on the Stock, but not limited to those Awards described in Sections 6
through 11 of the Plan.

                  (tt)  "SUBSIDIARY CORPORATION" means any present or future
"subsidiary corporation" of the Company, as defined in Section 424(f) of the
Code.

                  (uu)  "SUCCESSOR" means a corporation into or with which the
Company is merged or consolidated or which acquires all or substantially all of
the assets of the Company and which is designated by the Board as a Successor
for purposes of the Plan.

                  (vv)  "TEN PERCENT OWNER" means a Participant who, at the time
an Option is granted to the Participant, owns stock possessing more than ten
percent (10%) of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of a
Participating Company (other than an Affiliate) within the meaning of Section
422(b)(6) of the Code.

                  (ww)  "VESTING CONDITIONS" means those conditions established
in accordance with Section 8.4 or Section 10.2 of the Plan prior to the
satisfaction of which shares subject to a Restricted Stock Award or Restricted
Stock Unit Award, respectively, remain subject to forfeiture or a repurchase
option in favor of the Company upon the Participant's termination of Service.

            2.2   CONSTRUCTION. Captions and titles contained herein are for
convenience only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of any
provision of the Plan. Except when otherwise indicated by the context, the
singular shall include the plural and the plural shall include the singular. Use
of the term "or" is not intended to be exclusive, unless the context clearly
requires otherwise.
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      3.    Administration.

            3.1   ADMINISTRATION BY THE COMMITTEE. The Plan shall be
administered by the Committee. All questions of interpretation of the Plan or of
any Award shall be determined by the Committee, and such determinations shall be
final and binding upon all persons having an interest in the Plan or such Award.

            3.2   AUTHORITY OF OFFICERS. Any Officer shall have the authority to
act on behalf of the Company with respect to any matter, right, obligation,
determination or election which is the responsibility of or which is allocated
to the Company herein, provided the Officer has apparent authority with respect
to such matter, right, obligation, determination or election.

            3.3   ADMINISTRATION WITH RESPECT TO INSIDERS. With respect to
participation by Insiders in the Plan, at any time that any class of equity
security of the Company is registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange
Act, the Plan shall be administered in compliance with the requirements, if any,
of Rule 16b-3.

            3.4   COMMITTEE COMPLYING WITH SECTION 162(M). While the Company is
a "publicly held corporation" within the meaning of Section 162(m), the Board
may establish a Committee of "outside directors" within the meaning of Section
162(m) to approve the grant of any Award which might reasonably be anticipated
to result in the payment of employee remuneration that would otherwise exceed
the limit on employee remuneration deductible for income tax purposes pursuant
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to Section 162(m).

            3.5   POWERS OF THE COMMITTEE. In addition to any other powers set
forth in the Plan and subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Committee shall
have the full and final power and authority, in its discretion:

                  (a)   to determine the persons to whom, and the time or times
at which, Awards shall be granted and the number of shares of Stock or units to
be subject to each Award;

                  (b)   to determine the type of Award granted and to designate
Options as Incentive Stock Options or Nonstatutory Stock Options;

                  (c)   to determine the Fair Market Value of shares of Stock or
other property;

                  (d)   to determine the terms, conditions and restrictions
applicable to each Award (which need not be identical) and any shares acquired
pursuant thereto, including, without limitation, (i) the exercise or purchase
price of shares purchased pursuant to any Award, (ii) the method of payment for
shares purchased pursuant to any Award, (iii) the method for satisfaction of any
tax withholding obligation arising in connection with Award, including by the
withholding or delivery of shares of Stock, (iv) the timing, terms and
conditions of the exercisability or vesting of any Award or any shares acquired
pursuant thereto, (v) the Performance Award Formula and Performance Goals
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applicable to any Award and the extent to which such Performance Goals have been
attained, (vi) the time of the expiration of any Award, (vii) the effect of the
Participant's termination of Service on any of the foregoing, and (viii) all
other terms, conditions and restrictions applicable to any Award or shares
acquired pursuant thereto not inconsistent with the terms of the Plan;

                  (e)   to determine whether an Award will be settled in shares
of Stock, cash, or in any combination thereof;

                  (f)   to approve one or more forms of Award Agreement;

                  (g)   to amend, modify, extend, cancel or renew any Award or
to waive any restrictions or conditions applicable to any Award or any shares
acquired pursuant thereto;

                  (h)   to accelerate, continue, extend or defer the
exercisability or vesting of any Award or any shares acquired pursuant thereto,
including with respect to the period following a Participant's termination of
Service;

                  (i)   without the consent of the affected Participant and
notwithstanding the provisions of any Award Agreement to the contrary, to
unilaterally substitute at any time a Stock Appreciation Right providing for
settlement solely in shares of Stock in place of any outstanding Option,
provided that such Stock Appreciation Right covers the same number of shares of
Stock and provides for the same exercise price (subject in each case to
adjustment in accordance with Section 0) as the replaced Option and otherwise
provides substantially equivalent terms and conditions as the replaced Option,
as determined by the Committee;

                  (j)   to prescribe, amend or rescind rules, guidelines and
policies relating to the Plan, or to adopt sub-plans or supplements to, or
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alternative versions of, the Plan, including, without limitation, as the
Committee deems necessary or desirable to comply with the laws or regulations of
or to accommodate the tax policy, accounting principles or custom of, foreign
jurisdictions whose citizens may be granted Awards;

                  (k)   to correct any defect, supply any omission or reconcile
any inconsistency in the Plan or any Award Agreement and to make all other
determinations and take such other actions with respect to the Plan or any Award
as the Committee may deem advisable to the extent not inconsistent with the
provisions of the Plan or applicable law; and

                  (l)   to delegate to any proper Officer the authority to grant
one or more Awards, without further approval of the Committee, to any person
eligible pursuant to Section 5, other than a person who, at the time of such
grant, is an Insider; provided, however, that (i) the exercise price per share
of each such Option shall be equal to the Fair Market Value per share of the
Stock on the effective date of grant, and (ii) each such Award shall be subject
to the terms and conditions of the appropriate standard form of Award Agreement
approved by the Committee and shall conform to the provisions of the Plan and
such other guidelines as shall be established from time to time by the
Committee.
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            3.6   INDEMNIFICATION. In addition to such other rights of
indemnification as they may have as members of the Board or the Committee or as
officers or employees of the Participating Company Group, members of the Board
or the Committee and any officers or employees of the Participating Company
Group to whom authority to act for the Board, the Committee or the Company is
delegated shall be indemnified by the Company against all reasonable expenses,
including attorneys' fees, actually and necessarily incurred in connection with
the defense of any action, suit or proceeding, or in connection with any appeal
therein, to which they or any of them may be a party by reason of any action
taken or failure to act under or in connection with the Plan, or any right
granted hereunder, and against all amounts paid by them in settlement thereof
(provided such settlement is approved by independent legal counsel selected by
the Company) or paid by them in satisfaction of a judgment in any such action,
suit or proceeding, except in relation to matters as to which it shall be
adjudged in such action, suit or proceeding that such person is liable for gross
negligence, bad faith or intentional misconduct in duties; provided, however,
that within sixty (60) days after the institution of such action, suit or
proceeding, such person shall offer to the Company, in writing, the opportunity
at its own expense to handle and defend the same.

            3.7   ARBITRATION. Any dispute or claim concerning any Awards
granted (or not granted) pursuant to this Plan and any other disputes or claims
relating to or arising out of the Plan shall be fully, finally and exclusively
resolved by binding arbitration conducted pursuant to the Commercial Arbitration
Rules of the American Arbitration Association. By accepting an Award,
Participants and the Company waive their respective rights to have any such
disputes or claims tried by a judge or jury.

            3.8   REPRICING PROHIBITED. Without the affirmative vote of holders
of a majority of the shares of Stock cast in person or by proxy at a meeting of
the stockholders of the Company at which a quorum representing a majority of all
outstanding shares of Stock is present or represented by proxy, the Committee
shall not approve a program providing for either (a) the cancellation of
outstanding Options or SARs and the grant in substitution therefore of new
Options or SARs having a lower exercise price or (b) the amendment of
outstanding Options or SARs to reduce the exercise price thereof. This paragraph
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shall not be construed to apply to the issuance or assumption of an Award in a
transaction to which Code section 424(a) applies, within the meaning of Section
424 of the Code.

      4.    SHARES SUBJECT TO PLAN.

            4.1   MAXIMUM NUMBER OF SHARES ISSUABLE. Subject to adjustment as
provided in Section 4.2, the maximum aggregate number of shares of Stock that
may be issued under the Plan shall be three million (3,000,000) and shall
consist of authorized but unissued or reacquired shares of Stock or any
combination thereof. If an outstanding Award for any reason expires or is
terminated or canceled without having been exercised or settled in full, or if
shares of Stock acquired pursuant to an Award subject to forfeiture
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or repurchase are forfeited or repurchased by the Company, the shares of Stock
allocable to the terminated portion of such Award or such forfeited or
repurchased shares of Stock shall again be available for issuance under the
Plan. Shares of Stock shall not be deemed to have been issued pursuant to the
Plan (a) with respect to any portion of an Award that is settled in cash or (b)
to the extent such shares are withheld or reacquired by the Company in
satisfaction of tax withholding obligations pursuant to Section 0. Upon payment
in shares of Stock pursuant to the exercise of an SAR, the number of shares
available for issuance under the Plan shall be reduced only by the number of
shares actually issued in such payment. If the exercise price of an Option is
paid by tender to the Company, or attestation to the ownership, of shares of
Stock owned by the Participant, or by means of a Net-Exercise, the number of
shares available for issuance under the Plan shall be reduced only by the net
number of shares for which the Option is exercised.

            4.2   ADJUSTMENTS FOR CHANGES IN CAPITAL STRUCTURE. Subject to any
required action by the stockholders of the Company, in the event of any change
in the Stock effected without receipt of consideration by the Company, whether
through merger, consolidation, reorganization, reincorporation,
recapitalization, reclassification, stock dividend, stock split, reverse stock
split, split-up, split-off, spin-off, combination of shares, exchange of shares,
or similar change in the capital structure of the Company, or in the event of
payment of a dividend or distribution to the stockholders of the Company in a
form other than Stock (excepting normal cash dividends) that has a material
effect on the Fair Market Value of shares of Stock, appropriate adjustments
shall be made in the number and kind of shares subject to the Plan and to any
outstanding Awards, in the Award limits set forth in Section 0, and in the
exercise or purchase price per share under any outstanding Award in order to
prevent dilution or enlargement of Participants' rights under the Plan. For
purposes of the foregoing, conversion of any convertible securities of the
Company shall not be treated as "effected without receipt of consideration by
the Company." If a majority of the shares which are of the same class as the
shares that are subject to outstanding Awards are exchanged for, converted into,
or otherwise become (whether or not pursuant to an Ownership Change Event)
shares of another corporation (the "NEW SHARES"), the Committee may unilaterally
amend the outstanding Options to provide that such Options are exercisable for
New Shares. In the event of any such amendment, the number of shares subject to,
and the exercise price per share of, the outstanding Awards shall be adjusted in
a fair and equitable manner as determined by the Board, in its discretion. Any
fractional share resulting from an adjustment pursuant to this Section 0 shall
be rounded down to the nearest whole number. The Committee in its sole
discretion, may also make such adjustments in the terms of any Award to reflect,
or related to, such changes in the capital structure of the Company or
distributions as it deems appropriate, including modification of Performance
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Goals, Performance Award Formulas and Performance Periods. The adjustments
determined by the Committee pursuant to this Section 0 shall be final, binding
and conclusive.
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      5.    Eligibility and Award Limitations.

            5.1   PERSONS ELIGIBLE FOR AWARDS. Awards may be granted only to
Employees, Consultants and Directors. For purposes of the foregoing sentence,
"Employees," "Consultants"and "Directors" shall include prospective Employees,
prospective Consultants and prospective Directors to whom Awards are offered to
be granted in connection with written offers of an employment or other service
relationship with the Participating Company Group; provided, however, that no
Stock subject to any such Award shall vest, become exercisable or be issued
prior to the date on which such person commences Service.

            5.2   PARTICIPATION. Awards other than Nonemployee Director Awards
are granted solely at the discretion of the Committee. Eligible persons may be
granted more than one Award. However, eligibility in accordance with this
Section shall not entitle any person to be granted an Award, or, having been
granted an Award, to be granted an additional Award.

            5.3   INCENTIVE STOCK OPTION LIMITATIONS.

                  (a)   PERSONS ELIGIBLE. An Incentive Stock Option may be
granted only to a person who, on the effective date of grant, is an Employee of
the Company, a Parent Corporation or a Subsidiary Corporation (each being an
"ISO-QUALIFYING CORPORATION"). Any person who is not an Employee of an
ISO-Qualifying Corporation on the effective date of the grant of an Option to
such person may be granted only a Nonstatutory Stock Option. An Incentive Stock
Option granted to a prospective Employee upon the condition that such person
become an Employee of an ISO-Qualifying Corporation shall be deemed granted
effective on the date such person commences Service with an ISO-Qualifying
Corporation, with an exercise price determined as of such date in accordance
with Section 0.

                  (b)   FAIR MARKET VALUE LIMITATION. To the extent that options
designated as Incentive Stock Options (granted under all stock option plans of
the Participating Company Group, including the Plan) become exercisable by a
Participant for the first time during any calendar year for stock having a Fair
Market Value greater than One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000), the portion
of such options which exceeds such amount shall be treated as Nonstatutory Stock
Options. For purposes of this Section, options designated as Incentive Stock
Options shall be taken into account in the order in which they were granted, and
the Fair Market Value of stock shall be determined as of the time the option
with respect to such stock is granted. If the Code is amended to provide for a
limitation different from that set forth in this Section, such different
limitation shall be deemed incorporated herein effective as of the date and with
respect to such Options as required or permitted by such amendment to the Code.
If an Option is treated as an Incentive Stock Option in part and as a
Nonstatutory Stock Option in part by reason of the limitation set forth in this
Section, the Participant may designate which portion of such Option the
Participant is exercising. In the absence of such designation, the Participant
shall be deemed to have exercised the Incentive Stock Option portion of the
Option first. Upon exercise, shares issued pursuant to each such portion shall
be separately identified.
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            5.4   Award Limits.

                  (a)   MAXIMUM NUMBER OF SHARES ISSUABLE PURSUANT TO INCENTIVE
STOCK OPTIONS. Subject to adjustment as provided in Section 0, the maximum
aggregate number of shares of Stock that may be issued under the Plan pursuant
to the exercise of Incentive Stock Options shall not exceed three million
(3,000,000) shares. The maximum aggregate number of shares of Stock that may be
issued under the Plan pursuant to all Awards other than Incentive Stock Options
shall be the number of shares determined in accordance with Section 0, subject
to adjustment as provided in Section 0 and further subject to the limitation set
forth in Section 0 below.

                  (b)   AGGREGATE LIMIT ON FULL VALUE AWARDS. Subject to
adjustment as provided in Section 0, in no event shall more than three million
(3,000,000) shares in the aggregate be issued under the Plan pursuant to the
exercise or settlement of Restricted Stock Awards, Restricted Stock Unit Awards
and Performance Awards ("Full Value Awards"). Except with respect to a maximum
of three million (3,000,000) shares, any Full Value Awards which vest on the
basis of the Participant's continued Service shall not provide for vesting which
is any more rapid than annual pro rata vesting over a three (3) year period and
any Full Value Awards which vest upon the attainment of Performance Goals shall
provide for a Performance Period of at least twelve (12) months.

      6.    TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF OPTIONS.

      Options shall be evidenced by Award Agreements specifying the number of
shares of Stock covered thereby, in such form as the Committee shall from time
to time establish. No Option or purported Option shall be a valid and binding
obligation of the Company unless evidenced by a fully executed Award Agreement.
Award Agreements evidencing Options may incorporate all or any of the terms of
the Plan by reference and shall comply with and be subject to the following
terms and conditions:

            6.1   EXERCISE PRICE. The exercise price for each Option shall be
established in the discretion of the Committee; provided, however, that (a) the
exercise price per share shall be not less than the Fair Market Value of a share
of Stock on the effective date of grant of the Option and (b) no Incentive Stock
Option granted to a Ten Percent Owner shall have an exercise price per share
less than one hundred ten percent (110%) of the Fair Market Value of a share of
Stock on the effective date of grant of the Option. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, an Option (whether an Incentive Stock Option or a Nonstatutory Stock
Option) may be granted with an exercise price lower than the minimum exercise
price set forth above if such Option is granted pursuant to an assumption or
substitution for another option in a manner qualifying under the provisions of
Section 424(a) of the Code.

            6.2   EXERCISABILITY AND TERM OF OPTIONS.
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                  (a)   OPTION VESTING AND EXERCISABILITY. Options shall be
exercisable at such time or times, or upon such event or events, and subject to
such terms, conditions, performance criteria and restrictions as shall be
determined by the Committee and set forth in the Award Agreement evidencing such
Option; provided, however, that (a) no Option shall be exercisable after the
expiration of ten (10) years after the effective date of grant of such Option,
(b) no Incentive Stock Option granted to a Ten Percent Owner shall be
exercisable after the expiration of five (5) years after the effective date of
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grant of such Option, (c) no Option shall become fully vested in a period of
less than three (3) years from the date of grant, other than in connection with
a termination of Service or a Change in Control or in the case of an Option
granted to a Nonemployee Director, and (d) no Option offered or granted to a
prospective Employee, prospective Consultant or prospective Director may become
exercisable prior to the date on which such person commences Service. Subject to
the foregoing, unless otherwise specified by the Committee in the grant of an
Option, any Option granted hereunder shall terminate ten (10) years after the
effective date of grant of the Option, unless earlier terminated in accordance
with its provisions, or the terms of the Plan.

                  (b)   PARTICIPANT RESPONSIBILITY FOR EXERCISE OF OPTION. Each
Participant is responsible for taking any and all actions as may be required to
exercise any Option in a timely manner, and for properly executing any documents
as may be required for the exercise of an Option in accordance with such rules
and procedures as may be established from time to time. By signing an Option
Agreement each Participant acknowledges that information regarding the
procedures and requirements for the exercise of any Option is available upon
such Participant's request. The Company shall have no duty or obligation to
notify any Participant of the expiration date of any Option.

            6.3   PAYMENT OF EXERCISE PRICE.

                  (a)   FORMS OF CONSIDERATION AUTHORIZED. Except as otherwise
provided below, payment of the exercise price for the number of shares of Stock
being purchased pursuant to any Option shall be made (i) in cash, by check or in
cash equivalent, (ii) by tender to the Company, or attestation to the ownership,
of shares of Stock owned by the Participant having a Fair Market Value not less
than the exercise price, (iii) provided that the Participant is an Employee, and
not an Officer or Director (unless otherwise not prohibited by law, including,
without limitation, any regulation promulgated by the Board of Governors of the
Federal Reserve System) and in the Company's sole and absolute discretion at the
time the Option is exercised, by delivery of the Participant's promissory note
in a form approved by the Company for the aggregate exercise price, provided
that, if the Company is incorporated in the State of Delaware, the Participant
shall pay in cash that portion of the aggregate exercise price not less than the
par value of the shares being acquired, (iv) by such other consideration as may
be approved by the Committee from time to time to the extent permitted by
applicable law, or (v) by any combination thereof. The Committee may at any time
or from time to time grant Options which do not permit all of the foregoing
forms of consideration to be used in payment of the exercise price or which
otherwise restrict one or more forms of consideration.
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                  (b)   LIMITATIONS ON FORMS OF CONSIDERATION.

                        (i)   TENDER OF STOCK. Notwithstanding the foregoing, an
Option may not be exercised by tender to the Company, or attestation to the
ownership, of shares of Stock to the extent such tender or attestation would
constitute a violation of the provisions of any law, regulation or agreement
restricting the redemption of the Company's stock.

                        (ii)  PAYMENT BY PROMISSORY NOTE. No promissory note
shall be permitted if the exercise of an Option using a promissory note would be
a violation of any law. Any permitted promissory note shall be on such terms as
the Committee shall determine. The Committee shall have the authority to permit
or require the Participant to secure any promissory note used to exercise an
Option with the shares of Stock acquired upon the exercise of the Option or with
other collateral acceptable to the Company. Unless otherwise provided by the
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Committee, if the Company at any time is subject to the regulations promulgated
by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or any other
governmental entity affecting the extension of credit in connection with the
Company's securities, any promissory note shall comply with such applicable
regulations, and the Participant shall pay the unpaid principal and accrued
interest, if any, to the extent necessary to comply with such applicable
regulations.

            6.4   EFFECT OF TERMINATION OF SERVICE.

                  (a)   OPTION EXERCISABILITY. Subject to earlier termination of
the Option as otherwise provided herein and unless otherwise provided by the
Committee, an Option shall be exercisable after a Participant's termination of
Service only during the applicable time periods provided in the Award Agreement.

                  (b)   EXTENSION IF EXERCISE PREVENTED BY LAW. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, unless the Committee provides otherwise in the Award Agreement,
if the exercise of an Option within the applicable time periods is prevented by
the provisions of Section 0 below, the Option shall remain exercisable until
three (3) months (or such longer period of time as determined by the Committee,
in its discretion) after the date the Participant is notified by the Company
that the Option is exercisable, but in any event no later than the Option
Expiration Date.

                  (c)   EXTENSION IF PARTICIPANT SUBJECT TO SECTION 16(B).
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a sale within the applicable time periods of
shares acquired upon the exercise of the Option would subject the Participant to
suit under Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act, the Option shall remain
exercisable until the earliest to occur of (i) the tenth (10th) day following
the date on which a sale of such shares by the Participant would no longer be
subject to such suit, (ii) the one hundred and ninetieth (190th) day after the
Participant's termination of Service, or (iii) the Option Expiration Date.

            6.5   TRANSFERABILITY OF OPTIONS. During the lifetime of the

Participant, an Option shall be exercisable only by the Participant or the
Participant's guardian or legal representative. Prior to the issuance of shares
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of Stock upon the exercise of an Option, the Option shall not be subject in any
manner to anticipation, alienation, sale, exchange, transfer, assignment,
pledge, encumbrance, or garnishment by creditors of the Participant or the
Participant's beneficiary, except transfer by will or by the laws of descent and
distribution. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent permitted by the
Committee, in its discretion, and set forth in the Award Agreement evidencing
such Option, a Nonstatutory Stock Option shall be assignable or transferable
subject to the applicable limitations, if any, described in the General
Instructions to Form S-8 Registration Statement under the Securities Act.

      7.    TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS.

      Stock Appreciation Rights shall be evidenced by Award Agreements
specifying the number of shares of Stock subject to the Award, in such form as
the Committee shall from time to time establish. No SAR or purported SAR shall
be a valid and binding obligation of the Company unless evidenced by a fully
executed Award Agreement. Award Agreements evidencing SARs may incorporate all
or any of the terms of the Plan by reference and shall comply with and be
subject to the following terms and conditions:
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            7.1   TYPES OF SARS AUTHORIZED. SARs may be granted in tandem with
all or any portion of a related Option (a "TANDEM SAR") or may be granted
independently of any Option (a "FREESTANDING SAR"). A Tandem SAR may be granted
either concurrently with the grant of the related Option or at any time
thereafter prior to the complete exercise, termination, expiration or
cancellation of such related Option.

            7.2   EXERCISE PRICE. The exercise price for each SAR shall be
established in the discretion of the Committee; provided, however, that (a) the
exercise price per share subject to a Tandem SAR shall be the exercise price per
share under the related Option and (b) the exercise price per share subject to a
Freestanding SAR shall be not less than the Fair Market Value of a share of
Stock on the effective date of grant of the SAR.

            7.3   EXERCISABILITY AND TERM OF SARS.

                  (a)   TANDEM SARS. Tandem SARs shall be exercisable only at
the time and to the extent, and only to the extent, that the related Option is
exercisable, subject to such provisions as the Committee may specify where the
Tandem SAR is granted with respect to less than the full number of shares of
Stock subject to the related Option.

                  (b)   FREESTANDING SARS. Freestanding SARs shall be
exercisable at such time or times, or upon such event or events, and subject to
such terms, conditions, performance criteria and restrictions as shall be
determined by the Committee and set forth in the Award Agreement evidencing such
SAR; provided, however, that no Freestanding SAR shall be exercisable after the
expiration of ten (10) years after the effective date of grant of such SAR.
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                  No SAR shall become fully vested in a period of less than
three (3) years from the date of grant, other than in connection with a
termination of Service or a Change in Control or the case of an SAR granted to a
Nonemployee Director.

            7.4   DEEMED EXERCISE OF SARS. If, on the date on which an SAR would
otherwise terminate or expire, the SAR by its terms remains exercisable
immediately prior to such termination or expiration and, if so exercised, would
result in a payment to the holder of such SAR, then any portion of such SAR
which has not previously been exercised shall automatically be deemed to be
exercised as of such date with respect to such portion.

            7.5   EFFECT OF TERMINATION OF SERVICE. Subject to earlier
termination of the SAR as otherwise provided herein and unless otherwise
provided by the Committee in the grant of an SAR and set forth in the Award
Agreement, an SAR shall be exercisable after a Participant's termination of
Service only as provided in the Award Agreement.

            7.6   NONTRANSFERABILITY OF SARS. During the lifetime of the
Participant, an SAR shall be exercisable only by the Participant or the
Participant's guardian or legal representative. Prior to the exercise of an SAR,
the SAR shall not be subject in any manner to anticipation, alienation, sale,
exchange, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance, or garnishment by creditors
of the Participant or the Participant's beneficiary, except transfer by will or
by the laws of descent and distribution.

      8.    TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF RESTRICTED STOCK AWARDS.

      Restricted Stock Awards shall be evidenced by Award Agreements specifying
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the number of shares of Stock subject to the Award, in such form as the
Committee shall from time to time establish. No Restricted Stock Award or
purported Restricted Stock Award shall be a valid and binding obligation of the
Company unless evidenced by a fully executed Award Agreement. Award Agreements
evidencing Restricted Stock Awards may incorporate all or any of the terms of
the Plan by reference and shall comply with and be subject to the following
terms and conditions:

            8.1   TYPES OF RESTRICTED STOCK AWARDS AUTHORIZED. Restricted Stock
Awards may or may not require the payment of cash compensation for the stock.
Restricted Stock Awards may be granted upon such conditions as the Committee
shall determine, including, without limitation, upon the attainment of one or
more Performance Goals described in Section 9.4. If either the grant of a
Restricted Stock Award or the lapsing of the Restriction Period is to be
contingent upon the attainment of one or more Performance Goals, the Committee
shall follow procedures substantially equivalent to those set forth in Sections
9.3 through 9.5(a).

            8.2   PURCHASE PRICE. The purchase price, if any, for shares of
Stock issuable under each Restricted Stock Award and the means of payment shall
be established by the Committee in its discretion.
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            8.3   PURCHASE PERIOD. A Restricted Stock Award requiring the
payment of cash consideration shall be exercisable within a period established
by the Committee; provided, however, that no Restricted Stock Award granted to a
prospective Employee, prospective Consultant or prospective Director may become
exercisable prior to the date on which such person commences Service.

            8.4   VESTING AND RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER. Shares issued pursuant
to any Restricted Stock Award may or may not be made subject to Vesting
Conditions based upon the satisfaction of such Service requirements, conditions,
restrictions or performance criteria, including, without limitation, Performance
Goals as described in Section 9.4, as shall be established by the Committee and
set forth in the Award Agreement evidencing such Award. During any Restriction
Period in which shares acquired pursuant to a Restricted Stock Award remain
subject to Vesting Conditions, such shares may not be sold, exchanged,
transferred, pledged, assigned or otherwise disposed of other than as provided
in the Award Agreement or as provided in Section 8.7. Upon request by the
Company, each Participant shall execute any agreement evidencing such transfer
restrictions prior to the receipt of shares of Stock hereunder.

            8.5   VOTING RIGHTS; DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS. Except as provided
in this Section, Section 8.4 and any Award Agreement, during the Restriction
Period applicable to shares subject to a Restricted Stock Award, the Participant
shall have all of the rights of a stockholder of the Company holding shares of
Stock, including the right to vote such shares and to receive all dividends and
other distributions paid with respect to such shares. However, in the event of a
dividend or distribution paid in shares of Stock or any other adjustment made
upon a change in the capital structure of the Company as described in Section 0,
any and all new, substituted or additional securities or other property (other
than normal cash dividends) to which the Participant is entitled by reason of
the Participant's Restricted Stock Award shall be immediately subject to the
same Vesting Conditions as the shares subject to the Restricted Stock Award with
respect to which such dividends or distributions were paid or adjustments were
made.

            8.6   EFFECT OF TERMINATION OF SERVICE. Unless otherwise provided by
the Committee in the grant of a Restricted Stock Award and set forth in the
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Award Agreement, if a Participant's Service terminates for any reason, whether
voluntary or involuntary (including the Participant's death or disability), then
the Participant shall forfeit to the Company any shares acquired by the
Participant pursuant to a Restricted Stock Award which remain subject to Vesting
Conditions as of the date of the Participant's termination of Service in
exchange for the payment of the purchase price, if any, paid by the Participant.
The Company shall have the right to assign at any time any repurchase right it
may have, whether or not such right is then exercisable, to one or more persons
as may be selected by the Company.

            8.7   NONTRANSFERABILITY OF RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD RIGHTS. Prior to
the issuance of shares of Stock pursuant to a Restricted Stock Award, rights to
acquire such shares shall not be subject in any manner to anticipation,
alienation, sale, exchange, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance or
garnishment by creditors of the Participant or the Participant's beneficiary,
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except transfer by will or the laws of descent and distribution. All rights with
respect to a Restricted Stock Award granted to a Participant hereunder shall be
exercisable during his or her lifetime only by such Participant or the
Participant's guardian or legal representative.

      9.    TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF PERFORMANCE AWARDS.

      Performance Awards shall be evidenced by Award Agreements in such form as
the Committee shall from time to time establish. No Performance Award or
purported Performance Award shall be a valid and binding obligation of the
Company unless evidenced by a fully executed Award Agreement. Award Agreements
evidencing Performance Awards may incorporate all or any of the terms of the
Plan by reference and shall comply with and be subject to the following terms
and conditions:

            9.1   TYPES OF PERFORMANCE AWARDS AUTHORIZED. Performance Awards may
be in the form of either Performance Shares or Performance Units. Each Award
Agreement evidencing a Performance Award shall specify the number of Performance
Shares or Performance Units subject thereto, the Performance Award Formula, the
Performance Goal(s) and Performance Period applicable to the Award, and the
other terms, conditions and restrictions of the Award.

            9.2   INITIAL VALUE OF PERFORMANCE SHARES AND PERFORMANCE UNITS.
Unless otherwise provided by the Committee in granting a Performance Award, each
Performance Share shall have an initial value equal to the Fair Market Value of
one (1) share of Stock, subject to adjustment as provided in Section 0, on the
effective date of grant of the Performance Share. Each Performance Unit shall
have an initial value determined by the Committee. The final value payable to
the Participant in settlement of a Performance Award determined on the basis of
the applicable Performance Award Formula will depend on the extent to which
Performance Goals established by the Committee are attained within the
applicable Performance Period established by the Committee.

            9.3   ESTABLISHMENT OF PERFORMANCE PERIOD, PERFORMANCE GOALS AND
PERFORMANCE AWARD FORMULA. In granting each Performance Award, the Committee
shall establish in writing the applicable Performance Period, Performance Award
Formula and one or more Performance Goals which, when measured at the end of the
Performance Period, shall determine on the basis of the Performance Award
Formula the final value of the Performance Award to be paid to the Participant.
To the extent compliance with the requirements under Section 162(m) with respect
to "performance-based compensation" is desired, the Committee shall establish
the Performance Goal(s) and Performance Award Formula applicable to each
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Performance Award no later than the earlier of (a) the date ninety (90) days
after the commencement of the applicable Performance Period or (b) the date on
which 25% of the Performance Period has elapsed, and, in any event, at a time
when the outcome of the Performance Goals remains substantially uncertain. Once
established, the Performance Goals and Performance Award Formula shall not be
changed during the Performance Period. The Company shall notify each Participant
granted a Performance Award of the terms of such Award, including the
Performance Period, Performance Goal(s) and Performance Award Formula.

                                      D-19

            9.4   MEASUREMENT OF PERFORMANCE GOALS. Performance Goals shall be
established by the Committee on the basis of targets to be attained
("PERFORMANCE TARGETS") with respect to one or more measures of business or
financial performance (each, a "PERFORMANCE MEASURE"), subject to the following:

                  (a)   PERFORMANCE MEASURES. Performance Measures shall have
the same meanings as used in the Company's financial statements, or, if such
terms are not used in the Company's financial statements, they shall have the
meaning applied pursuant to generally accepted accounting principles, or as used
generally in the Company's industry. Performance Measures shall be calculated
with respect to the Company and each Subsidiary Corporation consolidated
therewith for financial reporting purposes or such division or other business
unit as may be selected by the Committee. For purposes of the Plan, the
Performance Measures applicable to a Performance Award shall be calculated in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, but prior to the
accrual or payment of any Performance Award for the same Performance Period and
excluding the effect (whether positive or negative) of any change in accounting
standards or any extraordinary, unusual or nonrecurring item, as determined by
the Committee, occurring after the establishment of the Performance Goals
applicable to the Performance Award. Each such adjustment, if any, shall be made
solely for the purpose of providing a consistent basis from period to period for
the calculation of Performance Measures in order to prevent the dilution or
enlargement of the Participant's rights with respect to a Performance Award.
Performance Measures may be one or more of the following, as determined by the
Committee: (i) sales revenue; (ii) gross margin; (iii) operating margin; (iv)
operating income; (v) pre-tax profit; (vi) earnings before stock-based
compensation expense, interest, taxes and depreciation and amortization; (vii)
earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation and amortization; (viii)
earnings before interest and taxes; (ix) net income; (x) expenses; (xi) the
market price of the Stock; (xii) stock price; (xiii) earnings per share; (xiv)
return on stockholder equity; (xv) return on capital; (xvi) return on net
assets; (xvii) economic value added; (xviii) market share; (xix) customer
service; (xx) customer satisfaction; (xxi) safety; (xxii) total stockholder
return; (xxiii) free cash flow; (xxiv) net operating income; (xxv) operating
cash flow; (xxvi) return on investment; (xxvii) employee satisfaction; (xxviii)
employee retention; (xxix) balance of cash, cash equivalents and marketable
securities; (xxx) product development; (xxxi) research and development expenses;
(xxxii) completion of an identified special project; (xxxiii) completion of a
joint venture or other corporate transaction; or (xxxiv) such other measures as
determined by the Committee consistent with this Section 9.4(a).

                  (b)   PERFORMANCE TARGETS. Performance Targets may include a
minimum, maximum, target level and intermediate levels of performance, with the
final value of a Performance Award determined under the applicable Performance
Award Formula by the level attained during the applicable Performance Period. A
Performance Target may be stated as an absolute value or as a value determined
relative to a standard selected by the Committee.
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            9.5   SETTLEMENT OF PERFORMANCE AWARDS.

                  (a)   DETERMINATION OF FINAL VALUE. As soon as practicable
following the completion of the Performance Period applicable to a Performance
Award, the Committee shall certify in writing the extent to which the applicable
Performance Goals have been attained and the resulting final value of the Award
earned by the Participant and to be paid upon its settlement in accordance with
the applicable Performance Award Formula.

                  (b)   DISCRETIONARY ADJUSTMENT OF AWARD FORMULA. In its
discretion, the Committee may, either at the time it grants a Performance Award
or at any time thereafter, provide for the positive or negative adjustment of
the Performance Award Formula applicable to a Performance Award that is not
intended to constitute "qualified performance based compensation" to a "covered
employee" within the meaning of Section 162(m) (a "COVERED EMPLOYEE") to reflect
such Participant's individual performance in his or her position with the
Company or such other factors as the Committee may determine. With respect to a
Performance Award intended to constitute qualified performance-based
compensation to a Covered Employee, the Committee shall have the discretion to
reduce some or all of the value of the Performance Award that would otherwise be
paid to the Covered Employee upon its settlement notwithstanding the attainment
of any Performance Goal and the resulting value of the Performance Award
determined in accordance with the Performance Award Formula.

                  (c)   PAYMENT IN SETTLEMENT OF PERFORMANCE AWARDS. As soon as
practicable following the Committee's determination and certification in
accordance with Sections 00 and 0, payment shall be made to each eligible
Participant (or such Participant's legal representative or other person who
acquired the right to receive such payment by reason of the Participant's death)
of the final value of the Participant's Performance Award. Payment of such
amount shall be made in cash in a lump sum or in installments, shares of Stock
(either fully vested or subject to vesting), or a combination thereof, as
determined by the Committee.

            9.6   VOTING RIGHTS; DIVIDEND EQUIVALENT RIGHTS AND DISTRIBUTIONS.
Participants shall have no voting rights with respect to shares of Stock
represented by Performance Share Awards until the date of the issuance of such
shares, if any (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books of the
Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company). However, the
Committee, in its discretion, may provide in the Award Agreement evidencing any
Performance Share Award that the Participant shall be entitled to receive
Dividend Equivalents with respect to the payment of cash dividends on Stock
having a record date prior to the date on which the Performance Shares are
settled or forfeited. Such Dividend Equivalents, if any, shall be credited to
the Participant in the form of additional whole Performance Shares as of the
date of payment of such cash dividends on Stock. The number of additional
Performance Shares (rounded to the nearest whole number) to be so credited shall
be determined by dividing (a) the amount of cash dividends paid on such date
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with respect to the number of shares of Stock represented by the Performance
Shares previously credited to the Participant by (b) the Fair Market Value per
share of Stock on such date. Dividend Equivalents may be paid currently or may
be accumulated and paid to the extent that Performance Shares become
nonforfeitable, as determined by the Committee. Settlement of Dividend
Equivalents may be made in cash, shares of Stock, or a combination thereof as
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determined by the Committee, and may be paid on the same basis as settlement of
the related Performance Share as provided in Section 0. Dividend Equivalents
shall not be paid with respect to Performance Units. In the event of a dividend
or distribution paid in shares of Stock or any other adjustment made upon a
change in the capital structure of the Company as described in Section 0,
appropriate adjustments shall be made in the Participant's Performance Share
Award so that it represents the right to receive upon settlement any and all
new, substituted or additional securities or other property (other than normal
cash dividends) to which the Participant would entitled by reason of the shares
of Stock issuable upon settlement of the Performance Share Award, and all such
new, substituted or additional securities or other property shall be immediately
subject to the same Performance Goals as are applicable to the Award.

            9.7   EFFECT OF TERMINATION OF SERVICE. Unless otherwise provided by
the Committee in the grant of a Performance Award and set forth in the Award
Agreement, the effect of a Participant's termination of Service on the
Performance Award shall be as follows:

                  (a)   DEATH OR DISABILITY. If the Participant's Service
terminates because of the death or Disability of the Participant before the
completion of the Performance Period applicable to the Performance Award, the
final value of the Participant's Performance Award shall be determined by the
extent to which the applicable Performance Goals have been attained with respect
to the entire Performance Period and shall be prorated based on the number of
months of the Participant's Service during the Performance Period. Payment shall
be made following the end of the Performance Period in any manner permitted by
Section 0.

                  (b)   OTHER TERMINATION OF SERVICE. If the Participant's
Service terminates for any reason except death or Disability before the
completion of the Performance Period applicable to the Performance Award, such
Award shall be forfeited in its entirety; provided, however, that in the event
of an involuntary termination of the Participant's Service, the Committee, in
its sole discretion, may waive the automatic forfeiture of all or any portion of
any such Award.

            9.8   NONTRANSFERABILITY OF PERFORMANCE AWARDS. Prior to settlement
in accordance with the provisions of the Plan, no Performance Award shall be
subject in any manner to anticipation, alienation, sale, exchange, transfer,
assignment, pledge, encumbrance, or garnishment by creditors of the Participant
or the Participant's beneficiary, except transfer by will or by the laws of
descent and distribution. All rights with respect to a Performance Award granted
to a Participant hereunder shall be exercisable during his or her lifetime only
by such Participant or the Participant's guardian or legal representative.
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      10.   Terms and Conditions of Restricted Stock Unit Awards.

      Restricted Stock Unit Awards shall be evidenced by Award Agreements
specifying the number of Restricted Stock Units subject to the Award, in such
form as the Committee shall from time to time establish. No Restricted Stock
Unit Award or purported Restricted Stock Unit Award shall be a valid and binding
obligation of the Company unless evidenced by a fully executed Award Agreement.
Award Agreements evidencing Restricted Stock Units may incorporate all or any of
the terms of the Plan by reference and shall comply with and be subject to the
following terms and conditions:

            10.1  GRANT OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARDS. Restricted Stock Unit
Awards may be granted upon such conditions as the Committee shall determine,
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including, without limitation, upon the attainment of one or more Performance
Goals described in Section 9.4. If either the grant of a Restricted Stock Unit
Award or the Vesting Conditions with respect to such Award is to be contingent
upon the attainment of one or more Performance Goals, the Committee shall follow
procedures substantially equivalent to those set forth in Sections 9.3 through
9.5(a).

            10.2  VESTING. Restricted Stock Units may or may not be made subject
to Vesting Conditions based upon the satisfaction of such Service requirements,
conditions, restrictions or performance criteria, including, without limitation,
Performance Goals as described in Section 9.4, as shall be established by the
Committee and set forth in the Award Agreement evidencing such Award.

            10.3  VOTING RIGHTS, DIVIDEND EQUIVALENT RIGHTS AND DISTRIBUTIONS.
Participants shall have no voting rights with respect to shares of Stock
represented by Restricted Stock Units until the date of the issuance of such
shares (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of
a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company). However, the Committee, in its
discretion, may provide in the Award Agreement evidencing any Restricted Stock
Unit Award that the Participant shall be entitled to receive Dividend
Equivalents with respect to the payment of cash dividends on Stock having a
record date prior to the date on which Restricted Stock Units held by such
Participant are settled. Such Dividend Equivalents, if any, shall be paid by
crediting the Participant with additional whole Restricted Stock Units as of the
date of payment of such cash dividends on Stock. The number of additional
Restricted Stock Units (rounded to the nearest whole number) to be so credited
shall be determined by dividing (a) the amount of cash dividends paid on such
date with respect to the number of shares of Stock represented by the Restricted
Stock Units previously credited to the Participant by (b) the Fair Market Value
per share of Stock on such date. Such additional Restricted Stock Units shall be
subject to the same terms and conditions and shall be settled in the same manner
and at the same time (or as soon thereafter as practicable) as the Restricted
Stock Units originally subject to the Restricted Stock Unit Award. In the event
of a dividend or distribution paid in shares of Stock or any other adjustment
made upon a change in the capital structure of the Company as described in
Section 0, appropriate adjustments shall be made in the Participant's Restricted
Stock Unit Award so that it represents the right to receive upon settlement any
and all new, substituted or additional securities or other property (other than
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normal cash dividends) to which the Participant would entitled by reason of the
shares of Stock issuable upon settlement of the Award, and all such new,
substituted or additional securities or other property shall be immediately
subject to the same Vesting Conditions as are applicable to the Award.

            10.4  EFFECT OF TERMINATION OF SERVICE. Unless otherwise provided by
the Committee in the grant of a Restricted Stock Unit Award and set forth in the
Award Agreement, if a Participant's Service terminates for any reason, whether
voluntary or involuntary (including the Participant's death or disability), then
the Participant shall forfeit to the Company any Restricted Stock Units pursuant
to the Award which remain subject to Vesting Conditions as of the date of the
Participant's termination of Service.

            10.5  SETTLEMENT OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARDS. The Company shall
issue to a Participant on the date on which Restricted Stock Units subject to
the Participant's Restricted Stock Unit Award vest or on such other date
determined by the Committee, in its discretion, and set forth in the Award
Agreement one (1) share of Stock (and/or any other new, substituted or
additional securities or other property pursuant to an adjustment described in
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Section 10.3) for each Restricted Stock Unit then becoming vested or otherwise
to be settled on such date, subject to the withholding of applicable taxes.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if permitted by the Committee and set forth in
the Award Agreement, the Participant may elect in accordance with terms
specified in the Award Agreement to defer receipt of all or any portion of the
shares of Stock or other property otherwise issuable to the Participant pursuant
to this Section.

            10.6  NONTRANSFERABILITY OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARDS. Prior to
the issuance of shares of Stock in settlement of a Restricted Stock Unit Award,
the Award shall not be subject in any manner to anticipation, alienation, sale,
exchange, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance, or garnishment by creditors
of the Participant or the Participant's beneficiary, except transfer by will or
by the laws of descent and distribution. All rights with respect to a Restricted
Stock Unit Award granted to a Participant hereunder shall be exercisable during
his or her lifetime only by such Participant or the Participant's guardian or
legal representative.

      11.   DEFERRED COMPENSATION AWARDS.

            11.1  ESTABLISHMENT OF DEFERRED COMPENSATION AWARD PROGRAMS. This
Section 0 shall not be effective unless and until the Committee determines to
establish a program pursuant to this Section. The Committee, in its discretion
and upon such terms and conditions as it may determine, may establish one or
more programs pursuant to the Plan under which:

                  (a)   Participants designated by the Committee who are
Insiders or otherwise among a select group of highly compensated Employees may
irrevocably elect, prior to a date specified by the Committee, to reduce such
Participant's compensation otherwise payable in cash (subject to any minimum or
maximum reductions imposed by the Committee) and to be granted automatically at
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such time or times as specified by the Committee one or more Awards of Stock
Units with respect to such numbers of shares of Stock as determined in
accordance with the rules of the program established by the Committee and having
such other terms and conditions as established by the Committee.

                  (b)   Participants designated by the Committee who are
Insiders or otherwise among a select group of highly compensated Employees may
irrevocably elect, prior to a date specified by the Committee, to be granted
automatically an Award of Stock Units with respect to such number of shares of
Stock and upon such other terms and conditions as established by the Committee
in lieu of:

                        (i)   shares of Stock otherwise issuable to such
Participant upon the exercise of an Option;

                        (ii)  cash or shares of Stock otherwise issuable to such
Participant upon the exercise of an SAR; or

                        (iii) cash or shares of Stock otherwise issuable to such
Participant upon the settlement of a Performance Award or Performance Unit.

            11.2  TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF DEFERRED COMPENSATION AWARDS. Deferred
Compensation Awards granted pursuant to this Section 0 shall be evidenced by
Award Agreements in such form as the Committee shall from time to time
establish. No such Deferred Compensation Award or purported Deferred
Compensation Award shall be a valid and binding obligation of the Company unless
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evidenced by a fully executed Award Agreement. Award Agreements evidencing
Deferred Compensation Awards may incorporate all or any of the terms of the Plan
by reference and shall comply with and be subject to the following terms and
conditions:

                  (a)   VESTING CONDITIONS. Deferred Compensation Awards shall
not be subject to any vesting conditions.

                  (b)   TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF STOCK UNITS.

                        (i)   VOTING RIGHTS; DIVIDEND EQUIVALENT RIGHTS AND
DISTRIBUTIONS. Participants shall have no voting rights with respect to shares
of Stock represented by Stock Units until the date of the issuance of such
shares (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of
a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company). However, a Participant shall
be entitled to receive Dividend Equivalents with respect to the payment of cash
dividends on Stock having a record date prior to date on which Stock Units held
by such Participant are settled. Such Dividend Equivalents shall be paid by
crediting the Participant with additional whole and/or fractional Stock Units as
of the date of payment of such cash dividends on Stock. The method of
determining the number of additional Stock Units to be so credited shall be
specified by the Committee and set forth in the Award Agreement.
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Such additional Stock Units shall be subject to the same terms and conditions
and shall be settled in the same manner and at the same time (or as soon
thereafter as practicable) as the Stock Units originally subject to the Stock
Unit Award. In the event of a dividend or distribution paid in shares of Stock
or any other adjustment made upon a change in the capital structure of the
Company as described in Section 0, appropriate adjustments shall be made in the
Participant's Stock Unit Award so that it represent the right to receive upon
settlement any and all new, substituted or additional securities or other
property (other than normal cash dividends) to which the Participant would be
entitled by reason of the shares of Stock issuable upon settlement of the Award.

                        (ii)  SETTLEMENT OF STOCK UNIT AWARDS. A Participant
electing to receive an Award of Stock Units pursuant to this Section 0 shall
specify at the time of such election a settlement date with respect to such
Award. The Company shall issue to the Participant as soon as practicable
following the earlier of the settlement date elected by the Participant or the
date of termination of the Participant's Service, a number of whole shares of
Stock equal to the number of whole Stock Units subject to the Stock Unit Award.
Such shares of Stock shall be fully vested, and the Participant shall not be
required to pay any additional consideration (other than applicable tax
withholding) to acquire such shares. Any fractional Stock Unit subject to the
Stock Unit Award shall be settled by the Company by payment in cash of an amount
equal to the Fair Market Value as of the payment date of such fractional share.

                        (iii) NONTRANSFERABILITY OF STOCK UNIT AWARDS. Prior to
their settlement in accordance with the provision of the Plan, no Stock Unit
Award shall be subject in any manner to anticipation, alienation, sale,
exchange, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance, or garnishment by creditors
of the Participant or the Participant's beneficiary, except transfer by will or
by the laws of descent and distribution. All rights with respect to a Stock Unit
Award granted to a Participant hereunder shall be exercisable during his or her
lifetime only by such Participant or the Participant's guardian or legal
representative.

      12.   OTHER STOCK-BASED AWARDS.
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      In addition to the Awards set forth in Sections 6 through 11 above, the
Committee, in its sole discretion, may carry out the purpose of this Plan by
awarding Stock-Based Awards as it determines to be in the best interests of the
Company and subject to such other terms and conditions as it deems necessary and
appropriate.

      13.   EFFECT OF CHANGE IN CONTROL ON OPTIONS AND SARS.

            13.1  ACCELERATED VESTING. The Committee, in its sole discretion,
may provide in any Award Agreement or, in the event of a Change in Control, may
take such actions as it deems appropriate to provide for the acceleration of the
exercisability and vesting in connection with such Change in Control of any or
all outstanding Options and SARs and shares acquired upon the exercise of such
Options and SARs upon such conditions and to such extent as the Committee shall
determine. The previous sentence notwithstanding such acceleration shall not
occur to the extent an Option or SAR is assumed or substituted with a
substantially similar Award in connection with a Change in Control.
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            13.2  ASSUMPTION OR SUBSTITUTION. In the event of a Change in
Control, the surviving, continuing, successor, or purchasing corporation or
other business entity or parent thereof, as the case may be (the "ACQUIRING
CORPORATION"), may, without the consent of the Participant, either assume the
Company's rights and obligations under outstanding Options and SARs or
substitute for outstanding Options and SARs substantially equivalent options or
stock appreciation rights for the Acquiring Corporation's stock. Any Options or
SARs which are neither assumed or substituted for by the Acquiring Corporation
in connection with the Change in Control nor exercised as of the date of the
Change in Control shall terminate and cease to be outstanding effective as of
the date of the Change in Control. Notwithstanding the foregoing, shares
acquired upon exercise of an Option or SAR prior to the Change in Control and
any consideration received pursuant to the Change in Control with respect to
such shares shall continue to be subject to all applicable provisions of the
Award Agreement evidencing such Award except as otherwise provided in such Award
Agreement. Furthermore, notwithstanding the foregoing, if the corporation the
stock of which is subject to the outstanding Options or SARs immediately prior
to an Ownership Change Event described in Section 2.1(y)(i) constituting a
Change in Control is the surviving or continuing corporation and immediately
after such Ownership Change Event less than fifty percent (50%) of the total
combined voting power of its voting stock is held by another corporation or by
other corporations that are members of an affiliated group within the meaning of
Section 1504(a) of the Code without regard to the provisions of Section 1504(b)
of the Code, the outstanding Options and SARs shall not terminate unless the
Board otherwise provides in its discretion.

            13.3  EFFECT OF CHANGE IN CONTROL ON RESTRICTED STOCK AND OTHER TYPE
OF AWARDS. The Committee may, in its discretion, provide in any Award Agreement
evidencing a Restricted Stock or Other Type of Award that, in the event of a
Change in Control, the lapsing of any applicable Vesting Condition, Restriction
Period or Performance Goal applicable to the shares subject to such Award held
by a Participant whose Service has not terminated prior to the Change in Control
shall be accelerated and/or waived effective immediately prior to the
consummation of the Change in Control to such extent as specified in such Award
Agreement; provided, however, that such acceleration or waiver shall not occur
to the extent an Award is assumed or substituted with a substantially equivalent
Award in connection with the Change in Control. Any acceleration, waiver or the
lapsing of any restriction that was permissible solely by reason of this Section
0 and the provisions of such Award Agreement shall be conditioned upon the
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consummation of the Change in Control.

      14.   COMPLIANCE WITH SECURITIES LAW.

      The grant of Awards and the issuance of shares of Stock pursuant to any
Award shall be subject to compliance with all applicable requirements of
federal, state and foreign law with respect to such securities and the
requirements of any stock exchange or market system upon which the Stock may
then be listed. In addition, no Award may be exercised or shares issued
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pursuant to an Award unless (a) a registration statement under the Securities
Act shall at the time of such exercise or issuance be in effect with respect to
the shares issuable pursuant to the Award or (b) in the opinion of legal counsel
to the Company, the shares issuable pursuant to the Award may be issued in
accordance with the terms of an applicable exemption from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act. The inability of the Company to obtain from
any regulatory body having jurisdiction the authority, if any, deemed by the
Company's legal counsel to be necessary to the lawful issuance and sale of any
shares hereunder shall relieve the Company of any liability in respect of the
failure to issue or sell such shares as to which such requisite authority shall
not have been obtained. As a condition to issuance of any Stock, the Company may
require the Participant to satisfy any qualifications that may be necessary or
appropriate, to evidence compliance with any applicable law or regulation and to
make any representation or warranty with respect thereto as may be requested by
the Company.

      15.   TAX WITHHOLDING.

            15.1  TAX WITHHOLDING IN GENERAL. The Company shall have the right
to deduct from any and all payments made under the Plan, or to require the
Participant, through payroll withholding, cash payment or otherwise, including
by means of a Cashless Exercise or Net Exercise of an Option, to make adequate
provision for, the federal, state, local and foreign taxes, if any, required by
law to be withheld by the Participating Company Group with respect to an Award
or the shares acquired pursuant thereto. The Company shall have no obligation to
deliver shares of Stock, to release shares of Stock from an escrow established
pursuant to an Award Agreement, or to make any payment in cash under the Plan
until the Participating Company Group's tax withholding obligations have been
satisfied by the Participant.

            15.2  WITHHOLDING IN SHARES. The Company shall have the right, but
not the obligation, to deduct from the shares of Stock issuable to a Participant
upon the exercise or settlement of an Award, or to accept from the Participant
the tender of, a number of whole shares of Stock having a Fair Market Value, as
determined by the Company, equal to all or any part of the tax withholding
obligations of the Participating Company Group. The Fair Market Value of any
shares of Stock withheld or tendered to satisfy any such tax withholding
obligations shall not exceed the amount determined by the applicable minimum
statutory withholding rates.

      16.   AMENDMENT OR TERMINATION OF PLAN.

      The Board or the Committee may amend, suspend or terminate the Plan at any
time. However, without the approval of the Company's stockholders, there shall
be (a) no increase in the maximum aggregate number of shares of Stock that may
be issued under the Plan (except by operation of the provisions of Section 4.2),
(b) no change in the class of persons eligible to receive Incentive Stock
Options, and (c) no other amendment of the Plan that would require approval of
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the Company's stockholders under any applicable law, regulation or rule. No
amendment, suspension or termination of the Plan shall affect any then
outstanding Award unless expressly provided by the Board or the Committee. In
any event, no amendment, suspension or termination of the Plan may adversely
affect any then outstanding Award without the consent of the Participant unless
necessary to comply with any applicable law, regulation or rule.
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      17.   MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS.

            17.1  REPURCHASE RIGHTS. Shares issued under the Plan may be subject
to one or more repurchase options, or other conditions and restrictions as
determined by the Committee in its discretion at the time the Award is granted.
The Company shall have the right to assign at any time any repurchase right it
may have, whether or not such right is then exercisable, to one or more persons
as may be selected by the Company. Upon request by the Company, each Participant
shall execute any agreement evidencing such transfer restrictions prior to the
receipt of shares of Stock hereunder and shall promptly present to the Company
any and all certificates representing shares of Stock acquired hereunder for the
placement on such certificates of appropriate legends evidencing any such
transfer restrictions.

            17.2  PROVISION OF INFORMATION. Each Participant shall be given
access to information concerning the Company equivalent to that information
generally made available to the Company's common stockholders.

            17.3  RIGHTS AS EMPLOYEE, CONSULTANT OR DIRECTOR. No person, even
though eligible pursuant to Section 0, shall have a right to be selected as a
Participant, or, having been so selected, to be selected again as a Participant.
Nothing in the Plan or any Award granted under the Plan shall confer on any
Participant a right to remain an Employee, Consultant or Director or interfere
with or limit in any way any right of a Participating Company to terminate the
Participant's Service at any time. To the extent that an Employee of a
Participating Company other than the Company receives an Award under the Plan,
that Award shall in no event be understood or interpreted to mean that the
Company is the Employee's employer or that the Employee has an employment
relationship with the Company.

            17.4  RIGHTS AS A STOCKHOLDER. A Participant shall have no rights as
a stockholder with respect to any shares covered by an Award until the date of
the issuance of such shares (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books
of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company). No
adjustment shall be made for dividends, distributions or other rights for which
the record date is prior to the date such shares are issued, except as provided
in Section 0 or another provision of the Plan.

            17.5  FRACTIONAL SHARES. The Company shall not be required to issue
fractional shares upon the exercise or settlement of any Award.

            17.6  SEVERABILITY. If any one or more of the provisions (or any
part thereof) of this Plan shall be held invalid, illegal or unenforceable in
any respect, such provision shall be modified so as to make it valid, legal and
enforceable, and the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining
provisions (or any part thereof) of the Plan shall not in any way be affected or
impaired thereby.
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            17.7  BENEFICIARY DESIGNATION. Subject to local laws and procedures,
each Participant may file with the Company a written designation of a
beneficiary who is to receive any benefit under the Plan to which the
Participant is entitled in the event of such Participant's death before he or
she receives any or all of such benefit. Each designation will revoke all prior
designations by the same Participant, shall be in a form prescribed by the
Company, and will be effective only when filed by the Participant in writing
with the Company during the Participant's lifetime. If a married Participant
designates a beneficiary other than the Participant's spouse, the effectiveness
of such designation may be subject to the consent of the Participant's spouse.
If a Participant dies without an effective designation of a beneficiary who is
living at the time of the Participant's death, the Company will pay any
remaining unpaid benefits to the Participant's legal representative.

            17.8  UNFUNDED OBLIGATION. Participants shall have the status of
general unsecured creditors of the Company. Any amounts payable to Participants
pursuant to the Plan shall be unfunded and unsecured obligations for all
purposes, including, without limitation, Title I of the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974. No Participating Company shall be required to
segregate any monies from its general funds, or to create any trusts, or
establish any special accounts with respect to such obligations. The Company
shall retain at all times beneficial ownership of any investments, including
trust investments, which the Company may make to fulfill its payment obligations
hereunder. Any investments or the creation or maintenance of any trust or any
Participant account shall not create or constitute a trust or fiduciary
relationship between the Committee or any Participating Company and a
Participant, or otherwise create any vested or beneficial interest in any
Participant or the Participant's creditors in any assets of any Participating
Company. The Participants shall have no claim against any Participating Company
for any changes in the value of any assets which may be invested or reinvested
by the Company with respect to the Plan. Each Participating Company shall be
responsible for making benefit payments pursuant to the Plan on behalf of its
Participants or for reimbursing the Company for the cost of such payments, as
determined by the Company in its sole discretion. In the event the respective
Participating Company fails to make such payment or reimbursement, a
Participant's (or other individual's) sole recourse shall be against the
respective Participating Company, and not against the Company. A Participant's
acceptance of an Award pursuant to the Plan shall constitute agreement with this
provision.
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                                                                         Annex E

                         HLS SYSTEMS INTERNATIONAL LTD.

                      CHARTER OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE OF THE

                               BOARD OF DIRECTORS

I.    STATEMENT OF POLICY

      This  Charter  specifies  the scope of the  responsibilities  of the Audit
Committee  (the  "Committee")  of the Board of  Directors  (the  "Board") of HLS
Systems  International  Ltd.  (the  "Company")  and the  manner  in which  those
responsibilities  shall be  performed,  including its  structure,  processes and
membership requirements.
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      The primary  purpose of the  Committee  is to oversee the  accounting  and
financial  reporting  processes  of the Company and the audits of the  Company's
financial  statements.  The  Committee  shall also  review  the  qualifications,
independence  and  performance,  and  approve  the  terms of  engagement  of the
Company's  independent auditor and prepare any reports required of the Committee
under rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC").

      The Company  shall  provide  appropriate  funding,  as  determined  by the
Committee,  to permit the Committee to perform its duties under this Charter, to
compensate its advisors and to compensate any registered  public accounting firm
engaged for the purpose of  rendering or issuing an audit report or related work
or  performing  other audit,  review or attest  services  for the  Company.  The
Committee, at its discretion, has the authority to initiate investigations,  and
hire  legal,  accounting  or other  outside  advisors  or  experts to assist the
Committee,  as it deems necessary to fulfill its duties under this Charter.  The
Committee may also perform such other  activities  consistent with this Charter,
the  Company's  Bylaws and  governing  law, as the  Committee or the Board deems
necessary or appropriate.

II.   ORGANIZATION AND MEMBERSHIP REQUIREMENTS

      The  Committee  shall  comprise  three or more  directors  selected by the
Board,  each of whom shall satisfy the independence and experience  requirements
of the Nasdaq  Stock  Market,  provided  that one director who does not meet the
independence criteria of Nasdaq, but is not a current employee or officer, or an
immediate  family  member of an  employee or officer,  may be  appointed  to the
Committee,  subject to the approval of the Board pursuant to, and subject to the
limitations  under, the "exceptional  and limited  circumstances"  exceptions as
provided under the rules of Nasdaq. In addition, the Committee shall not include
any member who:

      o     has  participated in the preparation of the financial  statements of
            the  Company or any current  subsidiary  at any time during the past
            three (3) years; or

      o     accepts  any  consulting,   advisory,  or  other  compensatory  fee,
            directly or indirectly,  from the Company,  other than in his or her
            capacity  as a member  of the  Committee,  the  Board,  or any other
            committee of the Board; or

      o     is an  affiliate  of the Company or any  subsidiary  of the Company,
            other than a director who meets the independence requirements of the
            Nasdaq Stock Market.

      Each  member  of the  Committee  must  be  able  to  read  and  understand
fundamental  financial  statements,  including a balance sheet, income statement
and cash flow  statement.  In  addition,  at least one  member  shall  have past
employment  experience in finance or accounting,  professional  certification in
accounting,  or other  comparable  experience  or  background  resulting  in the
individual being  financially  sophisticated,  which may include being or having
been a chief executive,  chief f inancial or other senior officer with financial
oversight responsibilities.
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      The  members  of the  Committee  shall be  appointed  by the  Board on the
recommendation  of the Nominating and Corporate  Governance  Committee and shall
serve until their  successors  are duly elected and  qualified or their  earlier
resignation or removal. Any member of the Committee may be replaced by the Board
on the  recommendation  of the  Nominating and Corporate  Governance  Committee.
Unless a chairman is elected by the full Board, the members of the Committee may
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designate a chairman by majority vote of the full Committee membership.

III.  MEETINGS

      The  Committee  shall  meet  as  often  as it  determines,  but  not  less
frequently than quarterly. A majority of the members shall represent a quorum of
the Committee,  and, if a quorum is present,  any action  approved by at least a
majority  of the  members  present  shall  represent  the  valid  action  of the
Committee. The Committee may form and delegate authority to subcommittees, or to
one or more members of the Committee, when appropriate. The Committee shall meet
with management and the independent  auditor in separate  executive  sessions as
appropriate.   The  Committee  shall  meet  with  the  independent  auditor  and
management to review the Company's  financial  statements and financial reports.
The Committee shall maintain written minutes of its meetings, which minutes will
be filed with the minutes of the meetings of the Board.

IV.   COMMITTEE AUTHORITY AND RESPONSIBILITIES

      To fulfill its responsibilities and duties, the Committee shall:

      A.    Oversight of the Company's Independent Auditor

            1.    Be  directly  and  solely  responsible  for  the  appointment,
compensation,  retention and  oversight of any  independent  auditor  (including
resolution of  disagreements  between  management  and the  independent  auditor
regarding  financial  reporting)  engaged  by the  Company  for the  purpose  of
preparing  or issuing an audit  report or related  work,  with each such auditor
reporting directly to the Committee.

            2.    Periodically  review and discuss with the independent  auditor
(i) the matters required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing  Standards No.
61,  as  amended,  and (ii) any  formal  written  statements  received  from the
independent   auditor  consistent  with  and  in  satisfaction  of  Independence
Standards  Board  Standard  No. 1, as  amended,  including  without  limitation,
descriptions of (x) all  relationships  between the independent  auditor and the
Company,  (y) any  disclosed  relationships  or  services  that may  impact  the
independent  auditor's  objectivity and  independence and (z) whether any of the
Company's  senior finance  personnel were recently  employed by the  independent
auditor.

            3.    Consult with the independent auditor to assure the rotation of
the lead audit partner having primary responsibility for the audit and the audit
partner  responsible  for reviewing the audit every five years,  consider issues
related  to the  timing  of such  rotation  and the  transition  to new lead and
reviewing partners,  and consider whether, in order to assure continuing auditor
independence,  there should be regular rotation of the audit firm, and report to
the Board on its conclusions.

            4.    Approve in advance the engagement of the  independent  auditor
for  all  audit  services  and  non-audit   services,   based  on  independence,
qualifications and, if applicable,  performance,  and approve the fees and other
terms of any such  engagement;  provided,  however,  that (i) the  Committee may
establish pre-approval policies and procedures for any engagement to render such
services,  provided  that such  policies and  procedures  (x) are detailed as to
particular  services,  (y)  do  not  involve  delegation  to  management  of the
Committee's  responsibilities  hereunder  and  (z)  provide  that,  at its  next
scheduled  meeting,  the Committee is informed as to each such service for which
the independent auditor is engaged pursuant to such policies and procedures, and
(ii) the  Committee  may  delegate to one or more members of the  Committee  the
authority to grant pre-approvals for such services,  provided that the decisions
of such  member(s)  to grant any such  pre-approval  shall be  presented  to the
Committee at its next scheduled meeting.
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            5.    Meet  with  the  independent  auditor  prior  to the  audit to
discuss the planning and staffing of the audit.
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            6.    Approve as necessary the  termination of the engagement of the
independent auditor.

            7.    Establish  policies  for the  hiring  of  employees  or former
employees of the  independent  auditor who  participated  in any capacity in the
audit of the Company, taking into account the impact of such policies on auditor
independence.

            8.    Regularly review with the independent  auditor any significant
difficulties encountered during the course of the audit, any restrictions on the
scope of work or access to required information and any significant disagreement
among management and the independent  auditor in connection with the preparation
of the financial statements.  Review with the independent auditor any accounting
adjustments that were noted or proposed by the independent auditor but that were
"passed" (as immaterial or otherwise), any communications between the audit team
and the independent  auditor's national office respecting auditing or accounting
issues  presented by the  engagement,  any  "management"  or "internal  control"
letter or schedule of unadjusted  differences  issued, or proposed to be issued,
by the  independent  auditor  to the  Company,  or any  other  material  written
communication provided by the independent auditor to the Company's management.

            9.    Review with the  independent  auditor the critical  accounting
policies  and  practices  used by the Company,  all  alternative  treatments  of
financial  information within generally accepted accounting  principles ("GAAP")
that the independent auditor has discussed with management, the ramifications of
the  use of such  alternative  disclosures  and  treatments  and  the  treatment
preferred by the independent auditor.

      B.    Review of Financial Reporting, Policies and Processes

            1.    Review and discuss with management and the independent auditor
the Company's annual audited financial statements and any certification, report,
opinion or review  rendered by the  independent  auditor,  and  recommend to the
Board  whether  the  audited  financial  statements  should be  included  in the
Company's annual report on Form 10-K.

            2.    Review and discuss with management and the independent auditor
the Company's quarterly financial statements.

            3.    Review and discuss with management and the independent auditor
the  Company's  disclosure  under  "Management's   Discussion  and  Analysis  of
Financial  Condition  and  Results of  Operations"  appearing  in the  Company's
periodic reports.

            4.    Review  and  discuss   earnings   press   releases  and  other
information  provided to securities analysts and rating agencies,  including any
"pro forma" or adjusted financial information.

            5.    Periodically  meet  separately  with  management  and with the
independent auditor.

            6.    Review  with  management  and  the  independent   auditor  any
significant  judgments  made  in  management's   preparation  of  the  financial
statements and the view of each as to appropriateness of such judgments.
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            7.    Review with management its assessment of the effectiveness and
adequacy  of  the  Company's  internal  control  structure  and  procedures  for
financial reporting ("Internal  Controls"),  review with the independent auditor
the attestation to and report on the assessment made by management, and consider
with management and the independent  auditor whether any changes to the Internal
Controls are appropriate in light of management's  assessment or the independent
auditor's attestation.

            8.    To  the  extent  that  it  deems   appropriate,   review  with
management its evaluation of the Company's  procedures and controls  designed to
assure that information  required to be disclosed in its periodic public reports
is recorded, processed,  summarized and reported in such reports within the time
periods  specified  by the SEC  for the  filing  of  such  reports  ("Disclosure
Controls"),  and  consider  whether  any  changes  are  appropriate  in light of
management's evaluation of the effectiveness of such Disclosure Controls.
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            9.    Review and discuss with management and the independent auditor
any  off-balance  sheet  transactions  or  structures  and  their  effect on the
Company's financial results and operations,  as well as the disclosure regarding
such transactions and structures in the Company's public filings.

            10.   Review with management and the independent  auditor the effect
of regulatory and accounting initiatives on the financial statements. Review any
major  issues   regarding   accounting   principles   and  financial   statement
presentations,  including any significant changes in selection of an application
of accounting principles.  Consider and approve, if appropriate,  changes to the
Company's  auditing and accounting  principles and practices as suggested by the
independent auditor or management.

            11.   Review any special  audit  steps  adopted in light of material
control deficiencies.

      C.    Risk Management,  Related Party  Transactions,  Legal Compliance and
            Ethics

            1.    Review with the chief executive and chief financial officer of
the Company any report on significant deficiencies in the design or operation of
the Internal  Controls  that could  adversely  affect the  Company's  ability to
record, process,  summarize or report financial data, any material weaknesses in
Internal  Controls  identified  to the auditors,  and any fraud,  whether or not
material,  that involves  management  or other  employees who have a significant
role in the Company's Internal Controls.

            2.    Review  and  approve  any  related-party  transactions,  after
reviewing each such  transaction for potential  conflicts of interests and other
improprieties.

            3.    Establish procedures for the receipt,  retention and treatment
of complaints received by the Company regarding accounting,  internal accounting
controls or auditing  matters,  and the  confidential,  anonymous  submission by
employees  of the  Company of  concerns  regarding  questionable  accounting  or
auditing matters. Adopt, as necessary,  appropriate remedial measures or actions
with respect to such complaints or concerns.

            4.    In consultation  with the Nominating and Corporate  Governance
Committee,  consider and present to the Board for adoption a Code of Conduct for
all employees and  directors,  which meets the  requirements  of Item 406 of the
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SEC's Regulation S-K, and provide for and review prompt disclosure to the public
of any  change  in, or waiver  of,  such Code of  Conduct.  Review  such Code of
Conduct  periodically  and recommend such changes to such Code of Conduct as the
Committee  shall deem  appropriate,  and adopt  procedures  for  monitoring  and
enforcing compliance with such Code of Conduct.

            5.    As  requested  by the Board,  review and  investigate  conduct
alleged by the Board to be in violation of the  Company's  Code of Conduct,  and
adopt as necessary or  appropriate,  remedial,  disciplinary,  or other measures
with respect to such conduct.

            6.    Discuss  with  management  and  the  independent  auditor  any
correspondence  with  regulators or  governmental  agencies that raise  material
issues regarding the Company's financial statements or accounting policies.

            7.    Prepare  the  report  required  by the  rules of the SEC to be
included in the Company's annual proxy statement.

            8.    Regularly  report to the Board on the Committee's  activities,
recommendations and conclusions.

            9.    Review and reassess the Charter's adequacy at least annually.
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                                                                         Annex F

                         HLS SYSTEMS INTERNATIONAL LTD.

                                   CHARTER OF
                     THE NOMINATING AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
                            OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

I.    STATEMENT OF POLICY

      This Charter specifies the scope of the responsibilities of the Nominating
and Corporate  Governance  Committee (the "Committee") of the Board of Directors
(the "Board") of HLS Systems  International  Ltd. (the "Company") and the manner
in which those  responsibilities  shall be performed,  including its  structure,
processes and membership requirements.

      The  primary  responsibilities  of  the  Committee  are  to  (i)  identify
individuals  qualified to become Board members; (ii) select, or recommend to the
Board,  director  nominees for each  election of  directors;  (iii)  develop and
recommend to the Board  criteria for selecting  qualified  director  candidates;
(iv) consider  committee  member  qualifications,  appointment and removal;  (v)
recommend  corporate  governance  principles,  codes of conduct  and  compliance
mechanisms  applicable  to  the  Company,  and  (vi)  provide  oversight  in the
evaluation of the Board and each committee.

II.   ORGANIZATION AND MEMBERSHIP REQUIREMENTS

      The Committee shall be comprised of three or more directors,  each of whom
shall satisfy the independence  requirements established by the rules of Nasdaq,
provided that one director who does not meet the independence criteria of Nasdaq
may, subject to the approval of the Board,  serve on the Committee  pursuant to,
and subject to the limitation under, the "exceptional and limited circumstances"
exception as provided under the rules of Nasdaq.

      The members of the  Committee  shall be  appointed  by the Board and shall
serve until their  successors  are duly elected and  qualified or their  earlier
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resignation  or removal.  Any member of the Committee may be removed or replaced
by the Board. Unless a chairman is elected by the full Board, the members of the
Committee  may  designate  a chairman  by  majority  vote of the full  Committee
membership.   The  Committee  may,  from  time  to  time,   delegate  duties  or
responsibilities to subcommittees or to one member of the Committee.

      A majority of the members shall represent a quorum of the Committee,  and,
if a quorum is  present,  any  action  approved  by at least a  majority  of the
members present shall represent the valid action of the Committee.

      The Committee shall have the authority to obtain advice or assistance from
consultants,  legal  counsel,  accounting or other  advisors as  appropriate  to
perform its duties  hereunder,  and to determine  the terms,  costs and fees for
such  engagements.  Without  limitation,  the  Committee  shall  have  the  sole
authority to retain or terminate any search firm to be used to identify director
candidates  and to  determine  and  approve  the terms,  costs and fees for such
engagements.  The fees and costs of any  consultant  or  advisor  engaged by the
Committee to assist the Committee in performing  its duties  hereunder  shall be
borne by the Company.
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III.  MEETINGS

      The  Committee  shall meet as often as it deems  necessary  to fulfill its
responsibilities hereunder, and may meet with management or individual directors
at any time it deems appropriate to discuss any matters before the Committee.

      The  Committee  shall  maintain  written  minutes of its  meetings,  which
minutes will be filed with the minutes of the meetings of the Board.

IV.   COMMITTEE AUTHORITY AND RESPONSIBILITY

      To fulfill its responsibilities and duties hereunder, the Committee shall:

      A.    Nominating Functions

            1.    Evaluate  and  select,  or  recommend  to the Board,  director
nominees for each  election of  directors,  except that if the Company is at any
time  legally  required by contract or otherwise to provide any third party with
the ability to nominate a director,  the Committee  need not evaluate or propose
such nomination, unless required by contract or requested by the Board.

            2.    Determine  criteria for  selecting  new  directors,  including
desired board skills and attributes,  and identify and actively seek individuals
qualified to become directors.

            3.    Consider any nominations of director  candidates  validly made
by stockholders.

            4.    Review  and  make  recommendations  to  the  Board  concerning
qualifications, appointment and removal of committee members.

            5.    Review and make  recommendations to the Board concerning Board
and committee compensation.

      B.    Corporate Governance Functions

            1.    Develop,  recommend  for  Board  approval,  and  review  on an
ongoing basis the adequacy of, the corporate governance principles applicable to
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the Company. Such principles shall include, at a minimum, director qualification
standards,  director  responsibilities,   committee  responsibilities,  director
access to management and independent advisors,  director compensation,  director
orientation  and  continuing   education,   management   succession  and  annual
performance evaluation of the Board and committees.

            2.    In consultation with the Audit Committee, consider and present
to the Board for  adoption a Code of Conduct  applicable  to all  employees  and
directors, which meets the requirements of Item 406 of the SEC's Regulation S-K,
and provide for and review prompt  disclosure to the public of any change in, or
waiver of, such Code of Conduct,  review such Code of Conduct  periodically  and
recommend  such  changes  to such Code of Conduct  as the  Committee  shall deem
appropriate,  and adopt procedures for monitoring and enforcing  compliance with
such Code of Conduct.
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            3.    Review, at least annually,  the Company's  compliance with the
Nasdaq  corporate  governance  listing  requirements,  and  report  to the Board
regarding the same.

            4.    Assist the Board in developing  criteria for the evaluation of
Board and committee performance.

            5.    Evaluate the Committee's own performance on an annual basis.

            6.    If requested by the Board,  assist the Board in its evaluation
of the performance of the Board and each committee of the Board.

            7.    Review and  recommend  to the Board  changes to the  Company's
bylaws as needed.

            8.    Develop orientation  materials for new directors and corporate
governance-related continuing education for all Board members.

            9.    Make regular reports to the Board regarding the foregoing.

            10.   Review  and   reassess   the   adequacy  of  this  Charter  as
appropriate and recommend any proposed changes to the Board for approval.

            11.   Perform any other activities consistent with this Charter, the
Company's  Bylaws  and  governing  law,  as the  Committee  or the  Board  deems
necessary or appropriate.
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                                                                         Annex G

                         HLS Systems International Ltd.
                           Code of Conduct and Policy
                   Regarding Reporting of Possible Violations

HLS Systems  International  Ltd.  (the  "Company")  is committed to being a good
corporate  citizen.  The  Company's  policy is to conduct its  business  affairs
honestly  and in an ethical  manner.  This Code of Conduct  ("Code")  provides a
general  statement  of the  expectations  of the Company  regarding  the ethical
standards that each director, officer and employee should adhere to while acting
on behalf of the Company.  It does not cover every issue that may arise,  but it
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sets out basic principles to guide all employees,  officers and directors of the
Company.  All of our employees,  officers and directors must conduct  themselves
accordingly  and seek to avoid even the  appearance of improper  behavior.  This
Code of Conduct applies to all officers, full and part time employees,  contract
workers, directors and anyone who conducts business with the Company. Conduct in
violation  of  this  policy  is   unacceptable  in  the  workplace  and  in  any
work-related setting outside the workplace.  Any employee or contract worker who
violates this Code will be subject to disciplinary  action,  up to and including
termination of his/her employment or engagement.

Compliance with Laws

You must  comply  with all  federal,  state and local  laws  applicable  to your
activities on behalf of the Company and shall perform your duties to the Company
in an honest and ethical manner.  If a law conflicts with a policy in this Code,
you must comply with the law;  however,  if a local  custom or policy  conflicts
with this Code,  you must comply with the Code. If you have any questions  about
these conflicts,  you should ask your supervisor or the General Counsel's office
how to handle the situation.

Conflicts of Interest

You  should  avoid  situations  in which  your  personal,  family  or  financial
interests  conflict  or even  appear to  conflict  with those of the  Company or
compromise its interests.  You should handle all actual or apparent conflicts of
interest between your personal and  professional  relationships in an honest and
ethical  manner.  Conflicts  are not  always  clear-cut.  Examples  of actual or
potential  conflicts  of interest  are set forth on  Appendix A. A "conflict  of
interest" exists when a person's private interest interferes in any way with the
interests  of the  Company.  A conflict  situation  can arise when an  employee,
officer or director  takes action or has interests that may make it difficult to
perform  his or her Company  work  objectively  and  effectively.  Conflicts  of
interest  may also arise when an employee,  officer or director,  or a member of
his or her family, receives improper personal benefits as a result of his or her
position in the Company.  Loans to, or guarantees of obligations  of,  employees
and their family members may create conflicts of interest.

It is almost  always a  conflict  of  interest  for a Company  employee  to work
simultaneously  for a competitor,  customer or supplier.  You are not allowed to
work for a competitor  as a consultant  or board  member.  The best policy is to
avoid any direct or indirect business  connection with our customers,  suppliers
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or competitors, except on the Company's behalf. In addition, employees, officers
and  directors  are  prohibited  from  taking  for  themselves   personally  any
opportunities  that  are  discovered  through  the  use of  corporate  property,
information  or  position,  except with the  consent of the Board of  Directors.
Employees,  officers  and  directors  owe a duty to the  Company to advance  its
legitimate  interests when the opportunity to do so arises.  If you become aware
of a conflict or potential  conflict of interest,  contact your own or any other
Company supervisor for further guidance.

Disclosure

It is of paramount  importance  to the Company that all  disclosure in documents
filed by the Company with the  Securities  and Exchange  Commission  or in other
public  communications  by the  Company  is full,  fair,  accurate,  timely  and
understandable.  All officers,  directors,  employees and contract  workers must
take  all  steps   necessary   to  assist  the  Company  in   fulfilling   these

Edgar Filing: GRILLO ANTHONY - Form 4

Explanation of Responses: 214



responsibilities,  consistent with each person's role in the Company. You should
give prompt,  accurate answers to all inquiries in connection with the Company's
preparation of public disclosures and reports.

Code of Ethics for Senior Officers

The Company's  Chief  Executive  Officer,  the Chief  Financial  Officer and the
Controller  (the  "Senior  Officers")  each  bear a special  responsibility  for
promoting  integrity  throughout the Company.  Furthermore,  the Senior Officers
have a responsibility to foster a culture throughout the Company as a whole that
ensures the fair and timely reporting of the Company's  results of operation and
financial condition and other financial information.

Because of this special  role,  the Senior  Officers are bound by the  following
Senior Officer Code of Ethics, and each agrees that he or she will:

o     Perform his or her duties in an honest and ethical manner.

o     Handle all actual or apparent  conflicts  of  interest  between his or her
      personal and professional relationships in an ethical manner.

o     Take all necessary  actions to ensure full, fair,  accurate,  timely,  and
      understandable  disclosure in reports and documents that the Company files
      with,   or  submits  to,   government   agencies   and  in  other   public
      communications.

o     Company with all applicable laws, rules and regulations of federal,  state
      and local governments.

o     Proactively  promote  and be an example of  ethical  behavior  in the work
      environment.
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Reporting and Compliance

If you become  aware of conduct by an  officer,  director,  employee or contract
worker which you believe in good faith is a potential  violation of this Code of
Conduct,  you should notify your own or any other Company supervisor,  the Chief
Executive Officer, the General Counsel or the Chief Financial Officer as soon as
possible.  You  should  also  report any  complaint  or  concern  regarding  the
Company's accounting,  internal accounting controls, or auditing matters, or any
concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.  Supervisors are
required  to refer all  reports of possible  violations  to the Chief  Executive
Officer,  the General Counsel,  the Chief Financial  Officer or the Chair of the
Audit Committee.

Alternatively,  if you wish to report such matters  anonymously,  you may mail a
description  of the concern or complaint to the  attention of either the General
Counsel, the Chief Financial Officer or the Chair of the Audit Committee, at the
following address:

625 Broadway, Suite 1111
San Diego, CA 92101

Persons  outside the Company may also report  complaints or concerns the Company
personnel;  such matters  should be reported  promptly on receipt to your own or
any other Company supervisor,  the Chief Executive Officer, the General Counsel,
the Chief  Financial  Officer,  or the Audit  Committee  Chair.  Supervisors are
required to report such matters as noted above.
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All reports of complaints or concerns shall be recorded in a log, indicating the
description of the matter  reported,  the date of the report and a brief summary
of the disposition. The log shall be maintained by the General Counsel and shall
be reviewed  periodically  with the Audit Committee.  This log shall be retained
for five years.

Allegations  of violations of the Code should be made only in good faith and not
to embarrass or put someone in a false light. If you become aware of a suspected
or  potential  violation  don't try to  investigate  or  resolve it on your own.
Prompt  disclosure  under this Code is vital to  ensuring a timely and  thorough
investigation  and  resolution.  You are  expected to  cooperate  in internal or
external investigations or alleged violations of the Code.

In  response  to every  report  made in good  faith of  conduct  potentially  in
violation of the Code of Conduct,  the Company will  undertake an effective  and
thorough investigation,  and if improper conduct is found, the Company will take
appropriate  disciplinary  and remedial  action.  Compliance  procedures are set
forth  in  Appendix  B to this  Code.  The  Company  will  attempt  to keep  its
discussions  with any person  reporting a violation  confidential  to the extent
reasonably possible without compromising the effectiveness of the investigation.
If you believe your report is not properly  explained or resolved,  you may take
your concern or complaint to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.
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Employees  and  contract  workers  are  protected  by law from  retaliation  for
reporting  possible  violations of this Code of Conduct or for  participating in
procedures  connected with an investigation,  proceeding or hearing conducted by
the Company or a government agency with respect to such complaints.  The Company
will take disciplinary  action up to and including the immediate  termination of
any  employee or contract  worker who  retaliates  against  another  employee or
contract worker for reporting any of these alleged activities.

Further Information

Please contact the Chief  Executive  Officer,  the General  Counsel or the Chief
Financial  Officer if you have any questions  about this Code or require further
information.

The most current  version of this Code will be posted on the  Company's  website
and  filed as an  exhibit  to the  Company's  Annual  Report on Form  10-K.  Any
substantive  amendment  or  waiver of this Code may be made only by the Board of
Directors upon a recommendation  of the Audit Committee,  and will be disclosed,
including the reasons for such action,  on the Company's website and by a filing
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 8-K within four days of such
action.  The Company will maintain  disclosure about such amendment or waiver on
the  website  for at  least  twelve  months  and  shall  retain  the  disclosure
concerning the action for at least 5 years.
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                                   APPENDIX A

The following are examples of actual or potential conflicts:

o     you, or a member of your family,  receive improper  personal benefits as a
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      result of your position in the Company;

o     you use Company's property for your personal benefit;

o     you engage in activities  that  interfere with your loyalty to the Company
      or your ability to perform Company duties or responsibilities effectively;

o     you, or a member of your family,  have a financial interest in a customer,
      supplier,  or  competitor  which is  significant  enough to cause  divided
      loyalty  with the  Company  or the  appearance  of  divided  loyalty  (the
      significance of a financial interest depends on many factors, such as size
      of  investment  in relation to your  income,  net worth  and/or  financial
      needs,  your  potential  to  influence  decisions  that could  impact your
      interests,  and the nature of the business or level of competition between
      the Company and the supplier, customer or competitor);

o     you, or a member of your family,  acquire an interest in property (such as
      real estate,  patent or other intellectual  property rights or securities)
      in which  you have  reason  to know the  Company  has,  or might  have,  a
      legitimate interest;

o     you, or a member of your  family,  receive a loan or a guarantee of a loan
      from a  customer,  supplier  or  competitor  (other  than  a  loan  from a
      financial  institution  made in the ordinary  course of business and on an
      arm's-length basis);

o     you  divulge  or use  the  Company's  confidential  information  - such as
      financial data, customer information,  or computer programs - for your own
      personal or business purposes;

o     you make gifts or  payments,  or provide  special  favors,  to  customers,
      suppliers or competitors (or their immediate  family members) with a value
      significant enough to cause the customer, supplier or competitor to make a
      purchase,  or take or forego  other  action,  which is  beneficial  to the
      Company and which the customer, supplier or competitor would not otherwise
      have taken; or

o     you are given the right to buy  stock in other  companies  or you  receive
      cash or other payments in return for promoting the services of an advisor,
      such as an investment banker, to the Company.
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                                   APPENDIX B

                              COMPLIANCE PROCEDURES

o     Compliance  Officer.  The  Corporate  Compliance  Officer  is the  General
      Counsel,  or in the absence of such person,  the Chief Financial  Officer.
      The  Compliance  Officer's  responsibility  is  to  ensure  communication,
      training, monitoring, and overall compliance with the Code. The Compliance
      Officer  will,  with  the  assistance  and  cooperation  of the  Company's
      officers, directors and managers, foster an atmosphere where employees are
      comfortable  in  communicating  and  reporting  concerns and possible Code
      violations.

o     Access to the Code. The Company shall ensure that employees,  officers and
      directors may access the Code on the Company's website. New employees will
      receive a copy of the Code as part of their new hire information.
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o     Monitoring.  Managers are the "go to" persons for employee  questions  and
      concerns  relating to the Code.  Managers or supervisors  will immediately
      report any  violations or  allegations  of  violations  to the  Compliance
      Officer. Managers will work with the Compliance Officer in assessing areas
      of concern, potential violations, any needs for enhancement of the Code or
      remedial actions to effect the Code's policies and overall compliance with
      the Code and other related policies.

o     Internal Investigation. When an alleged violation of the Code is reported,
      the Company shall take prompt and  appropriate  action in accordance  with
      the law and  regulations  and  otherwise  consistent  with  good  business
      practice.  If the suspected violation appears to involve either a possible
      violation of law or an issue of significant  corporate interest, or if the
      report involves a complaint or concern of any person,  whether employee, a
      stockholder or other interested  person regarding the Company's  financial
      disclosure,   internal  accounting  controls,   questionable  auditing  or
      accounting  matters or practices or other issues relating to the Company's
      accounting  or  auditing,   then  the  manager  or   investigator   should
      immediately notify the Compliance Officer,  who, in turn, shall notify the
      Chair of the  Audit  Committee.  If a  suspected  violation  involves  any
      director or executive officer or if the suspected  violation  concerns any
      fraud,  whether or not material,  involving  management or other employees
      who have a significant role in the Company's internal controls, any person
      who received such report should  immediately  report the alleged violation
      to the Compliance  Officer and, in every such case, the Chair of the Audit
      Committee.  The Compliance Officer or the Chair of the Audit Committee, as
      applicable,  shall assess the  situation  and  determine  the  appropriate
      course  of  action,   including  the  conduct  of  an  investigation,   as
      appropriate.
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o     Disciplinary  Actions.  Subject to the following sentence,  the Compliance
      Officer,  after  consultation  with the Vice President of Human Resources,
      shall be responsible for implementing the appropriate  disciplinary action
      in accordance with the Company's  policies and procedures for any employee
      who is found to have  violated the Code.  If a violation has been reported
      to the Audit Committee or another  committee of the Board,  that Committee
      shall be responsible for determining appropriate  disciplinary action. Any
      violation of applicable law or any deviation  from the standards  embodied
      in this  Code will  result in  disciplinary  action,  up to and  including
      termination  of  employment.  In  addition  to  imposing  discipline  upon
      employees involved in non-compliant  conduct, the Company also will impose
      discipline,  as appropriate,  upon an employee's  supervisor,  if any, who
      directs or approves such employees' improper actions, or is aware of those
      actions but does not act  appropriately  to correct  them,  and upon other
      individuals who fail to report known non-compliant conduct. In addition to
      imposing its own discipline,  the Company will bring any violations of law
      to the attention of appropriate law enforcement personnel.

o     Retention of Reports and Complaints. All reports and complaints made to or
      received  by the  Compliance  Officer or the Chair of the Audit  Committee
      relating  to  violations  of this  Code  shall  be  logged  into a  record
      maintained for this purpose by the  Compliance  Officer and this record of
      such report shall be retained for five years.

o     Required  Government  Reporting.  Whenever  conduct occurs that requires a
      report to the government,  the Compliance Officer shall be responsible for
      complying with such reporting requirements.
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o     Corrective Actions.  Subject to the following sentence,  in the event of a
      violation  of the Code,  the manager  and the  Compliance  Officer  should
      assess the  situation to determine  whether the violation  demonstrates  a
      problem  that  requires   remedial  action  as  to  Company  policies  and
      procedures.  If a violation  has been  reported to the Audit  Committee or
      another  committee of the Board,  that committee  shall be responsible for
      determining  appropriate  remedial or corrective actions.  Such corrective
      action may include providing revised public disclosure, retraining Company
      employees, modifying Company policies and procedures, improving monitoring
      of compliance  under  existing  procedures  and other action  necessary to
      detect similar  non-compliant conduct and prevent it from occurring in the
      future. Such corrective action shall be documented, as appropriate.
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                                                                         Annex H

         DELAWARE GENERAL CORPORATION LAW - SECTION 262 APPRAISAL RIGHTS

SS. 262. APPRAISAL RIGHTS

      (a) Any stockholder of a corporation of this State who holds shares of
stock on the date of the making of a demand pursuant to subsection (d) of this
section with respect to such shares, who continuously holds such shares through
the effective date of the merger or consolidation, who has otherwise complied
with subsection (d) of this section and who has neither voted in favor of the
merger or consolidation nor consented thereto in writing pursuant to ss. 228 of
this title shall be entitled to an appraisal by the Court of Chancery of the
fair value of the stockholder's shares of stock under the circumstances
described in subsections (b) and (c) of this section. As used in this section,
the word "stockholder" means a holder of record of stock in a stock corporation
and also a member of record of a nonstock corporation; the words "stock" and
"share" mean and include what is ordinarily meant by those words and also
membership or membership interest of a member of a nonstock corporation; and the
words "depository receipt" mean a receipt or other instrument issued by a
depository representing an interest in one or more shares, or fractions thereof,
solely of stock of a corporation, which stock is deposited with the depository.

      (b) Appraisal rights shall be available for the shares of any class or
series of stock of a constituent corporation in a merger or consolidation to be
effected pursuant to ss. 251 (other than a merger effected pursuant to ss.
251(g) of this title), ss. 252, ss. 254, ss. 257, ss. 258, ss. 263 or ss. 264 of
this title:

            (1) Provided, however, that no appraisal rights under this section
shall be available for the shares of any class or series of stock, which stock,
or depository receipts in respect thereof, at the record date fixed to determine
the stockholders entitled to receive notice of and to vote at the meeting of
stockholders to act upon the agreement of merger or consolidation, were either
(i) listed on a national securities exchange or designated as a national market
system security on an interdealer quotation system by the National Association
of Securities Dealers, Inc. or (ii) held of record by more than 2,000 holders;
and further provided that no appraisal rights shall be available for any shares
of stock of the constituent corporation surviving a merger if the merger did not
require for its approval the vote of the stockholders of the surviving
corporation as provided in subsection (f) of ss. 251 of this title.

            (2) Notwithstanding paragraph (1) of this subsection, appraisal
rights under this section shall be available for the shares of any class or
series of stock of a constituent corporation if the holders thereof are required
by the terms of an agreement of merger or consolidation pursuant to ss.ss. 251,
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252, 254, 257, 258, 263 and 264 of this title to accept for such stock anything
except:

                  a. Shares of stock of the corporation surviving or resulting
from such merger or consolidation, or depository receipts in respect thereof;

                  b. Shares of stock of any other corporation, or depository
receipts in respect thereof, which shares of stock (or depository receipts in
respect thereof) or depository receipts at the effective date of the merger or
consolidation will be either listed on a national securities exchange or
designated as a national market system security on an interdealer quotation
system by the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. or held of record
by more than 2,000 holders;

                  c. Cash in lieu of fractional shares or fractional depository
receipts described in the foregoing subparagraphs a. and b. of this paragraph;
or
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                  d. Any combination of the shares of stock, depository receipts
and cash in lieu of fractional shares or fractional depository receipts
described in the foregoing subparagraphs a., b. and c. of this paragraph.

            (3) In the event all of the stock of a subsidiary Delaware
corporation party to a merger effected under ss. 253 of this title is not owned
by the parent corporation immediately prior to the merger, appraisal rights
shall be available for the shares of the subsidiary Delaware corporation.

      (c) Any corporation may provide in its certificate of incorporation that
appraisal rights under this section shall be available for the shares of any
class or series of its stock as a result of an amendment to its certificate of
incorporation, any merger or consolidation in which the corporation is a
constituent corporation or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of
the corporation. If the certificate of incorporation contains such a provision,
the procedures of this section, including those set forth in subsections (d) and
(e) of this section, shall apply as nearly as is practicable.

      (d) Appraisal rights shall be perfected as follows:

            (1) If a proposed merger or consolidation for which appraisal rights
are provided under this section is to be submitted for approval at a meeting of
stockholders, the corporation, not less than 20 days prior to the meeting, shall
notify each of its stockholders who was such on the record date for such meeting
with respect to shares for which appraisal rights are available pursuant to
subsection (b) or (c) hereof that appraisal rights are available for any or all
of the shares of the constituent corporations, and shall include in such notice
a copy of this section. Each stockholder electing to demand the appraisal of
such stockholder's shares shall deliver to the corporation, before the taking of
the vote on the merger or consolidation, a written demand for appraisal of such
stockholder's shares. Such demand will be sufficient if it reasonably informs
the corporation of the identity of the stockholder and that the stockholder
intends thereby to demand the appraisal of such stockholder's shares. A proxy or
vote against the merger or consolidation shall not constitute such a demand. A
stockholder electing to take such action must do so by a separate written demand
as herein provided. Within 10 days after the effective date of such merger or
consolidation, the surviving or resulting corporation shall notify each
stockholder of each constituent corporation who has complied with this
subsection and has not voted in favor of or consented to the merger or
consolidation of the date that the merger or consolidation has become effective;
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or

            (2) If the merger or consolidation was approved pursuant to ss. 228
or ss. 253 of this title, then either a constituent corporation before the
effective date of the merger or consolidation or the surviving or resulting
corporation within 10 days thereafter shall notify each of the holders of any
class or series of stock of such constituent corporation who are entitled to
appraisal rights of the approval of the merger or consolidation and that
appraisal rights are available for any or all shares of such class or series of
stock of such constituent corporation, and shall include in such notice a copy
of this section. Such notice may, and, if given on or after the effective date
of the merger or consolidation, shall, also notify such stockholders of the
effective date of the merger or consolidation. Any stockholder entitled to
appraisal rights may, within 20 days after the date of mailing of such notice,
demand in writing from the surviving or resulting corporation the appraisal of
such holder's shares. Such demand will be sufficient if it reasonably informs
the corporation of the identity of the stockholder and that the stockholder
intends thereby to demand the appraisal of such holder's shares. If such notice
did not notify stockholders of the effective date of the merger or
consolidation, either (i) each such constituent corporation shall send a second
notice before the effective date of the merger or consolidation notifying each
of the holders of any class or series of stock of such constituent corporation
that are entitled to appraisal rights of the effective date of the merger or
consolidation or (ii) the surviving or resulting corporation shall send such a
second notice to all such holders on or within 10 days after such effective
date; provided, however, that if such second notice is sent more than 20 days
following the sending of the first notice, such second notice need only be sent
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to each stockholder who is entitled to appraisal rights and who has demanded
appraisal of such holder's shares in accordance with this subsection. An
affidavit of the secretary or assistant secretary or of the transfer agent of
the corporation that is required to give either notice that such notice has been
given shall, in the absence of fraud, be prima facie evidence of the facts
stated therein. For purposes of determining the stockholders entitled to receive
either notice, each constituent corporation may fix, in advance, a record date
that shall be not more than 10 days prior to the date the notice is given,
provided, that if the notice is given on or after the effective date of the
merger or consolidation, the record date shall be such effective date. If no
record date is fixed and the notice is given prior to the effective date, the
record date shall be the close of business on the day next preceding the day on
which the notice is given.

      (e) Within 120 days after the effective date of the merger or
consolidation, the surviving or resulting corporation or any stockholder who has
complied with subsections (a) and (d) hereof and who is otherwise entitled to
appraisal rights, may file a petition in the Court of Chancery demanding a
determination of the value of the stock of all such stockholders.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, at any time within 60 days after the effective
date of the merger or consolidation, any stockholder shall have the right to
withdraw such stockholder's demand for appraisal and to accept the terms offered
upon the merger or consolidation. Within 120 days after the effective date of
the merger or consolidation, any stockholder who has complied with the
requirements of subsections (a) and (d) hereof, upon written request, shall be
entitled to receive from the corporation surviving the merger or resulting from
the consolidation a statement setting forth the aggregate number of shares not
voted in favor of the merger or consolidation and with respect to which demands
for appraisal have been received and the aggregate number of holders of such
shares. Such written statement shall be mailed to the stockholder within 10 days
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after such stockholder's written request for such a statement is received by the
surviving or resulting corporation or within 10 days after expiration of the
period for delivery of demands for appraisal under subsection (d) hereof,
whichever is later.

      (f) Upon the filing of any such petition by a stockholder, service of a
copy thereof shall be made upon the surviving or resulting corporation, which
shall within 20 days after such service file in the office of the Register in
Chancery in which the petition was filed a duly verified list containing the
names and addresses of all stockholders who have demanded payment for their
shares and with whom agreements as to the value of their shares have not been
reached by the surviving or resulting corporation. If the petition shall be
filed by the surviving or resulting corporation, the petition shall be
accompanied by such a duly verified list. The Register in Chancery, if so
ordered by the Court, shall give notice of the time and place fixed for the
hearing of such petition by registered or certified mail to the surviving or
resulting corporation and to the stockholders shown on the list at the addresses
therein stated. Such notice shall also be given by 1 or more publications at
least 1 week before the day of the hearing, in a newspaper of general
circulation published in the City of Wilmington, Delaware or such publication as
the Court deems advisable. The forms of the notices by mail and by publication
shall be approved by the Court, and the costs thereof shall be borne by the
surviving or resulting corporation.

      (g) At the hearing on such petition, the Court shall determine the
stockholders who have complied with this section and who have become entitled to
appraisal rights. The Court may require the stockholders who have demanded an
appraisal for their shares and who hold stock represented by certificates to
submit their certificates of stock to the Register in Chancery for notation
thereon of the pendency of the appraisal proceedings; and if any stockholder
fails to comply with such direction, the Court may dismiss the proceedings as to
such stockholder.

      (h) After determining the stockholders entitled to an appraisal, the Court
shall appraise the shares, determining their fair value exclusive of any element
of value arising from the accomplishment or expectation of the merger or
consolidation, together with a fair rate of interest, if any, to be paid upon
the amount determined to be the fair value. In determining such fair value, the
Court shall take into account all relevant factors. In determining the fair rate
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of interest, the Court may consider all relevant factors, including the rate of
interest which the surviving or resulting corporation would have had to pay to
borrow money during the pendency of the proceeding. Upon application by the
surviving or resulting corporation or by any stockholder entitled to participate
in the appraisal proceeding, the Court may, in its discretion, permit discovery
or other pretrial proceedings and may proceed to trial upon the appraisal prior
to the final determination of the stockholder entitled to an appraisal. Any
stockholder whose name appears on the list filed by the surviving or resulting
corporation pursuant to subsection (f) of this section and who has submitted
such stockholder's certificates of stock to the Register in Chancery, if such is
required, may participate fully in all proceedings until it is finally
determined that such stockholder is not entitled to appraisal rights under this
section.

      (i) The Court shall direct the payment of the fair value of the shares,
together with interest, if any, by the surviving or resulting corporation to the
stockholders entitled thereto. Interest may be simple or compound, as the Court
may direct. Payment shall be so made to each such stockholder, in the case of

Edgar Filing: GRILLO ANTHONY - Form 4

Explanation of Responses: 222



holders of uncertificated stock forthwith, and the case of holders of shares
represented by certificates upon the surrender to the corporation of the
certificates representing such stock. The Court's decree may be enforced as
other decrees in the Court of Chancery may be enforced, whether such surviving
or resulting corporation be a corporation of this State or of any state.

      (j) The costs of the proceeding may be determined by the Court and taxed
upon the parties as the Court deems equitable in the circumstances. Upon
application of a stockholder, the Court may order all or a portion of the
expenses incurred by any stockholder in connection with the appraisal
proceeding, including, without limitation, reasonable attorney's fees and the
fees and expenses of experts, to be charged pro rata against the value of all
the shares entitled to an appraisal.

      (k) From and after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, no
stockholder who has demanded appraisal rights as provided in subsection (d) of
this section shall be entitled to vote such stock for any purpose or to receive
payment of dividends or other distributions on the stock (except dividends or
other distributions payable to stockholders of record at a date which is prior
to the effective date of the merger or consolidation); provided, however, that
if no petition for an appraisal shall be filed within the time provided in
subsection (e) of this section, or if such stockholder shall deliver to the
surviving or resulting corporation a written withdrawal of such stockholder's
demand for an appraisal and an acceptance of the merger or consolidation, either
within 60 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation as
provided in subsection (e) of this section or thereafter with the written
approval of the corporation, then the right of such stockholder to an appraisal
shall cease. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no appraisal proceeding in the Court
of Chancery shall be dismissed as to any stockholder without the approval of the
Court, and such approval may be conditioned upon such terms as the Court deems
just.

      (l) The shares of the surviving or resulting corporation to which the
shares of such objecting stockholders would have been converted had they
assented to the merger or consolidation shall have the status of authorized and
unissued shares of the surviving or resulting corporation.
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